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PART 1

Item 1.

Item 2.

Item 3.
3.A

3B

3.C

Pursuant to Rule 12b-23(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the information for GlaxoSmithKline plc’s Form 20- F for
the year ended December 31, 2018 as set out below is being incorporated by reference from the “GSK Annual Report 2018 included as
exhibit 15.3 to this Form 20-F dated and submitted on March 15, 2019 (the “GSK Annual Report 2018”).

All references in this Form 20-F to “GlaxoSmithKline,” the “Group,” “GSK,” “we” or “our” mean GlaxoSmithKline plc and its
subsidiaries; the “company” means GlaxoSmithKline plc.

References below to major headings include all information under such major headings, including subheadings, unless such reference is a
reference to a subheading, in which case such reference includes only the information contained under such subheading.

In addition to the information set out below, the information set forth under the headings “Cautionary statement” on the inside back cover,
“Directors’ Report” on page 94, “Directors’ statement of responsibilities” on pages 126 to 127, “Share capital and control” on pages 251 to
252, “Financial calendar”, “Results announcements” and “Financial reports” on page 253, “Annual General Meeting 2019” on page 254,

2 G,

“Registrar” on page 256, “ADS Depositary”, “Glaxo Wellcome and SmithKline Beecham Corporate PEPs”, “Donating shares to Save the
Children”, “Contacts” and “Share scam alert” page 257, “Section 13(r) of the US Securities Exchange Act” on page 259 and “Glossary of
terms” on page 271 in each case of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated by reference.

Notice regarding limitations on Director Liability under English Law

Under the UK Companies Act 2006, a safe harbour limits the liability of Directors in respect of statements in and omissions from certain
portions of the GSK Annual Report 2018 incorporated by reference herein, namely the “Directors’ Report” (for which see page 94 thereof),
the “Strategic Report” (pages 1 to 64 thereof, portions of which are incorporated by reference as described below) and the “Remuneration
Report” (pages 95 to 124 portions of which are incorporated by reference as described below). These reports have been drawn up and
presented in accordance with, and in reliance upon, English company law. Under English law, the Directors would be liable to the company,
but not to any third party, if these sections of the GSK Annual Report 2018 contain errors as a result of recklessness or knowing
misstatement or dishonest concealment of a material fact, but would not otherwise be liable.

Portions of the GSK Annual Report 2018 incorporated by reference herein contain references to our website. Information on our
website or any other website referenced in the GSK Annual Report 2018 is not incorporated into this Form 20-F and should not be
considered to be part of this Form 20-F. We have included any website as an inactive textual reference only.

Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisers

Not applicable.

Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable
Not applicable.

Key Information
Selected financial data
The information set forth under the heading:

*  “Five year record” on pages 229 to 231 (except the heading and the information under the heading “Financial results —
Adjusted” on page 230); and

+  “Dividends” on page 253
of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

Capitalization and indebtedness

Not applicable.

Reasons for the offer and use of proceeds

Not applicable.



3.D

Risk Factors
Principal risks and uncertainties

The principal risks discussed below are the risks and uncertainties relevant to our business, financial condition and results of operations that
may affect our performance and ability to achieve our objectives. The risks below are those that we believe could cause our actual results to
differ materially from expected and historical results. During 2018 we have evolved the cycle of management of these risks which helps us
Identify, manage and report on our most important risks in a proportionate and consistent way.

We must adapt to and comply with a broad range of laws and regulations which apply to research and development, manufacturing, testing,
approval, distribution, sales and marketing of Pharmaceutical, Vaccine and Consumer Healthcare products. These affect not only the cost of
product development but also the time required to reach the market and the likelihood of doing so successfully on a continuous basis.

Also, during 2018 we have improved consistency of risk management across the organisation through evolution of our enterprise risk
management and reporting cycle.

As rules and regulations change, and governmental interpretation evolves, the nature of a particular risk may change. Changes to certain
regulatory regimes may be substantial. Any change in, and any failure to comply with, applicable law and regulations could materially and
adversely affect our financial results.

Similarly, our global business exposes us to litigation and government investigations, including but not limited to product liability litigation,
patent and antitrust litigation and sales and marketing litigation. Litigation and government investigations, including related provisions we
may make for unfavourable outcomes and increases in related costs such as insurance premiums, could materially and adversely affect our
financial results.

More detail on the status and various uncertainties involved in our significant unresolved disputes and potential litigation is set out in Note
45, ‘Legal proceedings,” on pages 215 to 218 of the GSK Annual Report 2018.

Patient safety
Risk definition

Failure to appropriately collect, review, follow up, or report human safety information (HSI), including adverse events from all potential
sources, and to act on any relevant findings in a timely manner.

Risk impact

The risk impact has the potential to compromise our ability to conduct robust safety signal detection and interpretation and to ensure that
appropriate decisions are taken with respect to the risk/ benefit profile of our products, including the completeness and accuracy of product
labels and the pursuit of additional studies/ analyses, as appropriate. This could lead to potential harm to patients, reputational damage,
product liability claims or other litigation, governmental investigation, regulatory action such as fines, penalties or loss of product
authorisation.

Context

Pre-clinical and clinical trials are conducted during the development of investigational Pharmaceutical, Vaccine and Consumer Healthcare
products to determine the safety and efficacy of the products for use by humans. Notwithstanding the efforts we make to determine the
safety of our products through appropriate pre-clinical and clinical trials, unanticipated side effects may become evident only when products
are widely introduced into the marketplace. Questions about the safety of our products may be raised not only by our ongoing safety
surveillance and post-marketing studies but also by governmental agencies and third parties that may analyse publicly available clinical trial
results. Constant vigilance and flexibility is required in order to respond to a varied regulatory environment which continues to evolve and
diverge globally.

The Group is currently a defendant in a number of product liability lawsuits, including class actions, that involve significant claims for
damages related to our products. Litigation, particularly in the US, is inherently unpredictable. Class actions that seek to sweep together all
persons who take our products increase the potential liability. Claims for pain and suffering and punitive damages are frequently asserted in
product liability actions and, if allowed, can represent potentially open-ended exposure and thus, could materially and adversely affect the
Group’s financial results.

Product quality
Risk definition

Failure to comply with current Good Manufacturing Practices (¢cGMP) or inadequate controls and governance of quality in the supply chain
covering supplier standards, manufacturing and distribution of products.

Risk impact



A failure to ensure product quality could have far reaching implications in terms of patient and consumer safety resulting in product launch
delays, supply interruptions and product recalls. This would have the potential to do damage to our reputation, as well as result in other
regulatory, legal and financial consequences.

Context

Patients, consumers and HCPs trust the quality of our products. Product quality may be influenced by many factors including product and
process understanding, consistency of manufacturing components, compliance with GMP, accuracy of labelling, reliability of the external
supply chain, and the embodiment of an overarching quality culture. The internal and external environment continues to evolve as new
products and new legislation are introduced. Critically, we are addressing the impact of Brexit on our supply chain management and quality
oversight between the UK and the EU and are developing and deploying appropriate contingency plans to avoid interruption of supply to
patients.



Financial controls and reporting
Risk definition

Failure to comply with current tax laws or incurring significant losses due to treasury activities; failure to report accurate financial
information in compliance with accounting standards and applicable legislation.

Risk impact

Non-compliance with existing or new financial reporting and disclosure requirements, or changes to the recognition of income and
expenses, could expose us to litigation and regulatory action and could materially and adversely affect our financial results. Changes in tax
laws or in their application with respect to matters such as transfer pricing, foreign dividends, controlled companies, R&D tax credits,
taxation of intellectual property or a restriction in tax relief allowed on the interest on debt funding, could impact our effective tax rate.
Significant losses may arise from inconsistent application of treasury policies, transactional or settlement errors, or counterparty defaults.

Any changes in the substance or application of the governing tax laws, failure to comply with such tax laws or significant losses due to
treasury activities could materially and adversely affect our financial results.

Context

The Group is required by the laws of various jurisdictions to disclose publicly its financial results and events that could materially affect the
financial results of the Group. Regulators routinely review the financial statements of listed companies for compliance with new, revised or
existing accounting and regulatory requirements. The Group believes that it complies with the appropriate regulatory requirements
concerning our financial statements and disclosure of material information including any transactions relating to business restructuring such
as acquisitions and divestitures. However, should we be subject to an investigation into potential non-compliance with accounting and
disclosure requirements, this may lead to restatements of previously reported results and significant penalties.

Our Treasury group deals in high value transactions, mostly foreign exchange and cash management transactions, on a daily basis. These
transactions involve market volatility and counterparty risk.

The Group’s effective tax rate reflects rates of tax in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates that are both higher and lower than the
UK rate and takes into account regimes that encourage innovation and investment in science by providing tax incentives which, if changed,
could affect the Group’s tax rate. In addition, the worldwide nature of our operations means that our intellectual property, R&D and
manufacturing operations are centered in a number of key locations. A consequence of this is that our cross-border supply routes, necessary
to ensure supplies of medicines into numerous end markets, can be complex and result in conflicting claims from tax authorities as to the
profits to be taxed in individual countries. Tax legislation itself is also complex and differs across the countries in which we operate. As
such, tax risk can also arise due to differences in the interpretation of such legislation. The tax charge included in our financial statements is
our best estimate of tax liability pending audits by tax authorities.

We expect there to be continued focus on tax reform in 2019 and future years driven by initiatives of the Organisation for Economic
Cooperation & Development to address the taxation of the digital economy and European Commission initiatives including the use of fiscal
state aid investigations. Together with domestic initiatives around the world, these may result in significant changes to established tax
principles and an increase in tax authority disputes. These, regardless of their merit or outcomes, can be costly, divert management attention
and may adversely impact our reputation and relationship with key stakeholders.

Anti-bribery and corruption (ABAC)
Risk definition

Failure of GSK employees, consultants and third parties to comply with our Anti-bribery & corruption (ABAC) principles and standards, as
well as with all applicable legislation.

Risk impact

Failure to mitigate this risk could expose the Group and associated persons to governmental investigation, regulatory action, and civil and
criminal liability and may compromise the Group’s ability to supply its products under certain government contracts. In addition to legal
and financial penalties, a failure to prevent bribery through complying with ABAC legislation and regulations could have substantial
implications for the reputation of the company, the credibility of senior leaders, and an erosion of investor confidence in our governance and
risk management.

Context

We are exposed to bribery and corruption risk through our global business operations. In some markets, the government structure and the
rule of law are less developed, and this has a bearing on our bribery and corruption risk exposure. In addition to the global nature of our
business, the healthcare sector by its very nature maintains relationships with government bodies, is highly competitive and subject to
regulation. This increases the instances where we are exposed to bribery and corruption risk.

The Group has been subject to a number of ABAC inquiries. We reached a resolution with the US authorities in 2016 regarding their ABAC
inquiry, following which we were subject to a self-monitoring arrangement. The self-monitorship concluded in September 2018.



Government investigations regarding our China and other business operations are ongoing. These investigations are discussed further in
Note 45, ‘Legal proceedings’ on pages 215 to 218 of the GSK Annual Report 2018.
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Commercial practices
Risk definition

Failure to engage in commercial activities that are consistent with the letter and spirit of the law, industry, or the Group’s requirements
relating to marketing and communications about our medicines and associated therapeutic areas; appropriate interactions with healthcare
professionals (HCPs) and patients; and legitimate and transparent transfer of value.

Risk impact

Failure to manage risks related to commercial practices could materially and adversely affect our ability to grow a diversified global
business and deliver more products of value for patients and consumers. Failure to comply with applicable laws, rules and regulations may
result in governmental investigation, regulatory action and legal proceedings brought against the Group by governmental and private
plaintiffs which could result in government sanctions, and criminal and/or financial penalties. Failure to provide accurate and complete
information related to our products may result in incomplete awareness of the risk/benefit profile of our products and possibly suboptimal
treatment of patients and consumers.

Any practices that are found to be misaligned with our values could also result in reputational harm and dilute trust established with external
stakeholders.

Context

We operate on a global basis in an industry that is both highly competitive and highly regulated. Our competitors may make significant
product innovations and technical advances and may intensify price competition. In light of this competitive environment, continued
development of commercially viable new products and the development of additional uses for existing products that reflect insights which
help ensure those products address the needs of patients/consumers, HCPs, and payers are critical to achieve our strategic objectives.

As other pharmaceutical, vaccine and consumer companies, we face downward price pressure in major markets, declining emerging market
growth, and negative foreign exchange impact.

Developing new Pharmaceutical, Vaccine and Consumer Healthcare products is a costly, lengthy and an uncertain process. A product
candidate may fail at any stage, including after significant economic and human resources have been invested. Our competitors’ products or
pricing strategies, or any failure on our part to develop commercially successful products, or to develop additional uses for existing
products, could materially and adversely affect our ability to achieve our strategic objectives.

We are committed to the ethical and responsible commercialisation of our products to support our mission to improve the quality of human
life by enabling people to do more, feel better, and live longer. To accomplish this mission, we engage the healthcare community in various
ways to provide important information about our medicines. Promotion of approved products seeks to ensure that HCPs globally have
access to information they need, that patients and consumers have access to the information and products they need and that products are
prescribed, recommended or used in a manner that provides the maximum healthcare benefit to patients and consumers. We are committed
to communicating information related to our approved products in a responsible, legal and ethical manner.

Privacy
Risk definition

The failure to collect, secure, use and destroy personal information (PI) in accordance with applicable data privacy laws.

Risk impact

Non-compliance can lead to harm to individuals (e.g. financial loss, distress, prejudice) and GSK (e.g. fines, management time, operational
inefficiency, out of pocket costs, and reputational damage). It can also damage trust between GSK and individuals, communities, business
partners and government authorities.

The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) increased the enforcement powers of EU supervisory authorities, including by allowing
them to impose fines of up to 4% of global revenue, and to require the suspension of processing PI in certain circumstances. GDPR also
gives individuals the right to bring collective legal actions against GSK for failure to comply with data privacy laws.

Context

Data Privacy laws are diverse, with limited harmonisation, despite Europe’s adoption of GDPR. In many countries in which GSK operates,
local data privacy laws govern how GSK can collect and use PI. It is challenging for multi-nationals to standardise their approach to
compliance with data privacy laws due to the high-level of local variation. Governments are enforcing compliance with data privacy laws
more rigorously. There is an increasing focus on the ethical use of PI, over and above compliance with data privacy laws, and individuals
are increasingly aware of their rights under data privacy laws.



Research practices
Risk definition

Failure to adequately conduct ethical and sound preclinical and clinical research. In addition, failure to engage in scientific activities that are
consistent with the letter and spirit of the law, industry, or the Group’s requirements, and failure to secure adequate patent protection for
GSK’s products.

Risk impact

The impacts of the risk include harm to human subjects, reputational damage, failure to obtain the necessary regulatory approvals for our
products, governmental investigation, legal proceedings brought against the Group by governmental and private plaintiffs (product liability
suits and claims for damages), loss of revenue due to inadequate patent protection or inability to supply GSK products, and regulatory action
such as fines, penalties, or loss of product authorisation. Any of these consequences could materially and adversely affect our financial
results and cause loss of trust from our customers and patients.

Context

Research relating to animals can raise ethical concerns. While we attempt to address this proactively, animal studies remain a vital part of
our research. In many cases, they are the only method that can be used to investigate the effects of a potential new medicine in a living body
before it is studied in humans. Animal research can provide critical information about the causes of diseases and how they develop.
Nonetheless, we are continually seeking ways in which we can minimise our use of animals in research, whilst complying with regulatory
requirements.

Clinical trials in healthy volunteers and patients are used to assess and demonstrate an investigational product’s efficacy and safety or
further evaluate the product once it has been approved for marketing. We also work with human biological samples. These samples are
fundamental to the discovery, development and safety monitoring of our products.

The integrity of our data is essential to success in all stages of the research data lifecycle: design, generation, recording and management,
analysis, reporting, storage and retrieval. Our research data is governed by legislation and regulatory requirements. Research data and
supporting documents are core components at various stages of pipeline progression decision-making and form the content of regulatory
submissions, publications and patent filings. Poor data integrity can compromise our research efforts and negatively impact company
reputation.

There are innate complexities and interdependencies required for regulatory filings, particularly given our global research and development
footprint. Continually changing and increasingly stringent submission requirements continue to increase the complexity of worldwide
product registration.

Scientific engagement (SE), defined as the interaction and exchange of information between GSK and external communities to advance
scientific and medical understanding, including the appropriate development and use of our products, is an essential part of scientific
discourse. Such non-promotional engagement with external stakeholder groups is vital to GSK’s mission and necessary for scientific and
medical advance. SE activities are essential but present legal, regulatory, and reputational risk if the sharing of data, invited media coverage
or payments to HCPs have, or are perceived to have, promotional intent.

A wide variety of biological materials are used by GSK in discovery, research and development phases. Through the Convention on
Biological Diversity (CBD) and the Nagoya Protocol, the international community has established a global framework regulating access to,
and use of, genetic resources of non-human origin in Research and Development (R&D). We support the principles of access and benefit
sharing to genetic resources as outlined in the CBD and the Nagoya Protocol, recognising the importance of appropriate, effective and
proportionate implementation measures at national and regional levels.

Patent rights play an important role in providing GSK with a competitive advantage in the market. Any loss of patent protection in a market
for GSK’s products developed through our R&D, including reducing the availability or scope of patent rights, could materially and
adversely affect our financial results in that market. Absence of adequate patent or data exclusivity protection, which could lead to, for
example, competition from manufacturers of generic pharmaceutical products, could limit the opportunity to rely on such markets for future
sales growth for our products, which could also materially and adversely impact our financial results. Following expiration of certain
intellectual property rights, a generic manufacturer may lawfully produce a generic version of a product. Introduction of generic products
typically leads to a rapid and dramatic loss of sales and reduces our revenues and margins for our proprietary products.

Third party oversight risk (TPO)
Risk definition

Failure to maintain adequate governance and oversight over third party relationships and failure of third parties to meet their contractual,
regulatory, confidentiality or other obligations.

Risk impact

Failure to adequately manage third party relationships could result in business disruption and exposure to risks ranging from sub-optimal
contractual terms and conditions, to severe business and legal sanctions and/or significant reputational damage. Any of these consequences
could materially and adversely affect our business operations and financial results.






Context

Third parties are critical to our business delivery and are an integral part of the solution to meeting our business objectives. We rely on third
parties, including suppliers, advisors, distributors, individual contractors, licensees, and other pharmaceutical and biotechnology
collaboration partners for discovery, manufacture, and marketing of our products and for supporting other important business processes.

These business relationships present a material risk. For example, we share critical and sensitive information such as marketing plans,
clinical data, and employee data with specific third parties who are conducting the relevant outsourced business activities. Inadequate
protection or misuse of this information by third parties could have significant business impact. Similarly, we use distributors and agents in
a range of activities such as promotion and tendering which have inherent risks such as inappropriate promotion or corruption. Insufficient
internal compliance and controls by the distributors could affect our reputation. These risks are further increased by the complexities of
working with large numbers of third parties across a diverse geographical spread.

Environment, health & safety and sustainability (EHS&S)
Risk definition

Failure to manage environment, health & safety and sustainability (EHS&S) risks in line with our objectives and policies and with relevant
laws and regulations.

Risk impact

Failure to manage EHS&S risks could lead to significant harm to people, the environment and communities in which we operate, fines,
failure to meet stakeholder expectations and regulatory requirements, litigation or regulatory action, and damage to the Group’s reputation,
which could materially and adversely affect our financial results.

Context

We are subject to health, safety and environmental laws of various jurisdictions. These laws impose duties to protect people, the
environment, and the communities in which we operate, as well as potential obligations to remediate contaminated sites. We have also been
identified as a potentially responsible party under the US Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act at a
number of sites for remediation costs relating to our use or ownership of such sites in the US. Failure to manage these environmental risks
properly could result in litigation, regulatory action and additional remedial costs that may materially and adversely affect our financial
results. See Note 45 to the financial statements, ‘Legal proceedings’, for a discussion of the environmental related proceedings in which we
are involved. We routinely accrue amounts related to our liabilities for such matters.

Information security
Risk definition

The risk to GSK business activities if information becomes disclosed to those not authorised to see it, or if information or systems fail to be
available or are corrupted, typically because of cybersecurity threats, although accident or malicious insider-action may be contributory
causes.

Risk impact

Failure to adequately protect critical and sensitive systems and information may result in loss of commercial or strategic advantage and
could materially affect our ongoing business operations, such as scientific research, clinical trials and manufacturing and supply chain
activities.

Context

We rely on critical and sensitive systems and data, such as corporate strategic plans, intellectual property, manufacturing systems and trade
secrets. There is the potential that our computer systems or information may be exposed to misuse or unauthorised disclosure.

We believe that the cyber security incidents that we have experienced to date have not resulted in significant disruptions to our operations
and have not had a significant adverse effect on our results of operations, or on third parties. However, as the threats evolve we cannot
provide assurance that our significant efforts in protecting and monitoring our systems and information will always be successful in
preventing compromise or disruption in future. They increasingly involve highly-resourced threat actors such as nation-states and organised
criminals. Combined with the size and complexity of our IT systems and those of our supply chain partners (including outsourced
operations), this means that our systems and information have been, and are expected to continue to be, the subject of cyber-attacks of
various types.

Supply continuity
Risk definition



Failure to deliver a continuous supply of compliant finished product; inability to respond effectively to a crisis incident in a timely manner
to recover and sustain critical operations, including key supply chains.
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Risk impact

We recognise that failure to supply our products can adversely impact consumers and patients who rely on them. A material interruption of
supply or exclusion from healthcare programmes could expose us to litigation or regulatory action and financial penalties that could
adversely affect the Group’s financial results. The Group’s international operations, and those of its partners, expose our workforce,
facilities, operations and information technology to potential disruption from natural events (e.g. storm, earthquake), man-made events (e.g.
civil unrest, terrorism), and global emergencies (e.g. Ebola outbreak, flu pandemic). It is important that we have robust crisis management
and recovery plans in place to manage such events.

Context

Our supply chain operations are subject to review and approval by various regulatory agencies that effectively provide our license to
operate. Failure by our manufacturing and distribution facilities or by suppliers of key services and materials could lead to litigation or
regulatory action such as product recalls and seizures, interruption of supply, delays in the approval of new products, and suspension of
manufacturing operations pending resolution of manufacturing or logistics issues.

We rely on materials and services provided by third party suppliers to make our products, including active pharmaceutical ingredients
(API), antigens, intermediates, commodities, and components for the manufacture and packaging of Pharmaceutical, Vaccine and Consumer
Healthcare products. Some of the third party services procured, such as services provided by contract manufacturing and clinical research
organisations to support development of key products, are important to ensure continuous operation of our business.

Although we undertake risk mitigation we recognise that certain events could nevertheless still result in delays or service interruptions. We
use effective crisis management and business continuity planning to provide for the health and safety of our people and to minimise impact
to us, by maintaining functional operations following a natural or man-made disaster, or a public health emergency.

Risks associated with the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture with Pfizer

Completion of the transaction with Pfizer is subject to the satisfaction (or waiver, where applicable) of a number of conditions which, if
not satisfied, may result in the transaction not proceeding and, in certain circumstances, could also result in the payment by GSK of a
break fee

Completion of the transaction between GSK and Pfizer to form the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture (the “Transaction”) is subject to the
satisfaction (or waiver, where applicable) of a number of conditions on or before September 30, 2019 (which date may be extended by
either party to December 31, 2019 or March 31, 2020 in the case of the conditions relating to the receipt of antitrust clearances), including:

. the approval of the resolution in respect of the Transaction by GSK’s shareholders at the General Meeting of shareholders;

. the receipt of various antitrust clearances in respect of the Transaction, including merger clearances by the EU Commission, expiry
of any applicable waiting periods under the HSR Act and receipt of various other antitrust approvals;

. there being no governmental orders restraining or otherwise prohibiting the Transaction;

. the other party’s representations and warranties generally being true and correct as at completion of the Transaction, except to the
extent that any failure to be true and correct (individually or in the aggregate) would not have a material adverse effect in relation to
that party’s respective contributed business; and

. each of GSK and Pfizer having performed and complied in all material respects with its respective pre-closing covenants.

There is no guarantee that these (or any other) conditions will be satisfied (or waived, if applicable). If any of the conditions are not satisfied
(or waived, if applicable), the Transaction may not complete. If the Transaction fails to complete, the anticipated benefits of the Transaction
will not be achieved and GSK would nonetheless have incurred costs in connection with the Transaction. In certain circumstances where the
condition relating to the approval by GSK’s shareholders of the shareholders’ resolution in respect of the Transaction is not satisfied, GSK
may also be required to pay a break fee of $900 million to Pfizer by way of compensation.

The terms on which antitrust and regulatory approvals are provided may jeopardize or delay the Transaction, result in additional
expenditure and/or reduce the anticipated benefits of the Transaction

As a condition to their clearance of the Transaction, antitrust and regulatory authorities may require the modification of the terms of the
Transaction or divestitures of parts of the GSK consumer healthcare business and/or the Pfizer consumer healthcare business or may
otherwise place restrictions on the conduct of the business of the GSK Group following the acquisition of the Pfizer consumer healthcare
business (the “Enlarged Group”). In addition, GSK may give undertakings,
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which may include proposing divestments or excluding certain assets from the Transaction, in order to obtain such clearances. Any such
modifications, divestments or restrictions could jeopardise or delay completion of the Transaction, impose significant additional costs on the
Enlarged Group and/or may reduce the anticipated benefits of the Transaction, any of which could materially and adversely affect the
financial results of the Enlarged Group.

The outcome of the various antitrust and regulatory clearance applications is not yet known and is not within the control of GSK or Pfizer.
As a result, there can be no certainty or assurance as to the outcome of such applications or that any such applications will be successful. In
the event that antitrust and regulatory approvals are not received in each jurisdiction in which they are required, the Transaction may not be
consummated either in that specific jurisdiction or, in certain circumstances, at all.

In addition, GSK and Pfizer are both obliged to take all actions and do all things necessary under applicable antitrust laws to consummate
the Transaction. Without limiting the generality of this obligation, there is no limit on the number or value of any divestitures, undertakings
or commitments that GSK may be required under the Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement with Pfizer to give in order to ensure that all
antitrust and regulatory approvals required in connection with the Transaction are obtained. Any such divestitures, undertakings or
commitments could reduce the anticipated benefits of the Transaction, including the realization of anticipated synergies, and could
materially and adversely affect the results and operations of the Enlarged Group.

The Enlarged Group may experience difficulties in integrating the Pfizer consumer healthcare business with the GSK consumer
healthcare business

The future prospects of the Enlarged Group will, in part, be dependent upon the Enlarged Group’s ability to integrate the Pfizer consumer
healthcare business with the existing GSK consumer healthcare business, and the ability of the Enlarged Group to realize the anticipated
benefits and cost savings from combining the respective businesses. Some of the potential challenges relating to integration may not become
known until after completion of the Transaction.

The key potential difficulties in integrating the businesses include the following:

. the complexity of transferring employees and assets (including intellectual property, third party contracts, real estate and marketing
authorizations and other licenses/permits) and consolidating operations, infrastructure, procedures, systems, facilities, services and
policies across many different countries, jurisdictions, regulatory systems and business cultures;

. maintaining employee engagement and retaining and incentivizing key employees;
. the diversion of management time and resources away from the day-to-day operations of the Group;
. ensuring readiness upon completion of the Transaction and limiting disruption to the ongoing businesses of the Enlarged Group,

including minimizing the risk of supply chain interruptions and ensuring that necessary transitional arrangements between Pfizer and
the Enlarged Group function successfully;

. replacing and/or integrating IT systems used by the Pfizer consumer healthcare business with those used by the GSK consumer
healthcare business and transferring relevant data from Pfizer IT systems to GSK IT systems;

. technical transfer of manufacturing and other processes and services, upon expiry of transitional manufacturing and services
arrangements and/or in-sourcing of third party supply contracts; and

. maintaining business continuity throughout integration.

Difficulties experienced in the integration process could potentially lead to the interruption of operations of the businesses, or a loss of
customers, suppliers or key personnel, which could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations or financial
condition of the Enlarged Group.

Transaction-related costs may exceed GSK’s expectations

GSK expects to incur costs in relation to the Transaction, including integration and post-completion costs in order to implement the
Transaction successfully and deliver anticipated costs savings. The actual costs may exceed those estimated and there may be additional and
unforeseen expenses incurred in connection with the Transaction. In addition, GSK has incurred and will incur legal, accounting and
transaction fees and other costs relating to the Transaction, a material part of which are payable whether or not the Transaction completes.
Such costs could materially and adversely affect the realization of synergies and the results of operations of the Group or the Enlarged
Group.



The Enlarged Group may fail to realize, or it may take longer than expected to realize, the anticipated benefits of the Transaction

The expected benefits of the Transaction, including any identified synergies, may not be achieved, or may take longer than expected to
realize, and other assumptions upon which the terms of the Transaction have been determined may prove to be incorrect. To the extent that
GSK incurs higher integration costs, achieves lower margin benefits or fewer cost savings than expected, the results of operations and
financial condition of the Enlarged Group may suffer, which may materially and adversely affect GSK’s share price.

The Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement with Pfizer contains certain representations, warranties and indemnities, which could require
GSK or GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Holdings Limited (“GSK Consumer Healthcare”) to make payments to Pfizer

The Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement with Pfizer contains certain representations, warranties and indemnities given by GSK and GSK
Consumer Healthcare in favor of Pfizer. Any payment required under those representations, warranties and indemnities may have a material
and adverse effect on the cash flow and financial condition of the Enlarged Group.

The consumer healthcare joint venture with Pfizer and the Enlarged Group may not have full recourse to Pfizer under the Stock and
Asset Purchase Agreement

Under the terms of the Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement, Pfizer provides GSK Consumer Healthcare and GSK with certain
representations, warranties and indemnities. However, these representations, warranties and indemnities may not cover all potential
liabilities associated with the Pfizer consumer healthcare business, and they are in certain circumstances limited in their scope, duration
and/or the amount which may be claimed under them. Accordingly, GSK Consumer Healthcare and GSK may not have recourse against
Pfizer, or may not recover in full from Pfizer, for losses which it may suffer in respect of a breach of those warranties, or in respect of the
subject matter of any of the indemnities, or otherwise in respect of the consumer healthcare joint venture. This could materially and
adversely affect the operations and financial results of the consumer healthcare joint venture and, following completion of the Transaction,
the Enlarged Group.

Events or developments may occur which have an adverse effect on the businesses that are the subject of the Transaction but do not
entitle GSK to terminate the Transaction

Pursuant to the Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement, GSK will only be entitled to terminate the Transaction: (i) if agreed between the
parties; (ii) if completion of the Transaction has not occurred by September 30, 2019 (which date may be extended by either party to
December 31, 2019 or March 31, 2020 if the Transaction has not completed as a result of a failure to satisfy (or waive, as applicable) any of
the conditions relating to the receipt of antitrust clearances); (iii) if Pfizer fails to perform its obligations at completion of the Transaction;
(iv) if any breach of Pfizer’s representations and warranties as at completion of the Transaction constitutes a material adverse effect in
relation to the Pfizer consumer healthcare business; (v) Pfizer has materially breached its covenants and agreements to be performed or
complied with prior to completion of the Transaction; (vi) there being a governmental order permanently prohibiting the Transaction; or
(vii) if GSK’s shareholders do not approve the shareholders’ resolution in relation to the Transaction at the General Meeting of
shareholders.

During the period prior to completion of the Transaction, events or developments may occur which have an adverse effect on the Pfizer
consumer healthcare business but do not enable GSK to terminate the Transaction under the terms of the Stock and Asset Purchase
Agreement. GSK would then be required to proceed to completion of the Transaction notwithstanding the adverse events or developments,
and this could have a material and adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results of GSK.

Failure to obtain third party consents from contractual counterparties of the Pfizer consumer healthcare business may reduce the
anticipated benefits of the Transaction

The Pfizer group is party to a number of contracts relating to the Pfizer consumer healthcare business with third parties in respect of which
it is intended that either the relevant contracting entity within the Pfizer group will be transferred to the consumer healthcare joint venture or
the contract will be assigned to the consumer healthcare joint venture. Certain of those contracts may provide the counterparty with a right
to terminate as a result of (i) the change of control of, or assignment by, the Pfizer contracting party; and/or (ii) breach of applicable
non-compete restrictions as a result of the contract being held within the Enlarged Group. If such contracts are terminated or the
counterparties do not grant consents/waivers on favourable terms, this may reduce the anticipated benefits of the Transaction and could have
a material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s business, financial condition and/or results of operations.

Risks of executing the Transaction could cause the market price of GSK shares to decline
The market price of GSK’s shares may decline as a result of the Transaction, among other reasons, if:

. the integration of the Pfizer consumer healthcare business into the Group is delayed or unsuccessful;
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. GSK does not achieve the anticipated benefits of the Transaction as rapidly, or to the extent anticipated by GSK’s management,
analysts or investors, or at all;

. the effect of the Transaction on GSK’s financial results is not consistent with the expectations of analysts or investors; or

. GSK’s shareholders sell a significant number of shares following completion of the Transaction.

The successful completion of a separation of the consumer healthcare joint venture initiated by GSK may be dependent on a number of
factors that are outside GSK’s control, including favorable conditions in public equity markets and public or private debt markets and
changes in applicable law and regulation

GSK’s ability to exit the consumer healthcare joint venture through a listing and admission to trading of shares of GSK Consumer
Healthcare on the London Stock Exchange, the Nasdaq Stock Market or the New York Stock Exchange (the “Separation”) initiated by GSK
may be dependent on a number of factors such as (i) the condition of public or private debt markets being such that the consumer healthcare
joint venture is able to raise, on terms acceptable to the Group, sufficient levels of debt finance to undertake a pre-separation recapitalization
and distribution of the proceeds to GSK and Pfizer and (ii) the condition of public equity markets being such as to enable a successful sale
or demerger of shares in the consumer healthcare joint venture. Conditions in public equity markets and public or private debt markets are
not within GSK’s control and disruption in those markets may impede GSK’s ability to exit the consumer healthcare joint venture at the
desired time or in the desired way.

In addition, GSK’s ability to implement a successful Separation initiated by GSK, including by way of a demerger of its equity stake and a
listing of the consumer healthcare joint venture on the London Stock Exchange, the Nasdaq Stock Market or the New York Stock Exchange,
may be impeded or prevented by any change of law, regulation or the rules of any authority to which GSK is subject (including, for
example, any rules or guidance issued by the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority or H. M. Revenue & Customs) or any change to the way in
which applicable law and regulation is interpreted and applied by the relevant authorities. Such changes are outside the control of GSK and
there can be no guarantee that GSK’s preferred strategy in relation to the Separation will be capable of being implemented.

If GSK is not able to execute a successful Separation, including by undertaking a pre-separation recapitalization of the consumer healthcare
joint venture and completing a demerger of its equity stake, at a time and on terms acceptable to it, the Group may not be able to implement
its preferred strategy, including in relation to its pharmaceuticals and vaccines business, the reduction of leverage associated with those
businesses, and the support for those businesses’ ongoing investment requirements (especially the Group’s R&D pipeline). This may have a
material and adverse effect on the business, financial condition, results and operations of the Enlarged Group.

The expected benefits of a successful completion of a Separation initiated by GSK of the consumer healthcare joint venture from the
Group may not be realized and such a Separation may be detrimental to the consumer healthcare joint venture and/or the Group

Following a successful Separation, there can be no guarantee that the expected benefits of such a Separation will be realized. In particular, if
such a Separation does proceed, both the consumer healthcare joint venture and the Group (excluding the consumer healthcare business)
will form smaller, less diversified groups. As a result, each separate group may be more exposed to cyclical, sector-specific or other risks
than the Group and, following completion of the Transaction, the Enlarged Group are currently. In addition, consistent with their smaller
sizes, each separate group may not be able to obtain future debt or equity financing or put in place other contractual arrangements on terms
as favorable as the Group and, following completion of the Transaction, the Enlarged Group are currently able to achieve. Were any of these
risks to be realized following a Separation, this may have a material and adverse effect on the business, financial condition, results and
operations of the consumer healthcare joint venture and/or the Group (excluding the consumer healthcare business).

The completion of a Separation initiated by Pfizer, causing the consumer healthcare joint venture to become a listed, publicly traded
company, would reduce GSK’s control over the consumer healthcare joint venture

Under the terms of the Shareholders’ Agreement between GSK and Pfizer in relation to the consumer healthcare joint venture, in the event
that GSK has not exercised its exit rights in respect of the consumer healthcare joint venture within five years following completion of the
Transaction, Pfizer will be entitled to initiate a Separation from that point in time. While GSK would not be required to sell or demerge any
of its shares in the consumer healthcare joint venture as part of such a Separation initiated by Pfizer and could therefore retain its
proportionate equity stake, GSK’s rights to appoint directors to the board of directors of the joint venture and other control rights would be
reduced to a customary level for a company listed on the same exchange as the primary listing of the consumer
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Item 4.
4.A

4B

4.C

4D

healthcare joint venture, such that GSK would lose overall control of the board of directors of the consumer healthcare joint venture and its
control rights under the Shareholders’ Agreement would cease to apply. In that event, GSK may not be able to direct the business and
operations of the consumer healthcare joint venture in accordance with the strategy and objectives of the Enlarged Group, which could have
a material and adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results of the Enlarged Group.

Information on the Company

History and development of the company

The information set forth under the heading:
e “About GSK” on the inside back cover;
*  “Head Office and Registered Office” on the outside back cover; and
*  “Note 38 — Acquisitions and disposals” on pages 191 to 193

of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file
electronically with the SEC. The address of that site is http://www.sec.gov. GSK’s Internet address is gsk.com.

Business overview
e See Item 3.D “Risk factors” above;
In addition, the information set forth under the headings:
*  “GSK at a glance” on page 1;
*  “Chairman’s statement” on page 2;
*  “CEO’s statement” on page 3;
¢ “Our long-term priorities” on page 7;
*  “Industry trends” on pages 9 to 10;
+  “Stakeholder engagement” on page 11;

*  “Our business model” on page 12;

*  “Pharmaceuticals” on pages 13 to 17,
*  “Vaccines” on pages 18 to 20;
*  “Consumer Healthcare” on pages 21 to 23;

*  “Trust” on pages 24 to 33 (excluding the heading and the paragraph under the heading “Our approach to reporting” on
page 24);

*  “Note 6 — Turnover and segment information” on pages 153 to 156;

*  “Note 38 — Acquisitions and disposals” on pages 191 to 193;

*  “Pharmaceutical products, competition and intellectual property” on pages 238 to 239;
*  “Vaccines products, competition and intellectual property” on page 239; and

*  “Consumer Healthcare products and competition” on page 240

of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

Organizational structure

The information set forth under the heading:
*  “Note 44 — Principal Group companies” on page 214; and
*  “Group Companies” on pages 260 to 270

of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

Property, plant and equipment



The information set forth under the headings:

*  “Property, plant and equipment” within “Group financial review” on page 58;
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*  “Note 6 — Turnover and segment information” on pages 153 to 156; and
*  “Note 17 — Property, plant and equipment” on pages 165 to 166
of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.
Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects
S5.A Operating results

The information set forth under the headings:
+  “Regulatory environment” on page 10;
*  “Our approach to Brexit” within “Risk management” on page 36;
*  “Non-controlling interests in ViiV Healthcare” on page 41;
*  “Cash generation and conversion” on pages 56 to 57,
*  “Financial position and resources” on pages 58 to 62;
*  “Treasury policies” on pages 62 to 63; and
»  “Critical accounting policies” on pages 63 to 64

of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.
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The following tables reconcile Total results to Adjusted results. References in the GSK Annual Report 2018 to the reconciliations on page 51 of that

report should be read to refer to the information in these tables.

Adjusted results reconciliation — 31 December 2018

Divestments,

Intangible Intangible significant
Total asset asset Major Transaction legal and Adjusted
results amortisation impairment restructuring -related other items results
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Gross profit 20,580 536 69 443 15 21,643
Operating profit 5,483 580 116 809 1,977 (220) 8,745
Profit before taxation 4,800 580 116 813 1,974 (205) 8,078
Profit after taxation 4,046 471 97 643 1,735 (449) 6,543
Earnings per share 73.7p 9.6p 2.0p 13.1p 30.2p 9.2)p 119.4p
Weighted average number of shares (millions) 4914 4,914
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted gross profit
Cost of sales (10,241) 536 69 443 15 (9,178)
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted operating profit
Selling, general and administration (9,915) 2 315 98 38 (9,462)
Research and development (3,893) 44 45 49 20 (3,735)
Other operating income (1,588) 2 1,864 (278) —
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted profit before tax
Net finance costs (717) 4 3) 18 (698)
Profit on disposal of associates 3 3) —
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted profit after tax
Taxation (754) (109) (19) (170) (239) (244) (1,535)
Adjusted results reconciliation — 31 December 2017
Divestments,
Intangible Intangible significant
Total asset asset Major Transaction legal and US tax Adjusted
results amortisation impairment restructuring -related other items reform results
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Gross profit 19,844 546 400 545 80 21,415
Operating profit 4,087 591 688 1,056 1,599 (119) 666 8,568
Profit before taxation 3,525 591 688 1,060 1,599 (205) 666 7,924
Profit after taxation 2,169 457 512 851 980 (456) 1,744 6,257
Earnings per share 31.4p 9.4p 10.5p 17.4p 19.2p 9.4)p 33.3p 111.8p
Weighted average number of shares (millions) 4,886 4,886
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted gross profit
Cost of sales (10,342) 546 400 545 80 (8,771)
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted operating profit
Selling, general and administration (9,672) 248 83 (9,341)
Research and development (4,476) 45 288 263 18 (3,862)
Other operating income (1,965) 1,519 (220) 666 —
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted profit before tax
Net finance costs (669) 4 8 (657)
Profit on disposal of associates 94 (94) —
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted profit after tax
Taxation (1,356) (134) (176) (209) (619) (251) 1,078 (1,667)
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Adjusted results reconciliation — 31 December 2016
Divestments,

Intangible Intangible significant
Total asset asset Major Transaction legal and Adjusted
results amortisation impairment restructuring -related other items results
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Gross profit 18,599 547 7 297 86 2 19,538
Operating profit 2,598 588 20 970 3.919 (424) 7,671
Profit before taxation 1,939 588 20 974 3,919 (416) 7,024
Profit after taxation 1,062 458 15 757 3,480 (2406) 5,526
Earnings per share 18.8p 9.4p 0.3p 15.6p 61.6p S.Dp 100.6p
Weighted average number of shares (millions) 4,860 4,860
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted gross profit
Cost of sales (9,290) 547 7 297 86 2 (8,351)
The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted operating profit
Selling, general and administration (9,366) 514 55 (8,797)
Research and development (3,628) 41 13 159 (81) 28 (3,468)
Other operating income (3,405) 3,914 (509) —

The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted profit before tax
Net finance costs (664) 4 8 (652)

The following adjustments are made in arriving at Adjusted profit after tax
Taxation (877) (130) ®) (217) (439) 170 (1,498)

Financial review 2018

The information set forth in the Group financial review on pages 37 to 64 of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference excluding
the following sections:

*  “Viability Statement” on pages 39 and 44;

e “Outlook” on page 39”;

*  “Non-controlling interests in ViiV Healthcare” on page 41;
*  “Our approach to tax” on page 43; and

*  “Adjusting items” on page 51.

Outlook

In 2019, we expect Adjusted EPS to decline in the range of -5 to -9% at CER. This guidance reflects the expected impact of the Tesaro acquisition and
the significant investments we are making behind its products and pipeline. It also reflects the completion of the other recently announced transactions,
as well as the approval of a substitutable generic competitor to Advair in the US.

We are not able to give guidance for Total results as we cannot reliably forecast certain material elements of our Total results such as impairments of
intangible assets and the future fair value movements on contingent consideration and put options, including those arising from changes in foreign
exchange rates, and therefore a reconciliation of the guidance for Adjusted results to equivalent guidance for Total results is not available without
unreasonable effort.

Financial review 2017
Group turnover 2017

Group turnover

2017 2016 Growth Growth
£m £m £% CER%
Pharmaceuticals 17,276 16,104 7 3
Vaccines 5,160 4,592 12 6
Consumer Healthcare 7,750 7,193 8 2
Group turnover 30,186 27,889 8 3

Group turnover for the year increased 8% AER, 3% CER to £30,186 million, with growth delivered by all three businesses.

Pharmaceuticals sales were up 7% AER, 3% CER, reflecting the continued strong growth of the new Respiratory and HIV products, partly offset by
declines in older Respiratory products, including Seretide/Advair and Established Pharmaceuticals, including the impact of recent divestments.



Vaccines sales were up 12% AER, 6% CER, reflecting a strong performance from Meningitis and Influenza vaccines and higher demand for Established
Vaccines, as well as the benefit of favourable year-on-year US CDC stockpile movements.
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Consumer Healthcare sales grew 8% AER, 2% CER reflecting a strong performance from power brands in the Pain and Oral health categories, partly
offset by the impact of continued competitive pressures in the US allergy category and a broader market slowdown in key categories. In addition,
reported growth was impacted by the Nigerian beverages business divestment in Q3 2016 and the implementation of the Goods & Service Tax (GST) in
India on 1 July 2017.

Group turnover by geographic region

2017 2016 Growth Growth

£m £m £% CER%

UsS 11,263 10,197 10 6
Europe 7,943 7,476 6 —

International 10,980 10,216 7 3

30,186 27,889 8 3

The US sales growth of 10% AER, 6% CER was driven by continued strong performances from 7riumeq and Tivicay and growth in the Respiratory
portfolio, together with strong performances in the US from Hepatitis and Meningitis vaccines.

Europe sales grew 6% AER, but were flat at CER as growth from Triumeq, Tivicay and Meningitis vaccines was offset by the decline in Established
Pharmaceuticals, including the impact of the disposal of the Romanian distribution business in Q4 2016. Respiratory sales were up 5% AER, but flat at
CER, as the decline in Seretide offset the growth in the new Respiratory products.

In International, sales growth of 7% AER, 3% CER reflected strong growth in Triumeq, Tivicay and the Respiratory portfolio, with Established
Pharmaceuticals flat, including the impact of divestments. Growth in Emerging Markets of 8% AER, 4% CER was also impacted by divestments.

Sales from new Pharmaceutical and Vaccine products

2017 2016 Growth Growth
£m £m £% CER%
Respiratory
Anoro Ellipta 342 201 70 63
Arnuity Ellipta 35 15 >100 >100
Incruse Ellipta 201 114 76 68
Nucala 344 102  >100 >100
Relvar/Breo Ellipta 1,006 620 62 55
CVMU
Eperzan/Tanzeum 87 121 (28) 31
HIV
Tivicay 1,404 953 47 40
Triumeq 2,461 1,735 42 35
Pharmaceuticals 5,880 3,861 52 45
Bexsero 556 390 43 34
Menveo 274 202 36 29
Shingrix 22 —
Vaccines 852 592 44 36
6,732 4,453 51 44

In 2015, GSK identified a series of New Pharmaceutical and Vaccine products that were expected to deliver at least £6 billion of revenues per annum on
a CER basis by 2020. Those products are as set out above and do not include Trelegy Ellipta and Juluca, which had initial sales in 2017 of £2 million
and £5 million, respectively. The Group has previously announced its plans to withdraw Tanzeum. At 2015 exchange rates the equivalent value of the
2017 sales was £5.7 billion.

Sales of New Pharmaceutical and Vaccine products were £6,732 million, grew £2,279 million in Sterling terms (51% AER, 44% CER) and represented
approximately 30% of Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines turnover in the year.

Pharmaceuticals turnover

2017 2016 Growth Growth

£m £m £% CER%

Respiratory 6,991 6,510 7 3

HIV 4,350 3,556 22 16

Immuno-inflammation 377 340 11 6
Established Pharmaceuticals 5,558 5,698 (2) (5)

17,276 16,104 7 3




Pharmaceuticals turnover in 2017 was £17,276 million, up 7% AER, 3% CER. Respiratory sales grew 7% AER, 3% CER to £6,991 million, driven by
the Ellipta portfolio and Nucala, while HIV sales were up 22% AER, 16% CER to £4,350 million, driven by increases in market share for 7riumeq and
Tivicay. Sales of Established Pharmaceuticals declined 2% AER, 5% CER, reflecting a three percentage point impact of recent divestments. These
divestments reduced overall Pharmaceuticals CER growth by one percentage point, most significantly impacting the contribution from Europe and
Emerging Markets.

In the US, sales growth of 11% AER, 6% CER was driven by the HIV portfolio and new Respiratory products. Europe sales grew 3% AER but declined
3% CER, reflecting the continued transition of the Respiratory portfolio and generic competition to Kivexa as well as the disposal of the Romanian
distribution business during Q4 2016 which reduced growth by three percentage points. Reported International sales growth was impacted by the benefit
to Q1 2016 of the accelerated sale of inventory under supply agreements to Novartis as well as the disposal of the thrombosis and anaesthesia businesses
to Aspen in Q1 2017, which reduced reported growth in International by one percentage point and in Emerging Markets by two percentage points to 7%
AER, 5% CER. Sales in Japan grew 6% AER, 3% CER.

Respiratory

Total Respiratory portfolio sales were up 7% AER, 3% CER, with the US up 8% AER, 3% CER, Europe up 5% AER but flat at CER and International
up 9% AER, 5% CER. Growth of the new Respiratory products more than offset the decline in Seretide/Advair.

The new Respiratory products recorded combined sales of £1,930 million in 2017 with sales of Ellipta products up 67% AER, 59% CER driven by
continued strong growth in the US and the ongoing roll-out across Europe and International. Sales of Nucala were £344 million, a Sterling increase of
£242 million, and included sales of £236 million in the US.

The aggregate growth of the Ellipta products was driven primarily by the contribution of the US, where sales were up 72% AER, 65% CER on the back
of further market share gains. Total Relvar/Breo Ellipta sales grew 62% AER, 55% CER to £1,006 million, with the US up 75% AER, 67% CER to
£602 million. Anoro Ellipta sales grew 70% AER, 63% CER to £342 million, also reflecting market share gains in the US. All Ellipta products, Breo,
Anoro, Incruse and Arnuity, continued to grow market share in the US in the year.

Seretide/Advair sales declined 10% AER, 14% CER to £3,130 million. Sales in the US declined 12% AER, 16% CER (5% volume decline and a 11%
negative impact of price), with payer rebate adjustments related to prior periods favourably impacting sales in the year. In Europe, Seretide sales were
down 12% AER, 17% CER to £736 million (11% volume decline and a 6% negative impact of price), reflecting continued competition from generics
and the transition of the Respiratory portfolio to newer products. In International, sales of Seretide declined 5% AER, 8% CER to £784 million (6%

volume decline and a 2% negative impact of price), also reflecting increased generic competition and the transition to the newer Respiratory products.
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Pricing pressures also affected other older products with Ventolin sales declining 2% AER, 6% CER to £767 million, including the negative impact of
payer rebate adjustments related to prior periods in the US. Flixotide/Flovent sales were down 6% AER, 10% CER to £596 million, with the US down
15% AER, 18% CER.

The net impact of adjustments to payer rebates for prior periods across the US Respiratory portfolio was broadly neutral to reported US Respiratory
sales.

HIV

HIV sales increased 22% AER, 16% CER to £4,350 million in the year, with the US up 26% AER, 21% CER, Europe up 10% AER, 3% CER and
International up 33% AER, 26% CER. The growth in all three regions was driven by continued increases in market share for Triumeq and Tivicay,
partly offset by the impact of generic competition to Epzicom/Kivexa, particularly affecting the European market. The ongoing increase in patient
numbers for both Triumeq and Tivicay resulted in sales of £2,461 million and £1,404 million, respectively, in the year. Juluca was approved in the US in
November 2017, and recorded initial sales of £5 million.

Epzicom/Kivexa sales declined 59% AER, 61% CER to £234 million, reflecting the ongoing generic competition since Q3 2016.

Immuno-inflammation

Sales grew 11% AER, 6% CER in the year. The negative impact of the divestment of raxibacumab, which recorded strong sales in Q4 2016, was more
than offset by the growth of Benlysta, up 23% AER, 17% CER to £375 million, driven by a strong US performance.

Established Pharmaceuticals

Sales of Established Pharmaceuticals in 2017 were £5,558 million, declining 2% AER, 5% CER, impacted by the comparison with the accelerated sale
of inventory under supply agreements to Novartis in Q1 2016 as well as the disposal of the thrombosis and anaesthesia businesses to Aspen in Q1 2017
and the disposal of the Romanian distribution business in Q4 2016. The impact of these disposals on the growth of the Established Pharmaceuticals
portfolio was approximately three percentage points.

The Avodart franchise declined 3% AER, 9% CER to £613 million primarily due to the loss of exclusivity in the US and Europe and the impact of
favourable RAR adjustments in 2016.

Dermatology sales grew 16% AER, 11% CER to £456 million, reflecting improved supply in Emerging Markets and growth in Japan, while Augmentin
sales grew 4% AER, 2% CER to £587 milliion.
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Vaccines turnover

2017 2016 Growth Growth

£m £m £% CER%

Meningitis 890 662 34 27

Influenza 488 414 18 12
Shingles 22 —

Established Vaccines 3,760 3,516 7 1

5,160 4,592 12 6

Vaccines turnover grew 12% AER, 6% CER to £5,160 million, primarily driven by Meningitis vaccines, with Bexsero growing across all regions and
Menveo growing in the US and Europe, and higher sales of influenza products, primarily in the US and Europe. Established Vaccines growth was driven
by Hepatitis vaccines, mainly due to a competitor supply shortage in the US, higher demand for Boostrix and Rotarix and the launch of Cervarix in
China. Favourable year-on-year CDC stockpile movements for Infanrix, Pediarix and Menveo in the US also contributed to growth. These were partly
offset by increasing competitive pressures on Infanrix, Pediarix in the US and Europe, and lower Synflorix sales, driven primarily by lower pricing in
developing countries.

Meningitis

Meningitis sales grew 34% AER, 27% CER to £890 million. Bexsero sales growth of 43% AER, 34% CER was driven by new national immunisation
programmes, private market sales and regional tenders in Europe, as well as growing demand and share gains in the US, together with strong private
market sales in International. Menveo sales grew 36% AER, 29% CER, primarily driven by the impact of favourable year-on-year CDC stockpile
movements, partly offset by supply constraints in International.

Influenza

Fluarix/FluLaval sales were up 18% AER, 12% CER to £488 million, reflecting strong sales execution, primarily in the US, and higher demand in
Europe.

Shingles

Shingrix recorded initial sales into the channel of £22 million in the US after its FDA approval and favourable ACIP recommendations.

Established Vaccines

Sales of the DTPa-containing vaccines (/nfanrix, Pediarix and Boostrix) were up 5% AER, but flat at CER. Boostrix sales grew 19% AER, 13% CER,
benefiting from higher demand across all regions. Infanrix, Pediarix sales were down 3% AER, 8% CER, mainly driven by increased competitive
pressures in the US and Europe, together with a new market entrant in Europe, partly offset by favourable year-on-year CDC stockpile movements in
the US.

Hepatitis vaccines grew 15% AER, 10% CER to £693 million, benefiting from a competitor supply shortage and higher demand in the US, partly offset
by the unfavourable impact of CDC stockpile movements in the US and supply constraints in Europe and International.

Rotarix was up 12% AER, 6% CER to £524 million, reflecting higher demand in Europe and International.

Synflorix sales were up 1% AER, but down 6% CER to £509 million, due to lower pricing in Emerging Markets partly offset by higher demand
elsewhere in International.

Priorix/Priorix Tetra/Varilrix sales were flat at AER, but down 5% CER to £301 million, mainly due to supply constraints in International.
Cervarix sales increased by 65% AER, 57% CER to £134 million, driven by its recent launch in China.

Consumer Healthcare turnover

2017 2016 Growth Growth
£m £m £% CER%
Wellness 4,001 3,726 7 2
Oral health 2,466 2,223 11 6
Nutrition 680 674 1 )
Skin health 603 570 6 —
7,750 7,193 8 2




2017 2016 Growth Growth

£m £m £% CER%

US 1,826 1,761 4 (1)
Europe 2,360 2,169 9 3
International 3,564 3,263 9 4
7,750 7,193 8 2

Consumer Healthcare turnover was up 8% AER, 2% CER at £7,750 million, impacted by slower global growth in key categories. A strong performance
by power brands across Wellness and Oral health was partly offset by competitive pressures in the US allergy category, impacting Flonase OTC, as well
as lower sales of tail brands across the Nutrition and Skin health categories and a broader market slowdown in key categories. In addition, reported
growth was impacted by the disposal of the Nigeria beverages business in Q3 2016 and the implementation of the Goods & Service Tax (GST) in India
in July, the net effects of which were partly offset by the benefit of the comparison with the impact of demonetisation in India in Q4 2016. The
divestment, GST and demonetisation combined to reduce overall Consumer Healthcare CER growth by approximately one percentage point.

Sales from new GSK innovations (product introductions within the last three years on a rolling basis) represented approximately 13% of sales in the
period. Notable launches this year included parodontax and Flonase Sensimist in the US, the continued global roll out of Flonase OTC and several line
extensions for Sensodyne, including next generation Sensodyne Rapid Relief and Sensodyne Deep Clean.

Wellness

Wellness sales grew 7% AER, 2% CER to £4,001 million. This reflected a strong performance from Voltaren and Cold & flu seasonal products, partly
offset by a weaker performance from US allergy products.

Respiratory sales were up 7% AER, 2% CER as strong broadly-based growth from Theraflu and Otrivin, particularly in Europe and International, was
partly offset by competitive pressures in the US for Flonase OTC from private label products.

Pain relief sales were up 10% AER, 4% CER, driven significantly by Voltaren with growth across all regions, benefiting from momentum in the
12-hour variant, strong in-store and marketing activation, expansion of expert detailing and strong performances in International markets. Panadol also
grew strongly in Europe, benefiting from new advertising campaigns, and in International in low single digits.

Oral health

Oral health sales grew 11% AER, 6% CER to £2,466 million. Sensodyne continued to drive performance, reporting growth of 12% AER, 8% CER, with
strong delivery in all regions following the roll out of next generation Sensodyne Rapid Relief and the launch of Pronamel Strong & Bright. Sales of
parodontax continued to grow strongly, reflecting double-digit performances in Europe and International, driven by a brand reset and increases in
dentist recommendations, as well as the US launch in the first quarter. Denture care grew in mid-single digits with double-digit growth in emerging
markets partly offset by slower consumption growth in the US and Germany.

Nutrition

Nutrition sales grew 1% AER and declined 5% CER to £680 million, adversely impacted by the sale of the Nigeria beverages business in Q3 2016 and
the implementation of GST on 1 July, as well as continued competitive pressures for Horlicks in India. The net impact of the divestment of the Nigeria
beverages business, implementation of GST offset by the favourable comparison with the impact of demonetisation in the prior year reduced Nutrition
CER growth by approximately six percentage points.
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Skin health

Skin health sales grew 6% AER, but were flat at CER at £603 million, with low single-digit growth in the US, a slight decline within Europe and
International flat. Fenistil sales grew strongly, with good performances in Central & Eastern Europe, Germany and the Middle East, following digital
activation and new media campaigns. Physiogel and Lamisil continued to be impacted by competitor activity, whilst Lip care sales grew in mid-single
digits.

The total results of the Group are set out below.

2017 2016
% of % of Growth
£m turnover £m turnover £% CER%

Turnover 30,186 100 27,889 100 8 3
Cost of sales (10,342) (34.3)  (9,290) (33.3) 11 8
Selling, general and administration (9,672) (32.0)  (9,366) (33.6) 3 (1)
Research and development (4,476) (14.8)  (3,628) (13.0) 23 19
Royalty income 356 1.1 398 1.4 (11) (13)
Other operating income/(expense) (1,965) (6.5) (3,405) (12.2)
Operating profit 4,087 13.5 2,598 9.3 57 39
Net finance costs (669) (664)
Profit on disposal of interest in associates 94 —
Share of after tax profits of associates and joint ventures 13 5
Profit before taxation 3,525 1,939 82 58
Taxation (1,356) (877) -
Profit after taxation for the year 2,169 1,062 >100 7
Profit attributable to shareholders 1,532 912
Earnings per share (p) 31.4 18.8 67 36
Earnings per ADS (USS$) 0.82 0.51

Cost of sales

Cost of sales as a percentage of turnover was 34.3%, up 1.0 percentage points in Sterling terms and up 1.4 percentage points in CER terms compared
with 2016. This primarily reflected the phasing of costs of manufacturing restructuring programmes including non-cash write downs as a result of plant
closures and the write down of assets related to the progressive withdrawal of Tanzeum, as well as continued adverse pricing pressure in
Pharmaceuticals, primarily Respiratory, and additional supply chain investments. This was partly offset by a more favourable product mix across all
three businesses, particularly in Pharmaceuticals, reflecting the impact of higher HIV sales, and in Vaccines, reflecting the benefit of a settlement for
lost third party supply volume and a favourable year-on-year comparison to inventory adjustments in 2016. There was also a continued contribution
from integration and restructuring savings in all three businesses.

Selling, general and administration

SG&A costs were 32.0% of turnover, 1.5 percentage points lower than in 2016 in Sterling and CER terms. This primarily reflected lower restructuring
costs and tight control of ongoing operating costs, particularly in Consumer Healthcare, as well as continued cost reductions in Pharmaceuticals,
including the benefits of the Pharmaceuticals restructuring programme, and integration benefits in Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare. This was partly
offset by an increased investment in promotional product support, particularly for new launches in Respiratory, HIV and Vaccines.

Research and development

R&D expenditure was £4,476 million (14.8% of turnover), 23% higher than in 2016 at AER and 19% higher at CER. This included charges of

£106 million from the utilisation of the Priority Review Voucher in 2017 as well as increased investment in the progression of a number of mid and late-
stage programmes. In addition, there were higher restructuring costs, primarily as a result of the provision for future clinical obligations as a result of the
progressive withdrawal of Tanzeum and the decision to terminate the rights to sirukumab, and higher intangible asset impairments.

2017 2016 Growth
£m £m % %

Discovery 1,020 821 24 21
Development 1,450 1,249 16 13
Facilities and central support functions 536 558 4) )
Total Pharmaceuticals 3,006 2,628 14 11
Vaccines R&D 621 597 4 2)
Consumer Healthcare R&D 235 243 3) 7)

3,862 3,468 11 8
Items reconciling Adjusted R&D to Total R&D 614 160

Research and development 4,476 3,628 23 19



The growth in Development expenditure was driven by the progression of a number of mid and late-stage programmes in HIV, Respiratory and
Anaemia, together with the utilisation of the Priority Review Voucher in Q2 2017. The continuing high growth in Discovery expenditure reflected
further investment in the early stage Oncology portfolio.
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Royalty and other operating income/(expense)

Net other operating expense of £1,609 million (2016 — £3,007 million) primarily reflected lower accounting charges arising from the re-measurement of
the contingent consideration liabilities related to the former Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare joint venture and the acquisition of the former Novartis Vaccines
business, the value attributable to the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture put option and the liabilities for the Pfizer put option and Pfizer and Shionogi
preferential dividends in ViiV Healthcare. The remeasurement charges of £2,185 million (2016 — £3,914 million) reflected updated trading forecasts and
changes in exchange rate assumptions as well as the unwinding of the discount applied to these future liabilities of £1,001 million. They also included
charges of £666 million arising from the positive impact of US tax reform on the valuation of the Consumer Healthcare and HIV businesses. These
charges were partly offset by the gain of £250 million on the disposal of the anaesthesia business to Aspen and royalty income of £356 million (2016 —
£398 million).

Operating profit

Total operating profit was £4,087 million in 2017 compared with £2,598 million in 2016. The increase primarily reflected a reduced impact from
accounting charges related to the remeasurement of the liabilities for contingent consideration, put options and preferential dividends. In addition
operating profit benefited from an improved operating margin driven by sales growth across all three businesses, but particularly Vaccines, and a more
favourable mix in all three businesses. In Vaccines, there was also a favourable year-on-year comparison with inventory adjustments in 2016 and the
benefit of a one-off settlement in cost of sales. Continued tight control of ongoing costs and benefits from restructuring and integration also contributed
to improved margins in Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare, but in Pharmaceuticals, the benefits were offset by an overall increase in Pharmaceuticals
R&D investment (including the impact of the Priority Review Voucher) together with continuing price pressure, particularly in Respiratory, and supply
chain investments to support new products.

Net finance costs

2017 2016
Finance income _fm _fm
Interest and other income 63 70
Fair value movements 2 2
6 _n
Finance expense
Interest expense (720) (701)
Unwinding of discounts on liabilities (16) (16)
Remeasurements and fair value movements 4) 4)
Other finance expense 6 _(15)

(39 (36)

Profit on disposal of associates

The profit on disposal of associates was £94 million (2016 — £nil). This arose from the disposal of our entire shareholdings in two associates, River
Vision Development Co. Ltd and JCR Pharmaceuticals Co Ltd.

Share of after tax profits of associates and joint ventures

The share of profits of associates and joint ventures was £13 million (2016 — £5 million).

Profit before taxation

Taking account of net finance costs, the profit on disposal of associates and the share of profit of associates, profit before taxation was £3,525 million
compared with £1,939 million in 2016.

Taxation
2017 2016
£m £m
UK current year charge 199 241
Rest of world current year charge 1,928 1,326
Charge in respect of prior periods (508) (149)
Total current taxation 1,619 1,418
Total deferred taxation (263) (541)
Taxation on total profits 1,356 877

A tax charge of £1,356 million on Total profit represented an effective tax rate of 38.5% (2016 — 45.2%) and included a charge of £1,078 million arising
from US tax reform as described in more detail on page 68. This was partly offset by a £483 million benefit from Swiss tax reform, arising from the
revaluation of deferred tax liabilities on acquired Consumer Healthcare brands to reflect a reduction in the headline tax rate.



Non-controlling interests

The allocation of earnings to non-controlling interests amounted to £637 million (2016 — £150 million), including the non-controlling interest
allocations of Consumer Healthcare profits of £415 million (2016 — £203 million) and the allocation of ViiV Healthcare profits, which increased to
£187 million (2016 — £83 million loss) including the impact of changes in the proportions of preferential dividends due to each shareholder. The
increase in allocation of ViiV Healthcare profits primarily reflected the impact of lower remeasurement charges and the increase in allocation of
Consumer Healthcare profits reflected improved operating profits together with the benefit of Swiss tax reform in 2017.

Earnings per share

Total earnings per share were 31.4p, compared with 18.8p in 2016. The increase reflected the reduced impact of charges arising from the revaluations of
the liabilities for contingent consideration and the put options associated with increases in the Sterling value of the Group’s HIV and Consumer
Healthcare businesses, the benefit from Swiss tax reform and improved performances by the relevant businesses, partly offset by the charges arising
from US tax reform.

Dividends

The Board declared four interim dividends resulting in a total dividend for the year of 80 pence, in line with the dividend declared for 2016.
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Items adjusted from Total results to present Adjusted results

Total results are adjusted for a number of items in order to present Adjusted results, as explained defined on pages 40 and 41 of the GSK Annual Report
2018. The items are discussed below.

Intangible asset amortisation and impairment

Intangible asset amortisation was £591 million, compared with £588 million in 2016. Intangible asset impairments of £688 million (2016 — £20 million)
included impairments related to the progressive withdrawal of Tanzeum and a number of other commercial and R&D assets following the refocusing of
the R&D pipeline during 2017. Both of the amortisation and impairment charges were non-cash items.

Major restructuring and integration

Major restructuring and integration charges of £1,056 million have been incurred (2016 — £970 million). Non-cash charges were £525 million, primarily
reflecting the write down of assets as a result of the decision to withdraw Tanzeum and terminate rights to sirukumab arising from the establishment of
the Group’s new business priorities, as well as the write down of assets related to reductions in the site network. Cash charges were £531 million (2016
— £704 million), including charges as a result of the decisions to withdraw Tanzeum and terminate rights to sirukumab. Cash payments made were

£555 million (2016 — £1,077 million), including the settlement of certain charges previously accrued, but also reflecting the deferral of some payments
into 2018. Cash payments of approximately £0.5 billion are expected in 2018. The programme delivered incremental cost savings in 2017 of

£0.7 billion, including £0.2 billion of currency benefits.

Charges for the combined restructuring and integration programme to date are £4.8 billion, of which cash charges are £3.5 billion. Cash payments of
£3.1 billion have been made to date. Non-cash charges are £1.3 billion.

An extension to the existing combined programme was agreed by the Board in July 2017, with total cash charges of the combined programme now
expected to be approximately £4.1 billion and non-cash charges up to £1.6 billion. The programme has now delivered approximately £3.7 billion of
annual savings, including a currency benefit of £0.4 billion. The extended programme is now expected to deliver by 2020 total annual savings of
£4.0 billion on a constant currency basis, together with an estimated £0.4 billion of currency benefits on the basis of 2017 average exchange rates.

Transaction-related adjustments

Transaction-related adjustments resulted in a net charge of £1,599 million (2016 — £3,919 million). This primarily reflected accounting charges for the
re-measurement of the liability and the unwinding of the discounting effects on the contingent consideration related to the acquisition of the former
Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare joint venture, the contingent consideration related to the acquisition of the former Novartis Vaccines business, and the value
attributable to the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture put option held by Novartis. These transaction-related adjustments exclude the impact on these
liabilities arising from the implementation of the US Tax Cuts and Jobs Act in 2017 which is set out separately on this page.

2017 2016

Charge/(credit) £m £m
Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture put option 986 1,133
Contingent consideration on former Shionogi-ViiV Healthcare Joint Venture (including

Shionogi preferential dividends) 556 2,162
ViiV Healthcare put options and Pfizer preferential dividends (126) 577
Contingent consideration on former Novartis Vaccines business 101 69
Other adjustments 82 (22)
Total transaction-related charges 1,599 3,919

The aggregate impact of unwinding the discount on these future and potential liabilities was £1,001 million (2016 — £905 million), including

£543 million on the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture put option and £408 million on the contingent consideration related to the former Shionogi-
ViiV Healthcare Joint Venture. The remaining charge of £598 million was driven by adjustments to trading forecasts and the impact of updated
exchange rate assumptions on those forecasts for the relevant businesses as well as updated multiples used in the valuation of the Consumer Healthcare
Joint Venture put option.

Contingent consideration cash payments which are made to Shionogi and other companies reduce the balance sheet liability and hence are not recorded
in the income statement. Total contingent consideration cash payments in 2017 amounted to £685 million (2016 — £431 million). This included cash
payments made by ViiV Healthcare to Shionogi in relation to its contingent consideration liability (including preferential dividends) which amounted to
£671 million (2016 — £417 million).

An explanation of the accounting for the non-controlling interests in ViiV Healthcare is set out on page 41 of the GSK Annual Report 2018.

The impact on profit after tax from transaction-related adjustments includes an accounting credit in respect of Swiss tax reform of £483 million, arising
from the revaluation of deferred tax liabilities on acquired Consumer Healthcare brands to reflect a reduction in the headline Swiss tax rate.

Divestments and other items



Divestments and other items included the profit on disposal of the anaesthesia business to Aspen of £250 million, a number of other asset disposals,
equity investment impairments and certain other adjusting items. Significant legal charges of £68 million (2016 — £62 million) included the benefit of
the settlement of existing matters as well as provisions for ongoing litigation. Significant legal cash payments were £192 million (2016 — £102 million).

US tax reform

The enactment of the US Tax Cuts and Jobs Act has resulted in a number of additional charges in 2017, which reduced Total earnings by
£1,630 million.

Firstly, increased valuations of the HIV and Consumer Healthcare businesses due to lower US tax rates resulted in an increase in the related liabilities
for contingent consideration and the put options of £666 million.

Secondly, an additional tax charge of £1,078 million comprised a reduction in the value of US deferred tax assets held against future liabilities, such as
pensions, and a current tax credit, together amounting to £730 million, as well as a charge of £348 million arising on the reserves of subsidiaries of US
entities in the Group. The cash impact of this latter charge will be spread over eight years from 2018, with approximately 60% expected to be payable in
years six to eight.

These charges were partly offset by an allocation to non-controlling interests amounting to £114 million, as many of the adjustments related to ViiV
Healthcare and the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture.

These charges represent management’s estimates of the impact of US tax reform on the Group based on the information currently available. As further
guidance from the US Treasury on implementation of the Act becomes available, particularly with regard to the repatriation tax provisions, the
assumptions underlying these estimates could change. This could result in adjustments to the charges taken that could have a material impact on the
results of the Group.

Adjusted results

We use Adjusted results, which is a non-IFRS measure, among other metrics including total results and cash flow generation, to manage the
performance of the Group. Non-IFRS measures may be considered in addition to, but not as a substitute for or superior to, information presented in
accordance with IFRS. The definition of Adjusted results is set out on page 40 of the GSK Annual Report 2018.
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Cost of sales

2017 2016 Growth
% of % of
£m turnover £m turnover £% CER%
Cost of sales (8,771)  (29.1) (8351) (299) 5 1

Cost of sales as a percentage of turnover was 29.1%, down 0.9 percentage points in Sterling terms and down 0.5 percentage points in CER terms
compared with 2016. This reflected a more favourable product mix across all three businesses, particularly in Pharmaceuticals, including the impact of
higher HIV sales, as well as favourable product mix, the benefit of a settlement for lost third party supply volume and a favourable year-on-year
comparison to inventory adjustments in 2016 in Vaccines. There was also a further contribution from integration and restructuring savings in all three
businesses, offset by continued adverse pricing pressure in Pharmaceuticals, primarily Respiratory, and additional supply chain investments.

Selling, general and administration

2017 2016 Growth
% of % of
£m turnover £m turnover £%  CER%
Selling, general and administration (9,341) 30.9) (8,797) (31.5) 6 1

SG&A costs were 30.9% of turnover, 0.6 percentage points lower in Sterling terms than in 2016 and 0.5 percentage points lower on a CER basis. This
primarily reflected tight control of ongoing costs, particularly in Consumer Healthcare, continued cost reductions in Pharmaceuticals, including the
benefits of the Pharmaceuticals restructuring programme, and integration benefits in Vaccines and Consumer Healthcare. This was partly offset by
increased investment in promotional product support, particularly for new launches in Respiratory, HIV and Vaccines.

Research and development

2017 2016 Growth
% of % of
£m turnover £m turnover £% CER%
Research and development (3,862) (12.8)  (3,468) (124) 11 8

R&D expenditure was £3,862 million (12.8% of turnover), 11% higher than 2016 at AER and 8% higher at CER. This included a charge of £106 million
on the utilisation of the Priority Review Voucher in Q2 2017 as well as increased investment in the progression of a number of mid and late-stage
programmes.

2017 2016 Growth

£m £m £% CER%
Discovery 1,020 821 24 21
Development 1,450 1,249 16 13
Facilities and central support functions 536 558 @ _ ™
Total Pharmaceuticals 3,006 2,628 14 11
Vaccines R&D 621 597 4 2)
Consumer Healthcare R&D 235 243 3 )
Research and development 3,862 3,468 11 8

The growth in Development expenditure was driven by the progression of a number of mid and late-stage programmes in HIV, Respiratory and
Anaemia, together with the utilisation of the Priority Review Voucher in Q2 2017. The continuing high growth in Discovery expenditure reflected
further investment in the early stage Oncology portfolio.

Royalty income

Royalty income was £356 million (2016 — £398 million). The reduction was primarily due to the patent expiry of Cialis in Q4 2016 and a catch-up
adjustment recorded in Q1 2016.

Adjusted operating profit

Adjusted operating profit was £8,568 million, 12% AER higher than in 2016 and 5% CER higher on a turnover increase of 3% CER. The Adjusted
operating margin of 28.4% was 0.9 percentage points higher than in 2016 on an AER basis and 0.4 percentage points higher on a CER basis. This
reflected improved operating leverage driven by sales growth and a more favourable mix in all three businesses, together with, in Vaccines, the benefit
of a settlement for lost third party supply volume and a favourable year-on-year comparison to inventory adjustments in 2016. There was also continued
tight control of ongoing costs across all three businesses as well as benefits from restructuring and integration. This was partly offset by the charge of
£106 million on the utilisation of the Priority Review Voucher in Q2 2017 as well as other increases in R&D investment, continuing price pressure,
particularly in Respiratory, and supply chain investments.
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Adjusted operating profit by business

Pharmaceuticals

Pharmaceuticals R&D

Pharmaceuticals

Vaccines

Consumer
Healthcare

Corporate & other unallocated costs
Adjusted operating profit

Pharmaceuticals

2017 2016 Growth
Margin Margin

£m % £m % £% CER%
8667 502 7976 495 9 3
(2,740) (2,488) 10 7
5927 343 5488 341 8 1
1,644 319 1429 31.1 15 11
1,373 177 1,116 155 23 1l
8944 296 8,033 288 I 4
(376) (362) 4 3)
8,568 284 7671 275 12 5

Pharmaceuticals operating profit was £5,927 million, 8% AER higher than in 2016 and 1% CER higher on a turnover increase of 3% CER. The
operating margin of 34.3% was 0.2 percentage points higher than in 2016 on a Sterling basis but 0.6 percentage points down on a CER basis. This
primarily reflected increased R&D investment, including the impact of the utilisation of the Priority Review Voucher in Q2 2017. The operating margin
also reflected increased investment in new product support, as well as the continued impact of lower prices, particularly in Respiratory, and the broader
transition of the Respiratory portfolio, partly offset by a more favourable product mix, primarily driven by the growth in HIV sales, and the continued
cost reduction benefit of the Group’s Pharmaceuticals restructuring programme.

Vaccines

Vaccines operating profit was £1,644 million, 15% AER higher than in 2016 and 11% CER higher on a turnover increase of 6% CER. The operating
margin of 31.9% was 0.8 percentage points higher than in 2016 on a Sterling basis and 1.3 percentage points higher on a CER basis. This was primarily
driven by improved product mix, the benefit of a settlement for lost third party supply volume and a favourable year-on-year comparison with inventory
adjustments in 2016, together with continued restructuring and integration benefits. This was partly offset by increased SG&A resources to support
business growth and new launches, increased supply chain costs and lower royalty income.

Consumer Healthcare

Consumer Healthcare operating profit was £1,373 million, 23% AER higher than in 2016 and 11% CER higher on a turnover increase of 2% CER. The
operating margin of 17.7% was 2.2 percentage points higher than in 2016 and 1.3 percentage points higher on a CER basis, reflecting tight control of
costs, integration synergies, principally in SG&A, partly offset by increased investment in power brands.

Net finance costs

Finance income
Interest and other income
Fair value movements

Finance expense

Interest expense

Unwinding of discounts on liabilities
Remeasurements and fair value movements
Other finance expense

Share of after tax profits of associates and joint ventures

2017
£m

6

|Nw

(720)
4)
4)

(722)

The share of profits of associates and joint ventures was £13 million (2016 — £5 million).

Adjusted profit before taxation

2017

2016
£m

N O

(701)
“)
“4)

(15)

(124)

2016

Growth




% of % of
£m turnover £m turnover  £% CER%

Adjusted profit before tax 7,924 263 7,024 252 13 5

Taxation

Tax on Adjusted profit amounted to £1,667 million and represented an effective Adjusted tax rate of 21.0% (2016 —21.3%).

Non-controlling interests

The allocation of Adjusted earnings to non-controlling interests amounted to £793 million (2016 — £637 million), including the non-controlling interest
allocations of Consumer Healthcare profits of £344 million (2016 — £288 million) and the allocation of ViiV Healthcare profits, which increased to

£414 million (2016 — £324 million) including the impact of changes in the proportions of preferential dividends due to each shareholder. The increase in
allocation also reflected comparison with the reduction in the allocation to non-controlling interests due to higher net losses in some of the Group’s other
entities with non-controlling interests in 2016.

Adjusted earnings per share

Adjusted EPS of 111.8p was up 11% AER, 4% CER compared with a 5% CER increase in Adjusted operating profit.
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Financial position and resources

Property, plant and equipment

Our business is science-based, technology-intensive and highly regulated by governmental authorities. We allocate significant financial resources to the
renewal and maintenance of our property, plant and equipment to minimise risks of interruption to production and to ensure compliance with regulatory
standards. A number of our processes use hazardous materials.

The total cost of our property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2017 was £21,719 million, with a net book value of £10,860 million. Of this, land
and buildings represented £4,270 million, plant and equipment £4,132 million and assets in construction £2,458 million. In 2017, we invested

£1,584 million in new property, plant and equipment. This was mainly related to a large number of projects for the renewal, improvement and expansion
of facilities at various worldwide sites. Property is mainly held freehold. New investment is financed from our liquid resources. At 31 December 2017,
we had contractual commitments for future capital expenditure of £584 million and operating lease commitments of £1,045 million. We believe that our
property and plant facilities are adequate for our current needs.

We observe stringent procedures and use specialist skills to manage environmental risks from our activities.

Goodwill

Goodwill decreased during the year to £5,734 million at 31 December 2017, from £5,965 million. The decrease primarily reflected the impact of
exchange movements.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets include the cost of intangibles acquired from third parties and computer software. The net book value of other intangible assets
as at 31 December 2017 was £17,562 million (2016 — £18,776 million). The decrease in 2017 reflected the impact of exchange movements and the
amortisation and impairment of existing intangibles of £934 million and £680 million respectively, partly offset by the development costs capitalised
during the year of £251 million and other additions of £454 million.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

We held investments in associates and joint ventures with a carrying value at 31 December 2017 of £183 million (2016 — £263 million). The market
value at 31 December 2017 was £372 million (2016 — £502 million). The largest of these investments was in Innoviva Inc. which had a book value at
31 December 2017 of £147 million (2016 — £138 million). The market value at 31 December 2017 was £336 million. See Note 20 to the financial
statements ‘Investments in associates and joint ventures’.

Other investments

We held other investments with a carrying value at 31 December 2017 of £918 million (2016 — £985 million). The decrease in the carrying value during
the year was primarily due to the impact of exchange movements. The most significant of the investments held at 31 December 2017 was in Theravance
Biopharma, Inc. which had a book value at 31 December 2017 of £199 million (2017 — £248 million). The other investments included equity stakes in
companies with which we have research collaborations, which provide access to biotechnology developments of potential interest and interests in
companies that arise from business divestments.

Derivative financial instruments: assets

We had current derivative financial instruments held at fair value of £68 million (2016 — £156 million) and non-current derivative financial instruments
held at fair value of £8 million (2016 — £nil). The majority of these financial instruments related to foreign exchange contracts both designated and not
designated as accounting hedges.

Inventories

Inventory of £5,557 million increased from £5,102 million in 2016. The increase primarily reflected inventory build in advance of new product
launches.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables of £6,000 million decreased from £6,026 million in 2016, primarily reflecting exchange movements partly offset by the
impact of higher sales.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets of £3,796 million decreased from £4,374 million in 2016 primarily as a result of the revaluation of existing deferred tax assets to
reflect the lower headline US tax rate following enactment of US tax reform, partly offset by an increase in deferred tax assets related to intra-Group
profit on inventory.



Derivative financial instruments: liabilities

We held current derivative financial instruments at fair value of £74 million (2016 — £194 million). This primarily related to foreign exchange contracts
both designated and not designated as accounting hedges.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables amounting to £20,970 million increased from £11,964 million in 2016, reflecting the reclassification of the Consumer
Healthcare put option of £8,606 million from non-current liabilities. This relates to the present value of the estimated amount payable by us in the event
of full exercise of Novartis’ right to require us to acquire its 36.5% shareholding in the Consumer Healthcare Joint Venture. As this option became
exercisable from 2 March 2018, with payment likely to be due several months after exercise, it has been classified within current liabilities on the Group
balance sheet. Further details are provided in Note 3, ‘Key accounting judgements and estimates’.

Provisions

We carried deferred tax provisions and other short-term and non-current provisions of £2,661 million at 31 December 2017 (2016 — £3,434 million).
The decrease in the year primarily reflected a reduction in the deferred tax provision as a result of Swiss tax reform. Other provisions at the year-end
include £186 million (2016 — £344 million) related to legal and other disputes and £504 million (2016 — £554 million) related to the major restructuring
programme. Provision has been made for legal and other disputes, indemnified disposal liabilities, employee related liabilities and the costs of the
restructuring programme to the extent that at the balance sheet date a legal or constructive obligation existed and could be reliably estimated.

Pensions and other post-employment benefits

We account for pension and other post-employment arrangements in accordance with IAS 19. The deficits, net of surpluses before allowing for deferred
taxation were £1,505 million (2016 — £2,084 million) on pension arrangements and £1,496 million (2016 — £1,693 million) on unfunded post-
employment liabilities. The decreases in the deficits were predominantly driven by special funding contributions to the UK and US schemes and
significant UK asset gains partly offset by lower discount rates that we used to discount the value of the liabilities.

Other non-current liabilities

Other non-current liabilities amounted to £981 million at 31 December 2017 (2016 — £8,445 million). This decrease from 2016 reflects the
reclassification of the Consumer Healthcare put option to current liabilities during the year.
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Contingent consideration liabilities

Contingent consideration liabilities amounted to £6,172 million at 31 December 2017 (2016 — £5,896 million), of which £5,542 million (2016 —
£5,304 million) represented the estimated present value of amounts payable to Shionogi relating to ViiV Healthcare and £584 million (2016 — £545
million) represented the estimated present value of contingent consideration payable to Novartis related to the Vaccines acquisition. The liability due to
Shionogi included £216 million in respect of preferential dividends. The liability for preferential dividends due to Pfizer at 31 December 2017 was

£17 million. An explanation of the accounting treatment of our interests in ViiV Healthcare is set out on page 59.

Net debt
2017 2016
£m £m
Cash, cash equivalents and liquid investments 3,911 4,986
Borrowings — repayable within one year (2,825) (4,129)
Borrowings — repayable after one year (14,264) (14,661)
Net debt (13,178) (13,804)

At 31 December 2017, net debt was £13.2 billion, compared with £13.8 billion at 31 December 2016, comprising gross debt of £17.1 billion and cash
and liquid investments of £3.9 billion. The decrease in net debt primarily reflected the improved free cash flow of £3.4 billion, disposal proceeds of
£0.6 billion, together with a £0.6 billion favourable exchange impact from the translation of non-Sterling denominated debt, which more than offset the
cost of dividends paid to shareholders of £3.9 billion.

At 31 December 2017, our cash and liquid investments were held as follows:

2017 2016
_tm__tm

Bank balances and deposits 1,715 2,583
US Treasury and Treasury repo only money market funds 1,715 2,248
Liquidity funds 403 66

Cash and cash equivalents 3,833 4,897
Liquid investments — Government securities 78 89

3,911 4,986

Cash and liquid investments of £2.5 billion (2016 — £3.2 billion) were held centrally at 31 December 2017.

5.B Liquidity and capital resources
The information set forth under the headings:
*  “Cash generation and conversion” on pages 56 to 57,
*  “Financial position and resources” on pages 58 to 62;
*  “Treasury policies” on pages 62 to 63;
*  “Note 41 — Commitments” on page 197; and
*  “Note 42 — Financial instruments and related disclosures” on pages 198 to 211

of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

5.C Research and development, patents and licenses, etc.
The information set forth under the headings:

*  “Innovation” within “Pharmaceuticals” on pages 13 to 15,“Vaccines” on pages 18 to 19 and “Consumer Healthcare” on
pages 21 to 22;

*  “Performance” within “Pharmaceuticals” on page 17; “Vaccines” on page 20 and “Consumer Healthcare” on pages 22 to 23;
*  “Pharmaceuticals and Vaccines product development pipeline” on pages 235 to 237;

*  “Pharmaceutical products, competition and intellectual property” on pages 238 to 239;

*  “Vaccines products, competition and intellectual property” on page 239; and

*  “Consumer Healthcare products and competition” on page 240

of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.



5.D

S.E

5.F

Item 6.

6.A

Trend information

The information set forth under the heading “Financial Review 2018 in Item 5.A of this annual report on Form 20-F is incorporated
herein by reference.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

Not applicable.

Tabular disclosure of contractual obligations

The information set forth under the heading “Contractual obligations and commitments” on page 61 of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is
incorporated herein by reference.

Directors, Senior Management and Employees
Directors and senior management
The information set forth under the headings:

*  “Our Board” on pages 68 to 70; and

*  “Our Corporate Executive Team” on page 71

of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.
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6.B

6.C

6.D

6.E

Item 7.

7.A

7.B

Compensation

*  “Remuneration report” on pages 95 to 124; and

e “2017 Remuneration policy summary ” on pages 120 to 124
of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

Board practices
The information set forth under the heading:
»  “Corporate governance” on pages 65 to 94; and
*  “Additional remuneration disclosures” on page 107; and
*  “Donations to political organisations and political expenditure” on page 259

of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

Employees
The information set forth under the headings:
*  “Engaged people” on page 28;
*  “Development” on page 29;
*  “Note 9 — Employee costs” on page 158;
*  “Note 28 — Pensions and other post-employment benefits” on pages 174 to 182; and
*  “Number of employees” under “Five year record” on page 231

of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

Share ownership
The information set forth under the headings:
*  “Note 43— Employee share schemes” on pages 212 to 213;
*  “Total remuneration for 2017 on pages 98 to 99;
*  “Value earned from Long Term Incentives (LTIs)” on page 103;
*  “Update on performance of ongoing LTI awards” on page 104; and
*  “Directors’ interests in shares” on pages 113 to 118

of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions
Major shareholders
The information set forth under the headings:
»  “Change of control and essential contracts” on page 94;
»  “Share capital and control” on pages 251 to 252; and
*  “Analysis of shareholdings at 31 December 2018” on page 252
of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

Related party transactions
The information set forth under the heading:
*  “Note 35 — Related party transactions” on page 189

of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.



7.C

Item 8.
8.A

8.B

Interests of experts and counsel

Not applicable.

Financial Information

Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Information:

See Item 18 below.

In addition, the information set forth under the headings:
*  “Note 45 — Legal proceedings” on pages 215 to 218; and
*  “Dividends” on page 253

of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

Significant Changes

The information set forth under the headings:
*  “Note 45 — Legal proceedings” on pages 215 to 218; and
*  “Note 46 — Post balance sheet events” on page 218

of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 9.
9.A

9.B

9.C

9.D

9.E

9.F

Item 10.
10.A
10.B

The Offer and Listing
Offer and listing details
The information set forth under the headings:
+  “Market capitalisation” on page 251; and
+  “Nature of trading market” on page 252
of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

The trading symbol for GSK’s Ordinary Shares of 25p each on the London Stock Exchange is GSK.L and the trading symbol for GSK’s
ADSs on the New York Stock Exchange is GSK.

Plan of distribution

Not applicable.

Markets

The information set forth under the headings:
*  The second paragraph under “Share capital and control” on page 251; and
+  “Nature of trading market” on page 252

of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

Selling shareholders
Not applicable.

Dilution

Not applicable.

Expenses of the issue

Not applicable.

Additional Information
Share Capital Not applicable.
Articles of Association of GlaxoSmithKline plc

The following is a summary of the principal provisions of the company’s Articles of Association (the “Articles”). Shareholders should
not rely on this summary, but should instead refer to the current Articles which are filed with the Registrar of Companies in the UK and
can be viewed on the company’s website. The Articles contain the fundamental provisions of the company’s constitution, and the rules
for the internal management and control of the company. The company has no statement of objects in its Articles and accordingly its
objects are unrestricted in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

(a) Voting

All resolutions put to the vote at general meetings, including electronic general meetings (see paragraph (h)), will be decided by poll. On
a poll, every shareholder who is present in person or by proxy or, in the case of an electronic general meeting, who participates or is
represented by proxy via an electronic platform shall have one vote for every Ordinary Share of which he or she is the holder. In the case
of joint holders of a share, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of
the votes of the other joint holders, and seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand on the register. Unless the
Directors otherwise decide, the right to attend a general meeting and voting rights may not be exercised by a shareholder who has not
paid to the company all calls and other sums then payable by him or her in respect of his or her Ordinary Shares. The right to attend a
general meeting and voting rights may not be exercised by a shareholder who is subject to an order under Section 794 of the Companies
Act 2006 because he or she has failed to provide the company with information concerning his or her interests in Ordinary Shares within
the prescribed period, as required by Section 793 of the Companies Act 2006.



(b) Transfer of Ordinary Shares

Any shareholder may transfer his or her Ordinary Shares which are in certificated form by an instrument of transfer in any usual form or
in any other form which the Directors may approve. Such instrument must be properly signed and stamped or certified (or otherwise
shown to the satisfaction of the Directors as being exempt from stamp duty) and lodged with the company together with the relevant
share certificate(s) and such other evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to make the
transfer.

Any member may transfer title to his or her uncertificated Ordinary Shares by means of a relevant system, such as CREST.

The transferor of a share is deemed to remain the holder until the transferee’s name is entered on the register. The Directors may decline
to register any transfer of any Ordinary Share which is not fully paid.

Registration of a transfer of uncertificated Ordinary Shares may be refused in the circumstances set out in the uncertificated securities
rules, and where, in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to whom the uncertificated Ordinary Share is to be
transferred exceeds four.

The Articles contain no other restrictions on the transfer of fully paid certificated Ordinary Shares provided: (i) the instrument of transfer
is duly stamped or certified or otherwise shown to the satisfaction of the Directors to be exempt from stamp duty and is accompanied by
the relevant share certificate and such other evidence of the right to transfer as the Directors may reasonably require; (ii) the transfer, if to
joint transferees, is in favour of not more than four transferees; (iii)
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the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of shares; and (iv) the holder of the Ordinary Shares is not subject to an order
under Section 794 of the Companies Act 2006. Notice of refusal to register a transfer must be sent to the transferee within two months of
the instrument of transfer being lodged. The Directors may decline to register a transfer of Ordinary Shares by a person holding 0.25 per
cent. or more of the existing Ordinary Shares if such person is subject to an order under Section 794 Companies Act 2006, after failure to
provide the company with information concerning interests in those Ordinary Shares required to be provided under Section 793 of the
Companies Act 2006, unless the transfer is carried out pursuant to an arm’s length sale.

Provisions in the Articles will not apply to uncertificated Ordinary Shares to the extent that they are inconsistent with:
(i)  the holding of Ordinary Shares in uncertificated form;
(i)  the transfer of title to Ordinary Shares by means of a system such as CREST; and

(iii) any provisions of the relevant regulations.

(c) Dividends and distribution of assets on liquidation

The profits of the company which are available for distribution and permitted by law to be distributed and which the company may by
ordinary resolution from time to time declare, upon the recommendation of the Directors to distribute by way of dividend, in respect of
any accounting reference period shall be distributed by way of dividend among holders of Ordinary Shares.

If in their opinion the company’s financial position justifies such payments, the Directors may, as far as any applicable legislation allows,
pay interim dividends on shares of any class of such amounts and in respect of such periods as they think fit. Except in so far as the rights
attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any share otherwise provide, all dividends will be declared, apportioned and paid pro rata according
to the amounts paid up on the shares during any portion of the period in respect of which the dividend is paid. As the company has only
one class of Ordinary Shares, the holders of such Ordinary Shares will be entitled to participate in any surplus assets in a winding- up in
proportion to their shareholdings.

(d) Variation of rights and changes in capital

Subject to the provisions of any statute (including any orders, regulations or other subordinate legislation made under it) from time to
time in force concerning companies in so far as it applies to the company (the “Companies Acts”), the rights attached to any class of
shares may be varied with the written consent of the holders of three-quarters in nominal value of the issued shares of that class
(excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares) or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate meeting of the
holders of shares of that class. At every such separate meeting, the provisions of the Articles relating to general meetings shall apply,
except the necessary quorum shall be at least two persons entitled to vote and holding or representing as proxy at least one-third in
nominal value of the issued shares of the relevant class(excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares) (but provided that at
any adjourned meeting one holder of shares of the relevant class present in person or by proxy shall be a quorum).

The rights conferred upon the holders of any Ordinary Shares shall not, unless otherwise expressly provided in the rights attaching to
those Ordinary Shares, be deemed to be varied by the creation or issue of further shares ranking pari passu with them.

(e) Unclaimed dividends

All dividends or other sums payable on or in respect of any Ordinary Shares which remain unclaimed may be invested or otherwise made
use of by the Directors for the benefit of the company until claimed. Unless the Directors decide otherwise, any dividend or other sums
payable on or in respect of any Ordinary Shares unclaimed after a period of 12 years from the date when declared or became due for
payment will be forfeited and revert to the company. The company may stop sending dividend cheques or warrants by post, or employ
such other means of payment in respect of any Ordinary Shares, if at least two consecutive payments have remained uncashed or are
returned undelivered or if one payment has remained uncashed or is returned undelivered and the company cannot establish a new
address for the holder after making reasonable enquiries; however, in either case, the company must resume sending cheques or warrants
or employ such other means of payment if the holder or any person entitled to the Ordinary Shares by transmission requests the
resumption in writing.

(f) Untraced shareholders

The company may sell any certificated Ordinary Shares in the company after using reasonable efforts to trace the holder of, or person
entitled by transmission to, the Ordinary Shares and sending a notice to the registered address or last known address of the holder or
other person entitled in accordance with the requirements of the Articles and waiting for three months if the Ordinary Shares have been
in issue for at least ten years and during that period at least three dividends have become payable on them and have not been claimed or
satisfied and, so far as any Director is aware, the company has not received any communication from the holder of the Ordinary Shares
or any person entitled to them by transmission. Upon any such sale, the company will become indebted to the former holder of the
Ordinary Shares or the person entitled to them by transmission for an amount equal to the net proceeds of sale unless and until forfeited.
If no valid claim for the money has been received by the company during a period of six years from the date on which the relevant shares
were sold by the company, the money will be forfeited and will belong to the company.



(g) Limitations on rights of non-resident or foreign shareholders

There are no limitations imposed by the Articles on the rights of non-resident or foreign shareholders except that there is no requirement
for the company to serve notices on shareholders outside the United Kingdom and the United States, if no postal address in the United
States or United Kingdom has been provided to the company. The company may choose not to serve, send or supply any notice to a
particular shareholder where it considers this necessary or appropriate to deal with legal, regulatory or practical problems in, or under the
laws of, any territory.

(h) General meetings of shareholders

The Articles rely on the Companies Act 2006 provisions dealing with the calling of general meeting. The company is required by the
Companies Act 2006 to hold an annual general meeting each year. General meetings of shareholders may be called as necessary by the
Directors and must be called promptly upon receipt of a requisition from shareholders. Under the Companies Act 2006, an annual
general meeting must be called by notice of at least 21 clear days. A general meeting other than an annual general meeting may be called
on not less than 14 clear days’ notice provided a special resolution reducing the notice period to 14 clear days has been passed at the
immediately preceding annual general meeting or a general meeting held since that annual general meeting. The Directors may determine
that a general meeting shall be held as a physical meeting or in combination with an electronic platform or platforms that enables
members to participate in the meeting without physically attending (an electronic general meeting).

28



(i) Contflicts of interest

The Directors may, subject to the provisions of the Articles, authorise any matter which would otherwise involve a Director breaching
his or her duty under the Companies Acts to avoid conflicts of interest (each a “Conflict”). A Director seeking authorisation in respect of
a Conflict shall declare to the other Directors the nature and extent of his or her Conflict as soon as is reasonably practicable and shall
provide the other Directors with such details of the matter as are necessary to decide how to address the Conflict. The board may resolve
to authorise the relevant Director in relation to any matter the subject of a Conflict, save that the relevant Director and any other Director
with a similar interest shall not count towards the quorum nor vote on any resolution giving such authority, and, if the other Directors so
decide, shall be excluded from any meeting of the Directors while the Conflict is under consideration.

(j) Other Conflicts of Interest

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, and provided the nature and extent of a Director’s interest has been declared to the
Directors, a Director may:

(i)  be party to, or otherwise interested in, any contract with the company, or in which the company has a direct or indirect
interest;

(i1) hold any other office or place of profit with the company (except that of auditor) in conjunction with his office of director
for such period and upon such terms, including remuneration, as the Directors may decide;

(iii) act by himself or through a firm with which he is associated in a professional capacity for the company or any other
company in which the company may be interested (otherwise than as auditor);

(iv) be or become a director of, or employed by, or otherwise be interested in any holding company or subsidiary company of
the company or any other company in which the company may be interested; and

(v)  be or become a director of any other company in which the company does not have an interest and which cannot reasonably
be regarded as giving rise to a conflict of interest at the time of his appointment as director of that other company.

No contract in which a Director is interested shall be liable to be avoided, and any Director who is so interested is not liable to account to
the company or its shareholders for any benefit realised by the contract by reason of the Director holding that office or of the fiduciary
relationship thereby established. However, no Director may vote on, or be counted in the quorum, in relation to any resolution of the
board relating specifically to his or her own appointment (including remuneration) or the terms of his or her termination of appointment
or relating to any contract in which he or she has an interest (subject to certain exceptions).

Subject to the Companies Acts, the company may by ordinary resolution suspend or relax to any extent the provisions relating to
directors’ interests or restrictions on voting or ratify any transaction not duly authorised by reason of a contravention of such provisions.

(k) Directors’ remuneration

Each of the Directors will be paid a fee at such rate as may from time to time be determined by the Directors, but the total fees paid to all
of the directors for acting as directors (including amounts paid to any director who acts as chairman or is chairman of, or serves on any
committee of the board of directors but excluding any amounts paid under any other provision of the Articles) shall not exceed the higher
of:

(1)  £3 million a year; and

(i) any higher amount as the company may by ordinary resolution decide. Such fees may be satisfied in cash or in shares or
any other non-cash form. Any Director who is appointed to any executive office, acts as Chairman, acts as senior
independent director, acts as a scientific/medical expert on the board, is Chairman of, or serves on any committee of the
Directors or performs any other services which the Directors consider to extend beyond the ordinary services of a Director
shall be entitled to receive such remuneration (whether by way of salary, commission or otherwise) as the Directors may
decide. Each Director may be paid reasonable travelling, hotel and other incidental expenses he or she incurs in attending
and returning from meetings of the Directors or committees of the Directors, or general meetings of the company, or
otherwise incurred in connection with the performance of his or her duties for the company.

(1) Pensions and gratuities for Directors

The Directors or any committee authorised by the Directors may provide benefits by the payment of gratuities, pensions or insurance or
in any other manner for any Director or former Director or their relations, connected persons or dependants, but no benefits (except those
provided for by the Articles) may be granted to or in respect of a Director or former Director who has not been employed by or held an
executive office or place of profit under the company or any of its subsidiary undertakings or their respective predecessors in business
without the approval of an ordinary resolution of the company.

(m) Borrowing powers

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, the Directors may exercise all the company’s powers to borrow money; to
mortgage or charge all or any of the company’s undertaking, property (present and future), and uncalled capital; to issue debentures and



other securities; and to give security either outright or as collateral security for any debt, liability or obligation of the company or of any
third party.

(n) Retirement and removal of Directors
A Director is subject to re-election at every annual general meeting of the company

In addition to any power of removal conferred by the Companies Acts the company may by special resolution remove any Director
before the expiration of his or her period of office. No Director is required to retire by reason of his or her age, nor do any special
formalities apply to the appointment or re-election of any Director who is over any age limit. No shareholding qualification for Directors
shall be required.
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10.C

(0)

Vacation of office

The office of a director shall be vacated if:
(i)  he resigns or offers to resign, and the board resolves to accept such offer;
(i)  his resignation is requested by all of the other directors and all of the other directors are not less than three in number;
(iii) he is or has been suffering from mental or physical ill health and the board resolves that his office be vacated;

(iv) he is absent without permission of the board from meetings of the board (whether or not an alternate director appointed by him
attends) for six consecutive months and the board resolves that his office is vacated;

(v)  he becomes bankrupt or compounds with his creditors generally;
(vi) he is prohibited by law from being a director; or

(vii) he is removed from office pursuant to the Articles or the Companies Acts.

(p) Share rights

Subject to any rights attached to existing shares, shares may be issued with such rights and restrictions as the company may by ordinary
resolution decide, or (if there is no such resolution or so far as it does not make specific provision) as the board may decide. Such rights and
restrictions shall apply as if they were set out in the Articles. Redeemable shares may be issued, subject to any rights attached to existing
shares. The board may determine the terms, conditions and manner of redemption of any redeemable share so issued. Such terms and
conditions shall apply to the relevant shares as if they were set out in the Articles. Subject to the articles, any resolution passed by the
shareholders and other shareholders’ rights, the Board may decide how to offer, allot, grant options over or otherwise deal with any shares
in the company.

Material contracts
Agreements with Novartis

On April 22, 2014, GSK and Novartis AG (“Novartis”) entered into a three-part, inter-conditional transaction, pursuant to which they
executed an implementation agreement, a contribution agreement relating to a consumer healthcare joint venture, a share and business sale
agreement relating to the vaccines business of Novartis, a sale and purchase agreement relating to the oncology business of GSK, a put
option deed relating to the influenza vaccines business of Novartis and a shareholders’ agreement. GSK’s shareholders approved the
Transaction on December 18, 2014. The transaction closed on March 2, 2015.

Under the terms of the shareholders’ agreement, Novartis had the right to require GSK to purchase its shares in the consumer healthcare
joint venture. On March 27, 2018, GSK entered into a Put Option Implementation Agreement with, among others, Novartis and
GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Holdings Limited (“GSK Consumer Healthcare”) (such agreement, as amended and supplemented
on June 1, 2018 and July 30, 2018, the “Put Option Implementation Agreement”). Under the Put Option Implementation Agreement,
Novartis agreed to the cancellation of its shares in GSK Consumer Healthcare in consideration for a payment of US$13 billion. On May 3,
2018, GSK’s shareholders approved the transaction and the transaction was completed on June 1, 2018. Following cancellation of
Novartis’s shares, GSK acquired control of 100% of the shares in GSK Consumer Healthcare.

GSK continues to have obligations to pay further sales and milestone-based consideration to Novartis under the share and business sale
agreement relating to the vaccines business of Novartis.

Agreement with Pfizer

On December 19, 2018, GSK, GSK Consumer Healthcare and Pfizer Inc. (“Pfizer”) entered into a Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement
(the “SAPA”) pursuant to which the parties agreed to form a consumer healthcare joint venture through the acquisition by GSK Consumer
Healthcare from Pfizer of Pfizer’s consumer healthcare business and the transfer by GSK to GSK Consumer Healthcare of those parts of the
GSK consumer healthcare business not already part of GSK Consumer Healthcare as of the date of the SAPA (with certain limited
exceptions). As consideration for the acquisition of its consumer healthcare business, Pfizer will receive shares in GSK Consumer
Healthcare representing a 32% ownership interest in the joint venture. GSK will retain a controlling interest in GSK Consumer Healthcare
of 68%. The transaction is subject to customary closing conditions, including (i) receipt of approval by GSK’s shareholders, (ii) receipt of
all required antitrust approvals and clearances, (iii) no governmental orders restraining or otherwise prohibiting the transaction, (iv) the
accuracy of certain representations and warranties by GSK and Pfizer, except where the failure to be true and correct would not have a
material adverse effect and (v) compliance by the parties in all material respects with certain pre-completion covenants.

GSK, GSK Consumer Healthcare and Pfizer may also be required to make certain cash payments to the others at completion of the
transaction (subject to a potential post-completion true-up) based on the level of working capital and net cash relative to specified targets.
GSK has agreed to pay a termination fee of US$900 million to Pfizer if the SAPA is terminated due to: (i) GSK’s board of directors having
changed, withdrawn or qualified its recommendation to GSK’s shareholders in relation to the transaction; (ii) GSK’s shareholders having
voted on the transaction and failed to approve it; or (iii) GSK’s shareholders having failed to approve the transaction by September 30, 2019
(or, at either GSK’s or Pfizer’s option, December 31, 2019 or March 31, 2020 in the case of delayed required antitrust approvals).



Each of GSK and Pfizer has given customary and broadly reciprocal representations and warranties to each other under the SAPA. GSK and
Pfizer have agreed to indemnify each other and GSK Consumer Healthcare (as applicable) in respect of losses (other than certain losses
arising from tax matters, which are subject to a specific indemnity under the SAPA) relating to: (i) certain liabilities which the parties have
agreed will be retained by GSK or Pfizer; (ii) any breach of their respective covenants or agreements under the SAPA or the related
ancillary agreements implementing the SAPA; or (iii) any breach of their respective representations and warranties given under the SAPA
or the related ancillary agreements implementing the SAPA as of the date of completion of the transaction. GSK Consumer Healthcare has
agreed to indemnify GSK and Pfizer in respect of losses (other than certain losses arising from tax matters, which are subject to a specific
indemnity under the SAPA) relating to: (i) liabilities which GSK Consumer Healthcare has agreed to assume in connection with the
transaction; (ii) liabilities resulting from the conduct of GSK Consumer Healthcare’s business other than those liabilities that GSK has
agreed to retain in connection with the transaction; and (iii) any breach of GSK Consumer Healthcare’s post-completion covenants or
agreements under the SAPA or the related ancillary agreements implementing the SAPA.

Under the SAPA, GSK, Pfizer and GSK Consumer Healthcare have agreed the form of Shareholders’ Agreement in relation to the
consumer healthcare joint venture (the “Shareholders’ Agreement”), which will be entered into by the parties upon completion of the
transaction. Under the terms of the Shareholders’ Agreement, GSK will have the right to appoint six directors to the board of the joint
venture and the right to appoint the chair of the board of the joint venture, and Pfizer will have the right to appoint three directors to the
board of the joint venture. The shareholders’ agreement contains a list of customary reserved matters that may not be undertaken by the joint
venture without the prior approval of Pfizer.
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The joint venture will be permitted to make external borrowings up to an aggregate amount of £300 million, with external borrowings in
excess of this level requiring Pfizer’s consent. In the event that the joint venture requires additional funding, the funding will be requested
from GSK and Pfizer pro rata to their respective shareholdings. GSK and Pfizer will each be entitled to provide all (but not some only) of its
proportion of the requested funds, but neither party will be obliged to provide such funding. Dividends will be paid to the shareholders in
proportion to their respective interests in ordinary shares, and all readily available cash in excess of an agreed base cash figure of

£300 million will be distributed subject to the availability of distributable reserves, there being no outstanding shareholder loans and after
the payment of any dividends required to be paid on certain low-coupon preference shares held by GSK.

Under the Shareholders’ Agreement, each of GSK and Pfizer have agreed, subject to customary carve-outs, not to compete with the business
of the consumer healthcare joint venture for a period of three years after completion of the transaction and not to acquire a business or
interest in an entity in a competing business of the joint venture for six years after completion of the transaction.

At any time from completion of the transaction, GSK will have the right to require the listing and admission to trading of the shares of GSK
Consumer Healthcare on the London Stock Exchange, the Nasdaq Stock Market or the New York Stock Exchange (a “Separation”). From
five years from completion of the transaction, Pfizer will have the right to require a Separation. From 15 years after completion of the
transaction, GSK will be entitled to require Pfizer to sell to GSK its entire shareholding in the consumer healthcare joint venture at a price
reflecting the fully distributed public trading equity value of the joint venture at the relevant time. Neither GSK nor Pfizer may transfer its
shares in the joint venture without the other’s consent.

The Shareholders’ Agreement will terminate immediately in the event that (i) only GSK or Pfizer remain holding shares in the joint venture
or (ii) the shares of the joint venture have been listed and admitted to trading on a recognized stock exchange.

Exchange controls

The information set forth under the heading “Exchange controls and other limitations affecting security holders” on page 251 of the GSK
Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

Taxation

The information set forth under the heading “Tax information for shareholders” on pages 254 to 255 of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is
incorporated herein by reference.

Dividends and paying agents
Not applicable.

Statement by experts

Not applicable.

Documents on display

The information set forth under the heading “Documents on display” on page 254 of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by
reference.

Subsidiary information

Not applicable.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
The information set forth under the headings:
*  “Treasury policies” on pages 62 to 63; and
*  “Note 42 — Financial instruments and related disclosures” on pages 198 to 211

of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

Description of Securities Other than Equity Securities
Debt Securities

Not applicable.



12.B Warrants and Rights

Not applicable.
12.C Other Securities
Not applicable.
12.D American Depositary Shares

Fees and charges payable by ADR holders

The Bank of New York serves as the depositary (the “Depositary”) for GSK’s American Depositary Receipt (“ADR”) programme. On April
6, 2015, GSK and the Depositary amended and restated the deposit agreement (the “Deposit Agreement”) between GSK, the Depositary and
owners and holders of ADRs. Pursuant to the Deposit Agreement, ADR holders may be required to pay various fees to the Depositary, and
the Depositary may refuse to provide any service for which a fee is assessed until the applicable fee has been paid. In particular, the
Depositary, under the terms of the Deposit
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Item 13.

Item 14.

Item 15.

Agreement, shall charge (i) a fee of $5.00 or less per 100 American Depositary Shares (or portion thereof) for the delivery and surrender
of American Depositary Shares, (ii) a fee of $0.05 or less per American Depositary Share (or portion thereof) for any cash distribution
made pursuant to this Deposit Agreement, (iii) a fee for the distribution of securities other than cash or shares and (iv) a fee of $0.05 or
less per American Depositary Share (or portion thereof) per annum for depositary services. In addition, the following charges shall be
incurred by any party depositing or withdrawing Shares or surrendering ADRs or to whom American Depositary Shares are issued:

(i) taxes and other governmental charges, (ii) such registration fees as may from time to time be in effect, (iii) certain cable, telex and
facsimile transmission expenses, (iv) such expenses as are incurred by the Depositary in the conversion of foreign currency and (v) any
other charges payable by the Depositary.

The Depositary may (i) withhold dividends or other distributions or sell any or all of the shares underlying the ADRs in order to satisfy
any tax or governmental charge, (ii) deduct from any cash distribution any tax payable thereon or the cost of any currency conversion
and (iii) collect any of its fees or charges by deduction from any cash distribution payable to ADR holders that are obligated to pay those
fees or charges.

Direct and indirect payments by the Depositary

GSK receives payments from the Depositary in the form of (i) the reimbursement of expenses in connection with the administration,
servicing and maintenance of the ADR programme, (ii) a portion of the fees collected by the Depositary for the issuance and cancellation
of American Depositary Shares and (iii) a portion of any cash dividend fees and/or special dividend fees. In 2018, the Depositary made
payments to GSK of approximately $9.1 million, of which approximately $2.1 million were related to expenses reimbursed and fees
collected in connection with services provided in 2017.

Under certain circumstances, including removal of the Depositary or termination of the ADR programme by GSK, GSK is required to
repay certain amounts paid to GSK and to compensate the Depositary for payments made or services provided on behalf of GSK.

Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquencies

Not applicable.

Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable.

Controls and Procedures

The information set forth under the heading “Internal framework for control and risk management developments” on pages 80 to 81 of
the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

US law and regulation

A number of provisions of US law and regulation apply to the company because our shares are quoted on the New York Stock Exchange
(the “NYSE”) in the form of American Depositary Shares.

NYSE rules

In general, the NYSE rules permit the company to follow UK corporate governance practices instead of those applied in the USA,
provided that we explain any significant variations. This explanation is contained in Item 16.G of this Form 20-F. NYSE rules that came
into effect in 2005 require us to file annual and interim written affirmations concerning the Audit & Risk Committee and our statement
on significant differences in corporate governance.

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Following a number of corporate and accounting scandals in the USA, Congress passed the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Sarbanes-
Oxley is a wide ranging piece of legislation concerned largely with financial reporting and corporate governance.

As recommended by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), the company has established a Disclosure Committee. The
Committee reports to the CEO, the CFO and to the Audit & Risk Committee. It is chaired by the Company Secretary and the members
consist of senior managers from finance, legal, corporate communications and investor relations.

External legal counsel, the external auditors and internal experts are invited to attend its meetings periodically. It has responsibility for
considering the materiality of information and, on a timely basis, determining the disclosure of that information. It has responsibility for
the timely filing of reports with the SEC and the formal review of the GSK Annual Report 2018 and Form 20-F. In 2018 the Committee
met 26 times.

Sarbanes-Oxley requires that this annual report on Form 20-F contain a statement as to whether a member of our Audit & Risk
Committee (“ARC”) is an audit committee financial expert as defined by Sarbanes-Oxley. For a summary regarding the Board’s



judgment on this matter, please refer to Item 16.A below and to page 70 under “Judy Lewent,” “Skills and experience” and page 79
under “Judy Lewent, Audit & Risk Committee Chair” of the GSK Annual Report 2018.

Additional disclosure requirements arise under section 302 and section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley in respect of disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting.
Section 302: Corporate responsibility for financial reports

Sarbanes-Oxley also introduced a requirement for the CEO and the CFO to complete formal certifications, confirming that:

they have each reviewed the GSK Annual Report 2018 and Form 20-F;
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*  based on their knowledge, the GSK Annual Report 2018 and Form 20-F contain no material misstatements or omissions;

*  based on their knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information fairly present, in all material respects, the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows as of the dates, and for the periods, presented in the GSK Annual Report
2018 and Form 20-F;

+ they are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures that ensure that material information is
made known to them, and have evaluated the effectiveness of these controls and procedures as at the year-end, the results of such
evaluation being contained in the GSK Annual Report 2018 and Form 20-F;

+ they are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal control over financial reporting that provides reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

+ they have disclosed in the GSK Annual Report 2018 and Form 20-F any changes in internal controls over financial reporting
during the period covered by the GSK Annual Report 2018 and Form 20-F that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely
to affect materially, the company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

+ they have disclosed, based on their most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the external auditors and
the ARC, all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to affect adversely the company’s ability to record, process, summarise and report financial
information, and any fraud (regardless of materiality) involving persons that have a significant role in the company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

The Group has carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of its management, including the CEO and
CFO, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Group’s disclosure controls and procedures as at 31 December 2018.

There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures, including the possibility of human
error and the circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and procedures
can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives.

Based on the Group’s evaluation, the CEO and CFO have concluded that, as at December 31, 2018, the disclosure controls and
procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports that the Group files and
submits under the US Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarised and reported as and when
required and that it is accumulated and communicated to management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate, to allow timely
decisions regarding disclosure.

The CEO and CFO completed these certifications on March 15, 2019.

Section 404: Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting.

In accordance with the requirements of section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley, the following report is provided by management in respect of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the US Securities Exchange Act
of 1934):

*  management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Group.
Internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS;

*  management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013 Framework) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission;

* management has assessed the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, as at 31 December 2018 and has
concluded that such internal control over financial reporting was effective. In addition, there have been no changes in the Group’s
internal control over financial reporting during 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to affect materially,
the Group’s internal control over financial reporting; and

»  Deloitte LLP, which has audited the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2018, has
also assessed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control over financial reporting under Auditing Standard No. 2201 of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Their audit report can be found below.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of GlaxoSmithKline plc

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of GlaxoSmithKline plc and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as at 31 December 2018, based
on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as at 31
December 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2018, of the Company and our report dated 15 March 2019, expressed an unqualified
opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying “Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting”
included in item 15 of the Form 20-F. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on
our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
/s/ Deloitte LLP
London, United Kingdom
15 March 2019
Item 16.A Audit committee financial expert
The information set forth under the heading:
*  “Membership” within the “Audit & Risk Committee Report” on page 79; and
*  “Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002” on page 258
of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 16.B Code of Ethics

The information set forth under the heading “Code of Conduct and reporting lines” on page 86 of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is
incorporated herein by reference. You will find the Code of Conduct at this link: https://www.gsk.com/en-gb/about-us/policies-codes-
and-standards/.

No waivers were granted from a provision of our code of ethics to an officer or person described in Item 16B(a) that relates to one or
more of the items set forth in Item 16B(b) in 2017.
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Item 16.C

16C(a)

16C(b)

16C(c)

16C(d)

16C(e)

16C(f)

Item 16.D

Item 16.E

Item 16.F

Item 16.G

Principal Accountant Fees and Services
Audit Fees for 2016 and 2017 were paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and for 2018 were paid to Deloitte LLP.
Audit Fees

The information set forth in the table under the heading “Fees payable to the company’s auditor and its associates” in the rows named
“Audit of parent company and consolidated financial statements”, “Audit of the company’s subsidiaries” and “Attestation under s.404 of
Sarbanes-Oxley Act 2002” in Note 8 — “Operating profit” on page 157 of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by
reference.

Audit-Related Fees

The information set forth in the table under the heading “Fees payable to the company’s auditor and its associates” in the row named
“Other assurance services” in Note 8 — “Operating profit” on page 157 of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by
reference. The other assurance services provided by the auditor relate to agreed upon procedures and other assurance services outside of
statutory audit requirements.

Tax Fees

The information set forth in the table under the heading “Fees payable to the company’s auditor and its associates” in the rows named
“Taxation compliance” and “Taxation advice” in Note 8 — “Operating profit” on page 157 of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is
incorporated herein by reference.

All Other Fees

The information set forth in the table under the heading “Fees payable to the company’s auditor and its associates” in the row named “All
other services” in Note 8 — “Operating profit” on page 157 of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference. All other
services provided by the auditor primarily related to advisory services for the year-ended 31 December 2018.

The information set forth under the heading “Non-audit services” on page 86 of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by
reference.

Not applicable.

Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees

Not applicable.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

Not applicable.

Change in Registrant’s Certifying Accountant
Not applicable.

Corporate Governance
Comparison of New York Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Standards and GlaxoSmithKline plc’s corporate governance practice.

On November 4, 2003, the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) adopted new corporate governance standards. The application of
the NYSE’s standards is restricted for foreign companies, recognizing that they have to comply with domestic requirements. As a foreign
private issuer, GlaxoSmithKline plc (“GlaxoSmithKline” or the “Company”’) must comply with the following NYSE standards:

1. the Company must satisfy the audit committee requirements of the SEC;

2. the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) must promptly notify the NYSE in writing after any executive officer of the Company
becomes aware of any non-compliance with any applicable provisions of the NYSE’s corporate governance standards;

3. the Company must submit an annual affirmation to the NYSE affirming GlaxoSmithKline’s compliance with applicable NYSE
corporate governance standards, and submit interim affirmations to the NYSE notifying it of specified changes to the audit
committee or a change to the status of the Company as a foreign private issuer; and

4. the Company must provide a brief description of any significant differences between its corporate governance practices and those
followed by US companies under the NYSE listing standards.

As a Company listed on the London Stock Exchange, GlaxoSmithKline is required to comply with the UK Listing Authority’s Listing
Rules (the “Listing Rules”) and to report non-compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code (the “UK Code”).

The table below discloses differences between GlaxoSmithKline’s current domestic corporate governance practices, which are based on
the UK Code, and the NYSE corporate governance standards, applicable to US companies.



NYSE Description of differences between GlaxoSmithKline’s
Corporate Governance Standards governance practice and the NYSE Corporate Governance
Standards

Director Independence (303A.01 of NYSE Manual)

1. Listed companies must have a majority of independent directors (as GlaxoSmithKline complies with the equivalent domestic requirements
defined in Exchange Act Rule 10A-3 under the U.S Securities Exchange  contained in the UK Corporate Governance Code (the “UK Code”), the
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)). latest version of which was issued in July 2018.
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NYSE Independence Tests (303A.02 of the NYSE Manual)

The UK Code provides that the board of directors of GlaxoSmithKline
(the “Board”) and its committees should have a combination of skills,
experience and knowledge. Consideration should be given to the length
of the service of the Board and membership should be regularly
refreshed (Principle K). The Board should include an appropriate
combination of Executive and Non-Executive Directors and, in
particular, “independent” Non-Executive Directors (for the purpose of
the UK Code) such that no individual or small group of individuals can
dominate the Board’s decision taking. There should be a clear division of
responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and the executive
leadership of GlaxoSmithKline’s business (Principle G). At least half the
Board, excluding the Chairman, should comprise Non-Executive
Directors determined by the Board to be independent (Provision 11). The
roles of Chairman and Chief Executive should not be exercised by the
same individual. If, exceptionally, this is proposed by the Board, major
shareholders should be consulted ahead of appointment (Provision 9).

The Board considers that Vindi Banga, Dr Vivienne Cox, Lynn
Elsenhans, Dr Laurie Glimcher, Dr Jesse Goodman, Judy Lewent, and
Urs Rohner are independent for the purpose of the UK Code.

A majority of the Board members are independent Non-Executive
Directors and, in accordance with the requirements of the UK Code, the
Board has appointed one of the independent Non-Executive Directors as
Senior Independent Director to provide a sounding board for the
Chairman and act as an intermediary for other Directors and
shareholders where necessary (Provision 12). In January 2012 the Board
adopted a formal written role specification for the Senior Independent
Director.

2. In order to tighten the definition of “independent director” for purposes of

these standards:

(a) (i) No director qualifies as “independent” unless the board of
directors affirmatively determines that the director has no
material relationship with the listed company (either directly or
as a partner, shareholder or officer of an organization that has a
relationship with the company).

(i1) In addition, in affirmatively determining the independence
of any director who will serve on the compensation committee
of the listed company’s board of directors, the board of directors
must consider all factors specifically relevant to determining
whether a director has a relationship to the listed company
which is material to that director’s ability to be independent
from management in connection with the duties of a
compensation committee member, including, but not limited to:

(A) the source of compensation of such director, including any consulting,
advisory or other compensatory fee paid by the listed company to such
director; and

(B) whether such director is affiliated with the listed company, a
subsidiary of the listed company or an affiliate of a subsidiary of the listed
company.

(b) In addition, a director is not independent if:

(1) The director is, or has been within the last three years, an
employee of the listed company, or an immediate family
member is, or has been within the last three years, an
executive officer, of the listed company.

GlaxoSmithKline complies with the corresponding domestic
requirements contained in the UK Code, which sets out the principles for
GlaxoSmithKline to determine whether a director is independent.

The Board is required to determine and state its reasons for the
determination of whether each Non-Executive Director is independent in
character and judgment and whether there are relationships or
circumstances which are likely to impair, or could appear to impair, the
director’s judgment. In undertaking this process, the Board is required,
amongst other factors, to consider if the director:

(a) is or has been an employee of GlaxoSmithKline within the last
five years;

(b) has, or has had within the last three years, a material business
relationship with GlaxoSmithKline either directly or as a
partner, shareholder, director or senior employee of a body that

has such a relationship with GlaxoSmithKline;

has received or receives additional remuneration from
GlaxoSmithKline apart from a director’s fee, participates in
GlaxoSmithKline’s share option or a performance-related pay
scheme, or is a member of GlaxoSmithKline’s pension
scheme;

©

(d)

has close family ties with any of GlaxoSmithKline’s advisers,
directors or senior employees;

holds cross-directorships or has significant links with other
directors through involvement in other companies or bodies;

®

represents a significant shareholder; or



(i1) The director has received, or has an immediate family
member who has received, during any twelve-month period
within the last three years, more than $120,000 in direct
compensation from the listed company, other than director
and committee fees and pension or other forms of deferred
compensation for prior service (provided such
compensation is not contingent in any way on continued
service).
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(g) has served on the Board for more than nine years from the date
of his or her first appointment,

and is independent notwithstanding the existence of these relationships
or circumstances (Provision 10).

The Board considers all its Non-Executive Directors to be independent
in character and judgment and has concluded that all its Non-Executive
Directors are independent within the meaning of the UK Code.



(ii1) (A) The director is a current partner or employee of a firm that is

The Chairman satisfied the independence criteria on appointment in

the listed company’s internal or external auditor; (B) the director accordance with the UK Code (Provision 9). The Chairman should not

has an immediate family member who is a current partner of
such a firm; (C) the director has an immediate family member
who is a current employee of such a firm and personally works
on the listed company’s audit; or (D) the director or an
immediate family member was within the last three years a
partner or employee of such a firm and personally worked on
the listed company’s audit within that time.

(iv) The director or an immediate family member is, or has been
within the last three years, employed as an executive officer of
another company where any of the listed company’s present
executive officers at the same time serves or served on that
company’s compensation committee.

(v) The director is a current employee, or an immediate family
member is a current executive officer, of a company that has
made payments to, or received payments from, the listed
company for property or services in an amount which, in any of
the last three fiscal years, exceeds the greater of $1 million, or
2% of such other company’s consolidated gross revenues.

(For the purposes of these standards “executive officer” is defined to have
the meaning specified for the term “officer” in Rule 16a-1(f) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the “Exchange Act”).

Executive Sessions (303A.03 of the NYSE Manual)

remain in post beyond nine years from the date of their first appointment
to the Board. To facilitate effective succession planning and the
development of a diverse board, this period can be extended for a limited
time (Provision 19).

GlaxoSmithKline complied with the UK Code requirement, and its
articles of association, that all Directors should be subject to annual
election or re-election by shareholders (Provision 18) at its Annual
General Meeting in 2018, and intends to comply with this requirement at
its 2019 Annual General Meeting.

The UK Code also provides that the Board should undertake a formal
and rigorous annual evaluation of its own performance and that of its
committees, the Chairman and individual Directors (Principle L and
Provision 21). Annual evaluation of the Board should consider the
Board’s composition, diversity and how effectively members work
together to achieve objectives. Individual evaluation should demonstrate
whether each director continues to contribute effectively (Principle L).
GlaxoSmithKline has complied with this requirement. In addition, the
annual evaluation of the Board should be externally facilitated at least
every three years and a statement should be made as to whether an
external facilitator has any other connection with GlaxoSmithKline and
the external facilitator should be identified in the Annual Report
(Provision 21). Internally facilitated evaluations were conducted in 2015,
2016 and 2018. GlaxoSmithKline conducted an externally facilitated
evaluation in 2014 and 2017.

The FRC’s Guidance on Board Effectiveness (“Guidance”) provides that
all Directors should receive an induction on joining the Board and
should regularly update and refresh their skills and knowledge. The
Chairman should ensure that new Directors receive a full, formal and
tailored induction on joining the Board (Guidance, para 61, 75-76 & 81).
The Chairman should act on the results of the annual evaluation by
recognising the strengths and addressing any weaknesses of the Board.
Each Director should engage with this process and take appropriate
action when development needs have been identified (Provision 22).

Meetings

. To empower non-management directors to serve as a more effective check
on management, the non-management directors of each listed company
must meet at regularly scheduled executive sessions without management.

GlaxoSmithKline complies with the equivalent domestic requirements
set out in the UK Code, which requires the Chairman of
GlaxoSmithKline to hold meetings with the Non-Executive Directors
without executives present (Provision 13). The Non-Executive Directors,
led by the Senior Independent Director, also meet at least annually
without the Chairman present to appraise the Chairman’s performance
(Provision 12).

The UK Code provides that the Chairman should promote a culture of
openness and debate by facilitating the effective contribution of all
Non-Executive Directors in particular, and constructive board relations
between Executive and Non-Executive Directors (Principle F). In
addition, the Chairman should seek regular engagement with major
shareholders in order to understand their views on governance and
performance against the strategy. The Chairman is responsible for
ensuring that the Board as a whole has a clear understanding of the view
of shareholders and stakeholders (Principle D and Provision 3). The
board should also understand the views of GlaxoSmithKline’s other key
stakeholders and keep engagement mechanisms under review so that
they remain effective (Provision 5).



Nominating / Corporate Governance Committee (303A.04 of the NYSE Manual)

Nominations Committee

. (a) Listed companies must have a nominating/corporate governance
committee composed entirely of independent directors.

(b) The nominating/corporate governance committee must have a written

charter that addresses:
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GlaxoSmithKline complies with the corresponding domestic
requirements set out in the UK Code, which requires GlaxoSmithKline
to have a Nominations Committee that is comprised of a majority of
independent Non-Executive Directors (Provision 17).

GlaxoSmithKline’s Nominations Committee has written terms of
reference in accordance with the UK Code. The terms of reference are
available on GlaxoSmithKline’s website and



(1) the committee’s purpose and responsibilities — which, at minimum,
must be to: identify individuals qualified to become board members,
consistent with criteria approved by the board, and to select, or to
recommend that the board select, the director nominees for the next
annual meeting of shareholders; develop and recommend to the board
a set of corporate governance guidelines applicable to the
corporation; and oversee the evaluation of the board and

management; and

(i) an annual performance evaluation of the committee.

Compensation Committee (303A.05 of the NYSE Manual)

explain the Nominations Committee’s role and the authority delegated to
it by the Board (Guidance, para 63). The Nominations Committee
reviews the structure, size, diversity (including gender diversity), and
composition of the Board (evaluating the balance of skills, experience,
independence and knowledge on the Board), leads the process for the
appointment of members to the Board and the Corporate Executive
Team (the “CET”), and makes recommendations to the Board as
appropriate. The Nominations Committee also monitors the planning of
succession for the Board and Senior Management (Provision 17).

The terms and conditions of appointment of the Chairman and
Non-Executive Directors are available for inspection (Guidance, para
96).

The UK Code requires that a separate section in GlaxoSmithKline’s
Annual Report describes the work of the Nominations Committee in
discharging its duties, including the process it has used in relation to
Board appointments (Provision 20). An explanation should be given if
neither an external search consultancy nor open advertising has been
used in the appointment of a chairman or a non-executive director.
Where an external search consultancy has been used, it should be
identified in the Annual Report and a statement should be made as to
whether it has any other connection with GlaxoSmithKline (Provision
20). This section should include a description of the process used in
relation to appointments, how board evaluation has been conducted, the
Board’s policy on diversity, including gender, any measurable objectives
that it has set for implementing the policy, and progress on achieving the
objectives, and the gender balance of those in the senior management
and their direct reports (Provision 23). GlaxoSmithKline has complied
with this requirement under the 2016 UK Code and will comply with this
requirement as amended in the 2018 UK Code.

As described above, there is an annual Board evaluation exercise, which
also includes evaluation of the Board’s committees and individual
Directors (Principle L).

The Board is responsible for regularly reviewing its corporate
governance standards and practices. The Company Secretary oversees
corporate governance matters for the Group. The Company Secretary is
responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman on all corporate
governance matters (Provision 16). Domestic requirements do not
mandate GlaxoSmithKline to establish a distinct corporate governance
committee.

Remuneration Committee

. (a) Listed companies must have a compensation committee composed
entirely of independent directors. Compensation committee members must
satisfy the additional independence requirements specific to compensation
committee membership set forth in Section 2(a)(ii) in the Section titled
“Independence Tests” above.

(b) The compensation committee must have a written charter that
addresses:

(i) the committee’s purpose and responsibilities — which, at a minimum,
must be to have direct responsibility to:

(A) review and approve corporate goals and objectives relevant to CEO
compensation, evaluate the CEO’s performance in light of those
goals and objectives, and, either as a committee or together with the
other independent directors (as directed by the board), determine and
approve the CEO’s compensation level based on this evaluation;

(B) make recommendations to the board with respect to non-CEO
executive officer compensation, and incentive-compensation and
equity-based plans that are subject to board approval; and

(C) prepare the disclosure required by item 407(e)(5) or Regulation S-K
under the Exchange Act;

GlaxoSmithKline complies with the equivalent domestic requirements
set out in the UK Code, which requires GlaxoSmithKline to have a
Remuneration Committee comprising at least three independent
Non-Executive Directors (Provision 32).

GlaxoSmithKline’s Remuneration Committee has written terms of
reference in accordance with the UK Code, which explain the
Remuneration Committee’s role and the authority delegated to it by the
Board and are available on GlaxoSmithKline’s website (Guidance, para
63). The Remuneration Committee determines the terms of service and
remuneration of the Executive Directors and members of the CET and,
with the assistance of external independent advisers, it evaluates and
makes recommendations to the Board on overall executive remuneration
policy (the Chairman and the CEO are responsible for evaluating and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
Non-Executive Directors). It should review workforce remuneration and
related policies and the alignment of incentives and rewards with culture,
taking these into account when setting the policy for executive director
remuneration (Provision 33). Where remuneration consultants are
appointed, they should be identified in the Annual Report and a
statement should be made as to whether they have any other connection
with GlaxoSmithKline (Provision 35).
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(i1) an annual performance evaluation of the compensation committee.

(iii) The rights and responsibilities of the compensation committee set
forth in Section 303A.05(c).

(c)(1) The compensation committee may, in its sole discretion, retain or
obtain the advice of a compensation consultant, independent legal counsel
or other adviser.

(i1) The compensation committee shall be directly responsible for the
appointment, compensation and oversight of the work of any
compensation consultant, independent legal counsel or other adviser
retained by the compensation committee.

(iii) The listed company must provide for appropriate funding, as
determined by the compensation committee, for payment of reasonable
compensation to a compensation consultant, independent legal counsel or
any other adviser retained by the compensation committee.

(iv) The compensation committee may select a compensation consultant,
legal counsel or other adviser to the compensation committee only after
taking into consideration, all factors relevant to that person’s
independence from management, including the following:

(A) The provision of other services to the listed company by the
person that employs the compensation consultant, legal counsel
or other adviser;

(B) The amount of fees received from the listed company by the
person that employs the compensation consultant, legal counsel
or other adviser, as a percentage of the total revenue of the
person that employs the compensation consultant, legal counsel
or other adviser;

(C) The policies and procedures of the person that employs the
compensation consultant, legal counsel or other adviser that are
designed to prevent conflicts of interest;

(D) Any business or personal relationship of the compensation
consultant, legal counsel or other adviser with a member of the
compensation committee;

(E)

Any stock of the listed company owned by the compensation
consultant, legal counsel or other adviser; and

(F) Any business or personal relationship of the compensation
consultant, legal counsel, other adviser or the person employing
the adviser with an executive officer of the listed company.

The UK Code provides that the Remuneration Committee:

(a) should take care to recognise and manage conflicts of interest
when receiving views from Executive Directors or senior
management, or consulting the Chief Executive about its
proposals (Provision 35 & Guidance, para 129) and should
have delegated responsibility for setting remuneration for all
Executive Directors and the Chairman, including pension
rights and any compensation payments (Provision 33);

should recommend and monitor the level and structure of
remuneration for senior management (Provision 33);

(b)

(c) should consider the pension consequences and associated costs
of basic salary increases and any other changes in pensionable
remuneration, or contribution rates, particular for Directors
close to retirement (Provision 38);

(d) should ensure that compensation commitments in Directors’
terms of appointment do not reward poor performance
(Provision 39). Remuneration schemes should promote long-
term shareholdings by Executive Directors that support
alignment with long-term shareholder interests. A formal
policy should be developed for post-employment shareholding
requirements encompassing both unvested and vested shares
(Provision 36). Remuneration schemes and policies should
enable the use of discretion to override formulaic outcomes
and include provisions that would enable GlaxoSmithKline to
recover and/or withhold sums or share awards specifying the
circumstances in which it would be appropriate to do so
(Provision 37); and

(e) when determining Executive Director remuneration policy and
practices, ensure that: (i) remuneration arrangements are
transparent and promote effective engagement with
shareholders and the workforce; (ii) the operation and rationale
of remuneration structures are easy to understand;

(ii1) remuneration arrangements identify and mitigate
reputational and other risks from excessive rewards and
behavioural risks that can arise from target-based incentive
plans; (iv) the range of possible values of rewards to individual
Directors and any other limits or discretions are identified and
explained at the time of approving the policy; (v) the link
between individual awards, the delivery of strategy and the
long-term performance of GlaxoSmithKline should be clear;
and (vi) incentive schemes should drive behaviours consistent
with company purpose, values and strategy (Provision 40).

The UK Code requires that remuneration of Non-Executive Directors
should not include share options or other performance-related elements,
but should reflect the time commitment and responsibilities of the role
(Provision 34).

The UK Code requires that notice or contract periods should be one year
or less (Provision 39).

As described above, there is an annual Board evaluation exercise, which
also includes evaluation of the Board’s committees (Principle L).



Audit Committee (303A.06 and 303A.07 of the NYSE Manual)

Audit & Risk Committee

6. Listed companies must have an audit committee that satisfies the
requirements of Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act.
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GlaxoSmithKline complies with equivalent domestic requirements set
out in the UK Code, which requires that GlaxoSmithKline has an

Audit & Risk Committee that is comprised of at least three independent
Non-Executive Directors (Provision 24). GlaxoSmithKline considers all
members of the Audit & Risk Committee to be independent. The Board
has also satisfied itself, in line with the UK Code, that at least one
member of the Audit & Risk Committee has recent and relevant
financial experience and that the Audit & Risk Committee as a whole
has competence relevant to the sector in which GlaxoSmithKline
operates (Provision 24).



The UK Code requires the Audit & Risk Committee to:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

©

®

(2

(h)

(@)

monitor the integrity of the financial statements of
GlaxoSmithKline and any formal announcements relating to
GlaxoSmithKline’s financial performance, reviewing
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them
(Provision 25);

provide advice (where requested by the Board) on whether
the Annual Report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair,
balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess GlaxoSmithKline’s
position and performance, business model and strategy
(Provision 25);

review GlaxoSmithKline’s internal financial controls and
internal control and risk management systems (Provision 25);

monitor and review the effectiveness of GlaxoSmithKline’s
internal audit function (Provision 25);

conduct the tender process and make recommendations to the
Board, regarding the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of the external auditor and to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor (Provision 25);

review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process, taking
into consideration relevant UK professional and regulatory
requirements (Provision 25);

develop and implement policy on the engagement of external
auditors to supply non-audit services, ensuring there is prior
approval of non-audit services, considering the impact this
may have on independence, taking into account the relevant
regulations and ethical guidance regarding the provision of
non-audit services by the external audit firm, and to report to
the Board on any improvement or action required

(Provision 25);

report to the Board on how it has discharged its
responsibilities (Provision 25); and

review arrangements by which the staff of GlaxoSmithKline
may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible
improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other
matters (Provision 6).

GlaxoSmithKline’s Audit & Risk Committee meets the requirements
of Rule 10A-3 in that:

each member of the Audit & Risk Committee is deemed to
be “independent” in accordance with the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, and applicable NYSE and UK
requirements;
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+ the Audit & Risk Committee, amongst other things, is
responsible for recommending the appointment,
compensation, maintenance of independence and oversight
of the work of any registered public accounting firm engaged
for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report or
performing other audit, review or attest services for
GlaxoSmithKline, and each such accounting firm must report
directly to the Audit & Risk Committee;

* the Audit & Risk Committee has established a procedure for
the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints regarding
accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters,
and for the confidential, anonymous submission by
employees of concerns regarding questionable accounting or
auditing matters;

* the Audit & Risk Committee has the authority to engage
independent counsel and other advisors as it determines
necessary to carry out its duties; and

* GlaxoSmithKline must provide appropriate funding for the
Audit & Risk Committee.

The Board has determined that Judy Lewent has the appropriate
qualifications and background to be an “Audit Committee Financial
Expert” as defined in rules promulgated by the SEC under the
Exchange Act.



7. (a) The audit committee must have a minimum of three members. All
audit committee members must satisfy the requirements for independence

set out in Section 303A.02 and, in the absence of an applicable exemption,

Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Exchange Act.

(b) The audit committee must have a written charter that addresses:

(M)

(i1) the committee’s responsibility to conduct an annual performance

(i) the duties and responsibilities of the audit committee — which, at
a minimum, must include those set out in Rule 10A-3(b)(2), (3),

the committee’s purpose — which, at minimum, must be to:

(A) assist board oversight of (1) the integrity of the listed
company’s financial statements, (2) the listed company’s
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, (3) the

independent auditor’s qualifications and independence, and

(4) the performance of the listed company’s internal audit
function and independent auditors (if the listed company
does not yet have an internal audit function because it is
availing itself of a transition period pursuant to

Section 303A.00, the charter must provide that the
committee will assist board oversight of the design and
implementation of the internal audit function); and

(B) prepare disclosure regarding the audit committee’s review
and discussion of financial statements and certain other
audit matters with management and auditors

evaluation of the audit committee; and

(4) and (5) of the Exchange Act as well as to:

(A) at least annually, obtain and review a report by the
independent auditor describing: the firm’s internal quality-

control procedures; any material issues raised by the most recent
internal quality-control review, or peer review, of the firm, or by

any inquiry or investigation by governmental or professional
authorities, within the preceding five years, respecting one or
more independent audits carried out by the firm, and any steps
taken to deal with any such issues; and (to assess the auditor’s

independence) all relationships between the independent auditor

and the listed company;

(B) meet to review and discuss the listed company’s annual
audited financial statements and quarterly financial statements
with management and the independent auditor, including
reviewing the listed company’s specific disclosures under

“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations”;

(C) discuss the listed company’s earnings press releases, as well
as financial information and earnings guidance provided to
analysts and rating agencies;

(D) discuss policies with respect to risk assessment and risk
management;

(E) meet separately, periodically, with management, with
internal auditors (or other personnel responsible for the internal
audit function) and with independent auditors;

(F) review with the independent auditor any audit problems or
difficulties and management’s response;

(G) set clear hiring policies for employees or former employees
of the independent auditors; and

(H) report regularly to the board of directors.

(c) Each listed company must have an internal audit function.

GlaxoSmithKline complies with the equivalent domestic requirements
set out in the UK Code, which requires that the Audit & Risk Committee
should be comprised of a minimum of three independent Non-Executive
Directors (Provision 24).

GlaxoSmithKline’s Audit & Risk Committee has written terms of
reference in accordance with the UK Code. The terms of reference are
available on GlaxoSmithKline’s website and explain the Audit & Risk
Committee’s role and the authority delegated to it by the Board
(Guidance, para 63).

The Audit & Risk Committee’s main responsibilities include monitoring
and reviewing the financial reporting process, the system of internal
control and risk management, overseeing the identification and
management of risks, the external and internal process and for
monitoring compliance with laws, regulations and ethical codes of
practice, including review throughout the year of integrated assurance
reports comprising business unit and associated consolidated internal
audit reports (Provision 25). Where requested by the Board, the Audit &
Risk Committee should provide advice on:

whether the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is
fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess GlaxoSmithKline’s
performance, business model and strategy (Principle M &
Provision 27); and

when taking into account GlaxoSmithKline’s position and
principal risks, how the prospects of GlaxoSmithKline have
been assessed, over what period and why the period is
regarded as appropriate. The Audit & Risk Committee should
also advise whether there is a reasonable expectation that
GlaxoSmithKline will be able to continue in operation and
meet its liabilities when falling due over the said period,
drawing attention to any qualifications or assumptions as
necessary prior to the directors making their statement in the
annual report (Provision 31).

The UK Code requires that a separate section of the Annual Report
should describe the work of the Audit & Risk Committee in discharging
its responsibilities (Provision 26).

The Annual Report should include:

the significant issues that the committee considered in relation
to the financial statements, and how these issues were
addressed (Provision 26);

an explanation of how it has assessed the effectiveness of the
external audit process and the approach taken to the
appointment or reappointment of the external auditor,
information on the length of tenure of the current audit firm
and when a tender was last conducted and advance notice of
any retendering plans (Provision 26); and

if the external auditor provides non-audit services, an
explanation of how auditor objectivity and independence are
safeguarded (Provision 26).

Please see section 6 above for a description of the main role and
responsibilities of the Audit & Risk Committee.

In accordance with the UK Code (Provision 25), the Audit & Risk
Committee monitors and reviews the effectiveness of
GlaxoSmithKline’s internal audit function.



Shareholder Approval of Equity Compensation Plans (303A.08 of the NYSE Manual)

. Shareholders must be given the opportunity to vote on all equity- GlaxoSmithKline complies with corresponding domestic requirements in

compensation plans and material revisions thereto, except for employment the Listing Rules, which mandate that GlaxoSmithKline must seek

inducement awards, certain grants, plans and amendments in the context  shareholder approval for employee share schemes and significant

of mergers and acquisitions, and certain specific types of plans. changes to existing schemes, save in circumstances permitted by the
Listing Rules (Listing Rule 9.4). Please see section 5(d) above.
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Corporate Governance Guidelines (303A.09 of the NYSE Manual)

9.  Listed companies must adopt and disclose corporate governance GlaxoSmithKline complies with corresponding domestic requirements
guidelines. in the Listing Rules and the UK Code, which require that
GlaxoSmithKline includes an explanation in its Annual Report of how
it complies with the principles of the UK Code and a confirmation that
it complies with the UK Code’s provisions or, where it does not,
provide an explanation of how and why it does not comply (Listing
Rule 9.8.6). In addition, GlaxoSmithKline is required to make certain
mandatory corporate governance statements in the Directors’ Report in
accordance with the UK Listing Authority’s Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules, DTR 7. GlaxoSmithKline will comply with these
requirements in its 2018 Annual Report.
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (303A.10 of the NYSE Manual) Code of Conduct
10. Listed companies must adopt and disclose a code of business conduct GlaxoSmithKline’s Code of Conduct for all employees, including the
and ethics for directors, officers and employees, and promptly disclose =~ CEO, CFO and other senior financial officers, is available on
any waivers of the code for directors or executive officers. GlaxoSmithKline’s website.
Foreign Private Issuer Disclosure (303A.11 of the NYSE Manual)
11.  Listed foreign private issuers must disclose any significant ways in GlaxoSmithKline fulfils this requirement by publishing this document.
which their corporate governance practices differ from those followed
by domestic companies under NYSE listing standards.
Listed foreign private issuers are required to provide this disclosure in GlaxoSmithKline fulfils this requirement by including this disclosure
the English language and in their annual reports filed on Form 20-F. in its Annual Report on Form 20-F.
12. Certification Requirements (303A.12 of the NYSE Manual)

Each listed company and its CEO must file certain annual and interim
certifications regarding compliance with the corporate governance
requirements and certain other matters (although foreign private issuers
are only required to comply with a subset of these requirements).
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GlaxoSmithKline fulfils this requirement by filing the required
certifications each year.



Item 16.H

PART III

Item 17

Item 18

Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable.

Financial Statements

Not applicable.

Financial Statements

The information set forth under the headings:

“Consolidated income statement” on page 140;

“Consolidated statement of comprehensive income” on page 140
“Consolidated balance sheet” on page 141;

“Consolidated statement of changes in equity” on page 142;
“Consolidated cash flow statement” on page 143; and

“Notes to the financial statements” on pages 144 to 218

of the GSK Annual Report 2018 is incorporated herein by reference.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of GlaxoSmithKline plc

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of GlaxoSmithKline plc and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as at 31 December 2018, the related
consolidated income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, and cash flows statement, for the year ended 31
December 2018, and the related notes, included in Exhibit 15.3 on pages 140 to 218 (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our
opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2018, and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as at 31 December 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated 15 March 2019, expressed an unqualified
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures
that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Deloitte LLP

London, United Kingdom
15 March 2019

The first accounting period we audited was 31 December 2018. In 2017, we began preparing for audit firm transition.

44



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of GlaxoSmithKline plc

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of GlaxoSmithKline plc and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of 31 December 2017
and the related consolidated income statements, consolidated cash flow statements, consolidated statements of comprehensive income and consolidated
statements of changes in equity for each of the two years in the period ended 31 December 2017, including the related notes, included in Exhibit 15.3 on
pages 140 to 218 (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of 31 December 2017 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
two years in the period ended 31 December 2017 in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
London, United Kingdom
16 March 2018

We served as the Company or its merged predecessors’ auditor from 1977 to 2017. Since at least 1974, we also served as auditor of a company acquired
by a merged predecessor of the Company.
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Item 19

1.1
2.1

4.1

4.2

43
4.4
45
4.6

4.7

4.8
4.9
4.10

8.1

12.1
12.2
13.1

15.1

15.2

15.3*
101.INS**
101.SCH**
101.CAL**
101.DEF**
101.LAB**
101.PRE**

Exhibits

Articles of Association of the Registrant as in effect on the date hereof.

Amended and Restated Deposit Agreement among the Registrant and The Bank of New York Mellon, as Depositary, and the owners
and holders from time to time of the American Depositary Shares issued thereunder, including the form of American Depositary
Receipt, is incorporated by reference to the post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement on Form F-6 (No. 333-148017)
filed with the Commission on March 30, 2015.

UK Service Agreement between GlaxoSmithKline Services Unlimited and Simon Dingemans dated September 8, 2010 is incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the Commission on March 4, 2011.

UK Service Agreement between GlaxoSmithKline Services Unlimited and Patrick John Thompson Vallance dated December 19, 2016

is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the Commission on March 17,
2017.

UK Service Agreement between GlaxoSmithKline Services Unlimited and Emma N. Walmsley dated March 29, 2017.
UK Service Agreement between GlaxoSmithKline LLC and Hal V. Barron dated December 16, 2017.

UK Service Agreement between GlaxoSmithKline Services Unlimited and lain Mackay dated 18 September 2018.

Share and Business Sale Agreement relating to the Vaccines Group made on April 22, 2014, as amended and restated on May 29,
2014, as amended on October 9, 2014, and as further amended and restated on March 1, 2015, between Novartis AG and
GlaxoSmithKline plc is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the

Commission on March 18, 2016. Confidential portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential
treatment and filed separately with the SEC.

Put Option Implementation Agreement relating to the cancellation of Novartis’ shares in GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare
Holdings Limited dated March 27, 2018. Between GlaxoSmithKline plc, Setfirst Limited, Novartis AG, Novartis Holding AG,
Novartis Finance Corporation and GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Holdings Limited.

Amendment letter dated June 1, 2018 to the Put Option Implementation Agreement.

Amendment letter dated July 30, 2018 to the Put Option Implementation Agreement.

Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement by and among Pfizer Inc., GlaxoSmithKline plc and GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare
Holdings Limited dated as of December 19, 2018. Confidential portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment and filed separately with the SEC.

A list of the Registrant’s principal subsidiaries is incorporated by reference to the information set forth under “Group Companies” 260
to 270 of the GSK Annual Report 2018 included as Exhibit 15.3.

Certification Required by Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 — Emma Walmsley.
Certification Required by Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 — Simon Dingemans.

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title
18, United States Code).

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Consent of Deloitte LLP.
GSK Annual Report 2018.

XBRL Instance Document
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XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

* Certain of the information included within Exhibit 15.3, which is provided pursuant to Rule 12b-23(a)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, is incorporated by reference in this Form 20-F, as specified elsewhere in this Form 20-F. With the exception of the items and pages
so specified, the GSK Annual Report 2018 is not deemed to be filed as part of this Form 20-F.

**  In accordance with Rule 402 of Regulation S-T, the information in these exhibits shall not be deemed to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of
the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, and shall not be incorporated by reference into any registration statement or
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Simon Dingemans
Chief Financial Officer
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ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
of
GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC

(adopted by Special Resolution passed on 3 May 2018)

Interpretation

Exclusion of Model Articles

No articles set out in any statute, or in any statutory instrument or other subordinate legislation made under any statute, concerning companies
shall apply as the articles of the company.

Definitions

In these articles unless the context otherwise requires:

“address” includes a number or address used for the purposes of sending or receiving documents or information by electronic means;

“these articles” means these articles of association as altered from time to time and the expression “this article” shall be construed accordingly;

“associated company” means any company (i) which is the company’s holding company or (ii) in which the company or its holding company or
any of the predecessors of the company or of such holding company has any interest whether direct or indirect or (iii) which is in any way allied to
or associated with the company or its holding company or any of the predecessors of the company or of such holding company, of (iv) which is a
subsidiary undertaking or any other associated company;

“the auditors” means the auditors from time to time of the company or, in the case of joint auditors, any one of them;

“the Bank of England base rate” means the base lending rate most recently set by the Monetary Policy Committee of the Bank of England in
connection with its responsibilities under Part 2 of the Bank of England Act 1998;

“the board” means the board of directors from time to time of the company or the directors present at a meeting of the directors at which a
quorum is present;



“certificated share” means a share which is not an uncertificated share and references in these articles to a share being held in certificated form
shall be construed accordingly;

“clear days” in relation to the period of a notice means that period excluding the day when the notice is served or deemed to be served and the
day for which it is given or on which it is to take effect;

“the Companies Acts” means every statute (including any orders, regulations or other subordinate legislation made under it) from time to time in
force concerning companies in so far as it applies to the company;

“the holder” in relation to any shares means the person whose name is entered in the register as the holder of those shares;

“the office” means the registered office from time to time of the company;

“paid up” means paid up or credited as paid up;

“participating class” means a class of shares title to which is permitted by an Operator to be transferred by means of a relevant system;

“person entitled by transmission” means a person whose entitlement to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a member or of any
other event giving rise to its transmission by operation of law has been noted in the register;

173

place” means, in relation to a general meeting or annual general meeting, the place of a physical meeting or the electronic platform specified by
the board in relation to an electronic general meeting and, where relevant, references to the place of a general meeting or annual general meeting
include any combination of two or more such places;

“the register” means the register of members of the company;
“seal” means any common or official seal that the company may be permitted to have under the Companies Acts;

“the secretary” means the secretary, or (if there are joint secretaries) any one of the joint secretaries, of the company and includes an assistant or
deputy secretary and any person appointed by the board to perform any of the duties of the secretary;

“the uncertificated securities rules” means any provision of the Companies Acts relating to the holding, evidencing of title to, or transfer of
uncertificated shares and any legislation, rules or other arrangements made under or by virtue of such provision;

“uncertificated share” means a share of a class which is at the relevant time a participating class, title to which is recorded on the register as
being held in uncertificated form and references in these articles to a share being held in uncertificated form shall be construed accordingly;

“United Kingdom” means Great Britain and Northern Ireland,



references to a person being “present” at or “attending” a general meeting or annual general meeting means present at a physical meeting or

CLINT3

participating via the electronic platform specified by the board in relation to that meeting, and references to “absence”, “refuse entry” and “eject”
shall be read accordingly;

references to a document being signed or to signature include references to its being executed under hand or under seal or by any other method
and, in the case of a communication in electronic form, such references are to its being authenticated as specified by the Companies Acts;

references to writing include references to any method of representing or reproducing words in a legible and non-transitory form whether sent or
supplied in electronic form or otherwise and written shall be construed accordingly;

words or expressions to which a particular meaning is given by the Companies Acts in force when these articles or any part of these articles are
adopted bear (if not inconsistent with the subject matter or context) the same meaning in these articles or that part (as the case may be) save that
the word “company” shall include any body corporate; and

references to a meeting shall not be taken as requiring more than one person to be present if any quorum requirement can be satisfied by one
person.

Headings are included only for convenience and shall not affect meaning.

Limited Liability

The liability of members of the company is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on the shares in the company held by them.

Change of Name

The company may change its name by resolution of the board.

Share Capital

Rights Attached to Shares

Subject to any rights attached to existing shares, any share may be issued with or have attached to it such rights and restrictions as the company
may by ordinary resolution decide or, if no such resolution has been passed or so far as the resolution does not make specific provision, as the
board may decide. Such rights and restrictions shall apply to the relevant shares as if the same were set out in these articles.

Redeemable Shares

Subject to any rights attached to existing shares, any share may be issued which is to be redeemed, or is liable to be redeemed at the option of the
company or the holder. The board may determine the terms, conditions and manner of redemption of any redeemable share so issued. Such terms
and conditions shall apply to the relevant shares as if the same were set out in these articles.
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10.

11.

Variation of Rights

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, all or any of the rights attached to any existing class of shares may from time to time (whether or
not the company is being wound up) be varied either with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than three-fourths in nominal value of
the issued shares of that class (excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares) or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a
separate general meeting of the holders of those shares. All the provisions of these articles as to general meetings of the company shall, with any
necessary modifications, apply to any such separate general meeting, but so that the necessary quorum shall be two persons entitled to vote and
holding or representing by proxy not less than one-third in nominal value of the issued shares of the class (excluding any shares of that class held
as treasury shares), (but so that at any adjourned meeting one holder entitled to vote and present in person or by proxy (whatever the number of
shares held by him) shall be a quorum). The foregoing provisions of this article shall apply to the variation of the special rights attached to some
only of the shares of any class as if each group of shares of the class differently treated formed a separate class and their special rights were to be
varied.

Pari Passu Issues

The rights conferred upon the holders of any shares shall not, unless otherwise expressly provided in the rights attaching to those shares, be
deemed to be varied by the creation or issue of further shares ranking pari passu with them.

Shares

Subject to the provisions of these articles and to any resolution passed by the company and without prejudice to any rights attached to existing
shares, the board may offer, allot, grant options over or otherwise deal with or dispose of shares in the company to such persons, at such times and
for such consideration and upon such terms as the board may decide.

Payment of Commission

The company may in connection with the issue of any shares or the sale for cash of treasury shares exercise all powers of paying commission and
brokerage conferred or permitted by the Companies Acts. Any such commission or brokerage may be satisfied by the payment of cash or by the
allotment of fully or partly-paid shares or other securities or partly in one way and partly in the other.

Trusts Not Recognised

Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, no person shall be recognised by the company as holding any share
upon any trust and the company shall not be bound by or required in any way to recognise (even when having notice of it) any interest in any
share or (except only as by these articles or by law otherwise provided) any other right in respect of any share other than an absolute right to the
whole of the share in the holder.



12.

Suspension of Rights Where Non-Disclosure of Interest

(A)

®)

©

D)

()

)

Where the holder of any shares in the company, or any other person appearing to be interested in those shares, fails to comply within the
relevant period with any statutory notice in respect of those shares or, in purported compliance with such a notice, has made a statement
which is false or inadequate in a material particular, the company may give the holder of those shares a further notice (a “restriction
notice”) to the effect that from the service of the restriction notice those shares will be subject to some or all of the relevant restrictions, and
from service of the restriction notice those shares shall, notwithstanding any other provision of these articles, be subject to those relevant
restrictions accordingly. For the purpose of enforcing the relevant restriction referred to in sub-paragraph (iii) of the definition of “relevant
restrictions”, the board may give notice to the relevant member requiring the member to change the relevant shares held in uncertificated
form to certificated form by the time stated in the notice and to keep them in certificated form for as long as the board requires. The notice
may also state that the member may not change any of the relevant shares held in certificated form to uncertificated form. If the member
does not comply with the notice, the board may authorise any person to instruct the Operator to change the relevant shares held in
uncertificated form to certificated form.

If after the service of a restriction notice in respect of any shares the board is satisfied that all information required by any statutory notice
relating to those shares or any of them from their holder or any other person appearing to be interested in the shares the subject of the
restriction notice has been supplied, the company shall, within seven days, cancel the restriction notice. The company may at any time at its
discretion cancel any restriction notice or exclude any shares from it. The company shall cancel a restriction notice within seven days after
receipt of a notice in writing that the relevant shares have been transferred pursuant to an arm’s length sale.

Where any restriction notice is cancelled or ceases to have effect in relation to any shares, any moneys relating to those shares which were
withheld by reason of that notice shall be paid without interest to the person who would but for the notice have been entitled to them or as
he may direct.

Any new shares in the company issued in right of any shares subject to a restriction notice shall also be subject to the restriction notice, and
the board may make any right to an allotment of the new shares subject to restrictions corresponding to those which will apply to those
shares by reason of the restriction notice when such shares are issued.

Any holder of shares on whom a restriction notice has been served may at any time request the company to give in writing the reason why
the restriction notice has been served, or why it remains uncancelled, and within 14 days of receipt of such a notice the company shall give
that information accordingly.

Where a person appearing to be interested in shares has been served with a statutory notice and the shares in which he appears to be
interested are held by an Approved Depositary, this article applies only to those shares which are held by the Approved Depositary in which
that person appears to be interested and not (so far as that person’s apparent interest is concerned) to any other shares held by the Approved
Depositary.



(©)

(H)

@

©)

Where a member who is an Approved Depositary has been served with a statutory notice, the obligations of that member will be limited to
disclosing to the company information relating to any person who appears to be interested in the shares held by it which has been recorded
by it in accordance with the arrangement under which it was appointed as an Approved Depositary.

If a statutory notice is given by the company to a person appearing to be interested in any share, a copy shall at the same time be given to
the holder, but the failure or omission to do so or the non-receipt of the copy by the holder shall not invalidate such notice.

This article is in addition to, and shall not in any way prejudice or affect, the statutory rights of the company arising from any failure by any
person to give any information required by a statutory notice within the time specified in it. For the purpose of this article a statutory notice
need not specify the relevant period, and may require any information to be given before the expiry of the relevant period.

In this article:

a sale is an “arm’s length sale” if the board is satisfied that it is a bona fide sale of the whole of the beneficial ownership of the shares to a
party unconnected with the holder or with any person appearing to be interested in such shares and shall include a sale made by way of or in
pursuance of acceptance of a takeover offer and a sale made through a recognised investment exchange or any other stock exchange outside
the United Kingdom. For this purpose an associate (within the definition of that expression in any statute relating to insolvency in force at
the date of adoption of this article) shall be included amongst the persons who are connected with the holder or any person appearing to be
interested in such shares;

“person appearing to be interested” in any shares shall mean any person named in a response to a statutory notice or otherwise notified to
the company by a member as being so interested or shown in any register or record kept by the company under the Companies Acts as so
interested or, taking into account a response or failure to respond in the light of the response to any other statutory notice and any other
relevant information in the possession of the company, any person whom the company knows or has reasonable cause to believe is or may
be so interested;

“person with a (.25 per cent. interest” means a person who holds, or is shown in any register or record kept by the company under the
Companies Acts as having an interest in, shares in the company which comprise in total at least 0.25 per cent. in number or nominal value
of the shares of the company (calculated exclusive of any shares held as treasury shares), or of any class of such shares (calculated exclusive
of any shares of that class held as treasury shares), in issue at the date of service of the restriction notice;

“relevant period” means a period of 14 days following service of a statutory notice;
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“relevant restrictions” mean in the case of a restriction notice served on a person with a 0.25 per cent. interest that:

(1) the shares shall not confer on the holder any right to attend or vote either personally or by proxy at any general meeting of the
company or at any separate general meeting of the holders of any class of shares in the company or to exercise any other right
conferred by membership in relation to general meetings;

(ii) the board may withhold payment of all or any part of any dividends or other moneys payable in respect of the shares and the holder
shall not be entitled to receive shares in lieu of dividend;

(iii)  the board may decline to register a transfer of any of the shares which are certificated shares, unless such a transfer is pursuant to an
arm’s length sale,

and in any other case mean only the restriction specified in sub-paragraph (i) of this definition; and

“statutory notice” means a notice served by the company under the Companies Acts requiring particulars of interests in shares or of the
identity of persons interested in shares.

13. Uncertificated Shares

(A) Pursuant and subject to the uncertificated securities rules, the board may permit title to shares of any class to be evidenced otherwise than by

®)

a certificate and title to shares of such a class to be transferred by means of a relevant system and may make arrangements for a class of
shares (if all shares of that class are in all respects identical) to become a participating class. Title to shares of a particular class may only be
evidenced otherwise than by a certificate where that class of shares is at the relevant time a participating class. The board may also, subject
to compliance with the uncertificated securities rules, determine at any time that title to any class of shares may from a date specified by the
board no longer be evidenced otherwise than by a certificate or that title to such a class shall cease to be transferred by means of any
particular relevant system.

In relation to a class of shares which is a participating class and for so long as it remains a participating class, no provision of these articles
shall apply or have effect to the extent that it is inconsistent in any respect with:

@) the holding of shares of that class in uncertificated form;
(ii) the transfer of title to shares of that class by means of a relevant system; and
(iii)  any provision of the uncertificated securities rules,

and, without prejudice to the generality of this article, no provision of these articles shall apply or have effect to the extent that it is in any
respect inconsistent with the maintenance, keeping or entering up by the Operator, so long as that is permitted or required by the
uncertificated securities rules, of an Operator register of securities in respect of that class of shares in uncertificated form.
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D)

(E)
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(G)

Shares of a class which is at the relevant time a participating class may be changed from uncertificated to certificated form, and from
certificated to uncertificated form, in accordance with and subject as provided in the uncertificated securities rules.

If, under these articles or the Companies Acts, the company is entitled to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of, forfeit, re-allot, accept the
surrender of or otherwise enforce a lien over an uncertificated share, then, subject to these articles and the Companies Acts, such entitlement
shall include the right of the board to:

1) require the holder of that uncertificated share by notice in writing to change that share from uncertificated to certificated form within
such period as may be specified in the notice and keep it as a certificated share for as long as the board requires;

(ii) appoint any person to take such other steps, by instruction given by means of a relevant system or otherwise, in the name of the
holder of such share as may be required to effect the transfer of such share and such steps shall be as effective as they had been
taken by the registered holder of that share; and

(iii)  take such other action that the board considers appropriate to achieve the sale, transfer, disposal, forfeiture, re-allotment or surrender
of that share or otherwise to enforce a lien in respect of that share.

Unless the board otherwise determines, shares which a member holds in uncertificated form shall be treated as separate holdings from any
shares which that member holds in certificated form. However shares held in uncertificated form shall not be treated as forming a class
which is separate from certificated shares with the same rights.

Unless the board otherwise determines or the uncertificated securities rules otherwise require, any shares issued or created out of or in
respect of any uncertificated shares shall be uncertificated shares and any shares issued or created out of or in respect of any certificated
shares shall be certificated shares.

The company shall be entitled to assume that the entries on any record of securities maintained by it in accordance with the uncertificated
securities rules and regularly reconciled with the relevant Operator register of securities are a complete and accurate reproduction of the
particulars entered in the Operator register of securities and shall accordingly not be liable in respect of any act or thing done or omitted to
be done by or on behalf of the company in reliance on such assumption; in particular, any provision of these articles which requires or
envisages that action will be taken in reliance on information contained in the register shall be construed to permit that action to be taken in
reliance on information contained in any relevant record of securities (as so maintained and reconciled).
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14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

Right to Share Certificates

Every person (except a person to whom the company is not by law required to issue a certificate) whose name is entered in the register as a holder
of any certificated shares shall be entitled, without payment, to receive within the time limits prescribed by the Companies Acts (or, if earlier,
within any prescribed time limit or within a time specified when the shares were issued) one certificate for all those shares of any one class. In the
case of a certificated share held jointly by several persons, the company shall not be bound to issue more than one certificate and delivery of a
certificate to one of several joint holders shall be sufficient delivery to all. A member who transfers some but not all of the shares comprised in a
certificate shall be entitled to a certificate for the balance without charge to the extent the balance is to be held in certificated form.

Replacement of Share Certificates

If a share certificate is defaced, worn out, lost or destroyed, it may be replaced on such terms (if any) as to evidence and indemnity as the board
may decide and, where it is defaced or worn out, after delivery of the old certificate to the company. Any two or more certificates representing
shares of any one class held by any member shall at his request be cancelled and a single new certificate for such shares issued in lieu. Any
certificate representing shares of any one class held by any member may at his request be cancelled and two or more certificates for such shares
may be issued instead. The board may require the payment of any exceptional out-of-pocket expenses of the company incurred in connection with
the issue of any certificates under this article. Any one of two or more joint holders may request replacement certificates under this article.

Share Certificates Sent at Holder’s Risk

Every share certificate sent in accordance with these articles will be sent at the risk of the member or other person entitled to the certificate. The
company will not be responsible for any share certificate lost or delayed in the course of delivery.

Execution of Share Certificates

Every share certificate shall be executed under a seal or in such other manner as the board, having regard to the terms of issue and any listing
requirements, may authorise and shall specify the number and class of the shares to which it relates and the amount or respective amounts paid up
on the shares. The board may by resolution decide, either generally or in any particular case or cases, that any signatures on any share certificates
need not be autographic but may be applied to the certificates by some mechanical or other means or may be printed on them or that the
certificates need not be signed by any person.

Lien

Company’s Lien on Shares Not Fully Paid

The company shall have a first and paramount lien on every share (not being a fully paid share) for all amounts payable to the company (whether
presently or not) in respect of that share. The company’s lien on a share shall extend to every amount payable in respect of it. The board may at
any time either generally or in any particular case waive any lien that has arisen or declare any share to be wholly or in part exempt from the
provisions of this article.



19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

Enforcing Lien by Sale

The company may sell, in such manner as the board may decide, any share on which the company has a lien if a sum in respect of which the lien
exists is presently payable and is not paid within 14 clear days after a notice has been served on the holder of the share or the person who is
entitled by transmission to the share, demanding payment and stating that if the notice is not complied with the share may be sold. For giving
effect to the sale the board may authorise some person to sign an instrument of transfer of the share sold to or in accordance with the directions of
the purchaser. The transferee shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money, nor shall his title to the share be affected by any
irregularity or invalidity in relation to the sale.

Application of Proceeds of Sale

The net proceeds, after payment of the costs, of the sale by the company of any share on which it has a lien shall be applied in or towards payment
or discharge of the debt or liability in respect of which the lien exists so far as it is presently payable, and any residue shall (subject to a like lien
for debts or liabilities not presently payable as existed upon the share prior to the sale and upon surrender, if required by the company, for
cancellation of the certificate for the share sold) be paid to the person who was entitled to the share at the time of the sale.

Calls on Shares

Calls

Subject to the terms of issue, the board may from time to time make calls upon the members in respect of any moneys unpaid on their shares
(whether on account of the nominal amount of the shares or by way of premium) and not payable on a date fixed by or in accordance with the
terms of issue, and each member shall (subject to the company serving upon him at least 14 clear days’ notice specifying when and where
payment is to be made) pay to the company as required by the notice the amount called on his shares. A call may be made payable by instalments.
A call may be revoked or postponed, in whole or in part, as the board may decide. A person upon whom a call is made shall remain liable jointly
and severally with the successors in title to his shares for all calls made upon him notwithstanding the subsequent transfer of the shares in respect
of which the call was made.

Timing of Calls

A call shall be deemed to have been made at the time when the resolution of the board authorising the call was passed.

Liability of Joint Holders

The joint holders of a share shall be jointly and severally liable to pay all calls in respect of the share.
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25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

Interest Due on Non-Payment

If a call remains unpaid after it has become due and payable, the person from whom it is due and payable shall pay interest on the amount unpaid
from the day it is due and payable to the time of actual payment at such rate (not exceeding the Bank of England base rate by more than five
percentage points) as the board may decide, and all expenses that have been incurred by the company by reason of such non-payment, but the
board shall be at liberty in any case or cases to waive payment of the interest or expenses wholly or in part.

Sums Due on Allotment Treated as Calls

Any amount which becomes payable in respect of a share on allotment or on any other date fixed by or in accordance with the terms of issue,
whether in respect of the nominal amount of the share or by way of premium or as an instalment of a call, shall be deemed to be a call and, if it is
not paid, all the provisions of these articles shall apply as if the sum had become due and payable by virtue of a call.

Power to Differentiate

The board may on or before the issue of shares differentiate between the allottees or holders as to the amount of calls to be paid and the times of
payment.

Payment of Calls in Advance

The board may, if it thinks fit, receive from any member who is willing to advance them all or any part of the moneys uncalled and unpaid upon
any shares held by him and on all or any of the moneys so advanced may (until they would, but for the advance, become presently payable) pay
interest at such rate (not exceeding the Bank of England base rate by more than five percentage points, unless the company by ordinary resolution
shall otherwise direct) as the board may decide.

Forfeiture of Shares

Notice if Call or Instalment Not Paid

If any call or instalment of a call remains unpaid on any share after the day appointed for payment, the board may at any time serve a notice on the
holder requiring payment of so much of the call or instalment as is unpaid, together with any interest which may have accrued and any expenses
incurred by the company by reason of such non-payment.

Form of Notice

The notice shall name a further day (not being less than 14 clear days from the date of the notice) on or before which, and the place where, the
payment required by the notice is to be made and shall state that in the event of non-payment on or before the day and at the place appointed, the
shares in respect of which the call has been made or instalment is payable will be liable to be forfeited.

11
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31.

32.

33.

34.

Forfeiture for Non-Compliance with Notice

If the notice is not complied with, any share in respect of which it was given may, at any time before payment of all calls or instalments and
interest and expenses due in respect of it have been made, be forfeited by a resolution of the board to that effect and the forfeiture shall include all
dividends declared and other moneys payable in respect of the forfeited shares and not paid before the forfeiture. The board may accept the
surrender of any share liable to be forfeited and, in that event, references in these articles to forfeiture shall include surrender.

Notice after Forfeiture

When any share has been forfeited, notice of the forfeiture shall be served upon the person who was before forfeiture the holder of the share but
no forfeiture shall be invalidated by any omission or neglect to give notice.

Sale of Forfeited Shares

Until cancelled in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Acts, a forfeited share shall be deemed to be the property of the company
and may be sold or otherwise disposed of either to the person who was, before forfeiture, the holder or to any other person upon such terms and in
such manner as the board shall decide. The board may for the purposes of the disposal authorise some person to sign an instrument of transfer to
the designated transferee. The company may receive the consideration (if any) given for the share on its disposal. At any time before a sale or
disposition the forfeiture may be cancelled by the board on such terms as the board may decide.

Arrears to be Paid Notwithstanding Forfeiture

A person whose shares have been forfeited shall cease to be a member in respect of them and shall surrender to the company for cancellation the
certificate for the forfeited shares but shall remain liable to pay to the company all moneys which at the date of the forfeiture were payable by him
to the company in respect of those shares with interest thereon at such rate (not exceeding the Bank of England base rate by more than five
percentage points) as the board may decide from the date of forfeiture until payment, and the company may enforce payment without being under
any obligation to make any allowance for the value of the shares forfeited or for any consideration received on their disposal.

Statutory Declaration as to Forfeiture

A statutory declaration that the declarant is a director of the company or the secretary and that a share has been forfeited on a specified date shall
be conclusive evidence of the facts stated in it as against all persons claiming to be entitled to the share. The declaration shall (subject to the
signing of an instrument of transfer if necessary) constitute a good title to the share and the person to whom the share is sold or otherwise disposed
of shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money (if any) nor shall his title to the share be affected by any irregularity or
invalidity in the proceedings relating to the forfeiture, sale or disposal.

12



35s.

36.
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38.

Transfer

(A)

®)

Transfer of Shares

Subject to such of the restrictions of these articles as may be applicable:

@

(i)

any member may transfer all or any of his uncertificated shares by means of a relevant system in such manner provided for, and
subject as provided in, the uncertificated securities rules, and accordingly no provision of these articles shall apply in respect of an
uncertificated share to the extent that it requires or contemplates the effecting of a transfer by an instrument in writing or the
production of a certificate for the share to be transferred; and

any member may transfer all or any of his certificated shares by an instrument of transfer in any usual form or in any other form
which the board may approve.

The transferor of a share shall be deemed to remain the holder of the share concerned until the name of the transferee is entered in the
register in respect of it.

Signing of Transfer

The instrument of transfer of a certificated share shall be signed by or on behalf of the transferor and (in the case of a partly paid share) the
transferee. All instruments of transfer, when registered, may be retained by the company.

Rights to Decline Registration of Partly Paid Shares

The board can decline to register any transfer of any share which is not a fully paid share.

Other Rights to Decline Registration

(A) Registration of a transfer of an uncertificated share may be refused in the circumstances set out in the uncertificated securities rules, and
where, in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to whom the uncertificated share is to be transferred exceeds

®)

four.

The board may decline to register any transfer of a certificated share unless:

(M)

(if)

the instrument of transfer is duly stamped or duly certified or otherwise shown to the satisfaction of the board to be exempt from
stamp duty and is left at the office or such other place as the board may from time to time determine accompanied (save in the case
of a transfer by a person to whom the company is not required by law to issue a certificate and to whom a certificate has not been
issued) by the certificate for the share to which it relates and such other evidence as the board may reasonably require to show the
right of the person signing the instrument of transfer to make the transfer and, if the instrument of transfer is signed by some other
person on his behalf, the authority of that person so to do;

the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of share; and

13
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40.

©

(iii)

in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to whom the share is to be transferred does not exceed four.

For all purposes of these articles relating to the registration of transfers of shares, the renunciation of the allotment of any shares by the
allottee in favour of some other person shall be deemed to be a transfer and the board shall have the same powers of refusing to give effect
to such a renunciation as if it were a transfer.

No Fee for Registration

No fee shall be charged by the company for registering any transfer, document or instruction relating to or affecting the title to any share or for
making any other entry in the register.

Untraced Shareholders

(A) The company may sell any certificated shares in the company on behalf of the holder of, or person entitled by transmission to, the shares at
the best price reasonably obtainable at the time of sale if:

®)

@@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

the shares have been in issue either in certificated or uncertificated form throughout the qualifying period and at least three cash
dividends have become payable on the shares during the qualifying period;

no cash dividend payable on the shares has either been claimed by presentation to the paying bank of the relevant cheque or warrant
or been satisfied by the transfer of funds to a bank account designated by the holder of, or person entitled by transmission to, the
shares or by the transfer of funds by means of a relevant system at any time during the relevant period;

so far as any director of the company at the end of the relevant period is then aware, the company has not at any time during the
relevant period received any communication from the holder of, or person entitled by transmission to, the shares; and

on or after the expiry of the qualifying period, the company has sent a notice to the registered address or last known address of the
member or person concerned, of its intention to sell such share and before sending such a notice to the member or other person
concerned, the company must have used reasonable efforts to trace the member or other person entitled, engaging, if considered
appropriate by the company, a professional asset reunification company or other tracing agent, and at least a period of three months
has elapsed from the date of sending such notices.

The company shall also be entitled to sell at the best price reasonably obtainable at the time of sale any additional certificated shares in the
company issued either in certificated or uncertificated form during the qualifying period in right of any share to which paragraph (A) of this
article applies (or in right of any share so issued), if the criteria in paragraph (A)(ii) to (iv) are satisfied in relation to the additional shares.
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42.

43.

(C) To give effect to any sale of shares pursuant to this article the board may authorise some person to transfer the shares in question and an
instrument of transfer signed by that person shall be as effective as if it had been signed by the holder of, or person entitled by transmission
to, the shares. The purchaser shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase moneys nor shall his title to the shares be affected
by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings relating to the sale.

(D) The net proceeds of sale shall belong to the company and, upon their receipt, the company shall record the name of the member, or (if
known) the person who would have been entitled to the shares by law, as a creditor for the money in its accounts, unless and until forfeited
under this article. No trust shall be created in respect of the debt and no interest shall be payable in respect of it and the company shall not
be required to account for any moneys earned from the net proceeds which may be employed in the business of the company or as it thinks
fit. If no valid claim for the money has been received by the company during a period of six years from the date on which the relevant
shares were sold by the company under this article, the money will be forfeited and will belong to the company.

(D) For the purpose of this article:

“the qualifying period” means the period of 10 years immediately preceding the date of sending the notice referred to in paragraph (A)(iv)
above; and

“the relevant period” means the period beginning at the commencement of the qualifying period and ending on the date when all the
requirements of paragraphs (A)(i) to (iv) above have been satisfied.

Transmission of Shares

Transmission on Death

If a member dies, the survivor or survivors, where he was a joint holder, and his personal representatives, where he was a sole holder or the only
survivor of joint holders, shall be the only persons recognised by the company as having any title to his shares; but nothing contained in these
articles shall release the estate of a deceased holder from any liability in respect of any share held by him solely or jointly with other persons.

Entry of Transmission in Register

Where the entitlement of a person to a certificated share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a member or of any other event giving rise
to its transmission by operation of law is proved to the satisfaction of the board, the board shall within two months after proof cause the
entitlement of that person to be noted in the register.

Election of Person Entitled by Transmission

Any person entitled by transmission to a share may, subject as provided elsewhere in these articles, elect either to become the holder of the share
or to have some person nominated by him registered as the holder. If he elects to be registered himself he shall give notice to the company to that
effect. If he elects to have another person registered and the share is
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45.

46.

a certificated share, he shall sign an instrument of transfer of the share to that person. If he elects to have himself or another person registered and
the share is an uncertificated share, he shall take any action the board may require (including, without limitation, the signing of any document and
the giving of any instruction by means of a relevant system) to enable himself or that person to be registered as the holder of the share. The board
may at any time require the person to elect either to be registered himself or to transfer the share and if the requirements are not complied with
within 60 days of being issued the board may withhold payment of all dividends and other moneys payable in respect of the share until the
requirements have been complied with. All the provisions of these articles relating to the transfer of, and registration of transfers of, shares shall
apply to the notice or transfer as if the death or bankruptcy of the member or other event giving rise to the transmission had not occurred and the
notice or transfer was given or signed by the member.

Rights of Person Entitled by Transmission

Where a person becomes entitled by transmission to a share, the rights of the holder in relation to that share shall cease, but the person entitled by
transmission to the share may give a good discharge for any dividends or other moneys payable in respect of it and shall have the same rights in
relation to the share as he would have had if he were the holder of it save that, until he becomes the holder, he shall not be entitled in respect of the
share (except with the authority of the board) to receive notice of, or to attend or vote at, any general meeting of the company or at any separate
general meeting of the holders of any class of shares in the company or to exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to general
meetings.

Alteration of Share Capital

Sub-division

Any resolution authorising the company to sub-divide its shares or any of them may determine that, as between the shares resulting from the
sub-division, any of them may have any preference or advantage or be subject to any restriction as compared with the others.

Fractions

Whenever as a result of a consolidation, consolidation and sub-division or sub-division of shares any holders would become entitled to fractions
of a share, the board may deal with the fractions as it thinks fit including by ignoring fractions altogether or by aggregating and selling them or by
dealing with them in some other way. For the purposes of effecting any such sale, the board may arrange for the shares representing the fractions
to be entered in the register as certificated shares. The board may sell shares representing fractions to any person, including the company and may
authorise some person to transfer or deliver the shares to, or in accordance with the directions of, the purchaser. The person to whom any shares
are transferred or delivered shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money nor shall his title to the shares be affected by any
irregularity in, or invalidity of, the proceedings relating to the sale.
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48.

49.

Notice of General Meetings

Omission or Non-Receipt of Notice

(A) The accidental omission to give any notice of a meeting or the accidental omission to send or supply any document or other information
relating to any meeting to, or the non-receipt (even if the company becomes aware of such non-receipt) of any such notice, document or
other information by, any person entitled to receive the notice, document or other information shall not invalidate the proceedings at that
meeting.

(B) A member present in person or by proxy at a meeting shall be deemed to have received proper notice of that meeting and, where applicable,
of the purpose of that meeting.

Postponement of General Meetings

If the board, in its absolute discretion, considers that it is impractical or undesirable for any reason to hold a general meeting on the date or at the
time or place specified in the notice calling the general meeting, it may postpone or move the general meeting to another date, time and/or place.
The board shall take reasonable steps to ensure that notice of the date, time and place of the rearranged meeting is given to any member trying to
attend the meeting at the original time and place. Notice of the date, time and place of the rearranged meeting shall, if practicable, also be placed
in: (i) at least two national newspapers in the United Kingdom, and (ii) The Wall Street Journal and/or such other newspaper published in the
United States as the directors consider to be appropriate. Notice of the business to be transacted at such rearranged meeting shall not be required.
If a meeting is rearranged in this way, the appointment of a proxy will be valid if it is received as required by these articles not less than 48 hours
before the time appointed for holding the rearranged meeting. The board may also postpone or move the rearranged meeting under this article.

Resolutions of members at Annual General Meetings

(A) If, on or before, 31st January in any year any members shall, in accordance with the Companies Acts, require the company, in relation to the
Annual General Meeting to be held in that year, to give notice of a resolution which may properly be moved or require the company to
circulate a statement in acceptable form, the company shall circulate that resolution or statement with the notice of the Annual General
Meeting without cost to the requisitionists.

(B) If any such requisition is made in accordance with the Companies Acts after 31st January in any year and prior to the Annual General
Meeting to be held in that year, the company shall require that the requisitionists deposit or tender a sum sufficient to meet the Company’s
reasonable expenses in complying with such requisition in accordance with the Companies Acts.
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Proceedings at General Meetings (including Annual General Meetings)

50. Electronic General Meetings

(A) The board may determine that a general meeting shall be held as a physical meeting or in combination with an electronic platform or
platforms that enables members to participate in the meeting without physically attending. A general meeting held partially on an electronic
platform in combination with a physical meeting is referred in these articles as an “electronic general meeting”.

(B) The board may make arrangements for an electronic platform to permit members or their proxies who are not present together at the same
physical place to attend, speak and vote at an electronic general meeting by electronic means, and to permit directors or others to attend and
speak, and the chairman of the meeting to preside, at an electronic general meeting by electronic means. That meeting shall be duly
constituted and its proceedings valid if the chairman of the general meeting is satisfied that adequate facilities are available throughout the
electronic general meeting to ensure that members attending the electronic general meeting may participate in the business of the general
meeting.

(C) The notice of an electronic general meeting shall specify the physical place of that meeting and shall specify the electronic platform and
arrangements by which members or their proxies may participate in the meeting.

(D) A member who is entitled to vote and who participates or is represented by a proxy by means of a specified electronic platform at an
electronic general meeting shall be counted in the quorum for that general meeting.

(E) The board may make arrangements for any documents which are required to be made available to the meeting to be accessible electronically
to members or their proxies.

(F) Nothing in these articles prevents a general meeting being held only at a physical location, however a general meeting cannot be held solely
on an electronic platform.

51. Quorum

(A) No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present when the meeting proceeds to business, but the absence of
a quorum shall not preclude the choice or appointment of a chairman of the meeting which shall not be treated as part of the business of the
meeting. Save as otherwise provided by these articles, two members present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall be a quorum for
all purposes. A shareholder which is a company is to be considered present if it is represented by a duly authorised representative.

(B) If'the directors so determine, any or all members (or their proxies) may participate in a general meeting by means of a conference telephone,
video teleconference equipment or any communication equipment which allows all persons participating in the meeting to speak to and hear
each other. A person so participating shall be
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53.

deemed to be present in person at the meeting and shall be entitled to vote or be counted in a quorum accordingly. A meeting which takes
place by conference telephone, video teleconference or other such communication equipment will be treated as taking place at the place
where the chairman is.

Procedure if Quorum Not Present

If within five minutes (or such longer time not exceeding one hour as the chairman of the meeting may decide to wait) after the time appointed for
the commencement of the meeting a quorum is not present, or if during the meeting a quorum ceases to be present, the meeting:

(M)
(i)

if convened by or upon the requisition of members, shall be dissolved; and

in any other case, it shall stand adjourned to such other day (being not less than ten days later, excluding the day on which the meeting is
adjourned and the day for which it is reconvened) and at such other time or place as the chairman of the meeting may decide. At any
adjourned meeting one member present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote (whatever the number of shares held by him) shall be a
quorum and any notice of an adjourned meeting shall state that one member present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote (whatever the
number of shares held by him) shall be a quorum.

Security Arrangements

(A) The directors or the secretary may take any action and may put in place any arrangements both before and during any meeting that they/he

B

©

consider appropriate for:

(i) the safety of people attending a meeting;

(ii) proper and orderly conduct of a meeting; or

(iii))  the meeting to reflect the wishes of the majority.

This includes the power to refuse entry to, or eject from meetings, any person who fails to comply with any arrangements made or any
person who in the opinion of the directors or the secretary is acting in a manner that threatens the safety of people attending the meeting
and/or the proper and orderly conduct at a meeting.

The board may direct that persons wishing to attend any general meeting should submit to such searches or other security arrangements or
restrictions (including, without limitation, a requirement that such persons refrain from taking electronic equipment into a general meeting)
as the board shall consider appropriate in the circumstances and the board shall be entitled in its absolute discretion to, or to authorise some
one or more persons who shall include a director or the secretary or the chairman of the meeting to, refuse entry to, or to eject from, such
general meeting any person who fails to submit to such searches or otherwise to comply with such security arrangements or restrictions.
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56.

57.

Confidential Information

No shareholder at any general meeting is entitled to require disclosure of or any information about any detail of the company’s trading, or any
matter that is or may be in the nature of a trade secret, commercial secret or secret process, or that may relate to the conduct of the business of the
company, if the directors decide it would be inexpedient in the interests of the company to make that information public.

Chairman of General Meeting

The chairman (if any) of the board or, in his absence, the deputy chairman (if any) shall preside as chairman at every general meeting. If more
than one deputy chairman is present they shall agree amongst themselves who is to take the chair or, if they cannot agree, the deputy chairman
who has been in office as a director longest shall take the chair. If there is no chairman or deputy chairman, or if at any meeting neither the
chairman nor any deputy chairman is present within five minutes after the time appointed for the commencement of the meeting, or if neither the
chairman nor any deputy chairman is willing to act as chairman, the directors present shall choose one of their number to act, or if one director
only is present he shall preside as chairman of the meeting if willing to act. If no director is present, or if each of the directors present declines to
take the chair, the persons present and entitled to vote shall appoint one of their number to be chairman of the meeting. Nothing in these articles
shall restrict or exclude any of the powers or rights of a chairman of a meeting which are given by law.

Orderly Conduct

(A) The chairman of the meeting shall take such action or give directions for such action to be taken as he thinks fit to promote the orderly
conduct of the business of the meeting. The chairman’s decision on points of order, matters of procedure or arising incidentally from the
business of the meeting shall be final as shall be his determination as to whether any point or matter is of such a nature.

(B) The directors may arrange for any people who they consider cannot be seated in the main meeting room, where the chairman will be, to
attend and take part in a general meeting in an overflow room or rooms. Any overflow room will have a live video link from the main room,
and a two-way sound link. The notice of the meeting does not have to give details of any arrangements under this Article. The directors may
decide how to divide people between the main room and any overflow room. If any overflow room is used, the meeting will be treated as
being held, and taking place, in the main room.

Entitlement to Attend and Speak

Each director shall be entitled to attend and speak at any general meeting of the company. The chairman of the meeting may invite any person to
attend and speak at any general meeting of the company where he considers that this will assist in the deliberations of the meeting.
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61.

Adjournments

The chairman of the meeting may at any time without the consent of the meeting adjourn any meeting (whether or not it has commenced or a
quorum is present) either to a later time on the same day or to another time or place where it appears to him that (a) the members entitled to vote
and wishing to attend cannot be conveniently accommodated in the place appointed for the meeting (b) the conduct of persons present prevents or
is likely to prevent the orderly continuation of business (c¢) in relation to an electronic general meeting, the electronic platforms or arrangements
for that meeting become inadequate for the purpose of ensuring that members can participate properly and in an orderly and secure way or (d) an
adjournment is otherwise necessary so that the business of the meeting may be properly conducted. In addition, the chairman of the meeting may
at any time with the consent of any meeting at which a quorum is present (and shall if so directed by the meeting) adjourn the meeting either sine
die or to another time or place. When a meeting is adjourned sine die the time and place for the adjourned meeting shall be fixed by the board. No
business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting except business which might properly have been transacted at the meeting had the
adjournment not taken place. Any meeting may be adjourned more than once.

Notice of Adjournment

If the continuation of an adjourned meeting is to take place three months or more after it was adjourned or if business is to be transacted at an
adjourned meeting the general nature of which was not stated in the notice of the original meeting, notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given
as in the case of an original meeting. Except as provided in this article, it shall not be necessary to give any notice of an adjourned meeting or of
the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting.

Amendments

Amendments to Resolutions

In the case of a resolution duly proposed as a special resolution no amendment thereto (other than an amendment to correct a patent error) may be
considered or voted upon and in the case of a resolution duly proposed as an ordinary resolution no amendment thereto (other than an amendment
to correct a patent error) may be considered or voted upon unless either at least two working days prior to the date appointed for holding the
meeting or adjourned meeting at which such ordinary resolution is to be proposed notice in writing of the terms of the amendment and intention to
move the same has been received by the company at its office or the chairman of the meeting in his absolute discretion decides that it may be
considered or voted upon. With the consent of the chairman of the meeting, an amendment may be withdrawn by its proposer before it is put to
the vote.

Amendments Ruled Out of Order

If an amendment shall be proposed to any resolution under consideration but shall be ruled out of order by the chairman of the meeting the
proceedings on the substantive resolution shall not be invalidated by any error in such ruling.
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66.

Voting

Votes of Members

Subject to any special terms as to voting upon which any shares may be issued or may at the relevant time be held and to any other provisions of
these articles, members shall be entitled to vote at a general meeting as provided in the Companies Acts.

Method of Voting

At any general meeting, including any electronic general meeting, a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a poll, which
shall be taken in such manner as the chairman of the meeting shall direct, including by means of electronic vote casters. The result of the vote
shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the vote was demanded. A vote to elect the chairman of the meeting or to adjourn the
meeting must be taken immediately at the meeting. Any other vote may be taken at any other time (within 30 days of the meeting) and place
determined by the chairman. The chairman can appoint scrutineers (who need not be shareholders) and set a day, time and place for the result of
the poll to be declared.

Votes of Joint Holders

In the case of joint holders of a share the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion
of the votes of the other joint holders and, for this purpose, seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand in the register in
respect of the joint holding.

Voting on Behalf of Incapable Member

A member in respect of whom an order has been made by any competent court or official on the ground that he is or may be suffering from a
mental disorder or is otherwise incapable of managing his affairs may vote at any general meeting of the company and may exercise any other
right conferred by membership in relation to general meetings by or through any person authorised in such circumstances to do so on his behalf
(and that person may vote by proxy), provided that evidence to the satisfaction of the board of the authority of the person claiming to exercise the
right to vote or such other right has been received by the company not later than the last time at which appointments of proxy should have been
received in order to be valid for use at that meeting or on the holding of that poll.

No Right to Vote where Sums Overdue on Shares

No member shall, unless the board otherwise decides, be entitled in respect of any share held by him to attend or vote (either personally or by
proxy) at any general meeting of the company or to exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to general meetings unless all
calls or other sums presently payable by him in respect of that share have been paid.
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Objections or Errors in Voting

If:

(i)  any objection shall be raised to the qualification of any voter, or

(i) any votes have been counted which ought not to have been counted or which might have been rejected, or
(iii) any votes are not counted which ought to have been counted,

the objection or error shall not vitiate the decision of the meeting or adjourned meeting on any resolution unless it is raised or pointed out at the
meeting or, as the case may be, the adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is given or tendered or at which the error occurs. Any
objection or error shall be referred to the chairman of the meeting and shall only vitiate the decision of the meeting on any resolution if the
chairman decides that the same may have affected the decision of the meeting. The decision of the chairman on such matters shall be conclusive.

Approved Depositaries

Meaning of Approved Depositary

(A) Inthese articles, unless the context otherwise requires, “Approved Depositary” means a person approved by the board and appointed:

@) to hold the company’s shares or any rights or interests in any of the company’s shares; and

(ii) to issue securities, documents of title or other documents which evidence that the holder of them owns or is entitled to receive the
shares, rights or interests held by the Approved Depository,

and shall include a nominee acting for a person appointed to do these things.

(B) The trustees of any scheme or arrangements for or principally for the benefit of employees of the company and its associated companies will
be deemed to be an Approved Depositary for the purposes of these articles unless the board resolves otherwise.

(C) References in these articles to an Approved Depositary or to shares held by it refer only to an Approved Depositary and to its shares held in
its capacity as an Approved Depositary.

Appointment of Approved Depositaries

Subject to these articles and to applicable law, an Approved Depositary may appoint as its proxy or proxies in relation to any ordinary shares
which it holds, anyone it thinks fit and may determine the manner and terms of any such appointment. Each appointment must state the number
and class of shares to which it relates and the total number of shares of
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each class in respect of which appointments exist at any one time, which must not exceed the total number of shares of each such class registered
in the name of the Approved Depositary or its nominee (the “Depositary Shares”) at that time.

Register of Approved Depositaries

The Approved Depositary must keep a register (the “Proxy Register”) of each person it has appointed as a proxy under Article 72 (an
“Appointed Proxy”) and the number of Depositary Shares (his “Appointed Number”) to which the appointment relates. The directors will
determine the requisite information to be recorded in the Proxy Register relating to each Appointed Proxy.

Any person authorised by the company may inspect the Proxy Register during usual business hours and the Approved Depositary will give such
person any information which he requests as to the contents of the Proxy Register.

Approved Depositaries’ Attendance at General Meetings

(A) An Appointed Proxy may only attend a general meeting if he provides the company with written evidence of his appointment as such. This
must be in a form agreed between the directors and the Approved Depositary.

(B) Subject to applicable law and to these articles, and so long as the Approved Depositary or a nominee of the Approved Depositary holds at
least his Appointed Number of shares, an Appointed Proxy is entitled to attend a general meeting which holders of that class of shares are
entitled to attend, and he is entitled to the same rights, and subject to the same obligations, in relation to his Appointed Number of
Depositary Shares as if he had been validly appointed in accordance with Articles 74 to 78 by the registered holder of these shares as its
proxy in relation to those shares.

Proxies of Appointed Depositaries

An Appointed Proxy may appoint another person as his proxy for his Appointed Number of Depositary Shares, provided the appointment is made
and deposited in accordance with Articles 74 to 78. These articles apply to that appointment and to the person so appointed as though those
Depositary Shares were registered in the name of the Appointed Proxy and the appointment was made by him in that capacity. The directors may
require such evidence as they think appropriate to decide that such appointment is effective.

Identifying Appointed Proxies

(A) For the purposes of determining who is entitled as an Appointed Proxy to exercise the rights conferred by Articles 71 and 72 and the
number of Depositary Shares in respect of which a person is to be treated as having been appointed as an Appointed Proxy for these
purposes, the Approved Depositary may decide that the Appointed Proxies who are so entitled are the persons entered in the Proxy Register
at a time and on a date (a “Record Time”) agreed between the Approved Depositary and the company.
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(D)

When a Record Date is decided for a particular purpose:

(1) an Appointed Proxy is to be treated as having been appointed for that purpose for the number and class of shares appearing against
his name in the Proxy Register as at the Record Time; and

(i1) changes to entries in the Proxy Register after the Record Time will be ignored for this purpose.

Except for recognising the rights given in relation to General Meetings by appointments made by Appointed Proxies pursuant to Article 72,
the company is entitled to treat any person entered in the Proxy Register as an Appointed Proxy as the only person (other than the Approved
Depositary) who has any interest in the Depositary Shares in respect of which the Appointed Proxy has been appointed.

At a general meeting the chairman has the final decision as to whether any person has the right to vote or exercise any other right relating to
any Depositary Shares. In any other situation, the directors have the final decision as to whether any person has the right to exercise any
right relating to any Depositary Shares.

Proxies

Appointment of Proxies

The appointment of a proxy shall be in writing signed by the appointor or his duly authorised attorney or, if the appointor is a corporation, shall
either be executed under its seal or signed by an officer, attorney or other person authorised to sign it. If a member appoints more than one proxy
and the proxy forms appointing those proxies would give those proxies the apparent right to exercise votes on behalf of the member in a general
meeting over more shares than are held by the member, then each of those proxy forms will be invalid and none of the proxies so appointed will
be entitled to attend, speak or vote at the relevant general meeting.

Receipt of Proxies

(A) The appointment of a proxy must:

1) in the case of an appointment made in hard copy form, be received at the office (or such other place in the United Kingdom or in the
United States as may be specified by the company for the receipt of appointments of proxy in hard copy form) not less than 48 hours
(or such shorter time as the board may determine) before the time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which
the person named in the appointment proposes to vote together with (if required by the board) any authority under which it is made
or a copy of the authority, certified notarially or in accordance with the Powers of Attorney Act 1971 or in some other manner
approved by the board;

(i1) in the case of an appointment made by electronic means, be received at the address specified by the company for the receipt of
appointments of proxy by electronic means not less than 48 hours (or such shorter time as the board may determine) before the time
appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the appointment proposes
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(B)

(iii)

(iv)

™)

to vote. Any authority pursuant to which such an appointment is made or a copy of the authority, certified notarially or in
accordance with the Powers of Attorney Act 1971 or in some other manner approved by the board, must, if required by the board, be
received at such address or at the office (or such other place in the United Kingdom as may be specified by the company for the
receipt of such documents) not less than 48 hours (or such shorter time as the board may determine) before the time appointed for
holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the appointment proposes to vote;

in the case of an appointment delivered by an Approved Depositary (except in respect of a proxy appointed in accordance with
Article 69) be delivered to the appropriate place referred to in (i) or (ii) above, as appropriate, depending on whether the
appointment is made in hard copy or electronic form;

in the case of a vote taken more than 48 hours subsequently to the date of the meeting or adjourned meeting, be received as aforesaid
not less than 24 hours (or such shorter time as the board may determine) before the time appointed for the taking of the vote; and

in the case of a vote taken not more than 48 hours subsequently to the date of the meeting or adjourned meeting, be received as
aforesaid by the time at which the vote was demanded (or at such later time as the board may determine),

and an appointment of a proxy which is not, or in respect of which the authority or copy thereof is not, received in a manner so permitted
shall be invalid. When two or more valid but differing appointments of a proxy are received in respect of the same share for use at the same
meeting or poll, the one which is last received (regardless of its date or of the date of its signature) shall be treated as replacing and revoking
the others as regards that share; if the company is unable to determine which was last received, none of them shall be treated as valid in
respect of that share. The appointment of a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting in person at the meeting or poll
concerned. The proceedings at a general meeting shall not be invalidated where an appointment of a proxy in respect of that meeting is sent
in electronic form as provided in these articles, but because of a technical problem it cannot be read by the recipient.

The board may at its discretion determine that in calculating the periods mentioned in this article no account shall be taken of any part of a
day that is not a working day.

Maximum Validity of Proxy

No appointment of a proxy shall be valid after 12 months have elapsed from the date of its receipt save that, unless the contrary is stated in it, an
appointment of a proxy shall be valid for use at an adjourned meeting or vote after a meeting or an adjourned meeting even after 12 months, if it
was valid for the original meeting.
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Form of Proxy

The appointment of a proxy shall be in any usual form or in such other form as the board may approve. The appointment of a proxy shall be
deemed to confer authority to vote on any amendment of a resolution put to, or any other business which may properly come before, the meeting
for which it is given as the proxy thinks fit. The appointment of a proxy shall, unless the contrary is stated in it, be valid as well for any
adjournment of the meeting as for the meeting to which it relates.

Cancellation of Proxy’s Authority

A vote given by a proxy or by the duly authorised representative of a corporation shall be valid notwithstanding the previous determination of the
authority of the person voting, unless notice in writing of the determination was received by the company at the office (or such other place or
address as was specified by the company for the receipt of appointments of proxy) not later than the last time at which an appointment of a proxy
should have been received in order to be valid for use at the meeting at which the vote was given.

Class Meetings

Separate General Meetings

The provisions of these articles relating to general meetings shall apply, with any necessary modifications to any separate general meeting of the
holders of shares of a class convened otherwise than in connection with the variation or abrogation of the rights attached to the shares of that class.
For this purpose, a general meeting at which no holder of a share other than an ordinary share may, in his capacity as a member, attend or vote
shall also constitute a separate general meeting of the holders of the ordinary shares.

Appointment, Retirement and Removal of Directors
Number of Directors

Unless otherwise determined by ordinary resolution of the company, the directors (disregarding alternate directors) shall be not less than two nor
more than 24 in number.

Directors’ Shareholding Qualification

No shareholding qualification for directors shall be required.

Power of Company to Appoint Directors

Subject to the provisions of these articles, the company may by ordinary resolution elect any person who is willing to act to be a director, either to
fill a vacancy or as an addition to the existing board, but so that the total number of directors shall not at any time exceed any maximum number
fixed by or in accordance with these articles.
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Power of Board to Appoint Directors

Subject to the provisions of these articles, the board may appoint any person who is willing to act to be a director, either to fill a vacancy or as an
addition to the existing board, but so that the total number of directors shall not at any time exceed any maximum number fixed by or in
accordance with these articles. Any director so appointed shall retire at the next annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for
re-appointment.

Annual Retirement of Directors

At every annual general meeting each of the directors shall retire from office and may offer himself for re-appointment by the members.

Filling Vacancies

Subject to the provisions of these articles, at the meeting at which a director retires the company can pass an ordinary resolution to re-appoint the
director or to elect some other eligible person in his place.

Power of Removal by Special Resolution

In addition to any power of removal conferred by the Companies Acts, the company may by special resolution remove any director before the
expiration of his period of office and may (subject to these articles) by ordinary resolution appoint another person who is willing to act to be a
director in his place.

Persons Eligible as Directors
No person other than a director retiring at the meeting shall be appointed or re-appointed a director at any general meeting unless:
(1)  he is recommended by the board; or

(i) not less than seven nor more than 42 days before the day appointed for the meeting, notice in writing by a member qualified to vote at the
meeting (not being the person to be proposed) has been given to the secretary of the intention to propose that person for appointment or
re-appointment together with confirmation in writing by that person of his willingness to be appointed or re-appointed.

Position of Retiring Directors

A director who retires at an annual general meeting may, if willing to continue to act, be reappointed. If he is re-appointed he is treated as
continuing in office throughout. If he is not re-appointed, he shall retain office until the end of the meeting or (if earlier) when a resolution is
passed to appoint someone in his place or when a resolution to re-appoint the director is put to the meeting and lost.
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Vacation of Office by Directors

Without prejudice to the provisions for retirement contained in these articles, the office of a director shall be vacated if:

(@)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

V)

(vi)

he resigns his office by notice in writing sent to or received at the office or at an address specified by the company for the purposes of
communication by electronic means or tendered at a meeting of the board; or

by notice in writing sent to or received at the office or at an address specified by the company for the purposes of communication by
electronic means or tendered at a meeting of the board, he offers to resign and the board resolves to accept such offer; or

by notice in writing sent to or received at the office or at an address specified by the company for the purposes of communication by
electronic means or tendered at a meeting of the board, his resignation is requested by all of the other directors and all of the other directors
are not less than three in number; or

he is or has been suffering from mental or physical ill health and the board resolves that his office is vacated; or

he is absent without the permission of the board from meetings of the board (whether or not an alternate director appointed by him attends)
for six consecutive months and the board resolves that his office is vacated; or

he becomes bankrupt or compounds with his creditors generally; or

(vii) he is prohibited by law from being a director; or

(viii) he ceases to be a director by virtue of the Companies Acts or is removed from office pursuant to these articles.

If the office of a director is vacated for any reason, he shall cease to be a member of any committee or sub-committee of the board.

Alternate Directors

(A)

Each director may appoint any person to be his alternate and may at his discretion remove an alternate director so appointed. If the alternate
director is not already a director, the appointment, unless previously approved by the board, shall have effect only upon and subject to its
being so approved. Any appointment or removal of an alternate director shall be effected by notice in writing signed by the appointor and
sent to or received at the office or at an address specified by the company for the purpose of communication by electronic means or tendered
at a meeting of the board, or in any other manner approved by the board. An alternate director shall be entitled to receive notice of all
meetings of the board or of committees of the board of which his appointor is a member. He shall also be entitled to attend and vote as a
director at any such meeting at which the director appointing him is not personally present and at such meeting to exercise and discharge all
the functions, powers,
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rights and duties of his appointor as a director and for the purposes of the proceedings at such meeting the provisions of these articles shall
apply as if he were a director.

Every person acting as an alternate director shall (except as regards power to appoint an alternate and remuneration) be subject in all
respects to the provisions of these articles relating to directors and shall during his appointment be an officer of the company. An alternate
director shall alone be responsible to the company for his acts and defaults and shall not be deemed to be the agent of or for the director
appointing him. An alternate director may be paid expenses and shall be entitled to be indemnified by the company to the same extent as if
he were a director. An alternate director shall not be entitled to receive from the company any fee in his capacity as an alternate director but
the company shall, if so requested in writing by the appointor, pay to the alternate director any part of the fees or remuneration otherwise
due to the appointor.

A director or any other person may act as an alternate director to represent more than one director. Every person acting as an alternate
director shall have one vote for each director for whom he acts as alternate, in addition to his own vote if he is also a director but he shall
count as only one for the purposes of determining whether a quorum is present. Signature by an alternate director of any resolution in
writing of the board or a committee of the board shall, unless the notice of his appointment provides to the contrary, be as effective as
signature by his appointor.

An alternate director shall cease to be an alternate director:

1) if his appointor ceases for any reason to be a director except that, if at any meeting any director retires but is re-appointed at the
same meeting, any appointment made by him pursuant to this article which was in force immediately before his retirement shall
remain in force as though he had not retired; or

(i1) on the happening of any event which if he were a director would cause him to vacate his office as director; or

(iii)  if he resigns his office by notice in writing to the company.

Executive Directors

The board or any committee authorised by the board may from time to time appoint one or more directors to hold any employment or executive
office with the company for such period and upon such other terms as the board or any committee authorised by the board may in its discretion
decide and may revoke or terminate any appointment so made. Any revocation or termination of the appointment shall be without prejudice to any
claim for damages that the director may have against the company or the company may have against the director for any breach of any contract of
service between him and the company which may be involved in the revocation or termination. A director so appointed shall receive such
remuneration (whether by way of salary, commission, participation in profits or otherwise) as the board or any committee authorised by the board
may decide, and either in addition to or in lieu of his remuneration as a director.
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Fees, Remuneration, Expenses and Pensions

Directors’ Fees

(A) The directors can decide on the amount, timing and manner of payment of fees to be paid by the company to the directors for acting as

B

©

directors, but the total fees paid to all of the directors for acting as directors (including amounts paid under Article 93(ii) to 93(v) but
excluding any amounts paid under any other provision of these articles) shall not exceed the higher of:

(i) £3 million a year; and
(ii) any higher amount as the company may by ordinary resolution decide.
These fees can be satisfied in cash or in any other form.

If the directors decide to satisfy any of these fees in shares or in any other non-cash form, the value of the shares or other assets to be
counted towards this limit will be their value at the time the entitlement to them is first allocated, or provisionally allocated, to the director.
This value will be taken into account for the purpose of the limit in the year in which the entitlement is first allocated, or provisionally
allocated, and not in any later year when the fees, shares or other assets are actually paid or delivered to the director. This paragraph applies
even if:

(1) the director’s entitlement to the fees, or to receive the assets, is subject to conditions which will, or may, be fulfilled at a later time;

(ii) the fees, shares or other assets are to be, or may be, paid or delivered to the director at a later time or the director elects, agrees or is
required to receive the cash equivalent of the shares or other assets as determined by reference to their value at such later time;

(iii)  the company has not paid for the relevant shares or other assets at the time the director first becomes, or becomes provisionally,
entitled to them, and their value subsequently changes.

Unless an ordinary resolution is passed saying otherwise, the fees will be divided between some or all of the directors in the way that they
decide. If they fail to decide, the fees will be shared equally by the directors, except that any director holding office as a director for only
part of the period covered by the fee is only entitled to a pro rata share covering that part period.

Additional Remuneration

The directors can award special pay to any director who:

(M)
(i)

holds any executive post;

acts as chairman;
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(iii) acts as senior independent director;

(iv) acts as a scientific/medical expert on the board,

(v) is chairman of, or serves on, any committee of the directors; or

(vi) performs any other services which the directors consider to extend beyond the ordinary duties of a director.

Special pay can take the form of salary, commission or other benefits or can be paid in some other way. This is decided on by the directors.

Expenses

(A) Each director may be paid his reasonable travelling, hotel and incidental expenses of attending and returning from meetings of the board or
committees of the board or general meetings of the company or any other meeting which as a director he is entitled to attend and shall be
paid all other costs and expenses properly and reasonably incurred by him in the conduct of the company’s business or in the discharge of
his duties as a director. The company may also fund a director’s or former director’s expenditure for the purposes permitted under the
Companies Acts and may do anything to enable a director or former director of the company to avoid incurring such expenditure as
provided in the Companies Acts.

(B) The directors can award extra pay to any director who, at the request of the directors, performs special services or goes or lives abroad for
any purposes of the company.

Pensions and Gratuities for Directors

The board or any committee authorised by the board may exercise all the powers of the company to provide benefits, either by the payment of
gratuities or pensions or by insurance or in any other manner whether similar to the foregoing or not, for any director or former director or the
relations, or dependants of, or persons connected to, any director or former director, provided that no benefits (except such as may be provided for
by any other article) may be granted to or in respect of a director or former director who has not been employed by, or held an executive office or
place of profit under, the company or any body corporate which is or has been its subsidiary undertaking or any predecessor in business of the
company or any such body corporate without the approval of an ordinary resolution of the company. No director or former director shall be
accountable to the company or the members for any benefit provided pursuant to this article and the receipt of any such benefit shall not disqualify
any person from being or becoming a director of the company.
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Directors’ Interests

Conflicts of interest requiring board authorisation

(A) The board may, subject to the quorum and voting requirements set out in this article, authorise any matter which would otherwise involve a
director breaching his duty under the Companies Acts to avoid conflicts of interest (“Conflict”).

(B)

©

D)

A director seeking authorisation in respect of a Conflict shall declare to the board the nature and extent of his interest in a Conflict as soon
as is reasonably practicable. The director shall provide the board with such details of the relevant matter as are necessary for the board to
decide how to address the Conflict together with such additional information as may be requested by the board.

Any director (including the relevant director) may propose that the relevant director be authorised in relation to any matter the subject of a
Conflict. Such proposal and any authority given by the board shall be effected in the same way that any other matter may be proposed to
and resolved upon by the board under the provisions of these articles save that:

(M)

(i)

the relevant director and any other director with a similar interest shall not count towards the quorum nor vote on any resolution
giving such authority; and

the relevant director and any other director with a similar interest may, if the other members of the board so decide, be excluded
from any board meeting while the Conflict is under consideration.

Where the board gives authority in relation to a Conflict, or where any of the situations described in Article 97(B) apply in relation to a
director (“Relevant Situation”):

@@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

the board may (whether at the relevant time or subsequently) (a) require that the relevant director is excluded from the receipt of
information, the participation in discussion and/or the making of decisions (whether at meetings of the board or otherwise) related to
the Conflict or Relevant Situation; and (b) impose upon the relevant director such other terms for the purpose of dealing with the
Conflict or Relevant Situation as it may determine;

the relevant director will be obliged to conduct himself in accordance with any terms imposed by the board in relation to the Conflict
or Relevant Situation;

the board may provide that where the relevant director obtains (otherwise than through his position as a director of the company)
information that is confidential to a third party, the director will not be obliged to disclose that information to the company, or to use
or apply the information in relation to the company’s affairs, where to do so would amount to a breach of that confidence;

the terms of the authority shall be recorded in writing (but the authority shall be effective whether or not the terms are so recorded);
and
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(v) the board may revoke or vary such authority at any time but this will not affect anything done by the relevant director prior to such
revocation in accordance with the terms of such authority.

Other conflicts of interest

(A) Ifadirector is in any way directly or indirectly interested in a proposed contract with the company or a contract that has been entered into
by the company, he must declare the nature and extent of that interest to the directors in accordance with the Companies Acts.

(B) Provided he has declared his interest in accordance with paragraph (A), a director may:
(1) be party to, or otherwise interested in, any contract with the company or in which the company has a direct or indirect interest;

(i1) hold any other office or place of profit with the company (except that of auditor) in conjunction with his office of director for such
period and upon such terms, including as to remuneration, as the board may decide;

(iii)  act by himself or through a firm with which he is associated in a professional capacity for the company or any other company in
which the company may be interested (otherwise than as auditor);

(iv)  be or become a director or other officer of, or employed by or otherwise be interested in any holding company or subsidiary
company of the company or any other company in which the company may be interested; and

) be or become a director of any other company in which the company does not have an interest and which cannot reasonably be
regarded as giving rise to a conflict of interest at the time of his appointment as a director of that other company.

Benefits

A director shall not, by reason of his office or of the fiduciary relationship thereby established, be liable to account to the company or the
members for any remuneration, profit or other benefit realised by reason of his having any type of interest authorised under Article 96(A) or
permitted under Article 97(B) and no contract shall be liable to be avoided on the grounds of a director having any type of interest authorised

under Article 96(A) or permitted under Article 97(B).

Quorum and voting requirements

(A) A director shall not vote on or be counted in the quorum in relation to any resolution of the board concerning his own appointment, or the
settlement or variation of the terms or the termination of his own appointment, as the holder of any office or place of profit with the
company or any other company in which the company is interested.
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(B) Where proposals are under consideration concerning the appointment, or the settlement or variation of the terms or the termination of the
appointment, of two or more directors to offices or places of profit with the company or any other company in which the company is
interested, a separate resolution may be put in relation to each director and in that case each of the directors concerned shall be entitled to
vote and be counted in the quorum in respect of each resolution unless it concerns his own appointment or the settlement or variation of the
terms or the termination of his own appointment or the appointment of another director to an office or place of profit with a company in
which the company is interested and the director seeking to vote or be counted in the quorum has a Relevant Interest in it.

©

A director shall not vote on, or be counted in the quorum in relation to, any resolution of the board in respect of any contract in which he has
an interest and, if he shall do so, his vote shall not be counted, but this prohibition shall not apply to any resolution where that interest
cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a conflict of interest or where that interest arises only from one or more of the
following matters:

®

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

™

vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the giving to him of any guarantee, indemnity or security in respect of money lent or obligations undertaken by him or by any other
person at the request of or for the benefit of the company or any of its subsidiary undertakings;

the giving to a third party of any guarantee, indemnity or security in respect of a debt or obligation of the company or any of its
subsidiary undertakings for which he himself has assumed responsibility in whole or in part under a guarantee or indemnity or by the
giving of security;

the giving to him of any other indemnity where all other directors are also being offered indemnities on substantially the same terms;

the funding by the company of his expenditure on defending proceedings or the doing by the company of anything to enable him to
avoid incurring such expenditure where all other directors are being offered substantially the same arrangements;

where the company or any of its subsidiary undertakings is offering securities in which offer the director is or may be entitled to
participate as a holder of securities or in the underwriting or sub-underwriting of which the director is to participate;

any contract in which he is interested by virtue of his interest in shares or debentures or other securities of the company or by reason
of any other interest in or through the company;

any contract concerning any other company (not being a company in which the director has a Relevant Interest) in which he is
interested directly or indirectly whether as an officer, shareholder, creditor or otherwise howsoever;

any contract concerning the adoption, modification or operation of a pension fund, superannuation or similar scheme or retirement,
death or disability benefits scheme or employees’ share scheme which relates both to directors
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and employees of the company or of any of its subsidiary undertakings and does not provide in respect of any director as such any
privilege or advantage not accorded to the employees to which the fund or scheme relates;

(ix)  any contract for the benefit of employees of the company or of any of its subsidiary undertakings under which he benefits in a
similar manner to the employees and which does not accord to any director as such any privilege or advantage not accorded to the
employees to whom the contract relates; and

(x) any contract for the purchase or maintenance of insurance against any liability for, or for the benefit of, any director or directors or
for, or for the benefit of, persons who include directors.

A company shall be deemed to be one in which a director has a Relevant Interest if and so long as (but only if and so long as) he is to his
knowledge (either directly or indirectly) the holder of or beneficially interested in one per cent. or more of any class of the equity share
capital of that company (calculated exclusive of any shares of that class in that company held as treasury shares) or of the voting rights
available to members of that company. In relation to an alternate director, an interest of his appointor shall be treated as an interest of the
alternate director without prejudice to any interest which the alternate director has otherwise.

Where a company in which a director has a Relevant Interest is interested in a contract, he also shall be deemed interested in that contract.

If any question shall arise at any meeting of the board as to the interest of a director (other than the chairman of the meeting) in a contract
and whether it is likely to give rise to a conflict of interest or as to the entitlement of any director (other than the chairman of the meeting) to
vote or be counted in the quorum and the question is not resolved by his voluntarily agreeing to abstain from voting or not to be counted in
the quorum, the question shall be referred to the chairman of the meeting and his ruling in relation to the director concerned shall be
conclusive except in a case where the nature or extent of the director’s interest (so far as it is known to him) has not been fairly disclosed to
the board. If any question shall arise in respect of the chairman of the meeting, the question shall be decided by a resolution of the board (for
which purpose the chairman of the meeting shall be counted in the quorum but shall not vote on the matter) and the resolution shall be
conclusive except in a case where the nature or extent of the interest of the chairman of the meeting (so far as it is known to him) has not
been fairly disclosed to the board.

Subject to these articles, the board may also cause any voting power conferred by the shares in any other company held or owned by the
company or any power of appointment to be exercised in such manner in all respects as it thinks fit, including the exercise of the voting
power or power of appointment in favour of the appointment of the directors or any of them as directors or officers of the other company, or
in favour of the payment of remuneration to the directors or officers of the other company. Subject to these articles, a director may also vote
on and be counted in the quorum in relation to any of such matters.
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100. General
(A) References in Articles 96 to 99 to:

(1) a contract include references to any proposed contract and to any transaction or arrangement or proposed transaction or arrangement
whether or not constituting a contract; and

(i1) a conflict of interest include a conflict of interest and duty and a conflict of duties.

(B) The company may by ordinary resolution suspend or relax the provisions of Articles 95 to 98 to any extent or ratify any contract not
properly authorised by reason of a contravention of any of the provisions of Articles 96 to 99.

Powers and Duties of the Board

101. General Powers of Company Vested in Board

Subject to the these articles and to any directions given by the company in general meeting by special resolution, the business of the company
shall be managed by the board which may exercise all the powers of the company whether relating to the management of the business of the
company or not. No alteration of these articles and no special resolution shall invalidate any prior act of the board which would have been valid if
that alteration had not been made or that resolution had not been passed. The powers given by this article shall not be limited by any special power
given to the board by any other article.

102. Borrowing Powers
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, the directors may exercise all the powers of the company:
(i)  to borrow money;
(i) to mortgage or charge all or any of the company’s undertaking, property (present and future) and uncalled capital;
(iii) to issue debentures and other securities; and

(iv) to give security either outright or as collateral security for any debt, liability or obligation of the company or of any third party.

103. Agents

(A) The board can appoint anyone as the company’s attorney by granting a power of attorney or by authorising them in some other way.
Attorneys can either be appointed directly by the board or the board can give someone else the power to select attorneys. The board or the
persons who are authorised by it to select attorneys can decide on the purposes, powers, authorities and discretions of attorneys. But they
cannot give an attorney any power, authority or discretion which the board does not have under these articles.
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105.

(B) The board can decide how long a power of attorney will last for and attach any conditions to it. The power of attorney can include any
provisions which the board decides on for the protection and convenience of anybody dealing with the attorney. The power of attorney can
allow the attorney to grant any or all of his power, authority or discretion to any other person.

(C) The board can:
(i) delegate any of its authority, powers or discretions to any manager or agent of the company;
(ii) allow managers or agents to delegate to another person;
(iii)  remove any people it has appointed in any of these ways; and

(iv)  cancel or change anything that it has delegated, although this will not affect anybody who acts in good faith who has not had any
notice of any cancellation or change.

(D) Any appointment or delegation by the board which is referred to in this article can be on any conditions decided on by the board.

(E) The ability of the board to delegate under this article applies to all its powers and is not limited because certain articles refer to powers being
exercised by the board or by a committee authorised by the board while other articles do not.

Delegation to Individual Directors

The board may entrust to and confer upon any director any of its powers, authorities and discretions (with power to sub-delegate) upon such terms
and conditions and with such restrictions as it thinks fit, and either collaterally with, or to the exclusion of, its own powers, authorities and
discretions and may from time to time revoke or vary all or any of them but no person dealing in good faith and without notice of the revocation
or variation shall be affected by it. The power to delegate contained in this article shall be effective in relation to the powers, authorities and
discretions of the board generally and shall not be limited by the fact that in certain articles, but not in others, express reference is made to
particular powers, authorities or discretions being exercised by the board or by a committee authorised by the board.

Registers

The company may keep an overseas or local or other register in any place and the board may make and vary such regulations as it may think fit
respecting the keeping of the register.
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Provision for Employees

The board may exercise any power conferred by the Companies Acts to make provision for the benefit of persons employed or formerly employed
by the company or any of its subsidiaries in connection with the cessation or the transfer to any person of the whole or part of the undertaking of
the company or that subsidiary.

Proceedings of the Board

Board Meetings

The board may meet for the despatch of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate its meetings as it thinks fit. A director at any time may, and the
secretary on the requisition of a director at any time shall, summon a board meeting.

Notice of Board Meetings

Notice of a board meeting shall be deemed to be properly given to a director if it is given to him personally or by word of mouth or sent in writing
to him at his last known address or any other address given by him to the company for this purpose. A director may waive his entitlement to notice
of any meeting either prospectively or retrospectively and any retrospective waiver shall not affect the validity of the meeting or of any business
conducted at the meeting.

Quorum

The quorum necessary for the transaction of the business of the board may be fixed by the board and, unless so fixed at any other number, shall be
two. Subject to the provisions of these articles, any director who ceases to be a director at a board meeting may continue to be present and to act as
a director and be counted in the quorum until the termination of the board meeting if no other director objects and if otherwise a quorum of
directors would not be present.

Directors below Minimum through Vacancies

The continuing directors or a sole continuing director may act notwithstanding any vacancy in their number but, if and so long as the number of
directors is reduced below the minimum number fixed by or in accordance with these articles or is below the number fixed by or in accordance
with these articles as the quorum or there is only one continuing director, the continuing directors or director may act for the purpose of filling
vacancies or of summoning general meetings of the company but not for any other purpose. If there are no directors or director able or willing to
act, then any two members (excluding any member holding shares as treasury shares) may summon a general meeting for the purpose of
appointing directors.

Appointment of Chairman

The board may appoint a director to be the chairman or a deputy chairman of the board, and may at any time remove him from that office. The
chairman of the board or failing him a deputy chairman shall act as chairman at every meeting of the board. If more than one deputy chairman is
present they shall agree amongst themselves who is to take the chair
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or, if they cannot agree, the deputy chairman who has been in office as a director longest shall take the chair. But if no chairman of the board or
deputy chairman is appointed, or if at any meeting neither the chairman nor any deputy chairman is present within five minutes after the time
appointed for holding the meeting, the directors present may choose one of their number to be chairman of the meeting. References in these
articles to a deputy chairman include, if no one has been appointed to that title, a person appointed to a position with another title which the board
designates as equivalent to the position of deputy chairman.

Competence of Meetings

A meeting of the board at which a quorum is present shall be competent to exercise all the powers, authorities and discretions vested in or
exercisable by the board.

Voting

Questions arising at any meeting shall be determined by a majority of votes. In the case of an equality of votes the chairman of the meeting shall
have a second or casting vote.

Delegation to Committees

(A) The board may delegate any of its powers, authorities and discretions (with power to sub-delegate) to any committee, consisting of such
person or persons (whether a member or members of its body or not) as it thinks fit, provided that the majority of persons on any committee
or sub-committee must be directors. References in these articles to committees include sub-committees permitted under this article.

(B) Any committee so formed shall, in the exercise of the powers, authorities and discretions so delegated, conform to any regulations which
may be imposed on it by the board. The meetings and proceedings of any committee consisting of two or more members shall be governed
by the provisions contained in these articles for regulating the meetings and proceedings of the board so far as the same are applicable and
are not superseded by any regulations imposed by the board.

(C) The power to delegate contained in this article shall be effective in relation to the powers, authorities and discretions of the board generally
and shall not be limited by the fact that in certain articles, but not in others, express reference is made to particular powers, authorities or
discretions being exercised by the board or by a committee authorised by the board.

Participation in Meetings

All or any of the members of the board may participate in a meeting of the board by means of a conference telephone or any communication
equipment which allows all persons participating in the meeting to speak to and hear each other or by a series of telephone calls from the chairman
of the meeting. A person so participating shall be deemed to be present in person at the meeting and shall be entitled to vote and be counted in a
quorum accordingly. Any such meeting will be treated as taking place where the chairman is located.
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Resolution in Writing

A resolution in writing signed by all the directors who are at the relevant time entitled to receive notice of a meeting of the board and who would
be entitled to vote on the resolution at a meeting of the board (if that number is sufficient to constitute a quorum) shall be as valid and effectual as
a resolution passed at a meeting of the board properly called and constituted. The resolution may be contained in one document or in several
documents in like form each signed by one or more of the directors concerned.

Validity of Acts of Board or Committee

All acts done by the board or by any committee or by any person acting as a director or member of a committee shall, notwithstanding that it is
afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of any member of the board or committee or person so acting or that they or
any of them were disqualified from holding office or had vacated office or were not entitled to vote, be as valid as if each such member or person
had been properly appointed and was qualified and had continued to be a director or member of the committee and had been entitled to vote.

Seals

Use of Seals

The board shall provide for the custody of every seal of the company. A seal shall only be used by the authority of the board or of a committee of
the board authorised by the board in that behalf. Subject as otherwise provided in these articles, and to any resolution of the board or committee of
the board dispensing with the requirement for any counter-signature on any occasion, any instrument to which the common seal is applied shall be
signed by at least one director and the secretary, or by at least two directors or by one director in the presence of a witness who attests the
signature or by such other person or persons as the board may approve. Any instrument to which an official seal is applied need not, unless the
board otherwise decides or the law otherwise requires, be signed by any person.

Dividends and Other Payments

Declaration of Dividends by Company

The company may by ordinary resolution from time to time declare dividends in accordance with the respective rights of the members, but no
dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the board.

Payment of Interim and Fixed Dividends by Board

The board may pay such interim dividends as appear to the board to be justified by the financial position of the company and may also pay any
dividend payable at a fixed rate at intervals settled by the board whenever the financial position of the company, in the opinion of the board,
justifies its payment. If the board acts in good faith, it shall not incur any liability to the holders of any shares for any loss they may suffer in
consequence of the payment of an interim or fixed dividend on any other class of shares ranking pari passu with or after those shares.
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121. Calculation and Currency of Dividends
(A) Except in so far as the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any share otherwise provide:

(1) all dividends shall be declared and paid according to the amounts paid up on the share in respect of which the dividend is paid, but
no amount paid up on a share in advance of calls shall be treated for the purposes of this article as paid up on the share;

(i1) all dividends shall be apportioned and paid pro rata according to the amounts paid up on the share during any portion or portions of
the period in respect of which the dividend is paid; and

(iii)  dividends may be declared or paid in any currency.
(B) The board may decide the basis of conversion for any currency conversions that may be required and how any costs involved are to be met.

(C) The board may also decide that a particular Approved Depositary should be able to receive dividends in a currency other than the currency
in which it is declared and may make arrangements accordingly. In particular, if an Approved Depositary has chosen or agreed to receive
dividends in another currency, the directors may make arrangements with that Approved Depositary for payment to be made to them for
value on the date on which the relevant dividend is paid, or a later date decided on by the directors.

122. Amounts Due on Shares may be Deducted from Dividends

The board may deduct from any dividend or other moneys payable to a member by the company on or in respect of any shares all sums of money
(if any) presently payable by him to the company on account of calls or otherwise in respect of shares of the company. Sums so deducted can be
used to pay amounts owing to the company in respect of the shares.

123. No Interest on Dividends

Subject to the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any shares, no dividend or other moneys payable by the company on or in respect of any
share shall bear interest against the company.

124. Payment Procedure
(A) Any dividend or other sum payable in cash by the company in respect of a share may be paid:

1) by inter-bank transfer or by other electronic means (including payment through CREST) directly to an account with a bank or other
financial institution (or other organisations operating deposit accounts if allowed by the company) named in a written instruction
from the persons entitled to receive the payment under this article;
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(D)

(i)
(iii)

(iv)

by sending a cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument by post addressed to the holder at his registered address;

by sending a cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument payable to someone else named in a written instruction from the
shareholder (or all joint shareholders) and sent by post to the address specified in that instruction; or

in some other way requested in writing by the shareholder (or all joint shareholders) and agreed with the company.

In respect of payment of any dividend or other money, the directors can decide and notify shareholders that:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

If:
()

(i)

one or more of the payment means described in paragraph (A) above will be used for payment and, where more than one means will
be used, a shareholder (or all joint shareholders) may elect to receive payment by one of the means so notified in the manner
prescribed by the directors;

one or more of such means will be used for the payment unless a shareholder (or all joint shareholders) elects for another means of
payment in the manner prescribed by the directors; or

one or more of such means will be used for the payment and that shareholders will not be able to elect to receive the payment by any
other means.

a shareholder (or all joint shareholders) does not specify an address, or does not specify an account of a type prescribed by the
directors, or does not specify other details, and in each case that information is necessary in order to make payment of the dividend
or other money in the way in which under this article the directors have decided that the payment is to be made or by which the
shareholder (or all joint shareholders) has validly elected to receive the payment; or

payment cannot be made by the company using the information provided by the shareholder (or all joint shareholders),

then the dividend or other money will be treated as unclaimed for the purposes of these articles.

For joint shareholders or persons jointly entitled to shares by law, payment can be made to the shareholder whose name stands first in the
register. The company can then rely on a receipt for a dividend or other money paid on shares from any one of them on behalf of them all.
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(E) Cheques, warrants and similar financial instruments are sent, and payment in any other way is made, at the risk of the person who is entitled
to the money. The company is treated as having paid a dividend if the cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument is cleared or if a
payment is made through CREST, bank transfer or other electronic means. The company will not be responsible for any payment which is
lost or delayed.

(F)  Where a person is entitled by transmission to a share, any dividend or other sum payable by the company in respect of the share may be paid
as if he were a holder of the share and his address noted in the register were his registered address and where two or more persons are so
entitled, any one of them may give effectual receipts for any dividends or other moneys payable or property distributable on or in respect of
the shares.

Uncashed Dividends

The company may cease to send any cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument through the post or to employ any other means of payment,
including payment by means of a relevant system, for any dividend payable on any shares in the company which is normally paid in that manner
on those shares if in respect of at least two consecutive dividends payable on those shares the cheques, warrants or similar financial instruments
have been returned undelivered or remain uncashed during or at the end of the period for which the same are valid or that means of payment has
failed. In addition, the company may cease to send any cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument through the post or may cease to employ
any other means of payment if, in respect of one dividend payable on those shares, the cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument has been
returned undelivered or remains uncashed during or at the end of the period for which the same is valid or that means of payment has failed and
reasonable enquiries have failed to establish any new postal address or account of the holder. Subject to the provisions of these articles, the
company must recommence sending cheques, warrants or similar financial instruments or employing such other means in respect of dividends
payable on those shares if the holder or person entitled by transmission requests such recommencement in writing.

Forfeiture of Unclaimed Dividends

All dividends or other sums payable on or in respect of any shares which remain unclaimed may be invested or otherwise made use of by the
board for the benefit of the company until claimed. Any dividend or other sum unclaimed after a period of 12 years from the date when it was
declared or became due for payment shall be forfeited and shall revert to the company unless the board decides otherwise and the payment by the
board of any unclaimed dividend or other sum payable on or in respect of a share into a separate account shall not constitute the company a trustee
in respect of it.

Dividends Not in Cash

Any general meeting declaring a dividend may, upon the recommendation of the board, by ordinary resolution direct, and the board may in
relation to any interim dividend direct, that it shall be satisfied wholly or partly by the distribution of assets, and in particular of paid up shares or
debentures of any other company, and where any difficulty arises in regard to the distribution the board may settle it as it thinks expedient, and in
particular may authorise
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any person to sell and transfer any fractions or may ignore fractions altogether, and may fix the value for distribution purposes of any assets or any
part thereof to be distributed and may determine that cash shall be paid to any members upon the footing of the value so fixed in order to secure
equality of distribution and may vest any assets to be distributed in trustees as may seem expedient to the board.

Scrip Dividends and Dividend Plans Generally

The board may, if authorised by an ordinary resolution of the company, offer any holders of ordinary shares (excluding any member holding
shares as treasury shares) the right to elect to receive ordinary shares, credited as fully paid, instead of cash in respect of the whole (or some part,
to be determined by the board) of any dividend specified by the ordinary resolution. The following provisions shall apply:

(M)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

an ordinary resolution may specify some or all of a particular dividend (whether or not already declared) or may specify some or all of any
dividends declared or paid within a specified period, but such period may not end later than the third anniversary of the date of the meeting
at which the ordinary resolution is passed;

the entitlement of each holder of ordinary shares to new ordinary shares shall be such that the relevant value of the entitlement shall be as
nearly as possible equal to (but not greater than) the cash amount (disregarding any tax credit) of the dividend that such holder elects to
forgo. For this purpose “relevant value” shall be calculated by reference to the average of the middle market quotations for the company’s
ordinary shares on the London Stock Exchange as derived from the Daily Official List (or any other publication of a recognised investment
exchange showing quotations for the company’s ordinary shares) on such five consecutive dealing days as the board shall determine
provided that the first of such days shall be on or after the day on which the ordinary shares are first quoted “ex” the relevant dividend or in
such other manner as may be determined by or in accordance with the ordinary resolution. A certificate or report by the auditors as to the
amount of the relevant value in respect of any dividend shall be conclusive evidence of that amount and in giving such a certificate or report
the auditors may rely on advice or information from brokers or other sources of information as they think fit;

no fraction of any ordinary share shall be allotted. The board may make such provisions as it thinks fit for any fractional entitlements
including provisions whereby, in whole or in part, the benefit thereof accrues to the company and/or under which fractional entitlements are
accrued and/or retained without interest and in each case accumulated on behalf of any holder of ordinary shares and such accruals or
retentions are applied to the allotment by way of bonus to or cash subscription on behalf of such holder of fully paid ordinary shares and/or
provisions whereby cash payments may be made to such holders in respect of their fractional entitlements;

the board, if it intends to offer an election in respect of any dividend, shall give notice to the holders of ordinary shares of the right of
election offered to them, and specify the procedure to be followed which, for the avoidance of doubt, may include an election by means of a
relevant system and the place at which, and the latest time by which, elections must be lodged in order for elections to be effective; no such
notice need be given to holders of ordinary shares who have previously given election
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V)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

x)

mandates in accordance with this article and whose mandates have not been revoked; the accidental omission to give notice of any right of
election to, or the non receipt (even if the company becomes aware of such non-receipt) of any such notice by, any holder of ordinary shares
entitled to the same shall neither invalidate any offer of an election nor give rise to any claim, suit or action;

the board shall not proceed with any election unless the company has sufficient reserves or funds that may be capitalised, and the board has
authority to allot sufficient shares, to give effect to it after the basis of allotment is determined;

the board may exclude or restrict from any offer any shareholder who is an Approved Depositary or a nominee for an Approved Depositary
if the offer or exercise of the right to or by the persons on whose behalf the Approved Depositary holds the shares would suffer legal or
practical problems of the kind mentioned in Article 128(vii). If other shareholders (other than those excluded under Article 128(vii)) have
the right to opt for new shares, the directors must be satisfied that an appropriate dividend reinvestment plan or similar arrangement is
available to a substantial majority of the people on whose behalf the Approved Depositary holds shares or that such arrangement will be
available promptly and the first sentence of this Article 128(vi) does not apply until the directors are satisfied of this;

the board may exclude from any offer or make other arrangement in relation to any holders of ordinary shares where the board believes that
such exclusion or arrangement is necessary or expedient in relation to legal or practical problems under the laws of, or the requirements of
any recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange in, any territory, or the board believes that for any other reason the offer should not
be made to them,;

the dividend (or that part of the dividend in respect of which a right of election has been offered) shall not be payable on ordinary shares in
respect of which an election has been made (for the purposes of this article “the elected ordinary shares”) and instead additional ordinary
shares shall be allotted to the holders of the elected ordinary shares on the basis of allotment calculated as stated. For such purpose the board
shall capitalise, out of any amount standing to the credit of any reserve or fund (including the retained earnings) at the relevant time whether
or not the same is available for distribution as the board may determine, a sum equal to the aggregate nominal amount of the additional
ordinary shares to be allotted on that basis and apply it in paying up in full the appropriate number of ordinary shares for allotment and
distribution to the holders of the elected ordinary shares on that basis. The board may do all acts and things considered necessary or
expedient to give effect to any such capitalisation;

the additional ordinary shares when allotted shall rank pari passu in all respects with the fully-paid ordinary shares then in issue except that
they will not be entitled to participation in the relevant dividend;

unless the board otherwise determines, or unless the uncertificated securities rules otherwise require, the new ordinary share or shares which
a member has elected to receive instead of cash in respect of the whole (or some part) of the specified dividend declared or paid in respect
of his elected ordinary shares shall be in
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uncertificated form (in respect of the member’s elected ordinary shares which were in uncertificated form on the date of the member’s
election) and in certificated form (in respect of the member’s elected ordinary shares which were in certificated form on the date of the
member’s election);

(xi) the board may also from time to time establish or vary a procedure for election mandates, which, for the avoidance of doubt, may include an
election by means of a relevant system, under which a holder of ordinary shares may elect in respect of future rights of election offered to
that holder under this article until the election mandate is revoked or deemed to be revoked in accordance with the procedure;

(xii) the board may decide how any costs relating to making new shares available in place of a cash dividend will be met, including deciding to
deduct an amount from the entitlement of a shareholder under this article; and

(xiii) at any time before new ordinary shares are allotted instead of cash in respect of any part of a dividend, the board may determine that such
new ordinary shares will not be allotted. Any such determination may be made before or after any election has been made by holders of
ordinary shares in respect of the relevant dividend.

Capitalisation of Reserves

Power to Capitalise Reserves and Funds

The company may, upon the recommendation of the board, at any time and from time to time pass an ordinary resolution to the effect that it is
desirable to capitalise all or any part of any amount standing to the credit of any reserve or fund (including retained earnings) at the relevant time
whether or not the same is available for distribution and accordingly that the amount to be capitalised be set free for distribution among the
members or any class of members who would be entitled to it if it were distributed by way of dividend and in the same proportions, on the footing
that it is applied either in or towards paying up the amounts unpaid at the relevant time on any shares in the company held by those members
respectively or in paying up in full shares, debentures or other obligations of the company to be allotted and distributed credited as fully paid up
among those members, or partly in one way and partly in the other, but so that, for the purposes of this article: (i) a share premium account and a
capital redemption reserve, and any reserve or fund representing unrealised profits, may be applied only in paying up in full shares of the company
that are to be allotted and distributed as fully paid up; and (ii) where the amount capitalised is applied in paying up in full shares that are to be
allotted and distributed as fully paid up, the company will also be entitled to participate in the relevant distribution in relation to any shares of the
relevant class held by it as treasury shares and the proportionate entitlement of the relevant class of members to the distribution will be calculated
accordingly. The board may authorise any person to enter into an agreement with the company on behalf of the persons entitled to participate in
the distribution and the agreement shall be binding on those persons.

Settlement of Difficulties in Distribution

Where any difficulty arises in regard to any distribution of any capitalised reserve or fund the board may settle the matter as it thinks expedient
and in particular may authorise any person to sell and transfer any fractions or may resolve that the distribution should be as
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nearly as may be practicable in the correct proportion but not exactly so or may ignore fractions altogether, and may determine that cash payments
shall be made to any members in order to adjust the rights of all parties, as may seem expedient to the board.

Record Dates

Power to Choose Any Record Date

Notwithstanding any other provision of these articles, the company or the board may fix any date as the record date for any dividend, distribution,
allotment or issue and such record date may be on or at any time before or after any date on which the dividend, distribution, allotment or issue is
declared, paid or made. The power to fix any such record date shall include the power to fix a time on the chosen date.

Records and Summary Financial Statements

Inspection of Records

No member in his capacity as such shall have any right of inspecting any accounting record or book or document of the company except as
conferred by law, ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or authorised by the board or by ordinary resolution of the company.

Summary Financial Statements

The company may send or supply copies of its strategic reports with supplementary materials to its members instead of copies of its full accounts
and reports.

Service of Notices, Documents and Other Information

Method of Service

(A) Any notice, document (including a share certificate) or other information may be served on or sent or supplied to any member by the
company:

(1) personally;

(i1) by sending it through the post addressed to the member at his registered address or by leaving it at that address addressed to the
member;

(i) by means of a relevant system;

(iv)  where appropriate, by sending or supplying it in electronic form to an address notified by the member to the company for that
purpose;

) where appropriate, by making it available on a website and notifying the member of its availability in accordance with this article; or

(vi) by any other means authorised in writing by the member.
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®)

©

D)

(E)

In the case of joint holders of a share, service, sending or supply of any notice, document or other information on or to one of the joint
holders shall for all purposes be deemed a sufficient service on or sending or supplying to all the joint holders.

In the case of joint holders of a share, anything to be agreed or specified in relation to any notice, document or other information to be
served on or sent or supplied to them may be agreed or specified by any one of the joint holders and the agreement or specification of the
senior shall be accepted to the exclusion of that of the other joint holders and, for this purpose, seniority shall be determined by the order in
which the names stand in the register in respect of the joint holding.

If any member, including any joint holder, who is without a United Kingdom or United States postal address provides the company with
such postal address is entitled to have notice or documents served or supplied to him at that address. If such a member fails to provide the
company with a United Kingdom or United States postal address he may be ignored for the purposes of sufficient service or supply of any
notice or documents.

If on three consecutive occasions any notice, document or other information served on or sent or supplied to a member has been returned
undelivered, such member shall not thereafter be entitled to receive notices, documents or other information from the company until he shall
have communicated with the company and supplied to the company (or its agent) a new registered address, or a postal address within the
United Kingdom or the United States for the service of notices and the despatch or supply of documents and other information, or shall have
informed the company of an address for the service of notices and the despatch or supply of documents and other information in electronic
form. For these purposes, any notice, document or other information sent by post shall be treated as returned undelivered if the notice,
document or other information is served, sent or supplied back to the company (or its agents) and a notice, document or other information
served, sent or supplied in electronic form shall be treated as returned undelivered if the company (or its agents) receives notification that
the notice, document or other information was not delivered to the address to which it was sent. For the avoidance of doubt, a notice,
document or other information served, sent or supplied in electronic form shall not be treated as a failure to deliver if the company (or its
agents) receives an out of office notification from such member.

The company may at any time and in its sole discretion choose (a) to serve, send or supply notices, documents or other information in hard
copy form alone to some or all members; and (b) not to serve, send or supply any notice, document or other information to a particular
member where it considers this necessary or appropriate to deal with legal, regulatory or practical problems in, or under the laws of, any
territory.

Record Date for Service

Any notice, document or other information may be served, sent or supplied by the company by reference to the register as it stands at any time not
more than 15 days before the date of service, sending or supply. No change in the register after that time shall invalidate that service, sending or
supply. Where any notice, document or other information is served on
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or sent or supplied to any person in respect of a share in accordance with these articles, no person deriving any title or interest in that share shall
be entitled to any further service, sending or supply of that notice, document or other information.

Members Resident Abroad or on Branch Registers

(A)

(B

Any member whose registered address is not within the United Kingdom or the United States and who gives to the company a postal
address within the United Kingdom or the United States at which notices, documents or other information may be served upon, or sent or
supplied to, him shall be entitled to have notices, documents or other information served on or sent or supplied to him at that address or,
where applicable, by making them available on a website and notifying the holder at that address. Any member whose registered address is
not within the United Kingdom or the United States and who gives to the company an address for the purposes of communications by
electronic means may, subject to these articles, have notices, documents or other information served on or sent or supplied to him at that
address or, where applicable, by making them available on a website and notifying the holder at that address. Otherwise, a member whose
registered address is not within the United Kingdom or the United States shall not be entitled to receive any notice, document or other
information from the company.

For a member registered on a branch register, notices, documents or other information can be posted or despatched in the United Kingdom,
the United States or in the country where the branch register is kept.

Service of Notice on Person Entitled by Transmission

(A)

(B)

©

This article applies where a member has died or become bankrupt or is in liquidation, or where someone else has otherwise become entitled
by law to that member’s shares, but is still registered as a member, it applies whether he is registered as a sole or joint member.

A person who is entitled by transmission to a share, and who proves this to the reasonable satisfaction of the directors, upon supplying the
company with a postal address within the United Kingdom or the United States for the service of notices and the despatch or supply of
documents and other information, shall be entitled to have served upon or sent or supplied to him at such address any notice, document or
other information to which he would have been entitled if he were the holder of that share or, where applicable, to be notified at that address
of the availability of the notice, document or other information on a website.

A person who is entitled by transmission to a share, and who proves this to the reasonable satisfaction of the directors, upon supplying the
company with an address for the purposes of communications by electronic means for the service of notices and the despatch or supply of
documents and other information, may have served on, sent or supplied to him at such address any notice, document or other information to
which he would have been entitled if he were the holder of that share or, where applicable, may be notified at that address of the availability
of the notice, document or other information on a website.

50



138.

D)

B

In either case under paragraphs (B) and (C) above, such service, sending or supply shall for all purposes be deemed a sufficient service,
sending or supply of such notice, document or other information on all persons interested (whether jointly with or as claimants through or
under him) in the share.

Otherwise, any notice, document or other information served on or sent or supplied to any member pursuant to these articles shall,
notwithstanding that the member is then dead or bankrupt or that any other event giving rise to the transmission of the share by operation of
law has occurred and whether or not the company has notice of the death, bankruptcy or other event, be deemed to have been properly
served, sent or supplied in respect of any share registered in the name of that member as sole or joint holder.

Deemed Delivery

(A)

(B)

©

D)

(E)

Any notice, document or other information, if served, sent or supplied by the company by post, shall be deemed to have been received on
the day following that on which it was posted if first class post was used or 48 hours after it was posted if first class post was not used and,
in proving that a notice, document or other information was served, sent or supplied, it shall be sufficient to prove that the notice, document
or other information was properly addressed, prepaid and put in the post.

Any notice, document or other information not served, sent or supplied by post but left by the company at a registered address or at an
address (other than an address for the purposes of communications by electronic means) notified to the company in accordance with these
articles by a person who is entitled by transmission to a share shall be deemed to have been received on the day it was so left.

Any notice, document or other information served, sent or supplied by the company by means of a relevant system shall be deemed to have
been received when the company or any sponsoring system-participant acting on its behalf sends the issuer- instruction relating to the
notice, document or other information.

Any notice, document or other information served, sent or supplied by the company using electronic means shall be deemed to have been
received on the day on which it was sent notwithstanding that the company subsequently sends a hard copy of such notice, document or
information by post. Any notice, document or other information made available on a website shall be deemed to have been received on the
day on which the notice, document or other information was first made available on the website or, if later, when a notice of availability is
received or deemed to have been received pursuant to this article. In proving that a notice, document or other information served, sent or
supplied by electronic means was served, sent or supplied, it shall be sufficient to prove that it was properly addressed.

Any notice, document or other information served, sent or supplied by the company by any other means authorised in writing by the
member concerned shall be deemed to have been received when the company has carried out the action it has been authorised to take for
that purpose.
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Notice When Post Not Available

If there is a suspension or curtailment of postal services within the United Kingdom, the United States or some part of either the United Kingdom
or the United States, the company need only give notice of a general meeting to those members with whom the company can communicate by
electronic means and who have provided the company with an address for this purpose. The company shall also advertise the notice in at least one
newspaper with a national circulation and make it available on its website from the date of such advertisement until the conclusion of the meeting
or any adjournment thereof. If at least six clear days prior to the meeting the sending or supply of notices by post in hard copy form has again
become generally possible, the company shall send or supply confirmatory copies of the notice by post to those members who would otherwise
receive the notice in hard copy form.

Destruction of Documents

Presumptions Where Documents Destroyed
If the company destroys or deletes:
(i)  any share certificate which has been cancelled at any time after a period of one year has elapsed from the date of cancellation, or

(i) any instruction concerning the payment of dividends or other moneys in respect of any share or any notification of change of name or
address at any time after a period of two years has elapsed from the date the instruction or notification was recorded by the company, or

(iii) any instrument of transfer of shares or Operator-instruction for the transfer of shares which has been registered by the company at any time
after a period of six years has elapsed from the date of registration, or

(iv) any instrument of proxy which has been used for the purpose of a poll at any time after a period of one year has elapsed from the date of
use, or

(v) any instrument of proxy which has not been used for the purpose of a poll at any time after a period of one month has elapsed from the end
of the meeting to which the instrument of proxy relates, or

(vi) any other document on the basis of which any entry is made in the register at any time after a period of six years has elapsed from the date
the entry was first made in the register in respect of it,

and the company destroys or deletes the document or instruction in good faith and without express notice that its preservation was relevant to a
claim, it shall be presumed irrebuttably in favour of the company that every share certificate so destroyed was a valid certificate and was properly
cancelled, that every instrument of transfer or Operator-instruction so destroyed or deleted was a valid and effective instrument of transfer or
instruction and was properly registered and that every other document so destroyed was a valid and effective document and that any particulars of
it which are recorded in the books or records of the company were correctly recorded. If the documents relate to uncertificated shares, the
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company must comply with any requirements of the uncertificated securities rules which limit its ability to destroy these documents. Nothing
contained in this article shall be construed as imposing upon the company any liability which, but for this article, would not exist or by reason
only of the destruction of any document of the kind mentioned above before the relevant period mentioned in this article has elapsed or of the fact
that any other condition precedent to its destruction mentioned above has not been fulfilled. References in this article to the destruction of any
document include references to its disposal in any manner.

Indemnity and Insurance

Indemnity of Directors

(A)

(B)

©

D)

B

To the extent permitted by the Companies Acts, every director or former director or other officer of the company or of any associated
company shall be indemnified by the company out of its own funds against all costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by
him in performing his duties and/or in exercising his powers and/or in supposedly doing these things and/or otherwise in relation to or in
connection with his duties, powers or office.

To the extent permitted by the Companies Acts, every director or former director or other officer of the company or of any associated
company is exempted from any liability to the company where that liability would be covered by the indemnity in Article 141(A).

Without prejudice to Article 141(A), the company may purchase and maintain insurance against any liability for any persons who are or
were at any time directors, officers or employees of the company or of any associated company or trustees of any pension fund or employee
share scheme in which employees of any such company are interested.

No director or former director of the company or of any associated company shall be accountable to the company or the members for any
benefit provided pursuant to this article and the receipt of any such benefit shall not disqualify the person from being or becoming a director
of the company.

For the purposes of this article, no person appointed or employed by the company or an associated company as an auditor is an officer.
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Exhibit 4.3

Dated 29 March, 2017
GLAXOSMITHKLINE SERVICES UNLIMITED
and
EMMA N. WALMSLEY

SERVICE AGREEMENT



This Agreement is made on 29 March, 2017 between:

)

@)
1
1.1

1.2
1.3

GLAXOSMITHKLINE SERVICES UNLIMITED whose registered office is at GSK House, Brentford, Middlesex, TW8 9GS
(the “Company”); and

EMMA N. WALMSLEY (the “Executive”).
Interpretation

In this Agreement (and any schedules to it)
“Accrued Obligations” means:

1.1.1 the Executive’s base salary under this Agreement through to the end of the month in which the Termination Date occurs at
the rate in effect on the Termination Date and the reimbursement (in accordance with Group policy) of any expenses
incurred by the Executive prior to the Termination Date;

1.1.2 any unpaid bonus pertaining to the previous financial year and the product of any target bonus for the financial year in
which the Termination Date occurs and a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days in the Company’s current
financial year up to the Termination Date and the denominator of which is 365;

1.1.3 any remuneration previously deferred by the Executive (together with any accrued interest) and not yet paid by the
Company including payment for any accrued holiday not taken by the Executive; and

1.1.4 any other benefits to which the Executive is entitled, as determined in accordance with the applicable plans and policies of
the Company;

“Board” means the board of directors of the Company from time to time or any person or committee nominated by that board as
its representative for the purposes of this Agreement;

“Employment” means the employment governed by this Agreement;

“Group” means the Company and any other company controlling, controlled by or under the direct or indirect common control
of the Company, including, without limitation, GSK plc and any of its subsidiaries from time to time;

“Group Company” means a member of the Group and “Group Companies” will be interpreted accordingly;

“GSK Board” means the board of directors of GSK plc from time to time or any person or committee nominated by the GSK
Board as its representative for the purposes of this Agreement;

“GSK ple” means GlaxoSmithKline plc;

“Termination Date” means the date on which the Employment terminates, whether on the expiration of notice to terminate the
Employment pursuant to Section 3 or otherwise pursuant to this Agreement.

References to any statutory provisions include any modifications or re-enactments of those provisions.

In this Agreement, terms used in the context of the GlaxoSmithKline 2009 Performance Share Plan shall have the meaning
ascribed to them in such plan.
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31
3.2

33

4.2

4.3

4.4

Employment

The Company confirms the employment of the Executive, and the Executive confirms her employment with the Company, on
the terms and conditions set out in this Agreement.

Termination by Notice

The Executive’s continuous employment began on 15t May, 2010.

The Employment under the terms of this Agreement shall commence on 15t April, 2017 and the Employment shall continue until:
(i)  the Employment is otherwise terminated in accordance with this Agreement; or

(i)  not less than 12 calendar months’ notice in writing is given by the Company to the Executive; or

(i)  not less than 12 calendar months’ notice in writing is given by the Executive to the Company.

The Company may, in its absolute discretion, lawfully terminate the employment of the Executive at any time by paying to the
Executive a sum equal to her basic salary (excluding any other benefits) for the period this Agreement would otherwise continue.
For this purpose, basic salary shall be the basic salary in effect at the date of termination of the employment.

Duties and Responsibilities

The Executive shall be appointed as Chief Executive Officer of GSK plc (in which capacity she will report directly to the GSK
Board). The Executive shall have such powers and duties as are from time to time given to her by the GSK Board consistent with
the Employment and this Agreement. In addition, and for no additional consideration, the Executive shall sit on the GSK Board
and, if requested by the GSK Board, serve as a director on any other board of directors of any Group Company. The Executive
agrees that for the purposes of the Working Time Regulations 1998 she is a managing executive.

During the Employment, the Executive shall devote her full business time and energies to the business and affairs of the
Company and GSK plc, consistent with any other duties and responsibilities she may have to any Group Companies. The
Executive’s time shall be allocated among the Group Companies in accordance with the Executive’s reasonable judgment and
dependent upon the level of her responsibilities to any other Group Company, subject to the overall supervision and direction of
the GSK Board.

The Executive shall not, without the prior written consent of the GSK Board, accept directorships, trusteeships and other
appointments (other than of Group Companies) or carry on or be engaged, concerned or interested either directly or indirectly in
any other business or activity.

The location of the Executive’s activities shall be at GSK House, but subject to the overall supervision and direction of the Board
and the GSK Board, and to perform properly her duties, she may be required to undertake reasonable travel elsewhere in the
world. The Executive is required to reside at a location convenient to the Company’s offices at GSK House (or such other
location as the GSK Board may determine) during the Employment.
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5.2

5.3

5.4

Salary, etc.

In consideration of the services to be rendered by the Executive under this Agreement the Executive shall be paid a salary at the
rate of £1,003,000 per annum, payable in accordance with the frequency of payments adopted by the Company for its executives
from time to time (but not less frequently than calendar monthly). The salary will be credited to the Executive’s bank account
notified to the Company for the purpose. Salary shall be reviewed annually in accordance with the Company’s normal
administrative practices for its executives and may be increased (but not reduced) by the Company by such amount (if any) as it
shall think fit.

The Executive shall be entitled subject to Section 6.5 to participate

@) in all such cash bonus plans and programmes as are made available from time to time to board level executives of the
Company in accordance with the Company’s policy (or GSK plc’s policy, as applicable); and

(i)  in respect of the salary provided by Section 5.1, in such incentive programmes as are made available from time to time to
board level executives of the Company and/or GSK plc generally,

in each case subject to the terms and conditions of such bonus plans and programmes from time to time in force. Any grants of
share options or awards of performance shares under such plans and programmes shall be granted subject to performance
conditions as determined by the GSK Board. The Executive’s future participation in certain of these plans and programmes may
be affected if she does not satisfy the Share Ownership Requirements (as amended from time to time). It is agreed that in the
event of the Executive retiring from the Company, the Executive will retain the relevant number of shares (as set out in the Share
Ownership Requirements) until at least one year after the earlier of (i) the Executive’s Retirement Date contemplated by
Section 14 of this Agreement, or (ii) the date on which the Executive retires from the Company in accordance with the terms of
any Company policy (as may be in force from time to time).

The Executive’s salary under Section 5.1 of this Agreement shall be inclusive of any fees or other remuneration to which the
Executive may be entitled or receives as a Director, alternate Director, specialist adviser, consultant or by virtue of any other
office or appointment in any Group Company. The Executive shall account to the Company for all such fees or other
remuneration by paying over or procuring to be paid over the same to the Company.

GSK shall not be liable for any costs or expenses, including any costs or expenses pertaining to travel undertaken by the
Executive, incurred as a result of any activity or participation in any role or capacity external to and unrelated to GSK or any
Group Company. It is agreed that the Executive will promptly reimburse GSK against any such costs that may be incurred by
GSK. Further, the Executive authorises the Company at any time to deduct from her salary, or any other monies payable to her
by the Company, all sums which she owes the Company. If this is insufficient, the Company will require repayment of the
balance.

Expenses and other Benefits

The Company shall promptly reimburse to the Executive all reasonable travel and other out of pocket expenses properly incurred
by her in the performance of her duties under the Employment. The Executive will submit claims for expenses reimbursement to
the Company regularly with appropriate supporting documentation.
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6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

The Executive is eligible to participate in the GlaxoSmithKline Cash Allowance and Car Ownership Scheme subject to the rules
of the scheme as amended and/or agreed with the Company from time to time. Full details of the Scheme are available on the
TotalReward section on myGSK.

The medical benefit arrangements for the Executive and her family are as set out in the GlaxoSmithKline Executive Medical
Plan (as amended from time to time). Details, including eligibility criteria, are set out in the TotalReward section on myGSK.

The Company at its expense shall provide the Executive with other benefits provided to board level executives of the Company,
and the Executive shall be entitled to participate in all benefit plans, practices and policies as are made available by the Company
from time to time to its board level executives subject to their terms and conditions from time to time in force. Details of the
relevant plans and programmes are set out in the TotalReward section on my GSK.

The Company (and GSK plc, as applicable) reserves the absolute right and discretion to amend, modify or terminate all such
benefits, plans and programmes as are referred to in Sections 5.2, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 and 8 at any time and for any reason.

Holidays

In addition to all statutory and Bank Holidays, the Executive shall be entitled to 27 days’ holiday in each year at full pay,
increasing to 28 days after 10 years’ service, in accordance with Company policy from time to time in force, which shall accrue
rateably during the calendar year. Up to four days of such holiday shall be taken at times to be designated by the Company and
the remainder shall be taken at such times as the business of the Company may permit. On termination of the Employment the
Executive will be entitled to be paid for any accrued holiday not taken and will reimburse the Company for any holiday taken but
not accrued.

Holiday which is not taken in the year in which it is accrued may be carried forward, in accordance with the Company’s rules on
the banking of holidays outlined in its Holiday Policy, as amended from time to time. Any holiday which is not banked in
accordance with these rules will be lost.

Pension and Life Insurance

The Executive is entitled to be a member of the GSK Pension Plan Senior Executive section (“the Pension Plan”), subject to the
conditions of the trust deed and rules governing the Pension Plan from time to time. The rate of employer core contribution to the
Pension Plan is set at 20% of salary. If the Executive has reached or reaches any limit set by the Government relating to pension
allowances, the Executive can opt out of the Pension Plan and the Company may pay her a cash supplement in lieu of any
employer pension contributions. The Pension Plan is subject to amendment or withdrawal at the Company’s discretion. Any
contributions payable by the Executive to the pension plan will be deducted from salary via salary sacrifice. The Company shall
provide the Executive with the benefit of life cover which would provide a lump sum equivalent to four times the level of her
base salary in the event of death in service.
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9.1
9.2

9.3

10

11
11.1

11.3

Sickness
The Executive shall comply with the Company’s sick pay rules from time to time in force.

Without prejudice to the Company’s right to terminate the Employment in accordance with Sections 3, 13, 15 and 16 and to
automatic termination in accordance with Section 14, if the Executive is absent from the Employment as a result of sickness or
injury she shall be paid her full salary for the first 26 weeks’ absence (whether or not consecutive) and half of her salary for the
second 26 weeks (whether or not consecutive) in aggregate in any period of 24 calendar months. The amount of any benefit
which the Executive is entitled to claim during that period of absence under any Social Security or National Insurance Scheme
and/or any Scheme of which the Executive is a non-contributory member by virtue of the Employment, will be deducted from
any salary paid to her. The Company will pay the Executive statutory sick pay under the Social Security Contributions and
Benefits Act 1992 (as amended) and any salary paid to her will be deemed to include statutory sick pay. The Company reserves
the right to offset the amount of these benefits against salary paid to the Executive even if the Executive has not recovered them.

The Company may request the Executive to have a medical examination every year (or at such shorter intervals as they may
agree between them), by a doctor approved by the Company. The costs of such examinations shall be borne by the Company.

Inventions and Copyright
The Company’s standard policy on inventions and copyright from time to time in force shall apply to the Executive.
Confidentiality; Company Securities

Without prejudice to any other duty owed to the Company or to any Group Company, the Executive shall not, except in the
proper performance of her duties or as authorised by the Board, during or after the Employment, use or disclose to any person
any Confidential Information obtained by her during the Employment.

In the course of the Employment, the Executive is likely to obtain trade secrets and confidential information belonging to or
relating to Group Companies and other persons. She will treat such information as if it falls within the terms of Section 11.1 and
Section 11.1 will apply with any necessary amendments to such information. If requested to do so by the Company, the
Executive will enter into an agreement with other Group Companies and any other persons in the same terms as Section 11.1
with any amendments necessary to give effect to this provision.

For the purposes of this Agreement, the term “Confidential Information” shall include, but not be limited to confidential
commercial, financial and strategic data pertaining to the Group and any other confidential information relating to the business or
affairs of the Group including, without limitation, any invention, trade secret, manufacturing process or patent information. The
term “Confidential Information” shall not include any information:

11.3.1 which is or becomes generally available to the public; or
11.3.2 which is acquired by the Executive apart from her association with the Group

other than, in each case, as a result of disclosure by the Executive or by any person to whom she has supplied information or by
any person in breach of a duty of confidentiality.

-5-



12
12.1

12.2

12.3

124

13
13.1

In addition, the term “Confidential Information” shall not include any information which the Executive is required to disclose by
applicable law or regulation or by order of a court or governmental body of competent jurisdiction, so long as the Executive
gives the Board or the GSK Board reasonable prior notice of such required disclosure. This does not affect any rights the
Executive has under Part IVA of the Employment Rights Act 1996.

During the Employment, the Executive shall be bound, in respect of transactions in securities issued by any Group Company, by
the Company’s and GSK plc’s policies from time to time in effect on employee securities dealing. In particular, the Executive
shall advise the Company Secretary, Chief Financial Officer or Chairman of GSK plc before she or any member of her
immediate family seeks to trade in such securities and shall be bound by any directions given by the Company Secretary, Chief
Financial Officer or Chairman.

General Termination Provisions

On the termination of the Employment for whatever reason, or at any other time when requested to do so by the Company, the
Executive, upon receipt of written request from the Company, shall promptly

6)] deliver up to the Company any property belonging to the Company or any other Group Company which may be in her
possession or under her control including Confidential Information, lists of customers, correspondence, documents and
other property. The Executive will not retain any copies of any materials or other information. The Company shall
promptly return to the Executive and permit her to remove from the premises of the Company and any other Group
Company, any property, personal records, files, etc. belonging to the Executive; and

(i)  resign on request by the Company or the GSK Board (if she has not already done so) from all offices held by her in the
Company and any other Group Company (except for any she is entitled to retain under any separate agreement with any
Group Company), failing which the Executive irrevocably authorises the Company or GSK plc to appoint an officer of the
Company or GSK plc to execute all documents on her behalf and do all things necessary to effect such resignations;
PROVIDED, however, that any such resignations pursuant to this Section 12.1(ii) shall be without prejudice to the
Executive’s rights under this Agreement.

Any termination of the Employment shall be without prejudice to the Executive’s and the Company’s continuing obligations
under this Agreement.

Upon the termination of the Executive’s employment for whatever reason, the Executive shall immediately repay all outstanding
debts or loans due to the Company or any Group Company and the Company is hereby authorised to deduct from any payment of
wages any sum in repayment of all or any part of such debts or loans.

The terms of the GSK Redundancy Policy as in force from time to time, shall not apply to the Executive who shall only be
entitled to statutory redundancy pay in addition to any other entitlement under this Agreement if her Employment is terminated
by reason of redundancy.

Termination due to Death or Disability

In the event of the Executive’s death, the Employment will terminate automatically on the date of her death, which shall be the
Termination Date for the purposes of this Agreement. Her duly qualified executor shall be entitled to receive the Accrued
Obligations.
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13.2

13.3

14

15

15.1

15.2

15.3

The Company may elect to terminate the Employment immediately without notice or payment in lieu of notice by serving written
notice (“Termination Notice for Disability”), if an independent physician selected by the Company has certified in writing that,
by reason of a physical or mental illness or other condition of the Executive, the Executive is unlikely to be able to resume
performance of duties under the Employment for the foreseeable future. The Employment will terminate on the Termination
Date specified in the Termination Notice for Disability. Provided that the Company shall not be entitled to terminate the
employment by reason of physical or mental illness or other condition if this would lead to the Executive becoming dis-entitled
to benefits under the Company’s or GSK plc’s permanent health insurance plan.

In the event the Company delivers a Termination Notice for Disability, the Executive shall immediately be relieved from all
offices, appointments and responsibilities that she may then hold under the Employment and be relieved of any duty to work for
or serve the Company or any Group Company. The Executive shall be entitled only to the Accrued Obligations, together with
such rights as are provided for in the applicable benefits plan(s) in which the Executive participates.

Termination on Retirement

The Employment shall automatically terminate on the last day of the month in which the Executive reaches her sixty-fifth (65th)
birthday (the “Retirement Date”) and the Executive shall thereafter be entitled only to payment of the Accrued Obligations.

Termination for Cause

The Company shall be entitled to terminate the Employment immediately without notice or payment in lieu of notice for Cause
(as defined in this Section 15) by serving written notice (“Notice of Termination for Cause”).

“Cause” shall mean:

15.2.1 the Executive is convicted of any criminal offence which in the reasonable opinion of the Chairman of GSK plc or the
GSK Board affects the Executive’s position as Chief Executive Officer of GSK plc (other than a motoring offence for
which no custodial sentence is given to her); or

15.2.2 the Executive, in carrying out her duties under the Employment, is found guilty of gross neglect or gross misconduct; or

15.2.3 the Executive shall become bankrupt or have an order under Section 252 of the Insolvency Act 1986 made in respect of
her or if an interim receiver of her property is appointed under Section 286 of the Act; or

15.2.4 the Executive shall be or become prohibited by law from being a director; or
15.2.5 the Executive commits a serious breach of any material term of this Agreement.

Any delay or forbearance by the Company in exercising any right of termination shall not constitute a waiver of it.
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15.4

16
16.1

In the event that the Employment is terminated for Cause, the Employment shall terminate upon the date on which the Board
serves Notice of Termination for Cause and the Executive shall be entitled only to payment of all previously accrued and unpaid
salary then due and owing under this Agreement and any accrued annual leave up to the date of termination and reimbursement
for expenses previously incurred and, save for the provisions of this Section 15.4, the Executive will have no claim for damages
or any other remedy against the Company or any Group Company.

Termination by Notice

If either notice to terminate the Employment is given by the Executive according to Section 3.2(iii) above, or if the Executive
resigns without giving due notice and the Company does not accept her resignation or the Company has given notice in
accordance with Section 3.2(ii) above then the Company may require the Executive to comply with any and all of the provisions
in this Section 16.1 for a maximum period of 12 months (the “Garden Leave Period”).

16.1.1 The Company may require that the Executive does not:
(1) enter or attend the premises of the Company, or any Group Company; or

(i)  contact or have any communication with any customer or client of the Company, or any Group Company in
relation to the business of the Company, or any Group Company; or

(iii)  contact or have any communication with any employee, officer, director, agent or consultant of the Company, or
any Group Company in relation to the business of the Company, or any Group Company; or

(iv) become employed or engaged by any company, partnership or other entity whether as an employee, director,
partner or consultant or carry on any business either on her own account or for any other person whether directly
or indirectly (except as the holder, directly or indirectly, of less than 5 per cent of the shares or save for those
activities permitted in accordance with Section 4.3);

(v)  remain or become involved in any aspect of the business of the Company, or any Group Company except as
required by such companies.

16.1.2 The Company may require the Executive:
(1)  to comply with the provisions of Section 12; and

(i)  to immediately resign from any directorship which she holds in the Company, and any Group Company or any
other company where such directorship is held as a consequence or requirement of the Employment, unless she
is required to perform duties to which any such directorship relates in which case she may retain such
directorships while those duties are ongoing. The Executive hereby irrevocably appoints the Company to appoint
an officer of GSK plc as her attorney to execute any instrument and do anything in her name and on her behalf to
effect her resignation if she fails to do so in accordance with this Section 16.1.2(ii).

16.1.3 During any Garden Leave Period the Company may appoint another individual to carry out the duties of the Executive
and the Executive shall:
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16.1.4

16.1.5

16.1.6

16.1.7

(i)  continue to be bound by the provisions of this Agreement and conduct herself with good faith towards the
Company and not do anything that is harmful to the Company or any Group Company;

(il) remain available to perform any reasonable duty requested by the Company or any Group Company and to
co-operate generally with the Company or any Group Company to ensure a smooth handover of her duties
(provided that if the Executive should fail to make herself available for such work having been requested by the
Company or any Group Company to attend she shall, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement
forfeit her right to salary and contractual benefits in respect of such period of non-availability).

During the Garden Leave Period, the Executive will be entitled to receive her salary and benefits in accordance with the
terms of this Agreement including any bonus payable in accordance with Section 5.2 but excluding any share
entitlements under Section 5.2 above.

Where the Company gives notice to terminate the Employment in accordance with Section 3.2 (except where
termination is effected pursuant to the terms of Section 15) above then notwithstanding the continuation of the
Employment during any period after notice has been given, including, any Garden Leave Period, within 30 days of the
date such notice was given to the Executive, the Company shall pay to the Executive as a lump sum her full salary in
respect of the entire period of notice (except for any part of it attributable to the period falling after the Executive’s
Retirement Date and subject to deduction of tax and any other deductions required to be made) (the “Lump Sum”). For
this purpose, full salary shall be the basic salary in effect at the date such notice is given to the Executive. For the
avoidance of doubt, the payment by the Company to the Executive of the Lump Sum will extinguish any and all
liability imposed on the Company under this Agreement to make any further payment to the Executive in respect of
salary under this Agreement during any period after notice has been given, including, any Garden Leave Period.

After the payment of a Lump Sum pursuant to Section 16.1.5, at the end of or at any time during the Garden Leave
Period the Company may at its sole and absolute discretion terminate the Employment by further written notice to the
Executive without any further payment. In any event at the end of the 12 month Garden Leave Period the Employment
will also terminate automatically and the Company shall be under no obligation to make any further payment to the
Executive, save for in respect of any Accrued Obligations that may exist.

However, in the event that the Executive obtains an offer of future alternative employment with another employer, or
otherwise wishes to take up alternative business activities, and she can satisfy the GSK Board that such
employment/activities are not in breach of Section 17, the Company shall waive the balance of any unexpired notice
period or the Garden Leave Period so as to enable the Executive to take up such alternative employment/activities;
whereupon, subject to Section 12.3 above, the Company’s obligations to the Executive under this Section 16.1 shall
cease with effect from the agreed revised Termination Date.
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17
17.1

17.2

16.1.8 The Company and the Executive agree that if the Company shall fully perform, when due, all its obligations under this
Section 16, such performance shall be in full and final settlement of all and any claims or rights of action which the
Executive might have against the Company, or any Group Company arising out of this Agreement or its termination or
otherwise howsoever relating to the Employment.

Restrictions during and after Termination of Employment
In this Section:

“Restricted Business” means the businesses of the Company or any Group Company at the Termination Date (or if earlier the
start of any Garden Leave Period ending on the Termination Date) with which the Executive was involved to a material extent
during the last 12 months of the Employment.

“Restricted Period” means any period during which the Executive is employed by the Company (including for the avoidance of
doubt, any Garden Leave Period) and the period of 12 months, less any Garden Leave Period imposed by the Company under
Section 16 and less any period of notice worked by the Executive during the notice period set out in Section 3, commencing on
the Termination Date.

The Executive is likely to obtain trade secrets and confidential information and personal knowledge of and influence over
customers, clients and employees of the Company, GSK plc and its Group Companies during the course of the Employment. To
protect these interests, the Executive agrees with the Company and GSK plc that the Executive will be bound by the following
covenants:

17.2.1 During the Restricted Period she will not be employed or engaged in (except as the holder, directly or indirectly, of less
than 5 per cent of the shares) any Competing Business. For the purposes of this Section 17.2.1, a Competing Business
shall mean the following companies (or, as appropriate, the successors to their operations): Abbott Laboratories;
AbbVie Inc.; Amgen Inc.; AstraZeneca PLC; Bayer HealthCare; Bristol-Myers Squibb Company; Colgate-Palmolive
Company; Eli Lilly and Company; Johnson & Johnson; Kimberly-Clark; Merck & Co., Inc.; Novartis; Pfizer Inc.;
Procter & Gamble; Reckitt Benckiser plc; Roche Holding Ltd; Sanofi S.A.; and, Unilever PLC.

17.2.2 During the Restricted Period the Executive will not canvass or solicit in competition with the Company, or any Group
Company, the custom of any person who was during the last 12 months of the Employment a customer, or client of, or
in the habit of dealing with, the Company, or (as the case may be) any Group Company and in respect of which the
Executive had access to confidential information or with whose custom or business the Executive is or was personally
concerned, during that 12 month period with a view to providing goods or services to that person in competition with
any Restricted Business.

17.2.3 During the Restricted Period she will not, in the course of any business concern which is in competition with the
Restricted Business provide goods or services to or otherwise have any dealings with any person who was during the
last 12 months of the Employment a customer, or client of, or in the habit of dealing with the Company, or any Group
Company, and in respect of which the Executive had access to confidential information or with whose custom or
business the Executive is or was personally concerned during that 12 month period.
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17.3

174

17.5

18
18.1

18.2

18.3

18.4

17.2.4 During the Restricted Period she will not, interfere or endeavour to interfere with the continuance of the provision of
goods or services to the Company, or any Group Company, by any supplier which was a supplier of goods or services
to the Company, or any Group Company during the last 12 months of the Employment and with whom the Executive
dealt to a material extent during that period.

17.2.5 During the Restricted Period she will not entice or try to entice away from the Company or any Group Company any
person who is still employed by the Company or a Group Company during the Restricted Period and is a senior
employee, director or full time senior consultant of such a company and with whom she worked closely in the last six
months of the Employment.

Each of the obligations imposed on the Executive by this Section 17 extend to her acting not only on her own account but also on
behalf of any other firm, company or other person and shall apply whether she acts directly or indirectly.

Following the Termination Date, the Executive will not represent herself as being in any way connected with the businesses of
the Company, GSK plc or of any other Group Company (except to the extent agreed in writing by such a company).

Any benefit given or deemed to be given by the Executive to any Group Company under the terms of Section 17 is received and
held on trust by the Company for the relevant Group Company. The Executive will enter into appropriate restrictive covenants
directly with other Group Companies if asked to do so by the Company or GSK plc.

Reasonableness of Restrictions

Each of the obligations on the Executive contained in Section 17 constitutes a separate and independent restriction on the
Executive notwithstanding that they may be contained in the same Section, paragraph or sentence.

Should the restrictions contained in Section 17 be found to be void but would be valid if some part thereof were deleted or the
period or radius of application reduced, then such restriction shall apply with such modification as may be necessary to make it
valid and effective. In particular, the Executive agrees that the restrictions are reasonable and necessary for the protection of the
Company and the Group Companies.

If the Executive shall, during the Restricted Period, receive from any person, firm or company, an offer to provide services in any
capacity whatsoever, or to enter into employment where acceptance of such offer, or the taking of such employment, might
render her in breach of the provisions of this Agreement, she shall promptly advise the offeror of the existence of the restrictions
set forth in Section 17 of this Agreement.

The Executive acknowledges that the Company may have no adequate remedy at law and would be irreparably harmed if the
Executive breaches or threatens to breach the provisions of Section 17 above and, therefore, agrees that the Company shall be
entitled to injunctive relief to prevent any breach or threatened breach of Section 17 above, and to specific performance of the
terms of each such Section in addition to any other legal or equitable remedy it may have. The Executive further agrees that she
shall not, in any equity proceedings involving her relating to the enforcement of Section 17 above raise the defence that the
Company has an adequate remedy at law. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as prohibiting the Company from
pursuing any other remedies at law or in equity that it may have.
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19

20
20.1

20.2

21

22

23
23.1

23.2

Severability

In the event that any provision or portion of this Agreement shall be determined to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason,
the remaining provisions or portions of this Agreement shall be unaffected thereby and shall remain in full force and effect to the
fullest extent permitted by law.

Successors and Assigns

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Company or any corporation or other entity to which the
Company may transfer all or substantially all of its assets and business and to which the Company may assign this Agreement, in
which case “Company”, as used in this Agreement, shall mean such corporation or other entity. The foregoing shall not relieve
the Company of any of its obligations under Section 16 of this Agreement. The rights of the Executive shall inure to the benefit
of her heirs, executors, administrators and other personal representatives.

The Executive may not assign this Agreement or any part of it, or any rights thereunder or delegate any duties to be performed
by her under it to anyone else.

Survivorship

To the extent contemplated by this Agreement, respective rights and obligations of the parties set out in this Agreement shall
survive any termination of this Agreement to the extent necessary to the intended preservation of such rights and obligations.

Notices

Any notice (including any Termination Notice) required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and
shall be deemed to have been given when delivered personally or sent by courier, duly addressed to the party concerned at such
address as the party may notify to the other. Any notice delivered personally under this Section 22 shall be deemed given on the
date delivered and any notice sent by courier shall be deemed given on the date delivery is recorded by such courier.

Entire Agreement

This Agreement supersedes any previous written or oral agreement between the parties in relation to the matters dealt with within
it. It contains the whole agreement between the parties relating to the Employment at the date the Agreement was entered into
(except for those terms implied by law which cannot be excluded by the agreement of the parties). The Executive acknowledges
that she has not been induced to enter into this Agreement by any representation, warranty or undertaking not expressly
incorporated into it.

Neither party’s rights or powers under this Agreement will be affected if:
23.2.1 one party delays in enforcing any provision of this Agreement; or

23.2.2  one party grants time to the other party.
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24

25

26
26.1

26.2

27

Amendment or Modification; Waiver

No provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived unless such amendment or waiver is agreed to in writing, signed by
the Executive and by a duly authorised officer of the Company who shall supply the Executive with evidence of such authority.

Withholding

Anything to the contrary notwithstanding, all payments required to be made by the Company under this Agreement to the
Executive, or to her estate or beneficiaries, shall be subject to withholding of such amounts relating to taxes as the Company may
be required to withhold pursuant to any applicable statute, law or regulation.

Indemnification and Insurance

The Company agrees that if the Executive is made a party or is threatened to be made a party to any action, suit, proceeding,
prosecution or governmental, regulatory or other investigation by reason of the fact of the Employment or that she is or was a
director, officer or employee of the Company or is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, employee
or agent of another Group Company or entity except for any action instigated by the Company or the Executive (a
“Proceeding”), she shall be indemnified by the Company to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law against all expenses,
liabilities, fees, costs, damages and losses reasonably incurred or suffered by the Executive in connection with such a Proceeding
(including any tax payable by the Executive as a result of payments made by the Company pursuant to this indemnity),
including, without limitation, payment of expenses incurred in defending a Proceeding prior to the final disposition of such
Proceeding; PROVIDED, however, that written notice of such Proceeding is given promptly to the Company by the Executive
and the Company is permitted (where appropriate) to participate in and assume the defence of such Proceeding. The provisions
of this Section 26 shall survive the termination of the Employment and shall be in addition to any other rights to indemnification
to which the Executive may from time to time be entitled, whether under any applicable insurance policies or otherwise.

The Company will provide the Executive with Legal Expenses Insurance and Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance under
the Company’s policy current from time to time in force to cover the period during which she acts as a director, officer or
employee or agent of any Group Company or entity under this Agreement whether or not she remains a director, officer,
employee or agent of any Group Company or entity at the time any claim under the policy is made.

Collective Agreements — Disciplinary Rules and Procedures
There are no collective agreements which directly affect the terms and conditions set out in this Agreement.

The Company’s harassment and bullying policies, disciplinary rules and procedures and grievance procedures, as in force from
time to time, shall apply to the Executive. The Company reserves the right to leave out any or all of the stages of those rules and
procedures where it considers it appropriate to do so.
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28

29

30

Data Protection

The Executive consents to the Company or any Group Company holding and processing both electronically and manually the
data it collects which relates to the Executive for the purpose of the administration and management of its employees and its
business and for compliance with applicable procedures, laws and regulations. The Executive also consents to the transfer of
such personal information to other offices the Company may have or to a Group Company or to other third parties whether or not
outside the European Economic Area for administration purposes and other purposes in connection with the Executive’s
employment where it is necessary or desirable for the Company to do so.

Governing Law

This Agreement shall be deemed a contract made under, and for all purposes shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of
England. Each of the parties submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts as regards any claim or matter under this
Agreement.

Titles

Titles to the Sections in this Agreement are intended solely for convenience and no provision of this Agreement is to be
construed by reference to the title of any Section.
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In witness whereof the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as a deed on the day and year first above written

THE COMMON SEAL of
GLAXOSMITHKLINE SERVICES }
UNLIMITED was hereunto affixed in the presence of: /s/ Paul Williamson
Director P Williamson
For and on behalf of

Glaxo Group Limited
Corporate Director

Secretary /s/ V. A Whyte

V A Whyte
Signed Sealed and Delivered by the
said EMMA N. WALMSLEY in }
the presence of: /s/ Emma Walmsley
Name: /s/ Allen James Powley
Address Allen James Powley

Occupation
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Exhibit 4.4

Dated 16 December 2017

GLAXOSMITHKLINE LLC

and

HAL V. BARRON

SERVICE AGREEMENT



This Agreement is made on 16 December 2017 between:

(1)
)

GLAXOSMITHKLINE LLC whose trading office is at Five Crescent Drive, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19112, USA (the “Company”); and
HAL V. BARRON (the “Executive”).

Interpretation

1.1

In this Agreement (and any schedules to it)

“Accrued Obligations” means:

1.1.1 the Executive’s base salary under this Agreement through to the end of the month in which the Termination Date occurs at the rate
in effect on the Termination Date and the reimbursement (in accordance with Group policy) of any expenses incurred by the
Executive prior to the Termination Date;

1.1.2 any unpaid bonus pertaining to the previous financial year and the product of any target bonus for the financial year in which the
Termination Date occurs and a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days in the Company’s current financial year up to
the Termination Date and the denominator of which is 365, paid as soon as practicable on or following the termination date;

1.1.3 any remuneration previously deferred by the Executive (together with any accrued interest) and not yet paid by the Company
including payment for any accrued vacation not taken by the Executive, in each case paid in accordance with the applicable plan,
policy or program of the Company; and

1.1.4 any other benefits to which the Executive is entitled, as determined in accordance with the applicable plans and policies of the
Company;

“Agreement” means this employment agreement, which as of the date hereof supersedes and replaces any previous employment agreement

between the Company and the Executive;

“Board” means the board of directors of the Company from time to time or any person or committee nominated by that board as its
representative for the purposes of this Agreement;

“Chief Executive Officer” means the Chief Executive Officer of GSK plc from time to time;
“Employment” means the employment governed by this Agreement;

“Group” means the Company and any other Company controlling, controlled by or under the direct or indirect common control of the
Company, including, without limitation, GSK plc and any of its subsidiaries from time to time;

“Group Company” means a member of the Group and “Group Companies” will be interpreted accordingly;

“GSK Board” means the board of directors of GSK plc from time to time or any person or committee nominated by the GSK Board as its
representative for the purposes of this Agreement;

“GSK plc” means GlaxoSmithKline plc;

“Termination Date” means the date on which the Employment terminates pursuant to this Agreement.

1.2 References to any statutory provisions include any modifications or re-enactments of those provisions.

1.3 Inthis Agreement terms used in the context of the GlaxoSmithKline Performance Share Plan shall have the meaning ascribed to them in
such plan.

Employment

The Company confirms the Employment of the Executive, and the Executive confirms his Employment with the Company, on the terms and
conditions set out in this Agreement.



3

Termination by Notice

31

3.2

The Employment under the terms of this Agreement shall be deemed to have commenced on 1 January 2018, and the Employment shall
continue until:

(1) the Employment is otherwise terminated in accordance with this Agreement; or
(i1) not less than 12 calendar months’ notice in writing is given by the Company to the Executive; or
(iii)  not less than 12 calendar months’ notice in writing is given by the Executive to the Company; and, in any event,

(iv)  atno point beyond 31 December 2024. In the event that this Agreement shall terminate pursuant to this Clause 3.1(iv), then the
Executive shall thereafter be deemed an employee “at will” and shall be entitled only to payment of Accrued Obligations.

The Company may, in its absolute discretion, lawfully terminate the Employment of the Executive at any time, with immediate effect and
without cause, by paying in aggregate to the Executive within 30 days of the date notice of termination is given to him a sum equal to his
base salary (excluding any other benefits) for the period this Agreement would otherwise continue following such notice (not to exceed the
maximum period of 12 months). For this purpose, salary shall be the base salary in effect at the date of termination of the Employment.

Duties and Responsibilities

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

The Executive shall be appointed as Chief Scientific Officer and President R&D. The Executive will be compensated at GSK grade 0. The
Executive shall have such powers and duties as are from time to time given to him by the Chief Executive Officer or, if different, the person
to whom the Executive reports, consistent with the Employment and this Agreement.

During the Employment, the Executive shall devote his full business time and energies to the business and affairs of the Company and GSK
plc, consistent with any other duties and responsibilities he may have to any Group Companies. The Executive’s time shall be allocated
among the Group Companies in accordance with the Executive’s reasonable judgment and dependent upon the level of his responsibilities
to any other Group Company, subject to the overall supervision and direction of the Chief Executive Officer or, if different, the person to
whom the Executive reports.

The Executive shall not, without the prior written consent of the GSK Board, accept directorships, trusteeships and other appointments
(other than of Group Companies) or carry on or be engaged, concerned or interested either directly or indirectly in any other business or for
profit activity. A list of the directorships and outside interests of the Executive approved by the GSK Board as at the date of this Agreement
is attached as Appendix 1 to this Agreement. Any fees earned by the Executive in respect of such authorised activities may be retained by
the Executive.

While the location of the Executive’s activities shall be in or around San Francisco, CA subject to the overall supervision and direction of
the Chief Executive Officer, in order to perform properly his duties, he will be required to undertake travel elsewhere in the world and in
particular to the UK and Pennsylvania where the Company maintains its primary R&D centers. The Executive is required to reside at a
location convenient to the Company’s offices in or around San Francisco, CA (or such other location as the Company may determine)
during the Employment.

Salary, etc.

5.1

In consideration of the services to be rendered by the Executive and the promises and covenants made by the Executive under this
Agreement, specifically including Section 16, the Executive shall be paid a base salary at the rate of $1,700,000 per annum payable in
accordance with the Company’s pay practices for its executives from time to time in force (but not less frequently than calendar monthly).
The salary will be credited to the Executive’s bank account notified to the Company for the purpose or paid to Executive in check or cash or
another manner compliant with applicable law. Salary shall be reviewed annually in accordance with the Company’s normal administrative
practices for its executives and may be increased (but not reduced) by the Company by such amount (if any) as it shall think fit.
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5.2

53

The Executive shall be eligible, subject to Section 6.4, to participate:

(1) in all such cash bonus plans and programmes as are made available from time to time for executives of the Company generally of
the same grade in the relevant jurisdiction in accordance with the Company’s policy (or GSK plc’s policy, as applicable); and

(ii) in respect of the salary provided by Section 5.1, in such incentive programmes as are made available from time to time for
executives of the Company and/or GSK plc generally who are of the same grade in the relevant jurisdiction,

in each case, subject to the terms and conditions of such bonus plans and programmes from time to time in force. Any grant of share options
or awards of performance shares under such plans and programmes shall be granted subject to performance conditions as determined by the
GSK Board. The Executive’s future participation in certain of these plans and programmes may be affected if the Executive does not satisfy
the Share Ownership Requirements (as amended from time to time). It is agreed that in the event the Executive leaves the Company, the
Executive will retain the relevant number of shares (as set out in the Share Ownership Requirements) until at least one year after the
Termination Date. The Executive’s salary under Section 5.1 of this Agreement shall be inclusive of any fees or other remuneration to which
the Executive may be entitled or receives as a Director, alternate Director, specialist adviser, consultant or by virtue of any other office or
appointment in any Group Company. The Executive shall account to the Company for all such fees or other remuneration by paying over or
procuring to be paid over the same to the Company.

No Group Company shall be liable for any costs or expenses, including any costs or expenses pertaining to travel undertaken by the
Executive, incurred as a result of any activity or participation in any role or capacity external to and unrelated to the Group. It is agreed that
the Executive will promptly reimburse the Company against any such costs that may be incurred by the Group. Further, the Executive
authorises the Company at any time to deduct from his salary, or any other monies payable to him by the Company, all sums which he owes
the Company. If this is insufficient, the Company will require repayment of the balance.

Expenses and other Benefits

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

The Company shall promptly reimburse to the Executive all reasonable travel and other out of pocket expenses properly incurred by him in
the performance of his duties under the Employment. The Executive will submit claims for expense reimbursement to the Company
regularly with appropriate supporting documentation, and in accordance with the Company’s policies in effect from time to time.

The medical benefit arrangements for the Executive and his family are as set out in the GlaxoSmithKline Executive Medical Plan (as
amended from time to time). Details, including eligibility criteria, are set out in the Tofa/lReward section on Connect GSK.

The Company at its expense shall provide the Executive with other benefits provided to executives of the Company of the same grade, and
the Executive shall be eligible to participate in all benefit plans, practices and policies as are made available by the Company from time to
time to its executives generally of the same grade subject to their terms and conditions from time to time in force. A list of all plans and
programmes currently in operation is set out in Appendix 2. Details of the relevant plans and programmes are set out in the TotalReward
section on Connect GSK.

The Company (and GSK plc, as applicable) reserves the absolute right and discretion to amend, modify or terminate all such benefits, plans
and programmes as are referred to in Sections 5.2, 6.2, 6.3 and 8 at any time and for any reason.

Vacation

In addition to all Company Holidays, the Executive shall be entitled to 20 days’ vacation in each year at full pay, which shall accrue rateably
during the calendar year in accordance with Company policy as in effect from time to time, to be taken at such times as the business of the
Company may permit. On termination of the Employment the Executive will be entitled to be paid for any accrued vacation not taken and will
reimburse the Company for any vacation taken but not accrued in accordance with the terms of Company policy as in effect from time to time.
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11

Pension and Life Insurance

The Executive shall be eligible to participate in the GlaxoSmithKline Cash Balance Pension Plan and any other retirement plans or deferred
compensation programmes made available by the Company to its senior executives in the United States, including, without limitation, the
GlaxoSmithKline Retirement Savings Plan and the GlaxoSmithKline Executive Supplemental Savings Plan, subject to the terms and conditions of
such programmes from time to time in force. Details of such current plans and programmes are accessible from the intranet site “Connect GSK”
and they are subject to amendment or withdrawal at the Company’s discretion.

Illness and Leave of Absence
9.1 The Executive shall comply with the Company’s leave of absence policies from time to time in force.

9.2 The Executive shall be eligible to participate in the Company’s short-term and long-term disability plans or programmes in force from time
to time.

9.3 If the Company has concerns about the Executive’s ability to perform the essential functions of his role, the Company may require the
Executive to have a medical examination every year (or at such shorter intervals as they may agree between them), by a doctor approved by
the Company. The costs of such examinations shall be borne by the Company. The Executive agrees and understands that this provision is
job related and consistent with business necessity of the Company.

Inventions and Copyright

The Company’s Standard US Policy Requirements on Inventions, Copyright, and Confidentiality shall apply to the Executive. The Company’s
current policy language is attached as Appendix 3, which is incorporated by reference into this Agreement. The Executive expressly
acknowledges and agrees to the terms, conditions, and promises contained in Appendix 3.

Confidentiality; Company Securities

Without prejudice to any other duty owed to the Company or to any Group Company, the Executive shall not, except in the proper performance of
his duties or as authorised by the Board, during or after the Employment, use, retain, or disclose to any person any Confidential Information
(defined below) obtained or created by him during the Employment.

11.1 In the course of the Employment, the Executive will obtain trade secrets and confidential information belonging to or relating to Group
Companies and other persons. He will treat such information as if it falls within the terms of Section 11 and Section 11 will apply with any
necessary amendments, to such information. If requested to do so by the Company, the Executive will enter into an agreement with other
Group Companies and any other persons in the same terms as Section 11 with any amendments necessary to give effect to this provision.

11.2 For the purposes of this Agreement, the term “Confidential Information” shall include, but not be limited to confidential commercial,
financial and strategic data pertaining to the Group and any other confidential information relating to the business or affairs of the Group
including, without limitation, any invention, trade secret, manufacturing process or patent information. The term “Confidential Information”
shall not include any information:

11.2.1 which is or becomes generally available to the public, or

11.2.2 which is acquired by the Executive apart from his association with the Group
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13

11.3

other than, in each case, as a result of disclosure by the Executive or by any person to whom he has supplied information or by any person in
breach of a duty of confidentiality. In addition, the term “Confidential Information” shall not include any information which the Executive
is required to disclose by applicable law or regulation or by order of a court or governmental body of competent jurisdiction.

During the Employment, the Executive shall be bound, in respect of transactions in securities issued by any Group Company, by the
Company’s and GSK plc’s policies from time to time in effect on employee securities dealing. In particular, the Executive shall advise the
Company Secretary, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Executive Officer or Chairman of GSK plc before he or any member of his immediate
family seeks to trade in such securities and shall be bound by any directions given by the Company Secretary, Chief Financial Officer, Chief
Executive Officer or Chairman.

General Termination Provisions

12.1

12.2

12.3

124

On the termination of the Employment for whatever reason, or at any other time when requested to do so by the Company, the Executive,
upon receipt of written request from the Company, shall promptly:

(1) deliver up to the Company any property belonging to the Company or any other Group Company which may be in his possession or
under his control including Confidential Information, lists of customers, correspondence, documents and other property. The
Executive will not retain any copies of any materials or other information. The Company shall promptly return to the Executive and
permit him to remove from the premises of the Company and any other Group Company, any property, personal records, files, etc.
belonging to the Executive; and

(ii) resign on request by the Company or the GSK Board (if he has not already done so) from all offices held by him in the Company
and any other Group Company (except for any he is entitled to retain under any separate agreement with any Group Company),
failing which the Executive irrevocably authorises the Company or GSK plc to appoint an officer of the Company or GSK plc to
execute all documents on his behalf and do all things necessary to effect such resignations; PROVIDED, however, that any such
resignations pursuant to this Section 12.1(ii) shall be without prejudice to the Executive’s rights under this Agreement.

Any termination of the Employment shall be without prejudice to the Executive’s and the Company’s continuing obligations under this
Agreement.

Upon the termination of the Executive’s Employment for whatever reason, the Executive shall immediately repay all outstanding debts or
loans due to the Company or any Group Company.

The terms of the US GSK Severance Pay Plan or any other severance policy as in force from time to time, shall not apply to the Executive.

Termination due to Death or Inability to Perform Essential Functions

13.1

13.2

In the event of the Executive’s death the Employment will terminate automatically on the date of his death, which shall be the Termination
Date for the purposes of this Agreement. His duly qualified executor shall be entitled to receive the Accrued Obligations.

The Company may elect to terminate the Employment immediately without advance notice or payment in lieu of notice by serving written
notice, if an independent physician mutually agreeable to the Company and Executive has certified in writing that the Executive is unable to
perform the essential functions of his role with or without reasonable accommodation and will not, to a reasonable degree of medical
certainty, be able to resume performance of the essential functions of his duties with or without reasonable accommodations for the
foreseeable future. The Executive hereby acknowledges and agrees that this provision is job related and consistent with business necessity,
and that it would be an undue hardship for the Company to maintain the Employment under such circumstances. The Employment will
terminate on the Termination Date specified in the Termination Notice.

6
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13.3 In the event the Company delivers a Termination Notice under 13.2, the Executive shall immediately be relieved from all offices,
appointments and responsibilities that he may then hold under the Employment and be relieved of any duty to work for or serve the
Company or any Group Company. The Executive hereby acknowledges and agrees that this provision is job related and consistent with
business necessity, and that it would be an undue hardship for the Company to maintain any of the Executive’s offices, appointments, or
responsibilities under such circumstances. The Executive shall be entitled only to the Accrued Obligations, together with such rights as are
provided for in the applicable benefits plan(s) in which the Executive participates.

Termination for Cause

14.1 The Company shall be entitled to terminate the Employment effective immediately without notice or payment in lieu of notice for Cause (as
defined in this Section 14) by serving written notice (“Notice of Termination for Cause”).

14.2 “Cause” shall mean:

14.2.1 the Executive is convicted of any criminal offense which in the reasonable opinion of the Chairman of GSK plc or the GSK Board
affects the Executive’s position as Chief Scientific Officer and President R&D (other than a motoring offence for which no custodial
sentence is given to him); or

14.2.2 the Executive, in carrying out his duties under the Employment, is found to have engaged in significant misconduct (e.g., violation
of regulation, law, or a significant GSK policy, such as the Code of Conduct) in the sole determination of the Company; or

14.2.3 the Executive shall become personally bankrupt or insolvent; or
14.2.4 the Executive shall be or become prohibited by law from being an employee, officer, or director; or
14.2.5 the Executive commits a material breach of any term of this Agreement.
14.3 Any delay or forbearance by the Company in exercising any right of termination shall not constitute a waiver of it.

14.4 In the event that the Employment is terminated for Cause, the Employment shall terminate upon the date on which the Board serves Notice
of Termination for Cause and, except as otherwise required by applicable law, the Executive shall be paid only previously earned
compensation , up to the date of termination including reimbursement for expenses previously incurred and, save for the provisions of this
Section 14.4, the Executive will have no claim for further compensation including incentive compensation or damages or any other remedy
against the Company or any Group Company.

Termination by Notice Requirements, Additional Detail

15.1 Subject to Sections 13 and 14 of this Agreement, the Employment under the terms of this Agreement shall terminate on the occurrence of
either:

15.1.1 The election of the Company, upon not less than 12 months notice in writing by the Company to the Executive in accordance with
Section 3.1(ii); or

15.1.2 The election of the Executive, upon not less than 12 months notice in writing by the Executive to the Company in accordance with
Section 3.1(iii).

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if, following delivery of the notice as required under Section 3.1(ii) or 3.1
(iii), the Executive abandons his employment with the Company prior to expiration of the 12 month notice period, the Executive shall be entitled
to receive only those payments set forth in Section 15.3 of this Agreement.

7



15.2

15.3

In the event the Employment terminates pursuant to Section 15.1.1, the Executive shall be entitled to receive the Accrued Obligations on or
as soon as practicable following the Termination Date coinciding with the expiration of the 12 month notice period. Alternatively, the
Company may, in its absolute discretion, lawfully terminate the Employment immediately upon delivery of the written notice set forth in
Section 3.1(ii) and pay the Executive a cash payment equal to 100% of his annual base salary (as in effect immediately prior to the
Termination Date), payable in a lump sum as soon as practicable on or following the Termination Date and any remuneration previously
earned or deferred by the Executive (together with any accrued interest) and not yet paid by the Company.

In the event the Employment terminates pursuant to Section 15.1.2, or if the Executive abandons the Employment following delivery of the
notice set forth in Section 3.1(ii) or 3.1(iii) but prior to expiration of the 12 month notice period, except as otherwise required by applicable
law, the Executive shall be entitled only to payment of all previously earned or deferred compensation then due and owing under this
Agreement, up to the Termination Date, any unpaid bonus pertaining to the previous financial year, and reimbursement for expenses
previously incurred and, save for the provisions of this Section 15.3, the Executive will have no claim for damages or any other remedy
against the Company or any Group Company. In the event the Executive abandons the Employment following delivery of the notice set
forth in Section 3.1(ii) or 3.1(iii) but prior to the expiration of the 12 month notice period, the Company may terminate the Employment
effectively immediately and bring forward the Termination Date and, in this event, the Company agrees not to pursue any claim for
damages arising out of the Executive’s abandonment of the remaining notice period, save for its rights to enforce any other Section or
Appendix of this Agreement including, but not limited to, Sections 10, 11, 12, 16, and 27 and Appendix 3 and 4, which are unaffected. The
amounts described in this Section 15.3 shall be paid as soon as practicable on or following the Termination Date.

16  Restrictions during and after Termination of Employment

16.1

16.2

In this Section:

“Restricted Business” means any existing or prospective lines of business, any division, any business unit, or any product or service of the
Group with which the Executive worked, or which the Executive supported, during the last 12 months of the Employment.

“Restricted Period” means any period during which the Executive is employed by the Company and the period of 12 months commencing
on the Termination Date. In the event the Employment is terminated by Notice under paragraphs 15.1 and 3.1(ii) or 3.1(iii), the 12 month
period is reduced by any time period between the delivery of Notice and the Termination Date itself.

The Executive will acquire Confidential Information and personal knowledge of and influence over customers, clients and employees of the
Company, GSK plc and its Group Companies during the course of the Employment. The improper disclosure or use of such information or
knowledge by the Executive would cause the Group irreparable harm. To protect these interests, and prevent such harm, the Executive
agrees with the Company and GSK plc that the Executive will be bound by the following covenants:

16.2.1 During the Employment, the Executive will not be employed by, affiliated with (except as the holder, directly or indirectly, of less
than 5 per cent of the shares) work for, or render services similar to those which the Executive is involved during the Employment
on behalf of, any firm or business organization that competes or is planning to compete with the Restricted Business, or render
services to, or assist in any way, any competitor of the Group by working on or having any involvement with products or services
that are similar to the Restricted Business.



17

16.3

16.4

16.5

16.2.2 During the Employment, the Executive will not canvass, solicit or induce any customer, client or vendor of the Company or any
Group Company to become a customer, client or vendor of any other person, firm, or corporation other than the Group with respect
to the Restricted Business. After the Executive’s Employment with the Company, the Executive will not use Confidential
Information to canvass, solicit or induce any customer, client or vendor of the Company or any Group Company to become a
customer, client or vendor of any other person, firm, or corporation other than the Group with respect to the Restricted Business.

16.2.3 During the Restricted Period, the Executive will not interfere or endeavor to interfere with the continuance of the provision of goods
or services to the Company, or any Group Company, by any supplier which was a supplier of goods or services to the Company, or
any Group Company during the last 12 months of the Employment.

16.2.4 During the Restricted Period, the Executive will not solicit or attempt to solicit any officer, director, senior employee or senior
consultant of the Group to leave the Group to join or perform services on behalf of any other person or entity.

Each of the obligations imposed on the Executive by this Section 16 extend to the Executive acting not only on his own account but also on
behalf of any other firm, company or other person and shall apply whether the Executive acts directly or indirectly.

Following the Termination Date, the Executive will not represent himself as being in any way connected with the businesses of the
Company, GSK plc or of any other Group Company (except to the extent agreed in writing by such a company).

Any benefit given or deemed to be given by the Executive to any Group Company under the terms of this Section 16 is received and held in
trust by the Company for the relevant Group Company. The Executive will enter into appropriate restrictive covenants directly with other
Group Companies if asked to do so by the Company or GSK plc.

Consideration and Reasonableness of Restrictions

17.1

17.2

17.3

17.4

17.5

The Executive acknowledges that the restrictions contained in Section 16 are supported by consideration in the form of compensation
received by the Executive under this Agreement.

Each of the obligations on the Executive contained in Section 16 constitutes a separate and independent restriction on the Executive
notwithstanding that they may be contained in the same Section, paragraph or sentence.

Should the restrictions contained in Section 16 be found to be void but would be valid if some part thereof were deleted or the period or
radius of application reduced, then such restriction shall apply with such modification as may be necessary to make it valid and effective. In
particular, the Executive agrees that the restrictions are reasonable and necessary for the protection of the Company and the Group
Companies.

If the Executive shall, during the Restricted Period, receive from any person, firm or company, an offer to provide services in any capacity
whatsoever, or to enter into employment where acceptance of such offer, or the taking of such employment, might render the Executive in
breach of the provisions of this Agreement, the Executive shall promptly advise the offeror of the existence of the restrictions set forth in
Section 16 of this Agreement.

The Executive acknowledges that the Company may have no adequate remedy at law and would be irreparably harmed if the Executive
breaches or threatens to breach the provisions of Section 16 above and, therefore, agrees that the Company shall be entitled to injunctive
relief to prevent any breach or threatened breach of Section 16 above, and to specific performance of the terms of each such Section in
addition to any other legal or equitable remedy it may have. The Executive further agrees that he shall not, in any equity proceedings
involving the Executive relating to the enforcement of Section 16 above raise the defense that the Company has an adequate remedy at law.
Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as prohibiting the Company from pursuing any other remedies at law or in equity that it may
have.
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19

20

21

22

23

Severability

In the event that any provision or portion of this Agreement shall be determined to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the remaining
provisions or portions of this Agreement shall be unaffected thereby and shall remain in full force and effect to the fullest extent permitted by law.

Successors and Assigns

19.1 This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Company or any corporation or other entity to which the Company
may transfer all or substantially all of its assets and business and to which the Company may assign this Agreement, in which case
“Company”, as used in this Agreement, shall mean such corporation or other entity. The foregoing shall not relieve the Company of any of
its obligations under Section 15 of this Agreement. The rights of the Executive shall inure to the benefit of his heirs, executors,
administrators and other personal representatives.

19.2 The Executive may not assign this Agreement or any part of it, or any rights thereunder or delegate any duties to be performed by him under
it to anyone else.

Survivorship

To the extent contemplated by this Agreement, respective rights and obligations of the parties set out in this Agreement shall survive any
termination of this Agreement to the extent necessary to the intended preservation of such rights and obligations.

Notices

Any notice (including any notice of termination of the Employment) required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing
and shall be deemed to have been given when delivered personally or sent by courier, duly addressed to the party concerned at such address as the
party may notify to the other. Any notice delivered personally under this Section 21 shall be deemed given on the date delivered and any notice
sent by courier shall be deemed given on the date delivery is recorded by such courier.

Entire Agreement

22.1 This Agreement supersedes any previous written or oral agreement between the parties in relation to the matters dealt with in it. It contains
the whole agreement between the parties relating to the Employment at the date the agreement was entered into (except for those terms
implied by law which cannot be excluded by the agreement of the parties). The Executive acknowledges that he has not been induced to
enter into this Agreement by any representation, warranty or undertaking not expressly incorporated into it.

22.2 Neither party’s rights or powers under this Agreement will be affected if:
22.2.1 one party delays in enforcing any provision of this Agreement; or

22.2.2 one party grants time to the other party.

Amendment or Modification; Waiver

No provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived unless such amendment or waiver is agreed to in writing, signed by the Executive and
by a duly authorised officer of the Company who shall supply the Executive with evidence of such authority.

10
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25

26

27

28

Withholding

Anything to the contrary notwithstanding, all payments required to be made by the Company under this Agreement to the Executive, or to his
estate or beneficiaries, shall be subject to withholding of such amounts relating to taxes as the Company may be required to withhold pursuant to
any applicable statute, law or regulation.

Indemnification and Insurance

25.1 The Company agrees that if the Executive is made a party or is threatened to be made a party to any action, suit, proceeding or
governmental or other investigation by reason of the fact of the Employment or that he is or was a director, officer or employee of the
Company or is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, employee or agent of another Group Company or entity
except for any action instigated by the Company or the Executive (a “Proceeding”), he shall be indemnified by the Company to the fullest
extent permitted by applicable law against all expenses, liabilities and losses reasonably incurred or suffered by the Executive in connection
with such a Proceeding (including any tax payable by the Executive as a result of payments made by the Company pursuant to this
indemnity), including, without limitation, payment of expenses incurred in defending a Proceeding prior to the final disposition of such
Proceeding; PROVIDED, however, that written notice of such Proceeding is given promptly to the Company by the Executive and the
Company is permitted (where appropriate) to participate in and assume the defence of such Proceeding. The provisions of this Section 25
shall survive the termination of the Employment and shall be in addition to any other rights to indemnification to which the Executive may
from time to time be entitled, whether under any applicable insurance policies or otherwise.

25.2 The Company will provide the Executive with Legal Expenses Insurance and Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance under the
Company’s policy current from time to time in force subject to such cover being available at reasonable commercial rates.

Collective Agreements — Disciplinary Rules and Procedures
There are no collective agreements which directly affect the terms and conditions set out in this Agreement.

The Company’s harassment and bullying policies, disciplinary rules and procedures and grievance procedures, as in force from time to time, shall
apply to the Executive. The Company reserves the right to leave out any or all of the stages of those rules and procedures where it considers it
appropriate to do so.

Executive Financial Recoupment Policy

The Company’s standard policy on financial recoupment shall apply to the Executive. The current policy titled Executive Financial Recoupment
Policy is attached as Appendix 4 and incorporated by reference herein.

Data Protection

The Executive consents to the Company or any Group Company holding and processing both electronically and manually the data it collects
which relates to the Executive for the purpose of the administration and management of its employees and its business and for compliance with
applicable procedures, laws and regulations. The Executive also consents to the transfer of such personal information to other offices the
Company may have or to a Group Company or to other third parties whether or not outside the United States for administration purposes and
other purposes in connection with the Executive’s Employment where it is necessary or desirable for the Company to do so.

11
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30

Section 409A

29.1

29.2

29.3

294

It is the intention of the parties to this Agreement that no payment or entitlement pursuant to this Agreement will give rise to any adverse tax
consequences to the Executive under Section 409A of the Code and Department of Treasury regulations and other interpretive guidance
issued thereunder, including that issued after the date hereof. The Agreement shall be interpreted to that end and, consistent with that
objective and notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, the Company may take any action it deems necessary or desirable to
amend any provision herein to avoid the application of or excise tax under Section 409A, after giving the Executive reasonable notice and
opportunity to comment. Further, no effect shall be given to any provision herein in a manner that reasonably could be expected to give rise
to adverse tax consequences under Section 409A of the Code.

Any annual cash bonus that the Executive shall become entitled to receive hereunder for any calendar year shall be paid by the Company at
such time and in such manner that annual bonuses are paid to other senior executives of the Company, but not later than the March 15
immediately following the end of the applicable calendar year; provided it shall not be a breach of this Agreement if payment is made later
in the year to the extent the bonus is not determinable by March 15 and payment is made by payroll no later than December 31 of such year.

All payments to be made upon a termination of Employment under the Agreement will only be made upon a “separation from service”
under Section 409A of the Code. In no event may the Executive, directly or indirectly, designate the calendar year of payment. To the
maximum extent permitted under Section 409A of the Code and its corresponding regulations, the amounts payable under the Agreement to
be made upon termination of Employment are intended to meet the requirements of the short-term deferral exemption under Section 409A
of the Code and the “separation pay exception” under Treas. Reg. §1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii). For purposes of the application of Treas. Reg.
§1.409A-1(b)(4) (or any successor provision), each payment in a series of payments to the Executive will be deemed a separate payment.

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in the event that the Executive is deemed to be a “specified employee” within
the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, any payment under this Agreement that constitutes deferred compensation subject to
409A of the Code and would otherwise commence to be paid as a result of the Executive’s “separation from service” (as defined in

Section 409A of the Code and any Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder), will not be made to the Executive before the lapse of six
months after the date such payment would have been made but for this Section 29.4. Any payments that are postponed in accordance with
this Section 29.4 shall be paid in a lump sum payment within 10 days after the end of the six month period. If the Executive dies during the
postponement period prior to payment of the postponed amount, the amounts withheld on account of Section 409A of the Code shall be paid
to the personal representative of the Executive’s estate within 60 days after the date of Executive’s death.

Governing Law

This Agreement shall be deemed a contract made under, and for all purposes shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. Each of the parties submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania’s courts as
regards any claim or matter under this Agreement.

12



31 Titles

Titles to the Sections in this Agreement are intended solely for convenience and no provision of this Agreement is to be construed by reference to
the title of any Section.

In witness whereof the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as a deed on the day and year first above written
GLAXOSMITHKLINE LLC

By: /s/ Dan Troy

Name: Daniel B Troy

Title: General Counsel and SVP

Date: December 8, 2017

HAL V. BARRON

/s/ Hal V. Barron

Date: 16 December 2017

Signed Sealed and Delivered by the

said

HAL V. BARRON in the presence of: /s/ Carol Cunningham

Name: Carol Cunningham

Address



Exhibit 4.5

Dated 18 September 2018
GLAXOSMITHKLINE SERVICES UNLIMITED
and
IAIN MACKAY

SERVICE AGREEMENT



This Agreement is made on 18 September, 2018 between:

GLAXOSMITHKLINE SERVICES UNLIMITED whose registered office is at GSK House, Brentford, Middlesex, TW8 9GS (the
“Company”); and

@

@

TAIN MACKAY (the “Executive”).

Interpretation

1.1

1.2
1.3

In this Agreement (and any schedules to it)
“Accrued Obligations” means:

1.1.1 the Executive’s base salary under this Agreement through to the end of the month in which the Termination Date occurs at the rate
in effect on the Termination Date and the reimbursement (in accordance with Group policy) of any expenses incurred by the
Executive prior to the Termination Date;

1.1.2  any unpaid bonus pertaining to the previous financial year and the product of any target bonus for the financial year in which the
Termination Date occurs and a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days in the Company’s current financial year up to
the Termination Date and the denominator of which is 365;

1.1.3 any remuneration previously deferred by the Executive (together with any accrued interest) and not yet paid by the Company
including payment for any accrued holiday not taken by the Executive; and

1.1.4 any other benefits to which the Executive is entitled, as determined in accordance with the applicable plans and policies of the
Company;

“Board” means the board of directors of the Company from time to time or any person or committee nominated by that board as its
representative for the purposes of this Agreement;

“Employment” means the employment governed by this Agreement;

“Group” means the Company and any other company controlling, controlled by or under the direct or indirect common control of the
Company, including, without limitation, GSK plc and any of its subsidiaries from time to time;

“Group Company” means a member of the Group and “Group Companies” will be interpreted accordingly;

“GSK Board” means the board of directors of GSK plc from time to time or any person or committee nominated by the GSK Board as its
representative for the purposes of this Agreement;

“GSK plc” means GlaxoSmithKline plc;

“Termination Date” means the date on which the Employment terminates, whether on the expiration of notice to terminate the
Employment pursuant to Section 3 or otherwise pursuant to this Agreement.

References to any statutory provisions include any modifications or re-enactments of those provisions.

In this Agreement, terms used in the context of the GlaxoSmithKline 2009 Performance Share Plan shall have the meaning ascribed to them
in such plan.




Employment

The Company confirms the employment of the Executive, and the Executive confirms his employment with the Company, on the terms and
conditions set out in this Agreement.

Termination by Notice

3.1

3.2

The Employment under the terms of this Agreement shall be deemed to have commenced on 14 January, 2019 and the Employment shall
continue until:

@) the Employment is otherwise terminated in accordance with this Agreement; or
(ii) not less than 12 calendar months’ notice in writing is given by the Company to the Executive; or
(iii)  not less than 12 calendar months’ notice in writing is given by the Executive to the Company.

The Company may, in its absolute discretion, lawfully terminate the employment of the Executive at any time by paying to the Executive a
sum equal to his basic salary (excluding any other benefits) for the period this Agreement would otherwise continue. For this purpose, basic
salary shall be the basic salary in effect at the date of termination of the employment.

Duties and Responsibilities

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

The Executive shall be appointed as Chief Financial Officer and shall have such powers and duties as are from time to time given to him by
the Chief Executive Officer consistent with the Employment and this Agreement. In addition, and for no additional consideration, the
Executive shall serve as a director on the GSK Board and, if requested by the GSK Board, shall serve as a director on the Board or any other
board of directors of any Group Company. The Executive agrees that for the purposes of the Working Time Regulations 1998 he is a
managing executive.

During the Employment, the Executive shall devote his full business time and energies to the business and affairs of the Company and GSK
plc, consistent with any other duties and responsibilities he may have to any Group Companies. The Executive’s time shall be allocated
among the Group Companies in accordance with the Executive’s reasonable judgment and dependent upon the level of his responsibilities
to any other Group Company, subject to the overall supervision and direction of the Chief Executive Officer.

The Executive shall not, without the prior written consent of the GSK Board, accept directorships, trusteeships and other appointments
(other than of Group Companies) or carry on or be engaged, concerned or interested either directly or indirectly in any other business or
activity.

The location of the Executive’s activities shall be at GSK House, but subject to the overall supervision and direction of the Chief Executive
Officer, and to perform properly his duties, he may be required to undertake reasonable travel elsewhere in the world. The Executive is
required to reside at a location convenient to the Company’s offices at GSK House (or such other location as the GSK Board may
determine) during the Employment.
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Salary, etc.

5.1

5.2

53

5.4

In consideration of the services to be rendered by the Executive under this Agreement the Executive shall be paid a salary at the rate of
£850,000 per annum payable in accordance with the Company’s pay practices for its executives from time to time in force (but not less
frequently than calendar monthly). The salary will be credited to the Executive’s bank account notified to the Company for the purpose.
Salary shall be reviewed annually in accordance with the Company’s normal administrative practices for its executives and may be
increased (but not reduced) by the Company by such amount (if any) as it shall think fit.

The Executive shall be entitled subject to Section 6.4 to participate

@) in all such cash bonus plans and programmes as are made available from time to time to board level executives of the Company in
accordance with the Company’s policy (or GSK plc’s policy, as applicable); and

(ii) in respect of the salary provided by Section 5.1, in such incentive programmes as are made available from time to time to board level
executives of the Company and/or GSK plc generally,

in each case subject to the terms and conditions of such bonus plans and programmes from time to time in force. Any grants of share options
or awards of performance shares under such plans and programmes shall be granted subject to performance conditions as determined by the
GSK Board. The Executive’s future participation in certain of these plans and programmes may be affected if he does not satisfy the Share
Ownership Requirements (as amended from time to time). It is agreed that in the event of the Executive retiring from the Company, the
Executive will retain the relevant number of shares (as set out in the Share Ownership Requirements) until one year after the date on which
the Executive retires from the Company in accordance with the terms of any Company policy (as may be in force from time to time).

The Executive’s salary under Section 5.1 of this Agreement shall be inclusive of any fees or other remuneration to which the Executive may
be entitled or receives as a Director, alternate Director, specialist adviser, consultant or by virtue of any other office or appointment in any
Group Company. The Executive shall account to the Company for all such fees or other remuneration by paying over or procuring to be
paid over the same to the Company.

GSK shall not be liable for any costs or expenses, including any costs or expenses pertaining to travel undertaken by the Executive, incurred
as a result of any activity or participation in any role or capacity external to and unrelated to GSK or any Group Company. It is agreed that
the Executive will promptly reimburse GSK against any such costs that may be incurred by GSK. Further, the Executive authorises the
Company at any time to deduct from his salary, or any other monies payable to him by the Company, all sums which he owes the Company.
If this is insufficient, the Company will require repayment of the balance.

Expenses and other Benefits

6.1

The Company shall promptly reimburse to the Executive all reasonable travel and other out of pocket expenses properly incurred in the
performance of his duties under the Employment. The Executive will submit claims for expenses reimbursement to the Company regularly
with appropriate supporting documentation.




6.2 The Executive is eligible to participate in the GlaxoSmithKline Cash Allowance and Car Ownership Scheme subject to the rules of the
scheme as amended from time to time. Full details of the Scheme are available on the TotalReward section on myGSK.

6.3 The Company at its expense shall provide the Executive with other benefits provided to board level executives of the Company, and the
Executive shall be entitled to participate in all benefit plans, practices and policies as are made available by the Company from time to time
to its board level executives subject to their terms and conditions from time to time in force. Details of the relevant plans and programmes
are set out in the TotalReward section on my GSK.

6.4 The Company (and GSK plc, as applicable) reserves the absolute right and discretion to amend, modify or terminate all such benefits, plans
and programmes as are referred to in Sections 5.2, 6.2, 6.3 and 8 at any time and for any reason.

Holidays

In addition to all statutory and Bank Holidays, the Executive shall be entitled to 28 days’ holiday in each year at full pay, in accordance with
Company policy from time to time in force, which shall accrue rateably during the calendar year. Up to four days of such holiday shall be taken at
times to be designated by the Company and the remainder shall be taken at such times as the business of the Company may permit. On
termination of the Employment the Executive will be entitled to be paid for any accrued holiday not taken and will reimburse the Company for
any holiday taken but not accrued.

Holiday which is not taken in the year in which it is accrued may be carried forward, in accordance with the Company’s rules on the banking of
holidays outlined in its Holiday Policy, as amended from time to time. Any holiday which is not banked in accordance with these rules will be
lost.

Pension and Life Insurance

The Executive is entitled to be a member of the GSK Pension Plan Senior Executive section (“the Pension Plan”), subject to the conditions of the
trust deed and rules governing the Pension Plan from time to time. If the Executive has reached or reaches any limit set by the Government
relating to pension allowances, the Executive can opt out of the Pension Plan and the Company may pay him a cash supplement in lieu of any
employer pension contributions. The Pension Plan is subject to amendment or withdrawal at the Company’s discretion. Any contributions payable
by the Executive to the pension plan will be deducted from salary via salary sacrifice. The Company shall provide the Executive with the benefit
of life cover which would provide a lump sum equivalent to four times the level of his base salary in the event of death in service.

Sickness
9.1 The Executive shall comply with the Company’s sick pay rules from time to time in force.

9.2  Without prejudice to the Company’s right to terminate the Employment in accordance with Sections 3, 13, 14 and 15, if the Executive is
absent from the Employment as a result of sickness or injury he shall be paid his full salary for the first 26 weeks’ absence (whether or not
consecutive) and half of his salary for the second 26 weeks (whether or not consecutive) in aggregate in any period of 24 calendar months.
The amount of any benefit which the Executive is entitled to claim during that period of absence under any Social Security or National
Insurance Scheme and/or any Scheme of which the Executive
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9.3

is a non-contributory member by virtue of the Employment, will be deducted from any salary paid to him. The Company will pay the
Executive statutory sick pay under the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992 (as amended) and any salary paid to him will be
deemed to include statutory sick pay. The Company reserves the right to offset the amount of these benefits against salary paid to the
Executive even if the Executive has not recovered them.

The Company may request the Executive to have a medical examination every year (or at such shorter intervals as they may agree between
them), by a doctor approved by the Company. The costs of such examinations shall be borne by the Company.

Inventions and Copyright

The Company’s standard policy on inventions and copyright from time to time in force shall apply to the Executive.

Confidentiality; Company Securities

11.1

11.2

11.3

114

Without prejudice to any other duty owed to the Company or to any Group Company, the Executive shall not, except in the proper
performance of his duties or as authorised by the Board, during or after the Employment, use or disclose to any person any Confidential
Information obtained by him during the Employment.

In the course of the Employment, the Executive is likely to obtain trade secrets and confidential information belonging to or relating to
Group Companies and other persons. He will treat such information as if it falls within the terms of Section 11.1 and Section 11.1 will apply
with any necessary amendments to such information. If requested to do so by the Company, the Executive will enter into an agreement with
other Group Companies and any other persons in the same terms as Section 11.1 with any amendments necessary to give effect to this
provision.

For the purposes of this Agreement, the term “Confidential Information” shall include, but not be limited to confidential commercial,
financial and strategic data pertaining to the Group and any other confidential information relating to the business or affairs of the Group
including, without limitation, any invention, trade secret, manufacturing process or patent information. The term “Confidential Information”
shall not include any information:

11.3.1 which is or becomes generally available to the public; or
11.3.2 which is acquired by the Executive apart from his association with the Group

other than, in each case, as a result of disclosure by the Executive or by any person to whom he has supplied information or by any person in
breach of a duty of confidentiality.

In addition, the term “Confidential Information™ shall not include any information which the Executive is required to disclose by applicable
law or regulation or by order of a court or governmental body of competent jurisdiction. This does not affect any rights the Executive has
under Part IVA of the Employment Rights Act 1996.

During the Employment, the Executive shall be bound, in respect of transactions in securities issued by any Group Company, by the
Company’s and GSK plc’s policies from time to time in effect on employee securities dealing. In particular, the Executive shall advise the
Chief Executive Officer, Chairman or Company Secretary of GSK plc before he or any member of his immediate family seeks to trade in
such securities and shall be bound by any directions given by the said Chief Executive Officer, Chairman or Company Secretary.
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12  General Termination Provisions

12.1 On the termination of the Employment for whatever reason, or at any other time when requested to do so by the Company, the Executive,
upon receipt of written request from the Company, shall promptly

(1) deliver up to the Company any property belonging to the Company or any other Group Company which may be in his possession or
under his control including Confidential Information, lists of customers, correspondence, documents and other property. The
Executive will not retain any copies of any materials or other information. The Company shall promptly return to the Executive and
permit him to remove from the premises of the Company and any other Group Company, any property, personal records, files, etc.
belonging to the Executive; and

(ii) resign on request by the Company or the GSK Board (if he has not already done so) from all offices held by him in the Company
and any other Group Company (except for any he is entitled to retain under any separate agreement with any Group Company),
failing which the Executive irrevocably authorises the Company or GSK plc to appoint an officer of the Company or GSK plc to
execute all documents on his behalf and do all things necessary to effect such resignations; PROVIDED, however, that any such
resignations pursuant to this Section 12.1(ii) shall be without prejudice to the Executive’s rights under this Agreement.

12.2 Any termination of the Employment shall be without prejudice to the Executive’s and the Company’s continuing obligations under this
Agreement.

12.3 Upon the termination of the Executive’s employment for whatever reason, the Executive shall immediately repay all outstanding debts or
loans due to the Company or any Group Company and the Company is hereby authorised to deduct from any payment of wages any sum in
repayment of all or any part of such debts or loans.

12.4 The terms of the GSK Redundancy Policy as in force from time to time, shall not apply to the Executive who shall only be entitled to
statutory redundancy pay in addition to any other entitlement under this Agreement if his Employment is terminated by reason of
redundancy.

13  Termination due to Death or Disability

13.1 In the event of the Executive’s death, the Employment will terminate automatically on the date of his death, which shall be the Termination
Date for the purposes of this Agreement. His duly qualified executor shall be entitled to receive the Accrued Obligations.

13.2 The Company may elect to terminate the Employment immediately without notice or payment in lieu of notice by serving written notice
(“Termination Notice for Disability”), if an independent physician selected by the Company has certified in writing that, by reason of a
physical or mental illness or other condition of the Executive, the Executive is unlikely to be able to resume performance of duties under the
Employment for the foreseeable future. The Employment will terminate on the Termination Date specified in the Termination Notice for
Disability. Provided that the Company shall not be entitled to terminate the employment by reason of physical or mental illness or other
condition if this would lead to the Executive becoming dis-entitled to benefits under the Company’s or GSK plc’s permanent health
insurance plan.
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15

13.3

In the event the Company delivers a Termination Notice for Disability, the Executive shall immediately be relieved from all offices,
appointments and responsibilities that he may then hold under the Employment and be relieved of any duty to work for or serve the
Company or any Group Company. The Executive shall be entitled only to the Accrued Obligations, together with such rights as are
provided for in the applicable benefits plan(s) in which the Executive participates.

Termination for Cause

14.1

14.2

14.3
14.4

The Company shall be entitled to terminate the Employment immediately without notice or payment in lieu of notice for Cause (as defined
in this Section 14) by serving written notice (“Notice of Termination for Cause”).

“Cause” shall mean:

14.2.1 the Executive is convicted of any criminal offence which in the reasonable opinion of the Chairman of GSK plc or the GSK Board
affects the Executive’s position as Chief Financial Officer (other than a motoring offence for which no custodial sentence is given to
him); or

14.2.2 the Executive, in carrying out his duties under the Employment, is found guilty of gross neglect, gross misconduct, or significant
misconduct which would include but not be limited to violation of a relevant and material regulation or law, or of a significant GSK
policy or the GSK Code of Conduct; or

14.2.3 the Executive shall become bankrupt or have an order under Section 252 of the Insolvency Act 1986 made in respect of him or if an
interim receiver of his property is appointed under Section 286 of the Act; or

14.2.4 the Executive shall be or become prohibited by law from being a director; or
14.2.5 the Executive commits a serious breach of any material term of this Agreement.
Any delay or forbearance by the Company in exercising any right of termination shall not constitute a waiver of it.

In the event that the Employment is terminated for Cause, the Employment shall terminate upon the date on which the Board serves Notice
of Termination for Cause and the Executive shall be entitled only to payment of all previously accrued and unpaid salary then due and
owing under this Agreement, up to the date of termination including reimbursement for expenses previously incurred and, save for the
provisions of this Section 14.4, the Executive will have no claim for damages or any other remedy against the Company or any Group
Company.

Termination by Notice

15.1

If either notice to terminate the Employment is given by the Executive according to Section 3.1(iii) above, or if the Executive resigns
without giving due notice and the Company does not accept his resignation or the Company has given notice in accordance with Section 3.1
(i1) above then the Company may require the Executive to comply with any and all of the provisions in this Section 15.1 for a maximum
period of 12 months (the “Garden Leave Period”).




15.1.1 The Company may require that the Executive does not:

15.1.2

15.1.3

15.1.4

@
(i)

(iii)

(iv)

™)

enter or attend the premises of the Company, or any Group Company; or

contact or have any communication with any customer or client of the Company, or any Group Company in relation to the
business of the Company, or any Group Company; or

contact or have any communication with any employee, officer, director, agent or consultant of the Company, or any Group
Company in relation to the business of the Company, or any Group Company; or

become employed or engaged by any company, partnership or other entity whether as an employee, director, partner or
consultant or carry on any business either on his own account or for any other person whether directly or indirectly (except as
the holder, directly or indirectly, of less than 5 per cent of the shares or save for those activities permitted in accordance with
Section 4.3);

remain or become involved in any aspect of the business of the Company, or any Group Company except as required by such
companies.

The Company may require the Executive:

(@)
(i)

to comply with the provisions of Section 12; and

to immediately resign from any directorship which he holds in the Company, and any Group Company or any other company
where such directorship is held as a consequence or requirement of the Employment, unless he is required to perform duties to
which any such directorship relates in which case he may retain such directorships while those duties are ongoing. The
Executive hereby irrevocably appoints the Company to appoint an officer of GSK plc as his attorney to execute any instrument
and do anything in his name and on his behalf to effect his resignation if he fails to do so in accordance with this

Section 15.1.2(ii).

During any Garden Leave Period the Company may appoint another individual to carry out the duties of the Executive and the
Executive shall:

(@)

(i)

continue to be bound by the provisions of this Agreement and conduct himself with good faith towards the Company and not
do anything that is harmful to the Company or any Group Company;

remain available to perform any reasonable duty requested by the Company or any Group Company and to co-operate
generally with the Company or any Group Company to ensure a smooth handover of his duties (provided that if the Executive
should fail to make himself available for such work having been requested by the Company or any Group Company to attend
he shall, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement forfeit his right to salary and contractual benefits in respect of
such period of non-availability).

During the Garden Leave Period, the Executive will be entitled to receive his salary and benefits in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement including any bonus payable in accordance with Section 5.2 but excluding any share entitlements under Section 5.2
above.
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15.1.5

15.1.6

15.1.7

15.1.8

Where the Company gives notice to terminate the Employment in accordance with Section 3.2 (except where termination is effected
pursuant to the terms of Section 14) above then notwithstanding the continuation of the Employment during any period after notice
has been given, including, any Garden Leave Period, within 30 days of the date such notice was given to the Executive, the
Company shall pay to the Executive as a lump sum his full salary in respect of the entire period of notice (subject to deduction of tax
and any other deductions required to be made) (the “Lump Sum”). For this purpose, full salary shall be the basic salary in effect at
the date such notice is given to the Executive. For the avoidance of doubt, the payment by the Company to the Executive of the
Lump Sum will extinguish any and all liability imposed on the Company under this Agreement to make any further payment to the
Executive in respect of salary under this Agreement during any period after notice has been given, including, any Garden Leave
Period.

After the payment of a Lump Sum pursuant to Section 15.1.5, at the end of or at any time during the Garden Leave Period the
Company may at its sole and absolute discretion terminate the Employment by further written notice to the Executive without any
further payment. In any event at the end of the 12 month Garden Leave Period the Employment will also terminate automatically
and the Company shall be under no obligation to make any further payment to the Executive, save for in respect of any Accrued
Obligations that may exist.

However, in the event that the Executive obtains an offer of future alternative employment with another employer, or otherwise
wishes to take up alternative business activities, and he can satisfy the GSK Board that such employment/activities are not in breach
of Section 16, the Company shall waive the balance of any unexpired notice period or the Garden Leave Period so as to enable the
Executive to take up such alternative employment/activities; whereupon, subject to Section 12.3 above, the Company’s obligations
to the Executive under this Section 15.1 shall cease with effect from the agreed revised Termination Date.

The Company and the Executive agree that if the Company shall fully perform, when due, all its obligations under this Section 15,
such performance shall be in full and final settlement of all and any claims or rights of action which the Executive might have
against the Company, or any Group Company arising out of this Agreement or its termination or otherwise howsoever relating to the
Employment.

Restrictions during and after Termination of Employment
16.1 In this Section:

“Restricted Business” means the businesses of the Company or any Group Company at the Termination Date (or if earlier the start of any
Garden Leave Period ending on the Termination Date) with which the Executive was involved to a material extent during the last 12 months
of the Employment; and,




16.2

16.3

“Restricted Period” means any period during which the Executive is employed by the Company (including for the avoidance of doubt, any
Garden Leave Period) and the period of 12 months, less any Garden Leave Period imposed by the Company under Section 15 and less any
period of notice worked by the Executive during the notice period set out in Section 3, commencing on the Termination Date.

The Executive is likely to obtain trade secrets and Confidential Information and personal knowledge of and influence over customers,
clients and employees of the Company, GSK plc and its Group Companies during the course of the Employment. To protect these interests,
the Executive agrees with the Company and GSK plc that the Executive will be bound by the following covenants:

16.2.1

16.2.2

16.2.3

16.2.4

16.2.5

During the Restricted Period he will not be employed or engaged in (except as the holder, directly or indirectly, of less than 5 per
cent of the shares) any business which is or is about to be in competition with the Restricted Business.

During the Restricted Period the Executive will not canvass or solicit in competition with the Company, or any Group Company, the
custom of any person who was during the last 12 months of the Employment a customer, or client of, or in the habit of dealing with,
the Company, or (as the case may be) any Group Company and in respect of which the Executive had access to Confidential
Information or with whose custom or business the Executive is or was personally concerned, during that 12 month period with a
view to providing goods or services to that person in competition with any Restricted Business.

During the Restricted Period the Executive will not, in the course of any business concern which is in competition with the
Restricted Business provide goods or services to or otherwise have any dealings with any person who was during the last 12 months
of the Employment a customer, or client of, or in the habit of dealing with the Company, or any Group Company, and in respect of
which the Executive had access to Confidential Information or with whose custom or business the Executive is or was personally
concerned during that 12 month period.

During the Restricted Period the Executive will not, interfere or endeavour to interfere with the continuance of the provision of
goods or services to the Company, or any Group Company, by any supplier which was a supplier of goods or services to the
Company, or any Group Company during the last 12 months of the Employment and with whom the Executive dealt to a material
extent during that period

During the Restricted Period he will not entice or try to entice away from the Company or any Group Company any person who is
still employed by the Company or a Group Company during the Restricted Period and is a senior employee, director or full time
senior consultant of such a company and with whom he worked closely in the last six months of the Employment.

Each of the obligations imposed on the Executive by this Section 16 extend to him acting not only on his own account but also on behalf of
any other firm, company or other person and shall apply whether he acts directly or indirectly.
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18

19

16.4 Following the Termination Date, the Executive will not represent himself as being in any way connected with the businesses of the
Company, GSK plc or of any other Group Company (except to the extent agreed in writing by such a company).

16.5 Any benefit given or deemed to be given by the Executive to any Group Company under the terms of Section 16 is received and held on
trust by the Company for the relevant Group Company. The Executive will enter into appropriate restrictive covenants directly with other
Group Companies if asked to do so by the Company or GSK plc.

Reasonableness of Restrictions

17.1 Each of the obligations on the Executive contained in Section 16 constitutes a separate and independent restriction on the Executive
notwithstanding that they may be contained in the same Section, paragraph or sentence.

17.2 Should the restrictions contained in Section 16 be found to be void but would be valid if some part thereof were deleted or the period or
radius of application reduced, then such restriction shall apply with such modification as may be necessary to make it valid and effective. In
particular, the Executive agrees that the restrictions are reasonable and necessary for the protection of the Company and the Group
Companies.

17.3 If the Executive shall, during the Restricted Period, receive from any person, firm or company, an offer to provide services in any capacity
whatsoever, or to enter into employment where acceptance of such offer, or the taking of such employment, might render him in breach of
the provisions of this Agreement, he shall promptly advise the offeror of the existence of the restrictions set forth in Section 16 of this
Agreement.

17.4 The Executive acknowledges that the Company may have no adequate remedy at law and would be irreparably harmed if the Executive
breaches or threatens to breach the provisions of Section 16 above and, therefore, agrees that the Company shall be entitled to injunctive
relief to prevent any breach or threatened breach of Section 16 above, and to specific performance of the terms of each such Section in
addition to any other legal or equitable remedy it may have. The Executive further agrees that he shall not, in any equity proceedings
involving him relating to the enforcement of Section 16 above raise the defence that the Company has an adequate remedy at law. Nothing
in this Agreement shall be construed as prohibiting the Company from pursuing any other remedies at law or in equity that it may have.

Severability

In the event that any provision or portion of this Agreement shall be determined to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the remaining
provisions or portions of this Agreement shall be unaffected thereby and shall remain in full force and effect to the fullest extent permitted by law.

Successors and Assigns

19.1 This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Company or any corporation or other entity to which the Company
may transfer all or substantially all of its assets and business and to which the Company may assign this Agreement, in which case
“Company”, as used in this Agreement, shall mean such corporation or other entity. The foregoing shall not relieve the Company of any of
its obligations under Section 15 of this Agreement. The rights of the Executive shall inure to the benefit of his heirs, executors,
administrators and other personal representatives.
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23

24

25

19.2 The Executive may not assign this Agreement or any part of it, or any rights thereunder or delegate any duties to be performed by him under
it to anyone else.

Survivorship

To the extent contemplated by this Agreement, respective rights and obligations of the parties set out in this Agreement shall survive any
termination of this Agreement to the extent necessary to the intended preservation of such rights and obligations.

Notices

Any notice (including any Termination Notice) required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to
have been given when delivered personally or sent by courier, duly addressed to the party concerned at such address as the party may notify to the
other. Any notice delivered personally under this Section 21 shall be deemed given on the date delivered and any notice sent by courier shall be
deemed given on the date delivery is recorded by such courier.

Entire Agreement

22.1 This Agreement supersedes any previous written or oral agreement between the parties in relation to the matters dealt with within it. It
contains the whole agreement between the parties relating to the Employment at the date the Agreement was entered into (except for those
terms implied by law which cannot be excluded by the agreement of the parties). The Executive acknowledges that he has not been induced
to enter into this Agreement by any representation, warranty or undertaking not expressly incorporated into it.

22.2 Neither party’s rights or powers under this Agreement will be affected if:

22.2.1 one party delays in enforcing any provision of this Agreement; or

22.2.2 one party grants time to the other party.

Amendment or Modification; Waiver

No provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived unless such amendment or waiver is agreed to in writing, signed by the Executive and
by a duly authorised officer of the Company who shall supply the Executive with evidence of such authority.

Withholding

Anything to the contrary notwithstanding, all payments required to be made by the Company under this Agreement to the Executive, or to his
estate or beneficiaries, shall be subject to withholding of such amounts relating to taxes as the Company may be required to withhold pursuant to
any applicable statute, law or regulation.

Indemnification and Insurance

25.1 The Company agrees that if the Executive is made a party or is threatened to be made a party to any action, suit, proceeding, prosecution or
governmental, regulatory or other investigation by reason of the fact of the Employment or that he is or was a director, officer or employee
of the Company or is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, employee or agent of another Group Company or
entity except for any action instigated by the Company or the Executive (a “Proceeding”), he shall be indemnified by the Company to the
fullest extent permitted by applicable law against all
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expenses, liabilities, fees, costs, damages and losses reasonably incurred or suffered by the Executive in connection with such a Proceeding
(including any tax payable by the Executive as a result of payments made by the Company pursuant to this indemnity), including, without
limitation, payment of expenses incurred in defending a Proceeding prior to the final disposition of such Proceeding; PROVIDED, however,
that written notice of such Proceeding is given promptly to the Company by the Executive and the Company is permitted (where
appropriate) to participate in and assume the defence of such Proceeding. The provisions of this Section 25 shall survive the termination of
the Employment and shall be in addition to any other rights to indemnification to which the Executive may from time to time be entitled,
whether under any applicable insurance policies or otherwise.

25.2 The Company will provide the Executive with Legal Expenses Insurance and Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance under the
Company’s policy current from time to time in force to cover the period during which he acts as a director, officer or employee or agent of
any Group Company or entity under this Agreement whether or not he remains a director, officer, employee or agent of any Group
Company or entity at the time any claim under the policy is made.

Collective Agreements — Disciplinary Rules and Procedures
There are no collective agreements which directly affect the terms and conditions set out in this Agreement.

The Company’s harassment and bullying policies, disciplinary rules and procedures and grievance procedures, as in force from time to time, shall
apply to the Executive. The Company reserves the right to leave out any or all of the stages of those rules and procedures where it considers it
appropriate to do so.

Governing Law

This Agreement shall be deemed a contract made under, and for all purposes shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of England. Each of
the parties submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts as regards any claim or matter under this Agreement.

Titles

Titles to the Sections in this Agreement are intended solely for convenience and no provision of this Agreement is to be construed by reference to
the title of any Section.
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In witness whereof the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as a deed on the day and year first above written

THE COMMON SEAL of
GLAXOSMITHKLINE SERVICES
UNLIMITED was hereunto affixed in the
presence of:

/s/ Paul Williamson

Director

P Williamson

Authorised Signatory

For and on behalf of

Edinburgh Pharmaceuticals Industries
Limited

The Corporate Director

Secretary

/s/ Sonja Reynolds Arseni¢
S Reynolds Arsenig
Authorised Signatory

For and on behalf of
Glaxo Group Limited
Corporate Director

Signed Sealed and Delivered by the
said IAIN MACKAY in the presence of:

/s/ Iain Mackay

Name: Robert Nicol

Address /s/ Robert Nicol

Occupation
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Execution version

DATE 27 MARCH 2018

GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC

and

SETFIRST LIMITED

and

NOVARTIS AG

and

NOVARTIS HOLDING AG

and

NOVARTIS FINANCE CORPORATION

and

GLAXOSMITHKLINE CONSUMER HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

PUT OPTION IMPLEMENTATION AGREEMENT
relating to GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Holdings Limited

Slaughter and May
One Bunhill Row
London EC1Y 8YY
(SRN/DRJ/JODW)

551534464

Exhibit 4.7
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This AGREEMENT is entered into on 27 March 2018

BETWEEN:

€)) GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC, a company registered in England under number 03888792 and whose registered office is at 980 Great West
Road, Brentford, Middlesex, TW8 9GS (“GSK”);

2 SETFIRST LIMITED, a company registered in England under number 2332323 and whose registered office is at 980 Great West Road,
Brentford, Middlesex, TW8 9GS (the “GSK Shareholder” and provided that any person to whom A Shares are transferred by the GSK
Shareholder pursuant to Clause 6.4 shall also be a GSK Shareholder);

3) NOVARTIS AG, a share corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) registered in the Commercial Register of the Canton of Basel-Stadt, Switzerland
under number CHE-103.867.266 and whose registered office is at Basel Switzerland and whose address is Lichstrasse 35, 4056 Basel
(“Novartis”);

4) NOVARTIS HOLDING AG, a company limited by shares (Aktiengesellschaft) registered in the Commercial Register of Basel-Stadt,
Switzerland under number CHE-103.959.690 whose registered office is at Lichstrasse 35, 4056 Basel (the “First Novartis Shareholder”);

5) NOVARTIS FINANCE CORPORATION, a company incorporated under the laws of New York with an office at 230 Park Avenue, New
York, NY 10169 (the “Second Novartis Shareholder” and, together with the First Novartis Shareholder, the “Novartis Shareholders”); and

(6) GLAXOSMITHKLINE CONSUMER HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED, a company registered in England under number 08998608

and whose registered office is at 980 Great West Road, Brentford, Middlesex, TW8 9GS (the “Company”),

each, a “party” and together, the “parties”.

WHEREAS:

1.

On 2 March 2015, GSK, the GSK Shareholder, Novartis, the Novartis Shareholders and the Company entered into the Shareholders’ Agreement
(as defined below).

Pursuant to the terms of the Shareholders’ Agreement, the Novartis Shareholders may, from 2 March 2018 to 2 March 2035 (other than in
certain restricted periods), serve notice to require the GSK Shareholder to purchase the B Shares (as defined below) (or specified tranches of
them) from the Novartis Shareholders at the fully distributed public trading equity value of such B Shares (as determined in accordance with the
provisions of the Shareholders’ Agreement).

Novartis and the Novartis Shareholders wish to exit their investment in the Company and, accordingly, have agreed with GSK that this should
take place at an agreed value having regard to the pricing methodology contained in the Shareholders’ Agreement.
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4. GSK, the GSK Shareholder, Novartis and the Novartis Shareholders have given their approval (for the purposes of the Shareholders’ Agreement
and for any other purpose) to the Company entering into this Agreement and have acknowledged that the Company’s entry into this Agreement
has been duly authorised by the Board (as defined below).

S. The parties now therefore wish to enter into this Agreement to set out their agreement in relation to various matters relating to the Company,
including the reduction and cancellation of the B Shares and the payments of the amounts specified herein by the Company to the Novartis
Shareholders.

IT IS AGREED as follows:
1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 In this Agreement:

“A Director” has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;
“A Shares” has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;
“Accounting Policies” has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;
“Affiliate” means, with respect to any person, any other person that (directly or indirectly) Controls, is Controlled by or is

under common Control with such person, and “Affiliates” shall be interpreted accordingly;

“Agreed Form” in relation to any document means that document in a form agreed by the parties and initialled or otherwise
confirmed for the purposes of identification by or on behalf of each party (including by its counsel);

“Applicable Law” means any statute, law, rule, regulation, ordinance, code or rule of common law issued, administered or enforced
by any governmental or regulatory authority, or any judicial or administrative interpretation thereof, including,
for the avoidance of doubt, any rules issued by the FCA and the rules of any stock exchange;

“B Director” has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;
“B Shares” has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;
“Base Cash Amount” has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;
“Board” has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;
“Borrowings” has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;
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“CA 2006”

“Cancellation”

“Cancellation Solvency
Statement”

“Cancellation Statement of
Capital”

“Cancellation Statement of
Compliance”

“Cancellation Written
Resolution”

“Cash Shortfall True-up
Amount”

“Completion”
“Completion Balance Sheet”

“Completion Business Day”

“Completion Date”
“Conditions”
“Connected Persons”

“Consideration Amount”

means the Companies Act 2006;

means the reduction of the capital of the Company by way of cancellation of the B Shares in accordance with the
procedure set out under section 641(1)(a) of the CA 2006;

means the solvency statement to be given by each of the directors of the Company at the time of such statement
in connection with the Cancellation in accordance with section 643 of the CA 2006,

means the statement of capital to be delivered by the Company to the Registrar in connection with the
Cancellation in accordance with section 644(1)(b) of the CA 2006;

means the statement of compliance to be delivered by the Company to the Registrar in connection with the
Cancellation in accordance with section 644(5) of the CA 2006;

means the special written shareholder resolution of the Company approving the Cancellation in accordance with
section 641(1)(a) of the CA 2006;

has the meaning given in Clause 9.3(B);

means closing of the Put Option Transaction in accordance with the terms of this Agreement;
has the meaning given in Clause 9.1;

means a day which is not a Saturday, a Sunday or public holiday in the canton of Basel Stadt (Switzerland), in
the canton of Ziirich (Switzerland), in Luxembourg City (Luxembourg), in New York (US) or in London (United
Kingdom);

has the meaning given in Clause 7;
has the meaning given in Clause 3.1;
has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;

means an amount equal to USD13,000,000,000;
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“Control”

“Deed of Adherence”

“Default Rate”

“Directors”

“Excess Cash True-up Amount”
“FCA”

“FSMA”

“GBP”

“Governmental Authority”

“Governmental Order”

“Group”
“Group Transferee”

“GSK Articles of Association”

means, in relation to a person, the ability of another person to ensure that the activities and business of the first
mentioned person are conducted in accordance with the wishes of that other person (whether by exercise of
contractual rights, ownership of shares or otherwise), and a person shall be deemed to have Control of a body
corporate if that person has the contractual right to procure that the activities and business of that body corporate
are conducted in accordance with that person’s wishes or if that person possesses the majority of the issued share
capital or the voting rights in that body corporate or the right to receive the majority of the income of that body
corporate on any distribution by it of all of its income or the majority of its assets on a winding up (and
“Controller”, “Controlled” and “Controlling” shall be construed accordingly);

means a deed of adherence to this Agreement in the form set out in Schedule 1;
means one per cent. above USD LIBOR per annum, accruing daily;

has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;

has the meaning given in Clause 9.3(A);

means the Financial Conduct Authority;

means the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000;

means pounds sterling;

means any supra-national, federal, national, state, county, local, municipal or other governmental, regulatory or
administrative authority, agency, commission or other instrumentality, any court, tribunal or arbitral body with
competent jurisdiction, or any national securities exchange;

means any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, ruling or determination of or obtained by a Governmental
Authority;

means a person and that person’s Affiliates from time to time;
has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;

means the articles of association of GSK in force and effect from time to time;
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“GSK Break Fee”

“GSK Break Fee Refund”
“GSK D&O Policy”
“GSK Directors”

“GSK Members”

“GSK Recommendation”

“GSK Shareholder Approval
Condition”

“GSK Shareholder Circular”

“GSK Shareholder Loan”
“GSK Shareholder Meeting”
“GSK Shareholder Resolution”
“GSK Sponsor”

“GSK Transaction
Announcement”

“GSK Transferee”
“GSK Transferor”
“Guaranteed Party”

“Guarantor”

means an amount equal to USD200,000,000, as may be adjusted pursuant to Clause 13.7;
has the meaning given in Clause 8.4(A);

has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;

means the directors of GSK from time to time;

means the holders of ordinary shares in the capital of GSK from time to time;

has the meaning given in Clause 4.11(A);
means the condition set out in Clause 3.1(A);

means the circular to be prepared by GSK and approved by the UKLA in connection with the Put Option
Transaction (and including the GSK Shareholder Resolution) under and in accordance with the Listing Rules,
including a notice convening a GSK Shareholder Meeting;

has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;
has the meaning given in Clause 3.1(A);
has the meaning given in Clause 3.1(A);

means the person or persons acting as sponsor (as defined in the Listing Rules) in relation to the GSK
Shareholder Circular;

means the announcement to be made by GSK in relation to the Put Option Transaction and this Agreement
substantially in the Agreed Form (provided that only the parts of GSK’s announcement relating to the Put
Option Transaction and this Agreement are required to be in the Agreed Form);

has the meaning given in Clause 6.4;
has the meaning given in Clause 6.4;

has the meaning given in Clause 11.1(A) and 11.1(B);

has the meaning given in Clause 11.1;
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“Half-Yearly Accounting Period”  has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;

“Interest Rate” means 0.20% per cent. above USD LIBOR per annum, accruing daily;

“Joint Shareholder Loan” has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;

“Key Objectives” has the meaning given in Clause 4.3;

“Listing Rules” means the listing rules made by the FCA under section 73A of FSMA,;

“Negative Condition” has the meaning given to it in Clause 3.1(B);

“Novartis Percentage” means the aggregate of the Percentage Interests of the Novartis Shareholders immediately prior to Completion;
“Novartis Transaction means the announcement to be made by Novartis in substantially the Agreed Form;

Announcement”

“Percentage Interests” has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;

“Preparatory Capital Step” means:

(A) any capitalisation of any account or reserve (whether statutory or non-statutory) of the Company,
including any issuance of deferred shares to a member of GSK’s Group in connection with any such
capitalisation; and

(B) any reduction of any part of the share capital or any reducible reserve or account of the Company,

that is, in either case, proposed by the Company or GSK to be carried out (i) prior to or contemporaneously with
the Cancellation, and (ii) in connection with and in order to facilitate and/or support the Cancellation and the
payments to be made hereunder in respect thereof by the Company to the Novartis Shareholders;

“Proceedings” means any proceeding, suit or action arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, whether contractual or
non-contractual;

“Put Option Transaction” means the transaction being implemented under this Agreement;
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“Readily Available Cash”

“Registrar”
“Relevant Tax Deduction”

“Representatives”

“Reserved Matter”

“Resignation and Release Letter”

“Service Document”

“Shareholder Loan”

“Shareholders”

“Shareholders’ Agreement”

“Shares”

“Tax”, “Taxes” or “Taxation”
“Tax Authority”

“Third Party”

has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement (including as amended by paragraph 1.2 of the letter
agreement entered into between the parties on 23 June 2016);

means the registrar of companies in England and Wales;
has the meaning given in Clause 16.2;

means, in relation to any party, any of its and/or any other member of its Group’s directors, officers, employees,
agents, representatives, bankers, auditors, accountants, financial advisers, legal advisers and any other
professional advisers;

has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;

means a deed of resignation and release in the form set out in Schedule 2 to be provided by each of the B
Directors to the Company in accordance with Clause 5.7(B);

means a claim form, application notice, order, judgment or other document relating to any Proceedings;

has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement (and for the avoidance of doubt, any loan or other
financing obtained by the Company from any member of GSK’s Group in connection with this Agreement shall
not be a Shareholder Loan);

means the GSK Shareholder(s) and the Novartis Shareholders;

means the shareholders’ agreement in relation to the Company, between GSK, the GSK Shareholder, Novartis,
the Novartis Shareholders and the Company entered into on 2 March 2015, as amended pursuant to letter
agreements dated 30 June 2015, 13 August 2015 and 23 June 2016;

has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;
has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;
has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;

has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement;
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“Third Party Beneficiary” has the meaning given in Clause 32.1;

“Third Party Rights Provisions” has the meaning given in Clause 32.1;

“UK Business Day” means a day which is not a Saturday, a Sunday or public holiday in London (United Kingdom);

“UKLA” means the FCA acting in its capacity as the competent authority under FSMA;

“Unconditional Date” has the meaning given in Clause 7;

“ysb” means US Dollars;

“USD LIBOR” means the overnight London interbank offered rate administered by ICE Benchmark Administration Limited (or

any other person which takes over the administration of that rate) for USD and displayed on pages LIBORO1 or
LIBORO2 of the Thomson Reuters screen (or any replacement Thomson Reuters page which displays that rate);

“VAT?” means:

(A) any Tax imposed in compliance with the council directive of 28 November 2006 on the common
system of value added tax (EC Directive 2006/112);

(B) to the extent not included in paragraph (A) above, any value added tax imposed by VATA 1994 and
legislation and regulations supplemental thereto; and

(C) any other Tax of a similar nature to the Taxes referred to in paragraph (A) or paragraph (B) above,
whether imposed in a member state of the European Union in substitution for, or levied in addition to,
the Taxes referred to in paragraph (A) or paragraph (B) above or imposed elsewhere;

“VATA 1994~ means the Value Added Tax Act 1994,
“Wholly-Owned Group” has the meaning given in the Shareholders’ Agreement; and

“Working Hours” means 9.30 a.m. to 5.30 p.m. on a UK Business Day in the relevant place.
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1.2

In construing this Agreement, unless otherwise specified:

(A)
B)

©

(D)

(E)

)

G
(H)

)

Q)
()

references to clauses and schedules are to clauses of, and schedules to, this Agreement;

use of any gender includes the other genders and (unless the context otherwise requires) the singular shall include the plural and vice
versa;

references to a “person” shall be construed so as to include any individual, firm, company or other body corporate, government, state or
agency of a state, local or municipal authority or government body or any joint venture, association or partnership (whether or not having
separate legal personality);

“body corporate” shall have the meaning given in section 1173 of the Companies Act 2006;

a reference to any statute or statutory provision shall be construed as a reference to the same as it may have been, or may from time to
time be, amended, modified or re-enacted;

any reference to a “day” (including within the phrase “UK Business Day” or “Completion Business Day”) shall mean a period of 24
hours running from midnight to midnight;

references to “include” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation™;

references to “indemnify” any person against any circumstance shall include indemnifying and keeping it or him harmless from all
actions, claims and proceedings from time to time made against it or him and all loss, damage, payments, costs or expenses suffered,
made or incurred by it or him as a consequence of that circumstance and, unless otherwise specified, any indemnity given in this
agreement shall be deemed to have been given on an after-Tax basis;

a reference to any other document referred to in this Agreement is a reference to that other document as amended, varied, novated or
supplemented (other than in breach of the provisions of this Agreement or that other document) at any time;

headings and titles are for convenience only and do not affect the interpretation of this Agreement;

a reference to any English legal term for any action, remedy, method of judicial proceeding, legal document, legal status, court, official
or any legal concept or thing shall in respect of any jurisdiction other than England be treated as a reference to any analogous term in that
jurisdiction;
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1.3

@) the rule known as the ejusdem generis rule shall not apply and accordingly general words introduced by the word “other” shall not be
given a restrictive meaning by reason of the fact that they are preceded by words indicating a particular class of acts, matters or things;
and

(M)  general words shall not be given a restrictive meaning by reason of the fact that they are followed by particular examples intended to be
embraced by the general words.

The schedules form part of this Agreement and shall have the same force and effect as if expressly set out in the body of this Agreement, and
any reference to this Agreement shall include the schedules.

Any indemnity being given on an “after-Tax basis” means that the amount payable pursuant to the indemnity (the “Payment”) shall be
calculated in such a manner as will ensure that, after taking into account:

(A)  any Tax required to be deducted or withheld from the Payment;

(B)  the amount and timing of any additional Tax which becomes payable by the recipient of the Payment as a result of the Payment’s being
subject to Tax in the hands of that person; and

(C)  the amount and timing of any Tax benefit which is obtained, by the recipient of the Payment to the extent that such Tax benefit is
attributable to the matter giving rise to the indemnity payment or the receipt of the Payment,

the recipient of the Payment is in the same position as that in which it would have been if the matter giving rise to the indemnity payment had
not occurred (or, in the case of a Payment arising by reference to a matter affecting a person other than the recipient of the Payment, the recipient
of the Payment and that other person are, taken together, in the same position as that in which they would have been had the matter giving rise to
the indemnity payment not occurred), provided that (i) the amount of the Payment shall not exceed that which it would have been if it had been
regarded for all Tax purposes as received solely by the recipient and not any other person and (ii) if any party to this Agreement shall have
assigned or novated the benefit of this Agreement in whole or in part or, after the date of this Agreement, have changed its Tax residence or the
permanent establishment to which the rights under this Agreement are allocated then no Payment to that party shall be increased by reason of the
operation of paragraphs (A) to (C) above to any greater extent than would have been the case had no such change taken place.

AGREEMENT
The parties agree that:

(A)  at Completion, the Company shall carry out the Cancellation; and
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2.2

32
33

(B)  following the Cancellation taking effect in accordance with Applicable Law, the Company shall pay to the Novartis Shareholders the
Consideration Amount in accordance with Clauses 8.3 and 8.4,

subject to and in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

The parties agree that, by mutual agreement, the exit by Novartis and the Novartis Shareholders from their investment in the Company may be
implemented by a transfer of the B Shares from the Novartis Shareholders to the GSK Shareholder(s) but otherwise on the terms and subject to
the conditions of this Agreement.

CONDITIONS TO COMPLETION
Completion under this Agreement is in all respects conditional upon satisfaction or, where applicable, waiver of the following conditions:

(A)  the passing at a duly convened and held general meeting of the GSK Members (the “GSK Shareholder Meeting”) of an ordinary
resolution to approve the Put Option Transaction to be implemented pursuant to this Agreement for the purposes of Chapter 11 of the
Listing Rules in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules, the GSK Articles of Association and all other Applicable Law
(the “GSK Shareholder Resolution”) (this condition being the “GSK Shareholder Approval Condition”); and

(B)  there not being any Governmental Order in effect (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) issued by a Governmental Authority of
competent jurisdiction that has the effect of making the Put Option Transaction illegal or otherwise restraining or prohibiting the
consummation of it (this condition being the “Negative Condition™),

the matters described this Clause 3.1 being the “Conditions”.
Each of the Conditions shall only be waivable with the consent of each of GSK and Novartis.
Each party confirms that, as at the date hereof, it is not aware of:

(A) any approval or consent that is required to be obtained or any other action needing to be taken in order to satisfy the Negative Condition;
or

B) subject to the satisfaction of the GSK Shareholder Approval Condition, any antitrust, legal, regulatory or Third Party approvals or
consents as are mandatorily required by Applicable Law to be obtained in respect of the Put Option Transaction prior to Completion.

OBLIGATIONS IN RESPECT OF CONDITIONS TO COMPLETION

Subject to Clause 4.12, GSK shall use reasonable endeavours to:
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4.2

(A)

B)

©

publish (or procure the publishing of) the GSK Shareholder Circular (together with the relevant forms of proxy) in accordance with (as to
both issuance and content) Applicable Law;

following the publication of the GSK Shareholder Circular and without prejudice to the other provisions of this Clause 4.1 and Clauses
4.2 to 4.4 (inclusive), publish (or procure the publishing of) any supplementary circular to the GSK Shareholder Circular (or any other
amended, supplemental or supplemented material, document, announcement or notice to, or following the publishing of, the GSK
Shareholder Circular) as is required to be published by GSK in connection with the Put Option Transaction and this Agreement under
and in accordance with the Listing Rules or other Applicable Law (and, for the avoidance of doubt, unless so required by the Listing
Rules or other Applicable Law, GSK shall not, subject always to Clause 4.12, seek to revise, alter, supplement or modify the GSK
Shareholder Circular following its initial publication without Novartis’s written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or
delayed)); and

fulfil (or procure the fulfilment of) the GSK Shareholder Approval Condition,

in each case, as soon as reasonably practicable having regard to the Key Objectives and with the further objective of achieving a Completion
Date of 1 June 2018.

Subject to Clause 4.12, GSK shall:

(A)

(B)

©
(D)
(E)

prior to the GSK Shareholder Meeting and subject to Applicable Law, keep Novartis informed, on a regular basis, of the number of
proxy votes received in respect of the GSK Shareholder Resolution;

in accordance with Applicable Law and regulation and the GSK Articles of Association, (i) hold (subject to any adjournment (any such
adjournment being subject to the provisions of Clause 4.2(F)) such GSK Shareholder Meeting at the time and date specified in the GSK
Shareholder Circular, and (ii) propose and hold a vote upon the GSK Shareholder Resolution (such resolution to be voted on by way of a
poll) on such date;

not amend the GSK Shareholder Resolution other than with the prior written consent of Novartis (not to be unreasonably withheld);
permit a reasonable number of Novartis’s advisers and representatives to attend the GSK Shareholder Meeting;

not propose any resolution that would result in the revocation or invalidity of the GSK Shareholder Resolution such that the Put Option
Transaction cannot be implemented in accordance with its terms;
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43

4.4

)

@)

(H)

not adjourn the GSK Shareholder Meeting (or the vote on the GSK Shareholder Resolution) from the time and date specified in the GSK
Shareholder Circular without the prior written consent of Novartis (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) unless, in the view of the
GSK Directors (acting in good faith): (i) such adjournment is required by Applicable Law, (ii) it is not reasonably practicable to seek
such consent because the adjournment is on account of a force majeure event or an emergency adjournment; (iii) such adjournment is
reasonably necessary for the proper conduct of, or proper consideration of any matter at, the GSK Shareholder Meeting; or (iv) the
motion to adjourn is only moved at the GSK Shareholder Meeting by GSK Shareholders (other than the GSK Directors);

if the GSK Shareholder Meeting is adjourned to another day than that for which it was originally convened, procure that it shall be
adjourned for as short a period as is reasonably practicable and permissible; and

not induce or encourage any shareholder to seek to adjourn the GSK Shareholder Meeting.

For the purposes of Clause 4.1, the “Key Objectives” are the following:

(A)

(B)

that the GSK Shareholder Circular contains all information necessary for the GSK Members to make a properly informed decision as to
whether or not to pass the GSK Shareholder Resolution, taking account of the matters, circumstances or requirements relevant to the Put
Option Transaction and this Agreement or to the satisfaction of any of the Conditions; and

that the process of fulfilling the GSK Shareholder Approval Condition, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the publication of the GSK
Shareholder Circular, shall be conducted so as to minimise, to the greatest extent possible, the risk of a supplementary circular to the
GSK Shareholder Circular (or any other amended, supplemental or supplemented material, document, announcement or notice to, or
following the publishing of, the GSK Shareholder Circular) being required to be published by GSK under the Listing Rules or otherwise.

The Key Objectives shall be solely for the GSK Directors to assess and deliver, acting in good faith after consultation with outside counsel and
the GSK Sponsor(s). As at the date of this Agreement, and subject to Novartis’s compliance with Clause 4.7, GSK’s good faith expectation is
that the Key Objectives are likely to be sufficiently advanced to enable it to submit a substantially complete first draft of the GSK Shareholder
Circular to the UKLA for review in the timeframe stated in Clause 4.8 and that it would, in the ordinary course thereafter, therefore expect to be
in a position to publish or procure the publishing of the GSK Shareholder Circular as soon as reasonably practicable following completion of the
UKLA review process and the formal approval by the UKLA of the GSK Shareholder Circular, provided that:

(A)

(B)

the matters, circumstances or requirements relevant to the Put Option Transaction, and/or to the satisfaction of any of the Conditions
have, in each case, been finalised; or

to the extent that any such matters, facts and/or circumstances referred to in Clause 4.4(A) have not been finalised, any remaining
uncertainty in respect of them is not material, and such remaining uncertainty and the range of possible outcomes in relation to such
matters, facts and/or circumstances are capable of full and fair disclosure in the GSK Shareholder Circular in a way that meets the Key
Objectives,
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4.5

4.6

4.7

and, without prejudice to the generality of Clauses 4.5 and 4.9, GSK shall keep Novartis informed and consult with Novartis in relation to its
assessment of the matters specified in (A) and (B) above.

GSK shall keep Novartis informed on an on-going basis of anticipated timings in relation to the publishing of the GSK Shareholder Circular and
of the satisfaction of the GSK Shareholder Approval Condition.

GSK shall take all reasonable steps as are required in connection with the preparation and approval by the UKLA of the GSK Shareholder
Circular, with a view to having a near finalised draft of the GSK Shareholder Circular (subject to any such amendments as may be required to
satisfy the Key Objectives and/or to reflect any other developments or changes in relation to the Put Option Transaction or any other matter) as
soon as reasonably practicable following the date of this Agreement.

Novartis shall use reasonable endeavours to provide, either itself or through its Representatives, to GSK and/or its Representatives all such
information, documentation, co-operation and assistance as GSK and/or any other member of its Group and/or any of its and/or their
Representatives may reasonably request in connection with:

(A)  the preparation, approval by the UKL A and/or publishing of the GSK Shareholder Circular;

(B)  the preparation, approval by the UKLA and/or publishing of any supplementary circular to the GSK Shareholder Circular (or any other
amended, supplemental or supplemented material, document, announcement or notice to, or following the publication of, the GSK
Shareholder Circular) required to be published by GSK in connection with the transaction contemplated by this Agreement under and in
accordance with the Listing Rules or otherwise;

(C)  any preparation, approval by the UKLA and/or publishing of any ancillary documents to those set out in Clauses 4.7(A) and 4.7(B),
including, for the avoidance of doubt, any form of proxy in connection with the GSK Shareholder Resolution;

(D)  the convening of the GSK Shareholder Meeting for the purposes of passing the GSK Shareholder Resolution; and
(E) any other matter in connection with the satisfaction of the GSK Shareholder Approval Condition,

which information, documentation, co-operation and assistance shall include (without limitation) any information about Novartis and/or any
other member of its Group reasonably required or necessary to be included in any public documents, announcements, statements and/or notices
to be produced by GSK in connection with the GSK Shareholder Approval Condition under the Listing Rules or otherwise (including, for
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4.10

the avoidance of doubt, the GSK Shareholder Circular and/or any supplementary circular thereto (and/or any other amended, supplemental or
supplemented material, document, announcement or notice thereto or following the publication thereof)). Novartis further agrees that: (i) any
information or documentation provided by it and/or any other member of its Group and/or any of its and/or their Representatives on its behalf
pursuant to this Clause 4.7 shall be prepared in good faith and shall not be misleading in any material respect at the time of supply; and (ii) prior
to publication of the GSK Shareholder Circular it will (reasonably promptly upon request by GSK) confirm to GSK whether any information or
documentation within (i) continues not to be misleading in any material respect.

4.8 As at the date of this Agreement, it is GSK’s expectation that a submission of a substantially complete first draft of the GSK Shareholder
Circular will be made to the UKLA within two UK Business Days after (but excluding) the date of this Agreement. GSK will provide a
copy of the submission draft to Novartis promptly following the date of this Agreement.

4.9 GSK shall and/or shall procure that its relevant professional advisers shall:
(A) as soon as reasonably practicable following the date of this Agreement and prior to publishing the GSK Shareholder Circular:
@) give Novartis and its advisers a reasonable opportunity to review such GSK Shareholder Circular (or draft thereof); and

(i1) give reasonable consideration (acting in good faith) to all comments proposed by Novartis and its advisers in relation to
the same within the timeframe specified by GSK and/or its professional advisers (acting reasonably when specifying
such timeframe); and

B) prior to publishing any supplementary circular to the GSK Shareholder Circular (and/or any other draft amended, supplemental
and/or supplemented material, document, announcement and/or notice thereto or following the publication thereof), to the
extent reasonably practicable:

(6)] give Novartis and its advisers a reasonable opportunity to review the same; and

(i1) give reasonable consideration (acting in good faith) to all comments proposed by Novartis and its advisers in relation to
the same within the timeframe specified by GSK and/or its professional advisers (acting reasonably when specifying
such timeframe).

GSK shall provide Novartis and its advisers with any material written comments that GSK or its advisers may receive from time to time from the
UKLA or its staff with respect to information contained in the GSK Shareholder Circular (or any ancillary or supplemental document thereto
and/or any draft thereof) that (i) relates to or impacts upon the Put Option Transaction (or the timing thereof) or (ii) is information on or from
Novartis and its Group. GSK shall promptly consult with Novartis and its advisers prior to responding to any such comments and shall provide
Novartis with copies of all written responses to such comments (or if oral responses, reasonable summaries thereof). GSK and Novartis shall
each use all reasonable endeavours to resolve, and each party agrees to consult and cooperate with the other party in resolving, all such
comments as promptly as practicable after receipt thereof.
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4.11

4.12

4.13

GSK confirms that its board of directors has by way of unanimous board resolution determined that this Agreement and the Put Option
Transaction are in the best interests of GSK and the GSK Members as a whole. GSK shall procure that:

(A)  the GSK Transaction Announcement shall include a statement of the GSK Directors’ intention to unanimously recommend that the GSK
Members vote in favour of the GSK Shareholder Resolution at the GSK Shareholder Meeting when convened (the “GSK
Recommendation™);

(B)  the GSK Directors shall give the GSK Recommendation in the GSK Shareholder Circular;

©) subject to Clause 4.12, the GSK Directors shall not adversely change, withdraw or qualify the GSK Recommendation (or, prior to
publication of the GSK Shareholder Circular, their intention to provide such recommendation); and

(D)  the GSK Shareholder Circular shall contain a statement that the GSK Directors intend, in respect of any personal shareholding in GSK
that any such director may have at the time of the vote on the GSK Shareholder Resolution, to vote in accordance with the GSK
Recommendation,

and provided that in the event that the GSK Directors shall at any time be minded to adversely change, withdraw or qualify the GSK
Recommendation (or, prior to publication of the GSK Shareholder Circular, their intention to provide such recommendation), GSK shall
promptly notify Novartis of the same and, in reasonable detail, of the facts, matters and circumstances underlying the same,

The obligations of GSK set out in Clauses 4.1, 4.2 and 4.11(A) to 4.11(D) (inclusive) are subject to the fiduciary duties (and any other duty to
provide advice or recommendation to the GSK Shareholders) from time to time of the GSK Directors (as determined in good faith by the GSK
Directors after consultation with external counsel).

For the purposes of Clauses 4.11(C) and 13.1(A), the GSK Directors shall be deemed not to have adversely changed, withdrawn or qualified:

(A)  the GSK Recommendation if, following the publishing of the GSK Shareholder Circular, GSK is required to produce a supplementary
circular thereto (and/or any other amended, supplemental and/or supplemented material, document, announcement and/or notice thereto
or following the publishing thereof); or
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4.14

B)

their intention to provide the GSK Recommendation if, prior to publishing of the GSK Shareholder Circular, GSK is required to make or
issue any further announcement, statement or notice in relation to the Put Option Transaction, provided that in any such supplementary
circular (or such amended, supplemental or supplemented material, document, announcement or notice thereto or following the
publishing thereof) or, as the case may be, announcement, statement or notice, the GSK Directors re-affirm the GSK Recommendation
or, as the case may be, their intention to provide the GSK Recommendation, in any such case, based on the matters, facts and
circumstances as set out in any public announcements, statements or notices that have been and/or are made or given or in any
documents that have been and/or are published, in any such case, by GSK in connection with the Put Option Transaction.

In relation to the Negative Condition, each party shall, and shall procure that each other relevant member of their respective Groups shall,
co-operate with one another (acting reasonably) and take all such steps (which they are lawfully able to take) as are necessary in order to satisfy
such Condition as soon as reasonably practicable following the date of this Agreement (save only where such step would have a material adverse
effect on their respective Group).

CONDUCT BEFORE COMPLETION

Subject to Clause 12.1, the Shareholders’ Agreement shall continue to have effect in accordance with its terms, save that, at all times prior to the
termination of this Agreement (or as otherwise expressly modified or provided herein or as otherwise required to give effect to the terms of this
Agreement):

(A)

(B)

©

the B Directors shall not be entitled to participate in any part of the proceedings of the Board or receive any materials made available to
the Board relating to the operation or performance of this Agreement (including the Cancellation or any Preparatory Capital Step), or any
claim or liability arising in connection with it, and the quorum and notice provisions of Clause 8 of the Shareholders’ Agreement shall
apply on the basis that no notice is required to be given to the B Directors (and they shall not be necessary for any applicable quorum) in
relation to such proceedings;

where any Shareholder transfers all (but not some only) of its Shares to any other Group Transferee in accordance with Clause 17 of the
Shareholders’ Agreement, such Shareholder may only do so where the Group Transferee has first entered into a Deed of Adherence in
respect of this Agreement in the form set out in Schedule 1 of this Agreement (which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall be in addition to
such Group Transferee having entered into a Deed of Adherence in respect of the Shareholders’ Agreement, as provided in the
Shareholders’ Agreement);

the provisions of Clauses 19, 20 and 22 and Schedule 3 of the Shareholders’ Agreement shall be disapplied until this Agreement is
terminated, at which point such provisions shall have full force and effect in accordance with the terms of the Shareholders’ Agreement;
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52

53

54

5.5

5.6

(D)  neither Novartis Shareholder shall be permitted to make a transfer of its B Shares under Clause 17 of the Shareholders’ Agreement after
the earlier of (i) the Unconditional Date, (ii) the date on which the B Directors resign from the Board, or (iii) the date that is 15 UK
Business Days before any scheduled Completion Date. Clause 5.1(B) shall apply in respect of any such transfer made prior to such dates.
Any transfer purported to be made in breach of this Clause 5.1(D) shall be void and of no effect; and

(E)  in the event that the Company requests any funding from the Shareholders in accordance with Clause 13.2 of the Shareholders’
Agreement, the Novartis Shareholders shall not participate in the provision of any Joint Shareholder Loan and any such funding need
shall be met by a GSK Shareholder Loan only.

From the date of this Agreement until Completion, the Company shall continue to calculate and pay dividends to the Shareholders in accordance
with its practice as at the date of this Agreement (including any interim dividends that the Company is accustomed to pay other than in respect of
any Half-Yearly Accounting Period). The Company currently expects the first interim dividend in respect of the 12 month period to
31 December 2018 to be paid on or around 30 April 2018.

From the date of this Agreement until Completion, the Company shall (and GSK shall procure that the Company shall) conduct its business in
the ordinary course (including with respect to cash management) in accordance with the Shareholders’ Agreement, provided that this Clause 5.3
shall not prevent or restrict the Company from taking any step permitted or reasonably required by, or otherwise taken in connection with the
transactions contemplated by, this Agreement.

The Company acknowledges and agrees that there are no Shareholder Loans outstanding as at the date of this Agreement. As at the date of this
Agreement, the parties do not expect that there will be any Shareholder Loans outstanding at Completion.

The Novartis Shareholders shall exercise their voting rights (and execute any written shareholder resolution) to approve, and take all other steps
as are reasonably required and identified in the steps plan provided to Novartis under Clause 5.11(A) (or any later steps plan provided prior to
ten UK Business Days before the Completion Date that Novartis and its advisers are given a reasonable opportunity to review and in relation to
which GSK and its advisers have given reasonable consideration (acting in good faith) to all comments proposed by Novartis and its advisers) to
effect as soon as reasonably practicable, the Cancellation (as provided in Clause 8) and any Preparatory Capital Step, provided that any
documentation pursuant to which (or relating to any meeting in which) the Novartis Shareholders are required to exercise their voting rights (or
take any step reasonably required) pursuant to this Clause 5.5 is provided to the Novartis Shareholders no later than five UK Business Days prior
to the earliest of (i) the date on which such voting rights are required to be exercised (or such step is reasonably required to be taken) and (ii) the
Completion Date.

The parties agree that:

(A)  the B Directors shall not be required to take any steps to approve and implement this Agreement (including the Cancellation or any
Preparatory Capital Step), provided their resignations are effected in accordance with Clause 5.7; and
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5.7

5.8

59

5.10

(B)  in light of the negotiation of this Agreement, the B Directors have been and will be (on the grounds of conflict of interest on account of
Novartis’s interest in matters under this Agreement) recused from (and shall therefore not be required to take) any steps to review,
approve and implement this Agreement (including the Cancellation or any Preparatory Capital Step) and shall resign in accordance with
Clause 5.7,

provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, the parties acknowledge that the execution of this Agreement by the Company has been duly
authorised by a resolution of the Board.

Novartis and the Novartis Shareholders shall, by no later than the fifth UK Business Day prior to the scheduled Completion Date (provided that
the Unconditional Date has occurred prior to such date and otherwise by no later than the end of the Unconditional Date):

(A)  procure that each of the B Directors resigns from the Board and relinquishes any rights which they may have had under any contract of
employment with any member of the Company’s Group or under any statutory provision (including any right to damages or
compensation for breach of contract, loss of office, redundancy or unfair dismissal or on any other account whatsoever) other than in
respect of accrued remuneration and expenses (if any) and to confirm that no agreement or arrangement (other than the provisions of the
indemnity in Clause 10.4(A), any insurance policy in respect of directors’ and officers’ liability for the benefit of such director and any
deed of indemnity in place for the benefit of such director) is outstanding under which any member of the Company’s Group has or could
have any obligation to any of them (though such resignation shall be without prejudice to the provisions of the indemnity in Clause 10.4
(A), any insurance policy in respect of directors’ and officers’ liability for the benefit of such director and any deed of indemnity in place
for the benefit of such director); and

(B)  procure that each of the B Directors shall deliver to the Company a Resignation and Release Letter in the form set out in Schedule 2 to
this Agreement.

Promptly following Novartis and the Novartis Shareholders having complied with their obligations pursuant to Clause 5.7, the Company shall
take all steps reasonably required to remove the B Directors as directors of the Company and shall update the books and records of the Company
accordingly.

Following the resignations referred to in Clause 5.7, Novartis and the Novartis Shareholders shall not exercise any right under the Shareholders’
Agreement or otherwise to nominate or have appointed any person as a B Director, provided that, if the Cancellation does not become effective
by or on the date that is one UK Business Day after (but excluding) the Completion Date under Clause 7, the First Novartis Shareholder shall be
entitled to re-nominate four individuals as B Directors in accordance with Clause 6.2 of the Shareholders’ Agreement and the Company shall
give effect to any such nomination (by appointing such nominees as B Directors).

Novartis shall indemnify GSK (on its own behalf and on behalf of any member of its Group) and the Company (on its own behalf and on behalf
of any member of its Group) on an after-Tax basis against any claim, whether for compensation for loss of office, wrongful dismissal or
otherwise, which arises out of any B Director ceasing to hold office under Clause 5.7.
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5.11

5.12

GSK shall and/or shall procure that its relevant professional advisers shall:

(A)

(B)

within 20 UK Business Days following the date of this Agreement:

®

(ii)
(iii)

provide Novartis with a draft steps plan or other similar document in relation to the Cancellation (or any matter within Clauses
6.1(A) or 6.1(B)) that seeks to achieve the earliest possible confirmation from the Registrar on the Completion Date that the
Cancellation has become effective in accordance with Applicable Law;

give Novartis and its advisers a reasonable opportunity to review such draft; and

give reasonable consideration (acting in good faith) to all comments proposed by Novartis and its advisers in relation to the
same within the timeframe specified by GSK and/or its professional advisers (acting reasonably when specifying such
timeframe); and

no later than 5 UK Business Days prior to GSK and/or the Company circulating final versions of any documents required in connection
with the Cancellation (or any matter within Clauses 6.1(A) or 6.1(B)) to the relevant parties for their execution of such documents:

(@)
(i)

give Novartis and its advisers a reasonable opportunity to review drafts of such documents; and

give reasonable consideration (acting in good faith) to all comments proposed by Novartis and its advisers in relation to the
same within the timeframe specified by GSK and/or its professional advisers (acting reasonably when specifying such
timeframe).

Novartis hereby undertakes to GSK and the Company that, as required by Listing Rule 11.1.7R(4), Novartis shall not, and shall take all
reasonable steps to ensure that its associates (as such term is defined in the Listing Rules) shall not, vote on the GSK Shareholder Resolution, in
each case to the extent that Novartis or any such associate either holds or acquires any shares in GSK or other securities of GSK conveying upon
it a right to vote at the GSK Shareholder Meeting.

APPROVALS AND CONSENTS

To the extent that the Put Option Transaction or the execution or performance of this Agreement (or any step or part thereof or any action
reasonably required or reasonably undertaken in connection therewith), including (without limitation):
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6.2

6.3

(A) any financing of the Company by GSK, any member of its Group or any Third Party in connection with the Put Option Transaction
(whether such financing takes the form of debt or equity financing and including the issue of shares by the Company in relation to any
equity financing); or

(B)  any Preparatory Capital Step,

constitutes a Reserved Matter requiring the prior written approval of Novartis under the Shareholders’ Agreement, Novartis hereby grants its
prior written approval to the Put Option Transaction and the execution or performance of this Agreement (and any step or part of it or any action
reasonably required or reasonably undertaken in connection therewith) for the purposes of the Shareholders’ Agreement generally (including,
without limitation, Clause 4.1 of the Shareholders’ Agreement) and agrees that each of the Company and the A Directors (the B Directors having
been recused from such matters as described in Clause 5.6(B)) are authorised to take such steps as, in GSK’s or the Company’s reasonable
opinion, are necessary in connection with or to give effect to the Put Option Transaction or this Agreement, provided that it is agreed that:

@) no reduction of share capital or any reducible reserve or account shall take place without the consent of Novartis prior to the
date on which the B Directors resign from the Board pursuant to Clause 5.7;

(ii) any reduction of share capital or any reducible reserve or account shall ensure that sufficient distributable reserves remain to
allow payment of the Excess Cash True-up Amount; and

(iii) no transaction referred to in this Clause 6.1 shall take place prior to the Unconditional Date.
The parties hereby acknowledge and agree that:

(A)  any proceedings of the Board undertaken in connection with approving and authorising the Company’s entry into this Agreement
constituted valid proceedings of the Board notwithstanding that no B Directors participated in, or voted on any resolutions proposed in
the course of, such proceedings;

(B)  the quorum and notice provisions of Clause 8 of the Shareholders’ Agreement and any contrary provisions of the Company’s articles of
association are disapplied in relation to such proceedings; and

(C)  the execution and delivery of, and the performance by the Company of its obligations under, this Agreement does not constitute a breach
of any provision of the Shareholders” Agreement or the Company’s articles of association.

GSK and the GSK Shareholder each hereby irrevocably and unconditionally:

(A)  acknowledges and confirms that it has and will have no claim or right of action of any kind (whether contractual, statutory or otherwise
and whether or not known on the date of this Agreement) outstanding against the B Directors in respect of the holding or termination of
each of their offices and in respect of the Cancellation or any Preparatory Capital Step; and
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6.4

6.5

6.6

(B)  to the extent that any such claim exists or may exist, waives such claim and releases and forever discharges each B Director from any
liability in respect thereof.

Without prejudice to the rights of any person under Clause 17 of the Shareholders’ Agreement, Novartis and the Novartis Shareholders hereby
consent to the transfer by the GSK Shareholder or any other holder of A Shares from time to time (a “GSK Transferor”) of some of the A
Shares to any other body or bodies corporate in the same Wholly-Owned Group (a “GSK Transferee”), provided that such GSK Transferee
shall first have entered into (i) a Deed of Adherence in respect of the Shareholders’ Agreement in the form set out in Schedule 2 of the
Shareholders’ Agreement and (ii) a Deed of Adherence in respect of this Agreement in the form set out in Schedule 1 of this Agreement.

The GSK Transferor and the GSK Transferee of any A Shares transferred pursuant to Clause 6.4 shall each at their own expense provide to the
Novartis Shareholders any information and evidence reasonably requested in writing by the Novartis Shareholders for the purpose of
determining whether the transfer to the GSK Transferee complies with the terms of Clause 6.4.

Without prejudice to Clause 6.4, any GSK Transferor that transfers some (but not all) of its A Shares pursuant to Clause 6.4 shall procure that
the GSK Transferee complies with the provisions of this Agreement.

TIMING OF COMPLETION
Completion shall occur on the later of:

(A) the first Completion Business Day of the calendar month following the calendar month in which satisfaction of the Conditions take place
(the date on which such Conditions are satisfied being the “Unconditional Date”); or

(B) the first Completion Business Day that is at least the fourth UK Business Day after (and excluding) the Unconditional Date,

(the “Completion Date”), provided that in determining the date on which satisfaction of the Conditions takes place, that date shall be the date
on which the GSK Shareholder Approval is satisfied or waived unless the Negative Condition is not satisfied or waived as at that date, in which
case it shall then be the first following Completion Business Date on which the Negative Condition is satisfied or waived.

CANCELLATION AND PAYMENT OF CONSIDERATION AMOUNT

At Completion:

25



(A)

(B)

subject to Novartis and the Novartis Shareholders having complied with their obligations under Clauses 5.5 and 5.7, the Company shall,
and GSK shall procure that the Company shall:

®

(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

™)

(vi)

(vii)

procure that each director of the Company (as at the Completion Date) executes (if not previously executed and in any event
prior to the circulation for execution of the Cancellation Written Resolution) the Cancellation Solvency Statement and, once
duly executed, the Company shall send or submit it to each Shareholder together with the proposed Cancellation Written
Resolution;

execute the Cancellation Written Resolution (on behalf of the Board);
execute the Cancellation Statement of Capital;

procure that each director of the Company (as at the Completion Date) executes the Cancellation Statement of Compliance
immediately following the passing of the Cancellation Written Resolution;

at opening of the Registrar’s business hours on the Completion Date, use its best endeavours to file the Cancellation Solvency
Statement (having been executed by each director of the Company), the Cancellation Written Resolution (having been executed
by the Company (on behalf of the Board), the GSK Shareholder(s) and the Novartis Shareholders), the Cancellation Statement
of Capital (having been executed by the Company) and the Cancellation Statement of Compliance (having been executed by
each director of the Company) with the Registrar in order that the Cancellation be effected as soon as possible on the
Completion Date (or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter);

at opening of the Registrar’s business hours on the Completion Date, use its best endeavours to pay to the Registrar the fee
required in order that the Cancellation be effected as soon as possible on the Completion Date (or as soon as reasonably
practicable thereafter); and

use its best endeavours to, on the same day as Completion, take all other steps as are reasonably required in order to effect the
Cancellation on the Completion Date (or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter) and record the same in the books and
records of the Company;

the GSK Shareholder(s) shall, and GSK shall procure that the GSK Shareholder(s) shall:

(@)
(i)

execute the Cancellation Written Resolution indicating its agreement to the Cancellation Written Resolution; and

take all other steps as are reasonably required to effect the Cancellation as soon as reasonably practicable; and
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8.2

8.3

8.4

(C)  the Novartis Shareholders shall, and Novartis shall procure that each of the Novartis Shareholders shall:
@) execute the Cancellation Written Resolution indicating its agreement to the Cancellation Written Resolution; and
(ii) take all other steps as are reasonably required to effect the Cancellation as soon as reasonably practicable.

In consideration for the Cancellation the Company shall be obliged to pay to the Novartis Shareholders the Consideration Amount in accordance
with Clauses 8.3 and 8.4.

Subject to Clause 8.4, promptly following the Cancellation having taken effect in accordance with Applicable Law, the Company shall, and
GSK shall procure that the Company shall, pay in accordance with Clause 15:

(A) to the First Novartis Shareholder USD12,056,164,384; and
(B)  to the Second Novartis Shareholder USD943,835,616,

in each case on the same Completion Business Day as the Cancellation takes effect in accordance with Applicable Law (or, if the Cancellation
takes effect on a day that is not a Completion Business Day, on the next following Completion Business Day).

In the event that:

(A) an amount equal to the GSK Break Fee has become payable by Novartis to GSK pursuant to Clause 13.4 (the “GSK Break Fee
Refund”); and

(B)  Novartis has not paid such amount to GSK in accordance with Clause 13.4 by or on the date on which the Consideration Amount
becomes payable by the Company pursuant to Clause 8.3,

then:

@) the amount payable by the Company to the Novartis Shareholders on the date specified pursuant to Clause 8.3 shall be reduced
by an amount equal to the GSK Break Fee Refund (such reduction to be applied to the amounts payable pursuant to Clauses 8.3
(A) and 8.3(B) pro rata according to the ratio of such amounts); and

(ii) in the event that Novartis pays the GSK Break Fee Refund to GSK, the Company shall pay an amount equal to the GSK Break
Fee Refund to the Novartis Shareholders (pro rata according to the ratio of the amounts set out in Clauses 8.3(A) and 8.3(B))
promptly, and in any event on the first Completion Business Day, after Novartis pays the GSK Break Fee Refund to GSK in
accordance with Clause 13.4.
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8.5

8.6

8.7

9.2

9.3

Upon the Cancellation becoming effective in accordance with Applicable Law, the Shareholders’ Agreement shall terminate in accordance with
Clause 12.

In the event that the Consideration Amount is not paid by or on the first Completion Business Day after the Completion Date, interest shall be
payable on the Consideration Amount from (and including) the next day to (but excluding) the date of actual payment (as well after as before
judgment) at the Interest Rate. No interest shall be payable under this Clause 8.6 in respect of any day where interest is also levied under Clause
15.3.

Subject to the Novartis Shareholders’ rights under Clause 5.9, each Novartis Shareholder undertakes not to exercise, without the prior written
consent of the GSK Shareholder, any of the rights, powers and privileges attaching to its B Shares or otherwise capable of being exercised by the
registered holder of its B Shares from the time at which the Cancellation Written Resolution has been passed until the Cancellation has become
effective in accordance with Applicable Law.

TRUE-UP FOLLOWING COMPLETION

As soon as reasonably practicable and, in any event, within 45 UK Business Days following Completion, the Company shall, and GSK shall
procure that the Company shall, (acting in good faith) prepare (in accordance with the Accounting Policies) and provide to the parties to this
Agreement an audited interim consolidated balance sheet for the Company as at (and including) the last day of the calendar month immediately
prior to the Completion Date with the notes thereto showing the amount of Readily Available Cash (the “Completion Balance Sheet”).

For the avoidance of doubt, the Completion Balance Sheet shall be prepared on a basis that disregards:

(A)  matters occurring in any period from and including the Completion Date (including, without limitation, the Cancellation, payment of the
Consideration Amount, the Excess Cash True-up Amount or the Cash Shortfall True-up Amount (as applicable)); and

(B)  any changes affecting the balance sheet of the Company arising as a result of or in connection with the Cancellation (including steps
preparatory thereto) or the Put Option Transaction, and including, without limitation:

@) any such changes relating to the receipt of any financing by the Company in connection with the Put Option Transaction,
including the issuance of shares by any member of the Company’s Group to any member of the GSK Group or any Borrowings
by any member of the Company’s Group; and

(i1) any Preparatory Capital Step that is undertaken.

If, following the provision of the Completion Balance Sheet in accordance with Clause 9.1, the aggregate amount shown in the Completion
Balance Sheet in respect of Readily Available Cash is:
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9.4

10.
10.1

(A)  greater than the Base Cash Amount, then the Company shall pay to the Novartis Shareholders (pro rata according to their respective
Percentage Interests immediately prior to Completion) an amount in GBP equal to the lesser of (i) such difference or (ii) the amount of
distributable reserves as stated in the Completion Balance Sheet, in either case multiplied by the Novartis Percentage (the “Excess Cash
True-up Amount”); or

(B)  less than the Base Cash Amount, then the Novartis Shareholders shall pay to the Company an amount in GBP equal to such difference
multiplied by the Novartis Percentage (the “Cash Shortfall True-up Amount”).

in either case, on the first Completion Business Day that is at least ten UK Business Days after (but excluding) the date on which the Completion
Balance Sheet is provided in accordance with Clause 9.1.

For the avoidance of doubt, any payment made or liability incurred pursuant to Clause 9.3 by either the Novartis Shareholders or the Company
shall be treated as an adjustment to the consideration for the Cancellation to the extent of the payment or liability.

WARRANTIES AND INDEMNITIES

Each party warrants to the other parties that each of the following statements is accurate in respect of itself in all respects and not misleading at
the date of this Agreement and will be accurate in all respects and not misleading at the date on which Completion occurs as if repeated
immediately before Completion by reference to the facts and circumstances subsisting at that date:

(A) it has the requisite power and authority to enter into and perform this Agreement;

(B) its obligations under this Agreement constitute valid and binding obligations of such party in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement;

(C)  the execution and delivery of, and the performance by it of its obligations under, this Agreement will not:

@) result in a breach of any provision of the memorandum or articles of association (or equivalent constitutional documents in the
jurisdiction of incorporation of the relevant party) of such party;

(i1) result in a breach of, or constitute a default under, any instrument to which it is a party or by which it is bound, where such
breach is material to its ability to perform its obligations hereunder;

(iii) subject to the satisfaction of the Conditions, result in a breach of any statute, law, rule, regulation, order, judgment or decree of
any court or governmental agency by which it is bound, where such breach is material to its ability to perform its obligations
hereunder; or
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10.2

10.3

10.4

@iv) subject to the satisfaction of the Conditions, require the consent of its shareholders.

Novartis and the Novartis Shareholders warrant to GSK and the Company that each of the following statements is accurate in all respects and not
misleading at the date of this Agreement and will be accurate in all respects and not misleading at the date on which Completion occurs as if
repeated immediately before Completion by reference to the facts and circumstances subsisting at that date:

(A)
®)

the Novartis Shareholders are the sole legal and beneficial owners of the B Shares; and

other than pursuant to the Shareholders’ Agreement and the Company’s articles of association, there is no option, right to acquire,
mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other form of security or encumbrance or equity on, over or affecting the B Shares or any of them and
there is no agreement or commitment to give or create any and no claim has been made by any person to be entitled to any.

GSK warrants to Novartis and the Novartis Shareholders that:

(A)

(B)

its sponsor (as defined in the Listing Rules) has undertaken the assessment required to be undertaken pursuant to Listing Rule 8.2.3 with
respect to the Put Option Transaction and this Agreement; and

its sponsor has determined (together with GSK) that any payments required to be made by GSK pursuant to Clause 13 constitute a
smaller related party transaction pursuant to Listing Rule 11.1.10 and has provided written confirmation that the terms of such Clause are
fair and reasonable as far as the GSK Shareholders are concerned.

GSK shall indemnify on demand on an after-Tax basis:

(A)

®)

subject to Novartis and the Novartis Shareholders having complied with their obligations under Clauses 5.5, 5.7 and 5.9 (such
compliance to be confirmed by GSK in writing to Novartis promptly on completion of such compliance and to be determined by
reference to the steps plan provided to Novartis under Clause 5.11(A)), each of the B Directors in respect of any claims, loss or liability
suffered or incurred by such B Director arising as a result of the Cancellation or any Preparatory Capital Step; and

Novartis and the Novartis Shareholders in respect of any claims, loss or liability suffered or incurred by Novartis or the Novartis
Shareholders (as applicable) arising as a result of:

@) any failure to carry out the Cancellation or any Preparatory Capital Step in accordance with Applicable Law;
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11.

(ii) subject to Clause 28, any steps taken by Novartis and the Novartis Shareholders pursuant to Clause 5.5 (but excluding any
exercise of voting rights by the Novartis Shareholders pursuant to Clause 5.5); or

(iii) any failure by the Company to make the payments required pursuant to Clauses 8.3, 8.4 and 9.3.

GUARANTEE
In consideration of the other parties entering into this Agreement:

(A)  GSK guarantees to Novartis and the Novartis Shareholders the due and punctual performance of all obligations of the GSK Shareholder
and any Group Transferee of the GSK Shareholder and the Company (each a “Guaranteed Party” of GSK) under this Agreement. This
guarantee is unconditional and irrevocable; and

(B)  Novartis guarantees to GSK, the GSK Shareholder and the Company the due and punctual performance of all obligations of the Novartis
Shareholders and any Group Transferee of the Novartis Shareholders (each a “Guaranteed Party” of Novartis) under this Agreement.
This guarantee is unconditional and irrevocable,

with each of GSK and Novartis being, a “Guarantor”.
The guarantees set out in Clause 11.1:

(A)  are continuing guarantees. No payment or other settlement will discharge a Guarantor’s obligations until the obligations of all of its
Guaranteed Parties have been discharged in full;

(B)  arein addition to, and independent of, any other guarantee or security;

(C)  may be enforced before any steps are taken against the relevant Guaranteed Party or under any other guarantee or security;
(D)  will only be discharged by the discharge in full of the obligations of the relevant Guarantor’s Guaranteed Parties; and

(E)  will not be discharged by any other action, omission or fact.

A Guarantor’s obligations shall, therefore, not be affected by:

(A)  the obligations of any of its Guaranteed Parties being or becoming void, invalid, illegal or unenforceable;

(B)  any change, waiver or release of the obligations of any of its Guaranteed Parties;

(C)  any concession or time being given to any of its Guaranteed Parties;

(D)  the winding-up or re-organisation of any of its Guaranteed Parties;
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(E) any change in the condition, nature or status of any of its Guaranteed Parties;

(F any of the above events occurring in relation to another guarantor or provider of security in relation to the obligations of any of its
Guaranteed Parties;

(G) any failure to take, retain or enforce any other guarantee or security;

(H)  any circumstances affecting or preventing recovery of amounts expressed to be due by any of its Guaranteed Parties; or

) any other matter which might discharge that Guarantor.

Any receipt from any person other than that Guarantor shall reduce the outstanding balance only to the extent of the amount received.

Any settlement with, or discharge of, a Guarantor shall be subject to the condition that the settlement or discharge shall be set aside if any prior
payment, or any other guarantee or security, in reliance on which that settlement or discharge was made in whole or in part, is set aside,
invalidated or reduced. In this event each Guarantor agrees to reimburse each other party for the value of the payment, guarantee or security
which is set aside, invalidated or reduced.

In the event that a Guaranteed Party fails to perform or breaches any of its obligations under this Agreement, the Guarantor of that Guaranteed
Party agrees to indemnify each of the other parties on an after-Tax basis for the losses and reasonable expenses (including loss of profit) that
party suffers or incurs, or will suffer or incur, as a result. The Guarantor of that Guaranteed Party also agrees to indemnify each other party on an
after-Tax basis for all losses and expenses (including loss of profit) arising from any obligation of any of its Guaranteed Parties being or
becoming void, invalid, illegal or unenforceable.

In addition to each Guarantor’s obligations as guarantor, each Guarantor agrees that any obligation of any of its Guaranteed Parties under this
Agreement which may not be enforceable against that Guarantor as guarantor shall be enforceable against that Guarantor as though that
Guarantor were the principal obligor in respect of the obligation.

The parties agree that:
(A)  no Guarantor shall have the benefit of any security in respect of this guarantee;
(B)  no Guarantor shall:

@) take the benefit of any right against any of its Guaranteed Parties or any other person in respect of amounts paid under this
guarantee; or

(ii) claim or exercise against any of its Guaranteed Parties any right to any payment;

(C)  any other party may request a Guarantor to submit a proof for amounts due to it by any of its Guaranteed Parties or any other guarantor.
Each Guarantor agrees to submit a proof promptly in accordance with this request. All amounts received in respect of this proof shall be
held by the Guarantor on trust for the other parties;
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(D)  notwithstanding any of the other provisions of this Agreement, the liability of a Guarantor under this Clause 11 shall in no circumstances
exceed the liability of the Guaranteed Party whose obligations are guaranteed by that Guarantor; and

(E) the obligations in this Clause 11 shall cease to have effect in respect of a Guarantor when the obligations of all of its Guaranteed Parties
under this Agreement have been discharged in full.

OBLIGATIONS FOLLOWING COMPLETION

The Shareholders’ Agreement shall terminate in accordance with its terms (including, for the avoidance of doubt, as provided in Clause 30 of the
Shareholders’ Agreement) upon the Cancellation becoming effective in accordance with Applicable Law, provided that:

(A)  the provisions of Clause 25.3 of the Shareholders’ Agreement shall continue to apply in the case of Novartis to any claims made under
any GSK D&O Policy;

(B)  as provided in the Shareholders’ Agreement, Clause 28 of the Shareholders’ Agreement shall continue without limit in time save that
GSK and members of its Group shall cease to be subject to any restrictions in respect of the category of information specified in Clause
28.1(D) of the Shareholders’ Agreement;

(C)  the provisions of Clause 29 of the Shareholders’ Agreement shall terminate and cease to have effect and Clause 29.3 of the Shareholders’
Agreement shall be disapplied; and

(D)  following Completion the Company shall provide such information relating to the Company and its Group during Novartis’s and its
Group’s period of investment in the Company as Novartis may reasonably require from time to time in connection with the following:

@) the preparation and filing of Novartis’s accounts (and/or the accounts of any other member of Novartis’s Group);

(ii) the preparation and filing of the Tax returns or other Tax filings or correspondence with a Tax Authority of Novartis (and/or any
other member of Novartis’s Group including the Novartis Shareholders) in relation to any jurisdiction in which such returns or
filings are required to be made; and/or

(iii) the compliance by Novartis or any other member of Novartis’s Group with any reporting obligation if and to the extent required
by Applicable Law and/or any securities exchange or regulatory or governmental body to which Novartis or any other member
of Novartis’s Group is subject, wherever situated,
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and for the avoidance of doubt, such information may include any raw data which is used to generate financial information in
respect of the Company’s Group (or any individual member of the Company’s Group) including, for the avoidance of doubt, the
information referred to in this Clause 12.1. Novartis shall not be entitled to require the Company or any member of its Group to
restate any such financial or other information for any purpose (including the preparation of any such accounts or Tax returns or
other Tax filings or correspondence with a Tax Authority).

The Company shall ensure (and GSK shall procure that the Company ensures) that any indemnity and/or immunity provisions contained in the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company and/or deed of indemnity in place for the benefit of such of any (current or former) B
Director are not amended, repealed or modified in any manner that would affect adversely the rights of any (current or former) B Director.

For six years from Completion, the Company shall maintain (and GSK shall procure that the Company maintains) in force such “run-off”
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policies as will enable each (current or former) B Director to make claims arising out of any matter,
cause or event occurring on or before Completion under those policies on terms and conditions that are in all material respects equivalent to the
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policies that the Company maintains for the benefit of its directors from time to time.

BREAK FEE

Subject to Clause 13.8, GSK shall pay to Novartis by way of compensation the GSK Break Fee if, in relation to the GSK Shareholder Approval
Condition, any of the following occur:

(A)  subject to Clause 4.13, the GSK Directors adversely change, withdraw or qualify the GSK Recommendation (or, prior to publication of
the GSK Shareholder Circular, their intention to provide such recommendation); or

(B)  avote has been held on the GSK Shareholder Resolution by or on 31 August 2018 and the GSK Shareholder Resolution is not passed by
the GSK Members at the GSK Shareholder Meeting; or

(C)  novote is held on the GSK Shareholder Resolution by or on 31 August 2018.

If the GSK Break Fee becomes payable pursuant to Clause 13.1, GSK shall pay, or procure the payment of, the GSK Break Fee to Novartis in
accordance with Clause 15 on the first Completion Business Day that is at least five UK Business Days after (but excluding) the later of (i) the
date on which the GSK Break Fee becomes payable pursuant to Clause 13.1 and (ii) the date on which Novartis notifies to GSK the bank
account into which the GSK Break Fee is to be paid pursuant to this Clause 13.2.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement:

(A)  the GSK Break Fee, if paid, shall be the sole and exclusive remedy of Novartis and its Group against GSK, the Company or any member
of the GSK Group for any damages, losses or liabilities of any nature incurred or suffered by Novartis or any member of its Group as a
result of or otherwise in connection with the matters described in Clause 13.1; and
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(B)  provided that the GSK Break Fee has been paid in accordance with Clause 13.2, neither Novartis nor any member of its Group shall have
any other rights or remedies of any kind whatsoever in connection with the matters described in Clause 13.1.

If the GSK Break Fee is paid pursuant to Clauses 13.1(A) and 13.2 and the GSK Shareholder Resolution is then approved by GSK Members at a
general meeting of the GSK Members (or any adjournment thereof) held within eight weeks after the relevant change, withdrawal or
qualification of the GSK Recommendation (or intention to provide such recommendation), Novartis shall repay to GSK an amount equal to the
GSK Break Fee in accordance with Clause 15 on the first Completion Business Day that is at least five UK Business Days after (but excluding)
the later of (i) the date on which such amount becomes payable pursuant to this Clause 13.4 and (ii) the date on which GSK notifies to Novartis
the bank account into which such amount is to be paid pursuant to this Clause 13.4. Clauses 13.5 to 13.7 (inclusive) shall apply to any repayment
by Novartis under this Clause 13.4, mutatis mutandis.

Subject to Clause 13.7, if any deduction or withholding is required by Applicable Law to be made from any payment required to be made
pursuant to Clause 13.2 then the member of GSK’s Group making such payment (the “payor”) shall pay (and, if such payor is not GSK, GSK
shall procure that such payor shall pay) to Novartis (the “payee”) such sum as will, after the deduction or withholding has been made, leave the
payee with the same amount as it would have been entitled to receive in the absence of any such requirement to make a deduction or
withholding, provided that if the payee shall have assigned or novated the benefit in whole or in part of this Agreement or shall, after the date of
this Agreement, have changed its tax residence or the permanent establishment to which the rights under this Agreement are allocated then the
liability of the payer under this Clause 13.5 shall be limited to that (if any) which it would have been had no such assignment, novation or
change taken place.

If the payor makes an increased payment pursuant to Clause 13.5 and the payee, in respect of the Tax that gave rise to such increased payment,
receives and utilises a loss, relief, allowance or credit in respect of any Tax or any deduction in computing its income, profits or gains for the
purposes of any Tax, the payee shall reimburse the payor such amount as shall leave the payee in the same position as the payee would have
been in had no such deduction or withholding been required to be made.

The parties consider, and shall use reasonable best efforts to secure, that the GSK Break Fee is not and will not be treated for VAT purposes as
consideration for a taxable supply. The amount of the GSK Break Fee is inclusive of any amounts in respect of VAT provided that:

(A)  if the payor of the GSK Break Fee (or the representative member of the VAT group of which the payor is a member) is liable to account
for VAT under a reverse charge mechanism, to the extent that the payor (or such representative member)
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(B)

is not entitled to recover (in whole or in part) such VAT from the relevant Tax Authority. The amount of the GSK Break Fee (inclusive
of amounts in respect of VAT) shall be reduced to such amount so that the aggregate amount of the GSK Break Fee and such
irrecoverable VAT equals the amount of the GSK Break Fee had such GSK Break Fee not been treated as consideration for a taxable
supply; and

if the payee of the GSK Break Fee (or the representative member of the VAT group of which the payee is a member) is liable to account
for VAT, the payee shall issue a valid VAT invoice to the payor and, if such VAT is recoverable (in whole or in part) by the payor (or
the representative member of the VAT group of which the payor is a member) the amount of the GSK Break Fee (inclusive of amounts
in respect of VAT) shall be increased to such amount as, when the amount of any recoverable VAT is deducted from the increased
amount, produces an amount equal to the amount of the GSK Break Fee had such GSK Break Fee not been treated as consideration for a
taxable supply.

For the avoidance of doubt:

(A)  GSK acknowledges that the provisions of this Clause 13 and any payment of the GSK Break Fee shall not in any respect be conditional
on the GSK Members having approved the GSK Shareholder Resolution;

(B)  inno event or circumstance shall GSK be required to pay the GSK Break Fee to Novartis pursuant to Clause 13.1 more than once; and

(C)  accordingly, subject only to Clauses 13.5 to 13.7 (inclusive), the amount payable by GSK pursuant to Clause 13.1 shall in no event
exceed an amount equal to the GSK Break Fee.

TERMINATION

This Agreement shall terminate:

(A)
(B)

if agreed in writing between the parties;
automatically in the event that:
(1) the GSK Break Fee is paid pursuant to Clauses 13.1(B) or 13.1(C);

(i1) the GSK Break Fee is paid pursuant to Clause 13.1(A) and the time period set out in Clause 13.4 has expired without the
relevant amount becoming payable by Novartis to GSK in accordance with Clause 13.4; or

(ii1) the Conditions have not been satisfied or, where applicable, waived by 31 December 2018.

The following clauses of this Agreement shall survive termination in accordance with Clause 14.1 without limit in time:
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(A) inall cases Clauses 1 and 17 to 37 (inclusive) (and Clause 11 would continue to apply in respect of such Clauses); and

(B) Clauses 13.1, 13.5, 13.6, 13.7 and 13.8 if this Agreement terminates pursuant to Clause 14.1(B).

Novartis may terminate this Agreement if either of GSK or the Company has breached or failed to perform in any material respect any of its
obligations pursuant to Clause 8 within 15 UK Business Days after (but excluding) the Completion Date, provided that the foregoing shall not
serve to prohibit Novartis from claiming damages arising in connection with such breach or non-performance or seeking to exercise any other
right, power or remedy under this Agreement or otherwise as provided by Applicable Law.

GSK may terminate this Agreement if Novartis has breached or failed to perform in any material respect:
(A) any of its obligations under Clauses 5.5 or 5.7 by the required time; or
(B)  any ofits obligations pursuant to Clause 8 within 15 UK Business Days after (but excluding) the Completion Date,

provided that the foregoing shall not serve to prohibit GSK or the Company from claiming damages arising in connection with such breach or
non-performance or seeking to exercise any other right, power or remedy under this Agreement or otherwise as provided by Applicable Law.

Any termination of this Agreement in accordance with this Clause 14 shall be without prejudice to:
(A)  any accrued rights, obligations and liabilities of any party under this Agreement prior to such termination; and

(B)  the continuation in full force and effect of the Shareholders’ Agreement (including Clause 20 thereof), provided that, for the avoidance of
doubt, no actions taken by any party under or in accordance with this Agreement shall constitute a breach of the Shareholders’
Agreement following termination of this Agreement.

PAYMENTS

Any payment to be made pursuant to this Agreement shall be made in immediately available funds to the bank account(s) notified by the
relevant payee to the relevant payer. All sums payable under this Agreement shall be paid free and clear of all deductions, withholdings, set offs
or counterclaims whatsoever save only as may be required by law.

Payments of a sum under this Clause 15 shall constitute a payment in full of the sum payable and shall be a good discharge to the payer (and
those on whose behalf such payment is made) of the payer’s obligation to make such payment and the payer (and those on whose behalf such
payment is made) shall not be obliged to see to the application of the payment as between those won whose behalf the payment is received.
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If any party defaults on the payment when due of any sum payable under this Agreement, the liability of that party shall be increased to include
interest on such sum from (and including) the date on which such payment is due to (but excluding) the date of actual payment (as well after as
before judgment) at the Default Rate.

TAXATION

Without prejudice to the obligations of Novartis pursuant to Clause 13.4, the obligations of the relevant member of GSK’s Group (and of GSK,
in relation to such obligations) pursuant to Clauses 13.5 to 13.7 (inclusive) and the remainder of this Clause 16, each party shall be responsible
for its own liabilities to Tax incurred or otherwise arising as a result of or in connection with entering into or performing its obligations under
this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by it and shall bear its own costs incurred in connection with the satisfaction of such
liabilities.

If the party to whom a payment in respect of the Consideration Amount or the Excess Cash True-up Amount or the Cash Shortfall True-up
Amount (as applicable) is being made (the “payee”) is or becomes aware of any facts making it reasonably likely that the relevant payer will be
required to deduct or withhold any amount in respect of the Consideration Amount or the Excess Cash True-up Amount or the Cash Shortfall
True-up Amount (as applicable) (each, a “Relevant Tax Deduction”), then that payee shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, give notice to the
party making the payment (the “payer”) (including details of the relevant facts and, so far as possible, details of the rate and basis of such
withholding).

Subject to the remainder of this Clause 16, if a Relevant Tax Deduction is required by law, the payer shall (except in the case of any interest
payable under this Agreement) be obliged to pay to the payee such sum as will after such deduction or withholding has been made leave the
payee with the same amount as it would have been entitled to receive in the absence of any such requirement to make a deduction or
withholding, provided that if the payee shall have assigned or novated the benefit in whole or in part of this Agreement or shall, after the date of
this Agreement, have changed its tax residence or the permanent establishment to which the rights under this Agreement are allocated then the
liability of the payer under this Clause 16.3 shall be limited to that (if any) which it would have been had no such assignment, novation or
change taken place.

The relevant payee and payer shall, and shall procure that the members of their respective groups shall (at the payee’s cost), co-operate with each
other in good faith and use all reasonable efforts to reduce or mitigate any Relevant Tax Deduction (or its amount) and/or to enable the payee to
obtain any available credit or refund in respect of such Relevant Tax Deduction, including, without limitation, making any available claim under
an applicable double taxation treaty.

Without prejudice to the generality of Clause 16.4, the relevant payee and payer shall co-operate in good faith to establish or agree the amount or
basis of calculation of any Relevant Tax Deduction prior to the relevant payment date (and in this regard the payer shall consider reasonably any
relevant information or evidence provided or obtained by the payee) including, if requested by the payee and at the payee’s expense, by seeking
to obtain a ruling or confirmation from a relevant Tax Authority, or obtaining an opinion from reputable local tax counsel or a firm of
accountants of international standing satisfactory to the payer (acting reasonably) and instructed jointly by the payee and the payer.
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16.6  The payer shall make any Relevant Tax Deduction in the minimum amount required by Applicable Law, provided that:

(A) if'a double taxation treaty between the jurisdiction under the laws of which the Relevant Tax Deduction is required and the jurisdiction of
residence of the relevant payee is in force, the payer shall (and shall procure that any relevant Affiliate shall) make any Relevant Tax
Deduction in an amount not exceeding the rate specified in such double taxation treaty (which may be nil), provided that the payee has
provided the payer with such evidence as is required under Applicable Law to establish the entitlement of the payee to the benefit of the
applicable treaty; and

(B) if an opinion from reputable local counsel or a firm of accountants of international standing has been obtained at the request of the payee
as envisaged by Clause 16.5, the payer shall (and shall procure that any relevant Affiliate shall) make such Relevant Tax Deduction in an
amount or on a basis which is consistent with that opinion (which may result in no withholding or deduction), provided that the payee
has indemnified the payer and any relevant Affiliate, to the payer’s reasonable satisfaction, against any liabilities arising (including any
interest and penalties) should such opinion be wholly or partly incorrect.

16.7  The payer shall promptly provide the payee with evidence reasonably satisfactory to the payee that a Relevant Tax Deduction has been made and
an appropriate amount paid to the relevant Tax Authority.

16.8 If any Relevant Tax Deduction is required an additional sum shall be payable in accordance with Clause 16.3 only if and to the extent that such
deduction or withholding would not have been required had the payer been resident for Tax purposes only in:

(A)  the United Kingdom, where the payer is the Company;
(B)  Switzerland, where the payer is the First Novartis Shareholder; or

(C)  the United States of America, where the payer is the Second Novartis Shareholder.

17. ANNOUNCEMENTS
17.1  Subject to Clauses 17.2 and 17.6:

(A)  no announcement (or other publication) concerning the Put Option Transaction or this Agreement shall be made by or on behalf of GSK
or any member of its Group without the prior written consent of Novartis; and

(B)  no announcement (or other publication) concerning the Put Option Transaction or this Agreement shall be made by or on behalf of
Novartis or any member of its Group without the prior written consent of GSK.
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Notwithstanding Clause 17.1, any party may make an announcement concerning the Put Option Transaction if required by:
(A)  Applicable Law; or

(B)  any securities exchange or regulatory or governmental body or any Tax Authority to which that party is subject or submits, wherever
situated, including (amongst other bodies) the FCA, the London Stock Exchange pic, the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers, HMRC, the
SIX Swiss Exchange, the Swiss Federal Tax Administration, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission or the New York Stock
Exchange, whether or not the requirement has the force of law.

Any announcement to be made pursuant to Clause 17.2 shall, to the extent reasonably practicable and legally permissible, be made only after
notice to, and consultation with:

(A)  in the case of GSK and its Group, Novartis; and
(B)  in the case of Novartis and its Group, GSK.

Following execution of this Agreement, GSK shall release the GSK Transaction Announcement and Novartis shall release the Novartis
Transaction Announcement.

GSK hereby confirms that any redacted content contained in drafts of the GSK Transaction Announcement provided to Novartis prior to the date
of this Agreement does not relate to the Put Option Transaction and this Agreement, and, on that basis, such content does not form part of the
GSK Transaction Announcement.

The restrictions contained in this Clause 17 shall continue to apply without limit in time, unless otherwise agreed between the parties.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Each party shall, and shall procure that any other member of their respective Groups shall, treat as confidential all information obtained as a
result of the negotiations and/or discussions regarding the Put Option Transaction and/or the entering into and/or performance of this Agreement
or any agreements or documents hereunder, which relates to:

(A)  the provisions of this Agreement and any agreements or documents hereunder (and information provided under it or any of them);
(B)  the negotiations relating to this Agreement and any agreements or documents hereunder;
(C)  the subject matter of this Agreement and any agreements or documents hereunder;

(D)  any termination of any of this Agreement and any agreements or documents hereunder; or
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18.3

18.4

19.

(E)

any other party or any member of its Group and its or their business, rights and/or assets.

Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Clause 18, a party may disclose any such confidential information:

(A)

®)

©
(D)

(E)
(F)

G)
(H)

if and to the extent required by Applicable Law (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Listing Rules) or for the purpose of any
judicial or arbitral proceedings to which it is a party;

if and to the extent required by any securities exchange or regulatory, Taxation or other governmental body to which that party or a
member of its Group is subject or submits, wherever situated, including (amongst other bodies) the FCA, the London Stock Exchange
pic, the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers, HMRC, the SIX Swiss Exchange, the Swiss Federal Tax Administration, the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission or the New York Stock Exchange, whether or not the requirement for disclosure of such information has the
force of law;

to a Tax Authority in connection with the disclosing party’s (or a member of its Group’s) Tax affairs;

to any member of its respective Group and its and any member of its respective Group’s Representatives, in each case, on a
“need-to-know” basis and provided they have a duty (contractual or otherwise) to keep such information confidential;

to the extent the information is in or has come into the public domain through no fault of that party;

if it was in the possession of a party or any of its advisers (in either case as evidenced by written records) without any obligations of
secrecy prior to it being received or held;

if and to the extent the other party has given prior written consent to the disclosure; or

in response to any regulatory inquiry or if and to the extent required or in connection with any regulatory consent or clearance process.

Any confidential information to be disclosed pursuant to Clauses 18.1(A), 18.1(B) or 18.1 (C) shall, to the extent reasonably practicable and
legally permissible, be disclosed only after notice to and consultation with the other parties.

The restrictions contained in this Clause 18 shall continue to apply to each party without limit in time, unless otherwise agreed between the

parties.

EFFECT OF COMPLETION

Any provision of this Agreement and any other documents referred to in it which is capable of being performed after but which has not been
performed at or before Completion and all warranties, indemnities, covenants and other undertakings and obligations contained in or entered into
pursuant to this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding Completion.
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22.2

22.3

EFFECT OF DEED OF ADHERENCE

The parties agree to extend the benefit of this Agreement to any person who enters into a Deed of Adherence in respect of this Agreement in the
form set out in Schedule 1 of this Agreement, but without prejudice to the continuation inter se of the rights and obligations of the original
parties to this Agreement.

SHAREHOLDER UNDERTAKINGS
Each Shareholder undertakes with the other Shareholders that it will:
(A)  comply with each of the provisions of this Agreement;

(B)  exercise its voting rights and other rights as a member of the Company and under the Shareholders’ Agreement in order (insofar as it is
able to do so through the exercise of such rights) to give full effect to the provisions of this Agreement and the rights and obligations of
the parties as set out in this Agreement; and

(C)  procure that any Director nominated by it from time to time shall (subject to their fiduciary duties to the Company and, in the case of the
B Directors, to the B Directors having been excluded from certain matters pursuant to Clause 5.6) exercise their voting rights and other
powers and authorities in order (insofar as they are able to do so through the exercise of such rights, powers and authorities) to give full
effect to the provisions of this Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties as set out in this Agreement.

REMEDIES AND WAIVERS

No delay or omission by any party to this Agreement in exercising any right, power or remedy provided by law or under this Agreement or any
other documents referred to in it shall:

(A)  affect that right, power or remedy; or
(B) operate as a waiver or variation of it.

The single or partial exercise of any right, power or remedy provided by law or under this Agreement shall not preclude any other or further
exercise of it or the exercise of any other right, power or remedy.

The rights, powers and remedies provided in this Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights, powers and remedies provided by
law.
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Notwithstanding any express remedies provided under this Agreement and without prejudice to any other right or remedy which any party may
have, the parties acknowledge and agree that damages alone may not be an adequate remedy for any breach of this Agreement. Accordingly, the
parties may be entitled to the remedies of injunction, specific performance and other equitable relief for any threatened or actual breach of this
Agreement. Furthermore, each party acknowledges and agrees that it will not raise any objection to the application by or on behalf of the other
party or any other member of its respective Group for any such remedies.

ASSIGNMENT

No party shall without the prior written consent of the other parties:

(A)

(B)

©
(D)
(E)

assign, or purport to assign, all or any part of the benefit of, or its rights or benefits under, this Agreement (together with any causes of
action arising in connection with any of them);

unless otherwise expressly set out in this Agreement, make a declaration of trust in respect of or enter into any arrangement whereby it
agrees to hold in trust for any other person all or any part of the benefit of, or its rights or benefits under, this Agreement;

sub-contract or enter into any arrangement whereby another person is to perform any or all of its obligations under this Agreement;
transfer, charge or otherwise deal with any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement; or

grant, declare, create or dispose of any right or interest in it, in whole or in part,

and any purported assignment in contravention of this Clause 23 shall be void.

VARIATION

No variation of this Agreement shall be valid unless it is in writing and duly executed by or on behalf of all the parties to it.

If this Agreement is varied:

(A)
(B)

©

the variation shall not constitute a general waiver of any provisions of this Agreement;

the variation shall not affect any rights, obligations or liabilities under this Agreement that have already accrued up to the date of
variation; and

the rights and obligations of the parties under this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect, except as, and only to the extent that,
they are so varied.
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27.
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27.2

FURTHER ASSURANCE

Each party shall at its own cost, from time to time on request of any of the other parties, now or at any time in the future, do or procure the doing
of all acts and/or execute or procure the execution of all documents in a form satisfactory to the requesting party which the requesting party may
reasonably consider necessary for giving full effect to this Agreement and securing to the requesting party the full benefit of the rights, powers
and remedies conferred upon such other party under this Agreement.

ENTIRE AGREEMENT
The parties agree that:
(A)  this Agreement constitutes the whole and only agreement between the parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement;

(B)  except in the case of fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation, each party acknowledges that in entering into this Agreement and/or any
other agreement or document hereunder it is not relying upon any pre contractual statement which is not set out in such agreements or
documents;

(C)  except in the case of fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation, no party shall have a right of action against any other party arising out of, or
in connection with, any pre-contractual statement which is not set out in this Agreement; and

(D)  except in the case of fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation and for any liability in respect of a breach of this Agreement, no party (nor
any of its Connected Persons) shall owe any duty of care or have any liability in tort or otherwise to any other party (or its respective
Connected Persons) in relation to the subject matter of this Agreement.

For the purposes of this Clause 26, “pre-contractual statement” means any draft, agreement, undertaking, representation, warranty, promise,
assurance or arrangement of any nature whatsoever, whether or not in writing, relating to the subject matter of this Agreement made or given by
any person at any time prior to the date of this Agreement.

Each party agrees to the terms of this Clause 26 on its own behalf and as agent for each of its Connected Persons.

NOTICES
A notice under this Agreement shall only be effective if it is in writing. E-mail is permitted.

Notices under this Agreement shall be sent to a party at its address and for the attention of the individual set out below:
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Party and title of individual Address E-mail address

GSK As stated above As shall be notified
For the attention of: Company Secretary
Novartis As stated above As shall be notified

For the attention of:
Head Legal M&A

provided that a party may change its notice details on giving notice to the other party of the change in accordance with this Clause 27.2. That
change notice shall only be effective on the day falling five clear UK Business Days after the notification has been received or such later date as
may be specified in the notice.

27.3  Any notice to be sent in connection with this Agreement:
(A)  toany Novartis Shareholder, shall be sent to Novartis; and
(B)  to the GSK Shareholder(s) or the Company, shall be sent to GSK.

27.4  Any notice given under this Agreement shall be deemed to have been duly given as follows:
(A)  if delivered personally, on delivery;
(B)  if sent by first class inland post, two clear UK Business Days after the date of posting;
(C)  if sent by airmail, six clear UK Business Days after the date of posting; and
(D)  if sent by e-mail, when despatched.

27.5  Any notice given under this Agreement outside Working Hours in the place to which it is addressed shall be deemed not to have been given until
the start of the next period of Working Hours in such place.

27.6  No notice given under this Agreement may be withdrawn or revoked except with the agreement of the other parties.

27.7  The provisions of this Clause 27 shall not apply in relation to the Service Documents.
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28.

29.
29.1

29.2
293

30.

31.
31.1

31.2

COSTS AND EXPENSES

Without prejudice to Clauses 13 and 16, each party shall bear its own costs and expenses in connection with the Put Option Transaction,
including, for the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, the negotiation, entering into and completion of this Agreement.

INVALIDITY

If at any time any provision (or part of any provision) of this Agreement is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under the
law of any jurisdiction, that shall not affect or impair:

(A)  the legality, validity or enforceability in that jurisdiction of any other (or the remainder of a) provision of this Agreement; or
(B) the legality, validity or enforceability under the law of any other jurisdiction of that or any other provision of this Agreement.
Each of the provisions of this Agreement is severable.

If and to the extent that any provision of this Agreement:

(A)  isheld to be, or becomes, invalid or unenforceable under any Applicable Law; but

(B)  would be valid, binding or enforceable if some part of the provisions were deleted or amended,

then the provision shall apply with the minimum modifications necessary to make it valid, binding and enforceable.

CONFLICT WITH ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

In the event of any ambiguity or discrepancy between the provisions of this Agreement and the articles of association or other constitutional
documents of a member of the Company’s Group, the provisions of this Agreement shall prevail as between the parties to the extent of the
inconsistency for so long as this Agreement remains in force. Each of the parties shall (as applicable) exercise all voting and other rights and
powers available to it so as to give effect to the provisions of this Agreement and, if necessary, to procure (so far as it is able to do so) any
required amendment to the articles of association or such other constitutional documents.

COUNTERPARTS

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and by the parties on separate counterparts, but shall not be effective until each
party has executed at least one counterpart.

Each counterpart shall constitute an original of this Agreement, but all the counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.
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32.
32.1

322

323

33.

34.

35s.
35.1

35.2

353

36.
36.1

THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

Certain provisions of this Agreement (such provisions being the “Third Party Rights Provisions™) confer a benefit on certain persons named
therein who are not a party to this Agreement (each, a “Third Party Beneficiary”) and, subject to the remaining provisions of this Clause 32,
are intended to be enforceable by the Third Party Beneficiary by virtue of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.

The parties do not intend that any term of this Agreement, save for the Third Party Rights Provisions, should be enforceable, by virtue of the
Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999, by any person who is not a party to this Agreement.

Notwithstanding the provisions of Clause 32.1, this Agreement may be terminated or varied in any way and at any time by the agreement of the
parties to this Agreement without the consent of any Third Party Beneficiary.

NO PARTNERSHIP

Nothing in this Agreement and no action taken by the parties under this Agreement shall constitute a partnership, association or other
co-operative entity between any of the parties or constitute any party the agent of any other party for any purpose.

GOVERNING LAW

This Agreement is to be governed by, and construed in accordance with, English law. Any matter, claim or dispute arising out of, or in
connection with, this Agreement, whether contractual or non-contractual, is to be governed by and determined in accordance with English law.

JURISDICTION

The courts of England are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute, whether contractual or non-contractual, arising out of, or in
connection with, this Agreement. Any Proceedings shall be brought in the English courts.

Each party waives (and agrees not to raise) any objection, on the grounds of forum non conveniens or on any other ground, to the taking of
Proceedings in the English courts. Each party also agrees that a judgment against it in Proceedings brought in England shall be conclusive and
binding upon it and may be enforced in any other jurisdiction.

Each party irrevocably submits and agrees to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts.

LANGUAGE
Each notice or other communication under, or in connection with, this Agreement shall be:

(A)  in English; or
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36.2

37.
37.1

37.2

373

(B)  if not in English, accompanied by an English translation made by a translator, and certified by an officer of the party giving the notice to
be accurate.

The receiving party/agent shall be entitled to assume the accuracy of, and rely upon any English translation of, any document provided pursuant

to Clause 36.1(B).

AGENT FOR SERVICE

Each of Novartis and the Novartis Shareholders irrevocably appoints Hackwood Secretaries Limited of One Silk Street, London, EC2Y 8HQ to
be its agent for the receipt of Service Documents. Each such party agrees that any Service Document may be effectively served on it in
connection with Proceedings in England and Wales by service on its agent effected in any manner permitted by the UK Civil Procedure Rules.

If the agent at any time ceases for any reason to act as such, the relevant appointing party shall appoint a replacement agent having an address for
service in England or Wales and shall notify GSK of the name and address of the replacement agent. Failing such appointment and notification,
GSK shall be entitled by notice to the relevant appointing party to appoint a replacement agent to act on its behalf. The provisions of this Clause
37 applying to service on an agent apply equally to service on a replacement agent.

A copy of any Service Document served on an agent shall also be sent by post to the relevant party. Failure or delay in so doing shall not
prejudice the effectiveness of service of the Service Document.
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SCHEDULE 1
FORM OF DEED OF ADHERENCE

THIS DEED is made on []

by [*], a company incorporated [in] / [under the laws of] [¢] under registered number [*], whose [registered] / [principal] office is at [¢] (the “New
Party”).

WHEREAS:-

(A)

(B

By a transfer dated [¢], [*] transferred to the New Party [[*] [A/B] Shares of £1 each in the capital of] GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) (the “Transferring Shares”).

This Deed is entered into in compliance with the terms of Clause [5.1(B)] / [6.4] of the put option implementation agreement dated [+] between
the GSK Shareholder, the Novartis Shareholders, GSK, Novartis and the Company as such agreement shall have been or may be amended, or
supplemented or novated from time to time (the “Put Option Implementation Agreement”).

THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES as follows:-

1.

Words and expressions defined in the Put Option Implementation Agreement shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the same
meanings when used in this Deed.

The New Party undertakes to adhere to and be bound by the provisions of the Put Option Implementation Agreement, and to perform the
obligations imposed by the Put Option Implementation Agreement which are to be performed on or after the date of this Deed, in all respects as
if the New Party were a party to the Put Option Implementation Agreement and named therein as a [GSK Shareholder] / [Novartis Shareholder].

The New Party warrants to the other parties to the Put Option Implementation Agreement (and each other person who may from time to time
expressly adhere to the Put Option Implementation Agreement) in the terms set out in [Clause 10.1]! / [Clauses 10.1 and 10.2]? of the Put Option
Implementation Agreement, but so that such warranties shall be deemed to be given on the date on which the New Party becomes the registered
holder of the Transferring Shares.

This Deed is made for the benefit of (a) the original parties to the Put Option Implementation Agreement and (b) any other person or persons
who after the date of the Put Option Implementation Agreement (and whether or not prior to or after the date of this Deed) adheres to the Put
Option Implementation Agreement.

Note: Drafting option to be used in the event of a transfer by the GSK Shareholder of some or all A Shares.
Note: Drafting option to be used in the event of a transfer by the Novartis Shareholder of B Shares in accordance with Clause 17 of the
Shareholders’ Agreement.



5. This Deed shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law.

6.  The courts of England are to have jurisdiction to settle any dispute arising out of or in connection with this Deed. Any Proceedings may therefore
be brought in the English courts. The New Party agrees that this jurisdiction agreement is irrevocable and that it is for the benefit of each of the
parties referred to in Paragraph 4 of this Deed. Nothing contained in this Paragraph 6 shall limit the right of any person having the benefit of this
Deed to take Proceedings against the New Party in any other court or in the courts of more than one jurisdiction at the same time.

IN WITNESS of which this Deed has been executed and delivered by the New Party as a deed on the date which first appears above.

[EXECUTION BLOCKS]
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SCHEDULE 2
FORM OF RESIGNATION AND RELEASE LETTER

[date]

To:  The Directors
GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
980 Great Western Road Brentford
Middlesex TW8 9GS

Dear Sirs

I hereby resign my office as a director of the Company with immediate eftect.

I confirm that I have no claims against the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, for breach of contract, compensation for loss of office or on any other
account whatsoever. Save for the obligation of the Company to indemnify me pursuant to Clause 10.4(A) of the put option implementation agreement
dated [] between, amongst others, GSK PLC, Novartis AG and the Company (the “Director’s Indemnity”), any insurance policy in respect of
directors’ and officers’ liability in place for my benefit and any deed of indemnity in place for my benefit, I confirm that there is no agreement or
arrangement outstanding under which the Company or any of its subsidiaries has or could have any obligation to me other than in respect of accrued
remuneration or expenses. To the extent that any such claim exists or may exist (except for any claim pursuant to the Director’s Indemnity) I hereby
irrevocably waive such claim and release the Company from any liability it has or might have in respect thereof.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this letter shall waive any indemnity to which I might be entitled at law or under the articles of association of
the Company, the provisions of the indemnity in Clause 10.4(A) (as described above), any insurance policy in respect of directors’ and officers’ liability
in place for my benefit and any deed of indemnity in place for my benefit in respect of any act, matter or thing done, permitted or suffered by me in
good faith whilst a director of the Company and in my capacity as such.

Yours faithfully



Signed as a deed by [rame of individual] in the presence of:
)  (Signature of individual)

Witness’s signature:

Name (print):

Occupation:

Address:
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LIST OF AGREED FORM DOCUMENTS

The following documents are required to be in the Agreed Form pursuant to this Agreement:
. the GSK Transaction Announcement

. the Novartis Transaction Announcement



IN WITNESS whereof, the parties have entered into this Agreement the day and year first before written

SIGNED BY David Redfern /s/ David Redfern

duly authorised for and on behalf of Signature
GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC



SIGNED BY David Redfern /s/ David Redfern

duly authorised for and on behalf of Signature
SETFIRST LIMITED



/s/ David Redfern

SIGNED BY David Redfern

duly authorised for and on behalf of
GLAXOSMITHKLINE CONSUMER
HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS LIMITED

Signature



SIGNED BY Keren Haruvi

/s/ Keren Haruvi

duly authorised for and on behalf of
NOVARTIS AG

SIGNED BY Michael Stewart

duly authorised for and on behalf of
NOVARTIS AG

Signature

/s/ Michael Stewart

Signature



SIGNED BY Keren Haruvi

/s/ Keren Haruvi

duly authorised for and on behalf of
NOVARTIS HOLDING AG

SIGNED BY Michael Stewart

duly authorised for and on behalf of
NOVARTIS HOLDING AG

Signature

/s/ Michael Stewart

Signature



SIGNED BY Keren Haruvi

/s/ Keren Haruvi

duly authorised for and on behalf of
NOVARTIS FINANCE CORPORATION

SIGNED BY Michael Stewart

duly authorised for and on behalf of
NOVARTIS FINANCE CORPORATION

Signature

/s/ Michael Stewart

Signature



Exhibit 4.8

Execution version

GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Holdings Limited

980 Great West Road
Brentford
Middlesex, TWS8 9GS

GlaxoSmithKline plc

980 Great West Road
Brentford
Middlesex, TW8 9GS

Setfirst Limited

980 Great West Road
Brentford
Middlesex, TWS8 9GS

Novartis AG

Lichstrasse 35

4056 Basel

Switzerland

FAO: Head of Legal M&A

Novartis Holding AG

c/o Novartis AG
Lichstrasse 35

4056 Basel

Switzerland

FAO: Head of Legal M&A

Novartis Finance Corporation

c/o Novartis AG
Lichstrasse 35

4056 Basel

Switzerland

FAO: Head of Legal M&A

1 June 2018
Dear Sirs,
Proposed buyout of Novartis’s 36.5% interest in GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare Holdings Limited: settlement
1. Reference is made to the put option implementation agreement entered into on 27 March 2018 between GlaxoSmithKline Consumer Healthcare

Holdings Limited, GlaxoSmithKline ple, Setfirst Limited, Novartis AG, Novartis Holding AG and Novartis Finance Corporation (the “Put Option
Implementation Agreement”). Unless otherwise defined in this letter, terms defined in the Put Option Implementation Agreement shall have the
same meaning when used in this letter.



2.

The parties to the Put Option Implementation Agreement hereby acknowledge and agree that the Put Option Implementation Agreement shall be
amended by:

(A) deleting the entire text of Clause 8.3 and replacing it with the following:

“8.3 Subject to Clause 8.4, promptly following the Cancellation having taken effect in accordance with Applicable Law, the Company shall, and
GSK shall procure that the Company shall, pay in accordance with Clause 15:

(4) to the First Novartis Shareholder USD12,056,164,384; and
(B) to the Second Novartis Shareholder USD943,835,616,

in each case:
(i) inthe event that:
(a) the Cancellation takes effect in accordance with Applicable Law on a Completion Business Day; and

(b)  the Company does not receive confirmation from the Registrar as to the same at a time reasonably sufficient to enable it
promptly to instruct the making of such payments to the First Novartis Shareholder and the Second Novartis
Shareholder before 15:00 (London time) on such Completion Business Day,

on the next following Completion Business Day (and the Company shall (and GSK shall procure that the Company shall)
instruct the making of such payments by no later than 10:00 (London time) on such day),; or

(ii)  in any other event, on the same Completion Business Day as the Cancellation takes effect in accordance with Applicable Law
(or, if the Cancellation takes effect in accordance with Applicable Law on a day that is not a Completion Business Day, on the
next following Completion Business Day).”; and

(B) deleting the entire text of Clause 8.6 and replacing it with the following:

“8.6 In the event that the Consideration Amount is not paid by or on the first Completion Business Day after the Completion Date, interest shall
be payable on the Consideration Amount from (and including) the next day to (but excluding) the date of actual payment (as well after as
before judgment) at the Interest Rate, provided that:



(4) no interest shall be payable under this Clause 8.6 in respect of any day where interest is also levied under Clause 15.3; and

(B)  for the purposes of this